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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 20, 2008
(16)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10 a.m., in room 160-S, Centre Block,
the Chair, the Honourable Joan Fraser, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, P.C.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver and Stratton. (10).

In attendance: Robin MacKay, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, December 12, 2007, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:
As an individual (by video conference):

Julian Roberts, Professor of Criminology, University of
Oxford.

Canadian AIDS Society:
Nichole Downer, Programs Consultant.
Canadian Association of Social Workers:

Robert Kissner, PhD, CASW Board of Directors, BC.

Canadian Federation for Sexual Health:
Dr. John Lamont, President of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Roberts made an opening statement and answered
questions.

At 11:17 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 11:27 a.m., the committee resumed.

Ms. Downer, Mr. Kissner and Dr. Lamont each made
opening statements and, together, answered questions.

At 12:50 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the chair.

ATTEST:

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mercredi 20 février 2008
(16)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques
et constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 heures, dans
la salle 160-S de I'édifice du Centre, sous la présidence de
I’honorable Joan Fraser (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, C.P.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver et Stratton (10).

Aussi présent : Robin MacKay, analyste, Service d’information
et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Egalement présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 12 décembre 2007, le comité poursuit son examen du
projet de loi C-2. (Le texte complet de 'ordre de renvoi figure au

fascicule n° 6 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
A titre personnel (par vidéoconférence) :

Julian Roberts, professeur de criminologie, Université
d’Oxford.

Société canadienne du sida :
Nichole Downer, conseiller en programmes.
Association canadienne des travailleuses et travailleurs sociaux :

Robert Kissner, PhD, membre du conseil d’administration de
I’ACTS, Colombie-Britannique.

Fédération canadienne pour la santé sexuelle :
Dr John Lamont, président du conseil d’administration.

M. Roberts fait une déclaration d’ouverture puis répond aux
questions.

A 11 h 17, 1a séance est interrompue.
A 11 h 27, 1a séance reprend.

Mme Downer, M. Kissner et le Dr Lamont font chacun une
déclaration liminaire puis, ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 12 h 350, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 20, 2008
17
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 2:02 p.m., in room 160-S, Centre Block,
the Chair, the Honourable Joan Fraser, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, P.C.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver and Stratton (10).

In attendance: Robin MacKay, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, December 6, 2007, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:
Canadian Society of Forensic Sciences:

Randy Prokopanko, Alcohol Test Committee.
Royal Canadian Mounted Police:

Sgt. Robert Martin, Training Facilitator, Drug Evaluation
and Classification Program.

As individuals:
Gary Mauser, Professor, Simon Fraser University;
Line Beauchesne, Professor, University of Ottawa.

Mr. Prokopando and Mr. Martin each made opening
statements and, together, answered questions.

At 3:35 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 4:00 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Mauser and Ms. Beauchesne each made opening
statements and, together, answered questions.

At 5:55 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le mercredi 20 février 2008
17)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques
et constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 14 h 2, dans la
salle 160-S de I’édifice du Centre, sous la présidence de
I’honorable Joan Fraser, (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, C.P.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver et Stratton (10).

Egalement présent : Robin MacKay, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Egalement présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 12 décembre 2007, le comité poursuit son examen du
projet de loi C-2. (Le texte complet de I'ordre de renvoi figure au

fascicule n ° 6 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :

Société canadienne des sciences judiciaires :
Randy Prokopanko, comité sur 1’alcool.

Gendarmerie royale du Canada :

Sergent Robert Martin, facilitateur a [’entrainement,
Programme de la classification et de I’évaluation des
drogues.

A titre personnel :
Gary Mauser, professeur, Université Simon Fraser;
Line Beauchesne, professeure, Université d’Ottawa.

MM. Prokopanko et Martin font chacun une déclaration
liminaire puis, ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 15 h 35, la séance est interrompue.
A 16 heures, la séance reprend.

M. Mauser et Mme Beauchesne font chacun une déclaration
liminaire puis, ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 17 h 55, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

Le greffier du comité,

Adam Thompson

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 20, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10 a.m. to study Bill C-2, an act to amend
the Criminal Code and to make consequential amendments to
other acts.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs continues its study of Bill C-2, An Act
to amend the Criminal Code and to make consequential
amendments to other acts.

[English]

We have the great pleasure of having as a witness for this
first session this morning Professor Julian Roberts, who has
joined us by video conference, one of the wonders of modern
technology.

Can you hear me, professor?

Julian Roberts, Professor of Criminology, University of Oxford,
as an individual: I can, indeed.

The Chair: I think you are familiar with the procedure in these
committees. We ask if you have an opening statement and, if so,
to deliver it. We then ask you questions. Is that agreeable to you?

Mr. Roberts: It certainly is.

The Chair: Splendid. If you could begin with your statement,
that would be great.

Mr. Roberts: 1 would like to thank the committee for the
opportunity to give my evidence here today. Sentencing and
criminal justice reform is a complicated business, particularly
in a jurisdiction like Canada, which, with its federal-provincial
constitutional arrangements, is more complex.

I will not say very much. I said some of these things before
and some of you may be tired of hearing them. I will focus on the
sentencing provisions of the bill, and, in particular, the minimum
sentence provisions. I want to make a limited number of points
about these provisions and their likely impact.

Let me precede that by a comment on the relationship that
should exist between Parliament and the independent judiciary.
The tradition that has existed for the last 30 or 40 years in
Canada, and elsewhere I might add, has been for Parliament to
establish the parameters of the sentencing process — and that
includes maximum penalties — and occasionally to codify
important principles like proportionality. However, Parliament
has always been reticent to intrude at the level of directing courts
to a specific sentence. In other words, Parliament has acted with
reticence to create mandatory minimum penalties because they
effectively remove judicial discretion and prevent a court from

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mercredi 20 février 2008

Le Comité permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 heures, pour
étudier le projet de loi C-2, Loi modifiant le Code criminel et
d’autres lois en conséquence.

Le sénateur Joan Fraser (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

La présidente : Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires
juridiques et constitutionnelles poursuit son étude du projet
de loi C-2, Loi modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois en
conséquence.

[Traduction]

Nous avons le grand plaisir de recevoir comme témoin, pour la
premiére séance ce matin, le professeur Julian Roberts, qui se
joint a nous par vidéoconférence, une merveille de la technologie
moderne.

Monsieur le professeur, m’entendez-vous?

Julian Roberts, professeur de criminologie, Université d’Oxford,
a titre personnel : Je vous entends.

La présidente : Je pense que vous connaissez bien la procédure
a nos comités. Nous vous demandons d’abord si vous avez une
déclaration d’ouverture a faire et, le cas échéant, de la faire. Nous
vous posons ensuite des questions. Cette formule vous convient-
elle?

M. Roberts : Tout a fait.

La présidente : Merveilleux. Si vous voulez bien commencer
par faire votre déclaration, nous vous écoutons.

M. Roberts : J’aimerais remercier les membres du comité de me
permettre de témoigner ici aujourd’hui. La réforme de la justice
pénale et des peines n’est pas simple, particulierement dans un
pays comme le Canada, ou le partage constitutionnel des
responsabilités entre le fédéral et le provincial complexifie les
choses.

Je vais étre assez bref. Il y a bien des choses que j’ai déja dites
avant et que vous étes peut-étre fatigués d’entendre. Je vais me
concentrer sur les dispositions du projet de loi qui portent sur les
peines et particuliérement sur les peines minimales. J’ai quelques
éléments a souligner sur ces provisions et leur incidence probable.

Pour vous mettre en contexte, je vais rappeler la relation
qui devrait exister entre le Parlement et l'appareil judiciaire
indépendant. La tradition établie depuis 30 ou 40 ans au
Canada, et méme ailleurs dans le monde, c’est que le Parlement
fixe les parameétres de I'imposition de peines, dont les peines
maximales, et codifie a 1’occasion des principes importants
comme la proportionnalité. Cependant, le Parlement a toujours
été réticent a s’ingérer dans le travail des tribunaux et a lui
dicter des peines. Autrement dit, le Parlement est réticent a
créer les peines minimales obligatoires, parce que I'imposition
de telles peines a pour effet d’enlever aux juges tout pouvoir
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establishing a proportionate sanction. They prejudge the
seriousness of an offence and the level of culpability of an
offender for that offence.

It is my submission that Parliament should be very wary
about intruding into the exercise of judicial discretion in this
way. You would do it on an exceptional basis only. I will give
you an obvious example with which I think everyone would
agree.

Murder is an offence so serious that only a custodial sanction
would be appropriate to most Canadians. There is a compelling
argument, and some may disagree, that murder should carry —
and of course it does — a mandatory sentence of imprisonment.
However, the same cannot be said for a range of other offences,
including some of the ones that are affected by this bill.

What is wrong with mandatory sentences and custody?
Why not have a lot of them? The answer is twofold. First, they
violate the principle of restraint, that is to say, the codified
principle of restraint by which a court must not impose custody
unless no other sanction is sufficient to meet the objectives
of sentencing. You cannot judge, as I mentioned before, the
seriousness or culpability level of an offender when you are
sitting in Parliament; only a judge can decide that. If you
predetermine the sentence that will be imposed, you are violating
the principle of restraint because some offenders will not
necessarily warrant the minimum sentence of custody.

The second principle, which is even more important because
Parliament codified and designated it as fundamental, is the
principle of proportionality that I believe Senator Joyal referred
to in a previous meeting. This principle simply says that the
sentence that is imposed should be proportionate to the
seriousness of the crime and the offender’s level of responsibility
or culpability for that offence. Again, Parliament cannot prejudge
that. Proportionality must be established by trial courts,
guided by the Court of Appeal, or by the Courts of Appeal in
Canada. Those are two important principles that are violated by
the creation of these sanctions — mandatory minimum sentences
of custody.

Let me turn now briefly to the grounds. Why would you want
to create a mandatory sentence of imprisonment? One ground is
that the conduct is so serious that no other penalty will suffice.
I have given the example of murder. That is not the case with
these offences. These are serious offences. No one is contesting the
position that someone who trafficks in the possession of a firearm
should go anywhere other than to prison. The question is:
How should they go there and for how long?

In order to create a mandatory sentence, you would need to
consider all the other sentences in the Criminal Code. There is
no evidence that the government has done that. For example,
if you just stick in the mandatory custody sentence five years
for the second or subsequent conviction for trafficking in or
possession of a firearm, prohibited weapon, restricted weapon or

discrétionnaire et de les empécher d’infliger une sanction
proportionnelle. Elles constituent un jugement préalable de la
gravité de I'infraction et du degré de culpabilité du contrevenant.

Jestime que le Parlement devrait étre trés prudent s’il décide
de s’ingérer ainsi dans ’exercice du pouvoir discrétionnaire de
l’appareil judiciaire. Il ne devrait s’ingérer qu’exceptionnellement.
Je vais vous donner un exemple évident avec lequel tout le monde
sera stirement d’accord.

Le meurtre est une infraction si grave que seule une peine
d’emprisonnement peut sembler appropriée a la plupart des
Canadiens. Il parait irréfutable, et peut-étre ne serez-vous pas
d’accord, que le meurtre devrait étre puni d’une peine obligatoire
d’emprisonnement, et c’est bien sir le cas. Cependant, on ne peut
pas en dire autant de diverses autres infractions, comme celles
touchées par ce projet de loi.

Qu’y a-t-il de mal a prescrire des peines obligatoires, dont
I’emprisonnement? Pourquoi n’y en aurait-il pas beaucoup? La
réponse tient en deux volets. Premi¢rement, les peines obligatoires
violent le principe de la modération ou de I’entrave minimale,
c’est-a-dire le principe codifié selon lequel un tribunal ne doit pas
imposer I’'emprisonnement si une autre sanction peut suffire a
répondre aux objectifs de la peine. Comme je 1’ai déja mentionné,
un parlementaire ne peut pas juger de la gravité d’une infraction
ou du degré de culpabilit¢é d’un contrevenant, seul un juge
peut en décider. Si I'on détermine a ’avance la peine qui sera
imposée, on viole le principe de la modération parce que certains
contrevenants ne mériteront pas nécessairement la peine de
détention minimale.

Le second principe est encore plus important parce que le
Parlement a codifié et qualifié de fondamental le principe
de la proportionnalité, que le sénateur Joyal a déja mentionné a
une autre réunion, si je ne me trompe pas. Ce principe dicte
simplement que la peine imposée doit étre proportionnelle a la
gravité du crime et au degré de responsabilité ou de culpabilité
du contrevenant a I’égard de cette infraction. Encore une fois,
le Parlement ne peut en préjuger. Il revient aux tribunaux de
premiére instance de juger de la proportionnalité sur la base des
décisions de la Cour d’appel ou des cours d’appel du Canada.
Ce sont deux principes importants bafoués par la création de ces
peines, les peines minimales d’emprisonnement.

Jaimerais aussi aborder briévement les motifs. Pourquoi créer
une peine minimale d’emprisonnement? Le premier motif, c’est
que le comportement est si grave qu’aucune autre peine n’est
suffisante. J’ai donné I’exemple du meurtre. Ce n’est pas le cas
pour ces infractions. Ce sont des infractions graves. Personne ne
conteste qu'une personne trouvée coupable de trafic en possession
d’une arme a feu devrait aller directement en prison. La question
est la suivante : de quelle fagon devrait-on I’y envoyer et pour
combien de temps?

Pour créer une peine minimale, il faut tenir compte de toutes
les autres peines prévues au Code criminel. Rien ne prouve que le
gouvernement ’a fait. Par exemple, si 'on adopte une peine
minimale d’emprisonnement de cinq ans en cas de récidive pour
trafic ou possession en vue du trafic d’une arme a feu, d’une arme

A

prohibée, d’'une arme a autorisation restreinte, d’un dispositif
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ammunition, which are sections 99 and 100, you are effectively
imposing a pretty severe sentence on an offender who is guilty of a
less serious offence than someone who gets a more serious
penalty. That is a mouthful, but let me give you a simple example.
The average sentence for manslaughter in Canada is about
four years imprisonment. You have to ask yourself this question:
By creating a five-year minimum sentence for the second
conviction of this offence — trafficking, et cetera — is that
really appropriate? Should people convicted of the most serious
offence of manslaughter really be punished less severely than
this offence? I think most people would say that is a violation
of proportionality because people convicted of manslaughter
should be punished more harshly than people convicted of these
firearms offences.

I do not think there is an argument to be made — and I do not
think it has been made by the government — that these offences
are so serious that they warrant such stiff mandatory minimum
sentences.

That turns to the second ground for introducing one of these
penalties, which is deterrence; that is, if you introduce a stiff
mandatory minimum sentence, you will deter offenders. The
evidence here, which has been referred to at previous meetings,
is very mixed and offers almost no suggestion that a tough
mandatory minimum sentence will lower the volume of these
kinds of offences. There are many things can you do. You have
done some things and this bill does some important things such
as reverse onus. However, anyone who thinks that creating a
five-year minimum sentence on second or subsequent convictions
will more effectively deter offenders is dreaming because offenders
do not think that way. They do not reflect; they do not consider.
It is unfortunate, but they do not. The government’s evidence
there is very shaky.

At a previous meeting, a representative from the Department
of Justice Canada said that the evidence suggested there was
nothing conclusive in the deterrence literature. That is my reading
of it, too, and that is the reading of sentencing experts. It would
be nice if we could deter offenders by just increasing the severity
of mandatory sentences, but there is no evidence that this is in fact
the case. I think, therefore, that there is not much justification for
having these sentences.

I will make a last couple of points. A couple of people have
said, “Fines are a bit out of date, so let us increase the amount
of fines for various offences.” I am talking about impaired
driving now. I think that is a reasonable position. If the fine
goes from $600, which it has been for many years, to $1,000, then
that is good. There has been inflation, but you cannot make
that argument about imprisonment. You cannot say that since
the penalty four or five years ago was three years of
imprisonment, we should make it four or five now. That is
inappropriate penal logic. There has to be an argument for
introducing a stiff mandatory minimum sentence, and the

prohibé, de munitions ou de munitions prohibées, des infractions
visées par les articles 99 et 100, on se trouve a imposer une peine
assez sévére a un contrevenant coupable d’une infraction
moins grave que d’autres. Mais ce n’est rien, je vais vous
donner un autre exemple bien simple. La peine moyenne infligée
pour homicide involontaire coupable au Canada est d’environ
quatre ans d’emprisonnement. Vous devez vous poser cette
question : si vous créez une peine minimale de cinq ans pour
une deuxiéme infraction de ce type (le trafic et le reste), est-ce
vraiment approprié? Les personnes trouvées coupables de
I'infraction la plus grave d’homicide involontaire coupable
devraient-elles vraiment étre punies moins sévérement que ces
contrevenants? Je pense que la plupart des gens diraient qu’il
s’agit d’une violation de la proportionnalité parce qu’une
personne condamnée pour homicide involontaire coupable
devrait recevoir une peine plus sévére que les personnes
condamnées pour un crime lié aux armes a feu.

Nul besoin, a mon avis, de préciser pourquoi ces infractions
sont si graves qu’elles méritent des peines minimales si sévéres.
Je ne crois pas que le gouvernement se soit justifi¢ non plus.

Nous en arrivons donc au deuxiéme motif justifiant
I'imposition de telles peines, soit la dissuasion, c’est-a-dire
qu'une peine minimale sévére dissuaderait les contrevenants
potentiels. Selon la documentation qu’on vous a fournie aux
séances précédentes, la preuve est trés mitigée et ne laisse presque
pas conclure qu’une peine minimale sévére puisse faire diminuer
le nombre d’infractions. Il y a beaucoup de choses qu’on puisse
faire. Vous avez déja pris des mesures, et ce projet de loi en
apporte d’autres importantes, comme le renversement du fardeau
de la preuve. Cependant, quiconque s’attend a ce que la création
d’une peine minimale de cinq ans en cas de récidive dissuade plus
efficacement les contrevenants réve en couleurs parce que ce
n’est pas de cette fagon que pensent les contrevenants. Ils ne
réfléchissent pas, ils ne tiennent pas compte des conséquences.
C’est malheureux, mais ils ne le font pas. Les arguments du
gouvernement a cet égard ne sont pas trés solides.

Lors d’une séance précédente, un représentant de Justice
Canada a affirmé qu’il n’y avait rien de concluant dans la
littérature sur la dissuasion. C’est également mon interprétation
et celle des experts des peines. Il serait fantastique qu’il suffise
de rendre les peines minimales plus sévéres pour dissuader
les délinquants, mais rien ne prouve que ce soit le cas. Du
coup, jestime qu’il n’est pas trés justifié d’établir de telles
peines.

Jaurais quelques ¢éléments a souligner pour terminer. Il y en a
qui disent : « Les amendes sont un peu dépassées, donc il faudrait
les augmenter pour différentes infractions. » Prenons la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies. Je pense que c’est une prise de position
raisonnable. Je pense que si 'amende passe de 600 $, le montant
qui prévaut depuis longtemps, a 1 000 $, c’est excellent. Il y a eu
de I'inflation, mais 1’on ne peut pas avancer le méme argument au
sujet de I’emprisonnement. On ne peut pas dire qu’étant donné
que la peine était de trois ans d’emprisonnement il y a quatre ou
cinq ans, elle devrait étre de quatre ou cinq ans aujourd’hui. Une
telle logique n’a pas sa place en droit pénal. Il faut des arguments
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sentence has to be introduced with a consideration of other
offences in the Criminal Code. The government may have done
something about that, but I see no evidence of it.

Finally, I did a review of mandatory sentencing around the
common law world a couple of years ago, and I found that
pretty well every jurisdiction has a small number of mandatory
sentences. They vary in the severity and the nature of the crime
for which they are imposed, but they share one important
consideration: Nearly everywhere, even in South Africa where
they are particularly tough, they allow some degree of judicial
discretion, and that puts Canada out on a limb. In the event that
the court found that there were exceptional circumstances, the
court could impose a sentence below the statutory mandatory
minimum.

I think that is a reasonable feature of a mandatory sentence.
I would encourage the committee, if it is mindful to proceed with
a bill that creates sentences of this nature, not to deprive judges of
some residual discretion because to do so is quite anomalous in
light of mandatory sentencing in other jurisdictions

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Senator Stratton: Your testimony was interesting, and
I appreciate it very much.

The intent of this bill is to get violent repeat offenders off the
streets and into jail so that they do not have the opportunity to
repeatedly offend, thereby causing offence to the citizens of the
country. The city of Winnipeg, where I am from, ranks second
highest in the country for violent crimes by gangs, et cetera.

The Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics reports that the
rate of firearm-related offences has increased in three of the past
four years, with an increase of 32 per cent since 2002 when
they reached their highest point since data was available in 1998.
That is a substantial increase in a very short time.

The homicide rate has increased in two of the past three years
and is up 7 per cent since 2003. The attempted murder rate
increased in each of the past two years and is up 24 per cent since
2004. The combined rate of aggravated assaults and assaults
with a weapon causing bodily harm has increased steadily and
is up 57 per cent since 1983.

These crimes are committed by repeat offenders and gangs,
and we want to get them off the street. You say that we should
give judges some leeway. The unfortunate thing is that we have
allowed that.

In Mayerthorpe, Alberta, four RCMP officers were killed.
Had this bill been in force at that time, the killer would not have
been on the street. We are trying to deal with repeat dangerous
offenders. We must get them off the street.

solides pour justifier I'introduction d’une peine minimale sévere,
et cette peine doit étre fixée a la lumiére des autres infractions au
Code criminel. Le gouvernement a peut-étre fait ses devoirs, mais
je n’en vois pas la preuve.

Enfin, j’ai étudié les peines minimales en common law
dans le monde il y a quelques années, et j’ai constaté qu’a peu
prés tous les Etats avaient peu de peines minimales. Elles varient
en gravité et selon la nature des crimes visés, mais elles ont
un grand point en commun. Presque partout, méme en Afrique
du Sud ou les peines sont particuliérement séveéres, elles laissent
un certain pouvoir discrétionnaire aux juges, et a ce titre, le
Canada fait cavalier seul. Si le tribunal juge qu’il y avait des
circonstances exceptionnelles, il peut imposer une peine inférieure
a la peine minimale.

Je pense que c’est une disposition raisonnable pour une peine
minimale. Jinciterais les membres du comité, s’ils souhaitent
adopter un projet de loi créant des peines de cette nature, de ne
pas priver les juges de toute forme de pouvoir discrétionnaire
parce que ce serait trés exceptionnel a la lumiére des peines
minimales imposées dans d’autres Etats.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup.

Le sénateur Stratton : Votre témoignage est fort intéressant, et
je vous en remercie beaucoup.

L’intention de ce projet de loi est de sortir les récidivistes
violents des rues et de les mettre en prison pour qu’ils n’aient plus
le loisir de récidiver encore et de causer du tort aux citoyens
du pays. La ville de Winnipeg, d’ou je viens, figure au deuxiéme
rang du pays pour les crimes violents commis par les gangs,
entre autres.

Selon le Centre canadien de la statistique juridique, le taux
de criminalité lié aux armes a feu a augmenté trois des quatre
derniéres années. Il a bondi de 32 p. 100 depuis 2002, année ou il
a culminé depuis que nous avons acces a des données, depuis
1998. C’est une augmentation considérable dans un trés court
laps de temps.

Le nombre d’homicides a augmenté deux des trois derniéres
années et a grimpé de 7 p. 100 depuis 2003. Le nombre de
tentatives de meurtre a augmenté les deux derniéres années,
et il est de 24 p. 100 supérieur a celui de 2004. Le taux combiné
de voies de fait graves et de voies de fait armées causant des
lésions corporelles augmente constamment et a bondi de 57 p. 100
depuis 1983.

Ces crimes sont le fait des récidivistes et des gangs, et nous
voulons les sortir de la rue. Vous dites que nous devons laisser de
la marge de manceuvre aux juges. Ce qui est malheureux, c’est
que nous leur en avons laissée jusqu’ici.

A Mayerthorpe, en Alberta, quatre agents de la GRC ont été
tués. Si ce projet de loi avait été en vigueur a I’époque, le tueur
n’aurait pas été en liberté. Nous essayons d’attraper les
récidivistes dangereux. Il faut les sortir de la rue.
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Mr. Roberts: There is no question that violent crime is a very
serious social problem. The statistics you cited are quite alarming,
and I do not doubt them. They come from the best statistical
criminal justice agency in the world.

However, the question is what you can do about it. I recognize
the problem and share your concern. I am only questioning
whether this particular weapon in the penal arsenal will be
effective. There is general agreement in the sentencing community
that the incidence of crime will not be reduced by stiffer penalties.
This goes back to my point about offenders not reflecting.

You need to get the guns off the streets; you need reverse onus
provisions; and you need to give the police more powers in order
to do something about it. However, I do not think that the
average individual who engages in this conduct seriously reflects
about the probability of getting five rather than three years in
prison.

With respect to judicial discretion, we need to have confidence
in our judges in Canada. From my 20 years of experience in
Canada, I can say that judges do not impose lenient sentences.
They impose what they believe to be proportionate sentences, and
they are governed by the appellate structure.

Senator Stratton: If that were the sense of the Canadian
public, I do not think judges would have been given that kind
of leeway. However, public opinion is that that is not the
case.

There is an article in Maclean’s magazine this week about every
parent’s worst nightmare. It is about the violent nature of crimes
being committed across the country and the fact that repeat
offenders are being released on bail as soon as they are arrested.
People have had enough, and they want something done.

I am not suggesting to you, sir, that this is the only thing that
this government is doing. They are putting more police on the
ground and are doing things on the soft side, as one would say, to
try to help these people. As we all know, that is a social problem
that dates back a long ways.

With deference, I disagree with your argument. I think we are
now at a stage such that the situation will be out of control if we
do not do something.

Mr. Roberts: 1 agree that you do need to do something.
I encourage to you think of many innovative ways of responding.
I can only say, as a sentencing expert with 25 years of experience,
that, unfortunately, this mandatory sentencing will not have the
effects you wish it to have.

Senator Cowan: I believe you said that there is no correlation
between the severity of sentences and the number of repeat
offences, and that if one is looking to commit an offence, it is the
apprehension of perhaps being caught that would deter someone
rather than the severity of the sentence that might result from
them having been caught. Is that your reading of the available
evidence?

M. Roberts : Il ne fait aucun doute que le crime violent est
un probléme social trés grave. Les statistiques que vous nous
donnez sont trés alarmantes, et je ne les remets pas en doute.
Elles viennent du meilleur organisme de statistique sur le droit
pénal au monde.

11 faut toutefois se demander ce qu’on peut faire pour changer
les choses. Je reconnais I’existence du probléme et partage vos
inquiétudes. Je me demande seulement si cette arme dans I’arsenal
pénal sera vraiment efficace. Il y a consensus parmi les experts de
la détermination de la peine que des peines plus dures ne réduiront
pas l'incidence du crime. Le grand probléme est toujours que les
délinquants ne réfléchissent pas.

Il faut retirer les fusils de la rue; il faut des dispositions pour
renverser le fardeau de la preuve et il faut investir les policiers
de pouvoirs accrus d’intervention. Cependant, je doute que
I'individu moyen qui adopte ce type de conduite réfléchisse
sérieusement a la probabilité de devoir passer cinq ans plutot que
trois derriere les barreaux.

Concernant le pouvoir discrétionnaire de la magistrature,
nous devons faire confiance aux juges du Canada. D’aprés mon
expérience de 20 ans au Canada, je peux dire que les juges
n’imposent pas de peines clémentes. IIs imposent des peines qu’ils
jugent proportionnelles aux crimes et respectent la procédure
d’appel.

Le sénateur Stratton : Si c’était I'impression qu’avait le public
canadien, je ne pense pas qu’on donnerait cette marge de
manceuvre aux juges. Cependant, I'opinion publique ne va pas
dans ce sens-la.

Il a paru un article dans la revue Maclean’s cette semaine sur le
pire cauchemar de tous les parents. Il portait sur la violence des
crimes commis au pays et le fait que les récidivistes sont mis en
liberté provisoire des leur arrestation. Les gens en ont assez et
veulent qu’on fasse quelque chose.

Je ne suis pas en train de vous dire que c’est la seule chose
que le gouvernement fait, monsieur. Il augmente le nombre de
policiers et prend beaucoup de mesures douces, si 'on peut dire,
pour essayer d’aider ces personnes. Comme nous le savons tous,
c’est un probléme social qui remonte a longtemps.

En toute déférence, je ne suis pas d’accord avec vous. Je pense
que nous en arrivons a un point ou nous allons perdre la maitrise
de la situation si nous ne faisons rien.

M. Roberts : Je suis d’accord qu’il faut faire quelque chose. Je
vous encourage a réfléchir aux nombreuses fagcons innovatrices
d’intervenir. Je peux seulement vous dire, en ma qualité d’expert
des peines fort de 25 ans d’expérience, que malheureusement, cette
peine minimale n’aura pas ’effet que vous recherchez.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je pense que vous avez dit qu’il n’y
avait pas de corrélation entre la gravité des peines et le nombre
de récidives et que si une personne souhaite commettre une
infraction, c’est 'appréhension de se faire prendre plutét que
la gravité de la peine potentielle qui pourrait la dissuader
de passer a l'acte. Est-ce votre interprétation des données dont
on dispose?
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Mr. Roberts: Yes, senator, it is.

Senator Cowan: In terms of mandatory minimums, as you are
aware, in 1995 amendments were made to the Criminal Code in
Canada that attached minimum sentences to certain offences
involving firearms. Are you aware of any studies that have been
conducted, either by the government or independent agencies, on
the impact of those amendments on crime rates or sentencing
patterns?

Mr. Roberts: 1 am not. Previous testimony before this
committee alluded to government reports that are on the
website of the Department of Justice that deal with the effect
of mandatory penalties in other jurisdictions. They look at
certain cases in Canada, but they have not looked at that raft
of firearms-related offences, the four-year minimums that were
introduced in 1995.

Senator Cowan: Do you think it would be reasonable for the
government to conduct or commission such studies before
proceeding with further mandatory minimum sentence
amendments?

Mr. Roberts: Absolutely. If the 1995 amendments, which
created tough mandatory sentences with no judicial discretion,
had had an important suppressing effect on the crime rates of
these offences, I would sit up and take notice because that would
be an important finding. You might then want to have more
mandatory sentences. However, I have not seen that evidence.
If the government has it, I would like to see it.

Senator Cowan: You mentioned earlier in your testimony the
possibility of attaching residual judicial discretion to a mandatory
minimum sentence regime. Could you explain to me exactly how
that would work?

Mr. Roberts: The way it works is you create the mandatory
sentence — which is, let us say, five years of imprisonment — and
you say that the court must impose this sentence. Then you add
a phrase to the effect of “unless exceptional and compelling
circumstances exist.” If they do exist, the court can identify those
circumstances, which will be subject to review by the Court of
Appeal. The Crown could appeal. That gives the court the
residual discretion to step outside the range.

The opposition to that is that judges will use it all the time, but
that is not the evidence in other jurisdictions. The “exceptional
circumstance” clause is used in a small number of cases, which, of
course, is what they are supposed to do.

Senator Cowan: In what jurisdictions does that judicial
override exist?

Mr. Roberts: It exists in South Africa, where they have the
toughest mandatory sentences in the common law world. It exists
in England and Wales where it is attached to the mandatory
sentence for a third domestic burglary, and so on. It is a feature of
pretty well every mandatory sentence.

M. Roberts : Oui, sénateur.

Le sénateur Cowan : Au sujet des peines minimales, vous savez
sans doute qu’en 1995, on a modifié le Code criminel du Canada
de maniére a assortir certaines infractions mettant en jeu une
arme a feu de peines minimales. Savez-vous si le gouvernement ou
des organismes indépendants ont réalisé des études sur 'incidence
de ces modifications sur le taux de criminalité ou la détermination
des peines?

M. Roberts : Pas a ma connaissance. D’autres témoins ont fait
allusion a des rapports gouvernementaux qu’on peut trouver sur
le site web du ministére de la Justice et qui portent sur I’effet des
peines obligatoires dans d’autres Etats. On y présente quelques
analyses de cas du Canada, mais ces rapports ne portent pas sur
les innombrables infractions liées aux armes a feu et les peines
minimales de quatre ou cinq ans créées en 1995.

Le sénateur Cowan : Estimeriez-vous raisonnable que le
gouvernement méne des études a ce sujet ou en commande
avant de modifier de nouveau le Code criminel pour adopter
d’autres peines minimales?

M. Roberts : Tout a fait. Si les modifications de 1995, qui
ont créé des peines minimales sévéres sans aucun pouvoir
discrétionnaire pour les juges, avaient eu un effet réducteur
important sur le taux de criminalité pour les infractions visées, je
serais tout ouie, parce que ce serait une découverte importante.
On pourrait alors vouloir privilégier davantage de peines
obligatoires. Cependant, je n’ai vu aucune preuve en ce sens.
Si le gouvernement en a, j’aimerais bien les voir.

Le sénateur Cowan: Vous avez mentionné dans votre
témoignage la possibilité de laisser un certain pouvoir
discrétionnaire aux juges dans le régime des peines minimales.
Pouvez-vous m’expliquer exactement comment cela
fonctionnerait?

M. Roberts : Quand on crée une peine obligatoire, supposons
de cinq ans d’emprisonnement, et qu'on précise que le tribunal
doit I'imposer, il suffit d’ajouter une phrase comme « sauf en cas
de circonstances exceptionnelles probantes ». Le cas échéant, le
tribunal pourra préciser de quelles circonstances il s’agit, et celles-
ci pourront étre réexaminées par la Cour d’appel. La Couronne
pourrait les contester. Cela donnerait au tribunal le pouvoir
discrétionnaire qu’il faut pour s’écarter de la norme.

L’argument classique contre une telle disposition, c’est que les
juges vont l’utiliser tout le temps, mais ce n’est pas ce qui se
dégage de la jurisprudence dans les autres Etats. La disposition
sur les « circonstances exceptionnelles » n’est utilisée que dans
trés peu de cas, comme voulu, bien sir.

Le sénateur Cowan : Ou trouve-t-on ce pouvoir judiciaire
supréme?

M. Roberts : Cette clause de dérogation existe en Afrique du
Sud, ou I'on applique les peines obligatoires les plus séveres de
tous les pays régis par la common law. Elle existe en Angleterre et
au Pays de Galles, ou elle est rattachée a la peine obligatoire pour
un troisiéme cambriolage, et cetera. C’est une caractéristique de
pratiquement toutes les peines obligatoires.
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Senator Cowan: Does it seem to work well in those
jurisdictions, so far as you can tell?

Mr. Roberts: Yes. There has been no outcry that judges are
using the “exceptional circumstances” inappropriately. They use
it in a small number of cases. The idea is that most cases will
get the mandatory sentence, but there will always be some
exceptional grounds.

Senator Cowan: Because every case is different.
Mr. Roberts: Exactly.

Senator Cowan: Some opponents of this mandatory minimum
regime are concerned that if you take away judicial discretion you
are really transferring that discretion to the prosecutors who
might, in certain circumstances, adjust their charges accordingly.
Would you share that concern?

Mr. Roberts: I would. This is, of course, another objection to a
mandatory sentence. It gives the prosecutor more power. This has
been experienced in Massachusetts where they brought in a gun
law a few years back and a mandatory sentence was tacked on.
If you committed robbery with a firearm and it was effectively
pled away — the practice was known as swallowing the gun —
prosecutors would accept a plea to robbery and then they would
not mention the firearm.

Senator Cowan: I am interested in your comments on
your studies and review in other jurisdictions with respect to the
impact of mandatory minimum sentences on minorities. An
unusually large percentage of our prison population comes from
the Aboriginal community. I understand there was a similar
experience in Australia, which has caused the Australian
authorities to move away from that regime or to at least back
off some part of it. Do you have any comment on that?

Mr. Roberts: It is an interesting point. The law is blind in
this respect. Anyone who is convicted of this offence — Black,
White or indigenous or not — will be subject to the penalty.
It does happen that there are some countries where minorities
are particularly likely to be engaged in the criminal behaviour
giving rise to the sentence. If that is the case, then a law of this
nature will increase, disproportionately, the number of people
in that category in the prison population.

Senator Merchant: By way of reference, I would like to use
the U.S. as an example because they are our neighbours to the
south and we seem to be following them; sometimes we move
in the same direction. An astounding 1 out of 140 Americans
is in custody, yet their crime rate is astoundingly high. The crime
rate seems to be increasing. It is 10 times as high per capita than
in many European countries.

Le sénateur Cowan : Cela semble-t-il bien fonctionner dans ces
pays, a votre connaissance?

M. Roberts : Oui. On ne s’est pas plaint du fait que les
juges utilisaient ce critére de « circonstances exceptionnelles » de
maniére inappropriée. Ils y recourent dans un petit nombre de cas.
L’idée, c’est que la plupart des affaires donneront lieu a une peine
obligatoire, mais il y aura toujours des motifs exceptionnels.

Le sénateur Cowan : Parce que chaque cas est différent.
M. Roberts : Exactement.

Le sénateur Cowan : Certains détracteurs de ce régime
de peines minimales obligatoires s’inquic¢tent du fait que si on
¢limine le pouvoir discrétionnaire des juges, on transfére en
réalité ce pouvoir aux procureurs qui peuvent, dans certaines
circonstances, ajuster leurs poursuites en conséquence. Partagez-
vous cette préoccupation?

M. Roberts : Oui. Il s’agit 1a, bien sir, d’une autre objection a
la peine obligatoire. Elle confére davantage de pouvoirs aux
procureurs. On en a fait ’'expérience au Massachussetts, ou I'on a
introduit une loi sur les armes a feu il y a quelques années, en y
rattachant une peine obligatoire. Si quelqu’un a commis un vol a
main armée et qu’on est arrivé a négocier un plaidoyer réduit —
cette pratique appelée « faire disparaitre le fusil », — les
procureurs accepteraient un plaidoyer de culpabilité pour vol
qualifié et ensuite, passeraient sous silence I’arme a feu.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je m’intéresse a vos remarques sur vos
études et examens dans d’autres pays au sujet de I'impact des
peines minimales obligatoires pour les minorités. Une proportion
exceptionnellement élevée de notre population carcérale est issue
de la communauté autochtone. J’ai cru comprendre qu’on avait
vécu une expérience similaire en Australie, ce qui a amené les
autorités australiennes a abandonner ce régime, ou du moins
une certaine partie de celui-ci. Avez-vous des commentaires a
faire la-dessus?

M. Roberts : C’est un point intéressant. La loi est aveugle a cet
égard. Quiconque est reconnu coupable de cette infraction —
Noirs, Blancs, Autochtones ou non — sera assujetti a cette
peine. Il se trouve qu’il y a certains pays ou les minorités sont
particulierement susceptibles d’avoir des comportements
criminels donnant lieu a une telle peine. Si c’est le cas, une loi
de cette nature accroitra, de fagon disproportionnée, le nombre
de personnes qui entrent dans cette catégorie au sein de la
population carcérale.

Le sénateur Merchant : J'aimerais citer les Etats-Unis
comme exemple, parce qu’ils sont nos voisins du Sud et que
nous semblons les suivre; parfois, nous allons dans la méme
direction. Il y a une proportion renversante d’'un Américain sur
140 derriére les barreaux, et pourtant, le taux de criminalité aux
Etats-Unis est étonnamment élevé. II semble étre a la hausse.
Le taux de criminalité par habitant y est 10 fois plus élevé que
dans bien des pays européens.
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I have to tell you about my biases first. I think the “three
strikes and you are out” policy is a failure, and we are about to
adopt that with Bill C-2. I also believe in judicial discretion. That,
apparently, is not a commonly held belief by some people.

Could you give us examples of some of things the Europeans
are doing that are working, and can you tell us how we can avoid
the mistakes that the Americans are making?

Mr. Roberts: Yes, senator. As you say, the American
experience is quite informative in this respect. I would not
classify this bill as a “three strikes” bill. It obviously gives
disproportionate weight to criminal history, but it is certainly
not as bad as the “three strikes” legislation where you can get
life imprisonment or 40 years for a third felony. However, the
logic is the same.

You are right; the evidence is clear that in the United States
there has been no reduction in the crime rate. A number of
states are pulling back from their mandatory sentencing laws,
particularly with respect to drug offenders.

In Europe, the experience is somewhat different. There has
never been as much enthusiasm for mandatory sentences of
custody in the European jurisdictions, particularly Finland,
Sweden — the Scandinavian countries — where the focus has
been more on responding to these crimes at the stage of policing
and communities. There has also been more faith in judicial
discretion. I think judges in common law countries such as
Canada, the United States and England, too, have been under a
lot more criticism than in the European countries. That may be
partly responsible.

The Chair: Senator Merchant spoke about incarceration rates,
but what do we know about comparative crime rates? Everyone
knows the homicide rate is higher in the United States than
elsewhere. In those countries in Europe that have not been so
focused on sending people to prison for long periods of time, are
other crime rates lower?

Mr. Roberts: The crime rates are lower in some Western
European jurisdictions, such as Finland and the Scandinavian
countries. They are certainly lower than in Canada. Canada is
between the European and American model. That may be another
explanation why there has not been quite so much enthusiasm
for taking away judicial discretion in Western Europe.

The Chair: There is no evidence of which is the chicken and
which is the egg, which is the cause and which is the effect, or
indeed if one is a cause and one is an effect.

Mr. Roberts: No, except this takes us back into the question
of whether the severity of the sentencing process is an effective
deterrent or crime-control mechanism. I think it is not just me;

Je dois d’abord vous parler de mes partis pris. J’estime que la
politique de « retrait apres trois prises » est un échec, et nous
sommes sur le point de I'adopter avec ce projet de loi C-2. Je crois
également au pouvoir discrétionnaire des juges. Apparemment,
peu de gens partagent cette conviction.

Pourriez-vous nous donner des exemples de certaines mesures
que les Européens appliquent et qui fonctionnent, et nous dire
comment nous pourrions éviter les erreurs commises par les
Américains?

M. Roberts : Oui, sénateur. Comme vous le dites, I’'expérience
américaine est riche en enseignements a cet égard. Je ne
catégoriserais pas ce projet de loi en tant que politique de
« retrait aprés trois prises ». Il donne de toute évidence un poids
démesuré aux antécédents criminels, mais n’est certainement
pas aussi terrible que la politique des trois fautes, ou on peut
étre condamné a une peine d’emprisonnement de 40 ans ou a
perpétuité pour un troisiéme vol. Quoi qu’il en soit, la logique
est la méme.

Vous avez raison; les preuves montrent clairement qu’aux
Etats-Unis, il n’y a eu aucune réduction du taux de criminalité.
Un certain nombre d’Etats renoncent a leurs lois prévoyant des
peines obligatoires, particulierement en ce qui a trait aux auteurs
d’infractions liées aux drogues.

L’expérience européenne est quelque peu différente. Dans les
pays européens, il n’y a jamais eu autant d’enthousiasme a I’égard
des peines d’emprisonnement obligatoires, particuliérement en
Finlande, en Suéde — les pays scandinaves — ou on a davantage
mis I’accent sur une action face a ces crimes a I’étape du maintien
de I'ordre et des communautés. On fait également davantage
confiance au pouvoir discrétionnaire des juges. De plus, je pense
que les magistrats des pays régis par la common law comme le
Canada, les Etats-Unis et I’Angleterre ont fait I’objet de critiques
beaucoup plus nombreuses que ceux des pays européens. C’est
peut-étre I'une des causes.

La présidente : Le sénateur Merchant a parlé des taux
d’incarcération, mais que savons-nous des taux de criminalité
comparés? Tout le monde sait que le taux d’homicides est plus
élevé aux Etats-Unis qu’ailleurs. Dans ces pays d’Europe qui ne
sont pas autant axés sur I'emprisonnement pour de longues
périodes, les autres taux de criminalité sont-ils plus bas?

M. Roberts : Les taux de criminalité sont plus faibles dans
certains pays d’Europe de I'Ouest comme la Finlande et les pays
scandinaves. Ils sont certainement moins élevés qu’au Canada.
Celui-ci se situe entre les modeles européen et américain. Il
pourrait s’agir la d’une autre explication au fait qu’'on n’a
pas été tellement enthousiastes a l'idée d’éliminer le pouvoir
discrétionnaire des juges en Europe de I’Ouest.

La présidente : Rien ne permet de déterminer ce qui est ’ceuf et
ce qui est la poule, c’est-a-dire ce qui est la cause et ce qui est
leffet.

M. Roberts : Non, seulement, cela nous raméne a la question
de savoir si la sévérité du processus de détermination de la peine
est un mécanisme efficace de dissuasion ou de lutte contre le
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most sentencing scholars would say you need a tough sentencing
system that imposes severe punishments on people convicted of
the most serious crimes. However, you do that to recognize the
harm; you do not do that because you suffer from the delusion
that doubling the sentence will half the crime rate. It is not that
simple, unfortunately.

Senator Di Nino: I come from the city of Toronto, so my
viewpoint may be a little skewed in that way. I see this bill as
really a bill about the protection of Canadians.

We have received as evidence a letter from David Miller,
Mayor of the City of Toronto. He writes: “The people of Toronto
continue to be victimized by senseless acts of violence and
handgun-related crime.” He hopes this committee will pass this
legislation as soon as possible so that “individuals and families
are safe to partake in healthy and productive lives.” He also
says that he supports the provision of Bill C-2 related to the
mandatory minimum sentences for firearms offences, as well
as changes to the provisions concerning dangerous offenders,
long-term offenders, et cetera.

Most of the crimes we are talking about in this bill are really
perpetrated by a small number of hardened criminals, people who
are repeat and violent offenders. I would not necessarily argue
with you, Mr. Roberts, but I would suggest to you that it would
be better for citizens if these criminals were kept in jail longer so
that they cannot continue to commit crimes after the experiences
we have had with these individuals.

Would you not agree that the provisions of Bill C-2, apart
from your comments on deterrence, incapacitate the criminals
and ensure that they are not free to live in our communities and to
continue to commit crimes? Do you not think that is a good
reason to keep them in jail longer?

Mr. Roberts: I think people who commit these crimes
should be in jail probably for a substantial period of time.
All T am saying is that I do not think a mandatory minimum
sentence of this nature will reduce the rate of these crimes.
You say it is a very small group of hardened criminals, but
actually a lot of people are involved in the buying and selling
of guns and ammunition. There are more offenders out there
than you think.

I am not against the bill as a whole. I am talking very
specifically about the mandatory minimum sentence provisions.

We have a problem in England and Wales now with guns
and knives in cities that are the equivalent of Toronto. One
solution we have been looking into is allowing police to
set up airport screening devices right on the street. You can
walk a young person through the device if he is suspected

crime. Je pense qu’il ne s’agit pas seulement de mon opinion; la
plupart des chercheurs spécialistes en la matiére diraient qu’il
est nécessaire d’avoir un systéme de détermination des peines qui
impose des chatiments sévéres aux personnes reconnues coupables
des crimes les plus graves. Cependant, on le fait pour reconnaitre
les dommages causés, et non parce qu’on est en proie a I'illusion
que doubler la peine réduira de moitié le taux de criminalité.
Malheureusement, ce n’est pas aussi simple.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je viens de Toronto, alors mon point de
vue tend peut-étre un peu dans cette direction. Je considére
véritablement que 'objet du projet de loi est de protéger les
Canadiens.

Nous avons regu a titre de preuve une lettre de David Miller,
maire de la ville de Toronto. Il écrit ceci: « Les Torontois
continuent d’étre victimes d’actes de violence insensés et de
crimes liés a des armes a feu ». Il espére que notre comité
adoptera cette Iégislation le plus tot possible afin que « les
individus et les familles puissent vivre des vies saines et
productives en toute sécurité ». Il ajoute qu’il appuie la
disposition du projet de loi C-2 concernant les peines
obligatoires minimales pour les infractions commises avec
une arme a feu, de méme que les modifications aux dispositions
sur les délinquants dangereux, les délinquants a contréler,
et cetera.

La plupart des crimes dont traite ce projet de loi sont
déja perpétrés par un petit nombre de criminels endurcis, par
des délinquants récidivistes et violents. Je ne conteste pas
nécessairement vos propos, monsieur Roberts, mais je vous
dirais qu’il serait préférable pour les citoyens qu’on garde ces
criminels derri¢re les barreaux plus longtemps afin de les
empécher de continuer a commettre des crimes.

Ne seriez-vous pas d’accord pour dire que les dispositions du
projet de loi C-2, mis a part vos commentaires sur la dissuasion,
mettent hors d’état de nuire les criminels et font en sorte qu’ils ne
sont pas libres de vivre dans nos communautés et de continuer de
commettre des crimes? N’étes-vous pas d’avis que c’est une bonne
raison de les maintenir en prison plus longtemps?

M. Roberts : Je crois que ceux qui commettent ces crimes
devraient probablement étre en prison pendant une longue
période. Tout ce que je dis, c’est que je ne crois pas qu’une
peine minimale obligatoire de cette nature réduira les taux des
crimes en question. Vous dites que cela concerne un trés petit
groupe de criminels endurcis, mais en fait, beaucoup de gens
achétent ou vendent les armes a feu et des munitions. Ily a plus de
criminels que vous ne le croyez.

Je ne suis pas contre le projet de loi dans son ensemble. Je parle
trés précisément des dispositions relatives aux peines minimales
obligatoires.

Aujourd’hui, en Angleterre et au pays de Galles, nous avons
un probléme en ce qui concerne les armes a feu et les couteaux
dans des villes de taille équivalente a celle de Toronto. Une
solution que nous avons envisagée consiste a permettre a la
police d’installer des appareils de contrdle aéroportuaires
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of carrying a gun or a weapon. I think approaches such as that
offer a lot more benefit in terms of crime control.

You may say it is a modest crime control benefit, but what is
there to lose? You have to remember that what there is to lose is
the coherence of the sentencing process. You are taking away
judicial discretion, and I think that is inappropriate.

In other countries, a sentencing commission would provide
advice on this issue. It is incoherent to simply say we will jack this
sentence up and do that to this one and so on. You need a
comprehensive proportionality-based approach. That is all I am
saying.

Senator Di Nino: I do not disagree with you that the criminal
justice system will not be the only thing that will solve the
problems associated with criminals. This government, particularly
in the short two-year period of time that it has been around,
has put forth and funded a number of different programs. We do
not disagree that other things need to be done, such as education
and deterrence. However, in your response a moment ago to
Senator Fraser, you said that tougher sentences should be
implemented in order to recognize the harm done. I agree that
this is one of the reasons we need to tell criminals that we will
get serious about controlling them and their kind, and we
will be punishing them for longer periods of time if they continue
to commit these crimes.

I believe I am quoting you correctly when you stated
“to recognize the harm done.”

Mr. Roberts: That is quite correct. All I am asking you is how
much harm is done by selling ammunition for the second time?
That is a very serious offence. I am simply asking whether it is
more serious than aggravated sexual assault, manslaughter and
other offences that are punished less severely.

Senator Di Nino: Maybe we should be looking at that as well.

In the city of Toronto this past weekend, three gun-related
murders were committed. It has become an epidemic in that
city. We need to send a very strong message to the criminals
who are committing these crimes that we will put them away
for longer periods of time in order to keep them off the streets.
Will that solve all the problems? No, it will not. However, we
believe it is a deterrent if for no other reason than to recognize
the harm they have done. This is where I have an argument with
your position.

Mr. Roberts: 1 understand. All I am saying is that there are
two reasons. There is the seriousness reason we just talked
about, one that I think violates proportionality. The deterrence

directement dans la rue. On pourra demander & un jeune de
traverser ’appareil de contréle en marchant si on le soupgonne de
transporter un fusil ou une arme. Je pense que des approches
comme celle-la présentent beaucoup plus d’avantages en ce qui a
trait a la lutte contre la criminalité.

Vous direz peut-étre qu’il s’agit 1a d’un avantage modeste, mais
qu’a-t-on a perdre? Il faut vous rappeler que ce qui est en jeu,
c’est la cohérence du processus de détermination des peines. Vous
éliminez le pouvoir discrétionnaire des juges, et je crois que c’est
inapproprié.

Dans d’autres pays, une commission sur la détermination de la
peine donnerait son avis sur la question. Il est incohérent de se
contenter de déclarer qu’on augmentera cette peine, qu’on
changera celle-1a, et ainsi de suite. Il faut une approche globale
fondée sur la proportionnalité. C’est tout ce que je prétends.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je suis d’accord avec vous sur le fait que
le systéme de justice criminelle n’est pas le seul élément qui
résoudra les problémes associés aux criminels. Ce gouvernement,
particuliérement au cours de sa courte période de deux ans au
pouvoir, a présenté et financé un certain nombre de programmes
différents. Nous admettons qu’il faut agir a d’autres égards,
comme ceux de l'information et de la dissuasion. Toutefois,
quand vous avez répondu au sénateur Fraser, tout a ’heure, vous
avez dit que des peines plus strictes devraient étre appliquées pour
reconnaitre les dommages causés. Je conviens que c’est 'une des
raisons pour lesquelles nous devons signaler aux criminels que
nous allons nous occuper trés sérieusement de les controler, et que
nous les punirons pour de plus longues périodes s’ils continuent a
commettre ces crimes.

Je crois vous avoir cité correctement pour ce qui est de la
« reconnaissance des dommages causés ».

M. Roberts : C’est exact. Tout ce que je vous demande, c’est a
quel point on cause des dommages vendant des munitions pour la
deuxi¢me fois? Il s’agit 1a d’une infraction trés grave. Je demande
simplement si c’est plus grave encore que l’agression sexuelle
grave, le meurtre et d’autres infractions qui sont punies moins
séverement.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Peut-étre devrions-nous examiner cela
également.

Dans la ville de Toronto, la fin de semaine derniére, trois
crimes ont été commis avec une arme a feu. C’est devenu une
épidémie dans cette ville. Nous devons envoyer un message trés
fort a ceux qui commettent ces crimes pour leur signaler que nous
les emprisonnerons pendant des périodes prolongées pour les
empécher de circuler dans les rues. Est-ce que cela résoudra tous
les problémes? Non. Toutefois, nous estimons qu’il s’agit la
d’un dissuasif, ne serait-ce que parce qu’il permet de reconnaitre
les dommages causés. C’est 1a ou votre point de vue me pose
probléme.

M. Roberts : Je comprends. Tout ce que je dis, c’est que
deux raisons sont en cause. Il y a celle de la gravité, dont nous
venons de parler, et qui contrevient selon moi au principe de
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argument is an evidence-based one. As far as I am concerned,
the evidence is just not there.

As 1 say, the Department of Justice representative who said
there is nothing conclusive does not give me a lot of solace that
this kind of legislation will reduce the crime rate. You want to
make the message stronger to these offenders, and that implies
right now that they are thinking it is not so bad; but judges
take these offences quite seriously and impose significant terms
of custody.

Senator Campbell: It is interesting that when we start talking
statistics, they tend to be used with great selectivity. In fact, the
crime rate is down in Canada. Yes, we see little blips here and
there, but it is down.

In Canada, we have mandatory sentencing for committing
an offence with a handgun. However, as you say, like the
United States, they swallow the gun and cop out to a robbery
without the gun. Would it not be simpler to give direction
through the justice system that you cannot cop out on that gun
offence? Go with the gun offence, and then anything above
that is tacked on.

Mr. Roberts: Yes. That approach has been adopted with
respect to other offences and issues. You could have a
prosecutorial guideline. There are prosecutorial guidelines with
respect to conditional sentences of imprisonment in the province
of Ontario, and you could introduce something to this effect,
which would minimize the undermining of the mandatory
sentence by conveying a message to prosecutors that they could
not discuss this issue in plea bargaining.

Senator Campbell: Clearly, that is what is happening in
Canada. As an ex-police officer, I know that “let’s make a
deal” is not uncommon when you have an armed robbery.

Also, with regard to mandatory sentencing and dangerous
offenders, these people will all get out of jail unless we plan on
keeping them in there for the rest of their lives, which as you
say would be counterintuitive when one receives an average
of four years for manslaughter. Do you have any idea or any
experience from your studies as to what happens when these
people get out of prison after their three strikes?

Mr. Roberts: I do not have any information in that regard.

Senator Campbell: We have quoted from Maclean’s magazine,
and of course we know that sensationalism sells. However, it
may be interesting for you to know that in 2004, 94 per cent of
Canadians were satisfied with their safety, up from 91 per cent
in 1999.

Senator Oliver: What statistics are you reading from?

proportionnalité. L’argument de la dissuasion repose sur des
preuves. Or, en ce qui me concerne, la preuve est tout simplement
absente.

Comme je l'ai dit, le représentant du ministére de la Justice
qui a affirmé qu’il n’y avait rien de concluant ne me rassure pas
beaucoup quant au fait que ce genre de loi réduira le taux de
criminalité. Vous voulez envoyer un message plus fort a ces
criminels, et cela implique qu’en ce moment, ils croient que les
peines ne sont pas si sévéres; mais les juges prennent ces
infractions trés au sérieux et imposent de longues peines de prison.

Le sénateur Campbell : 11 est intéressant de constater que
lorsqu’on se met a parler de statistiques, on tend a les utiliser avec
une grande sélectivité. En fait, le taux de criminalité a baissé au
Canada. Oui, il y a ¢a et 1a quelques petits sursauts, mais il a
chuté.

Au Canada, nous appliquons des peines minimales obligatoires
pour des infractions commises avec une arme a feu. Toutefois,
comme vous le dites, a I'instar des Américains, on fait disparaitre
le fusil et on plaide coupable pour un vol commis sans arme a feu.
Ne serait-il pas plus simple de donner, par ’entremise du systeme
judiciaire, des directives selon lesquelles le plaidoyer d’infraction
avec une arme est non négociable? Il faut opter pour le crime
commis avec une arme, et tout ce qui s’ensuit.

M. Roberts : Oui. Cette approche a été adoptée en ce qui a
trait a d’autres infractions et d’autres cas, ou on pouvait avoir
des lignes directrices en matiére de poursuites. En Ontario, on
applique ce genre de directives en matiére de poursuites en ce qui
concerne les peines d’emprisonnement avec sursis, et on pourrait
mettre en place un mécanisme a cette fin, qui minimiserait la
réduction de la peine obligatoire par I’envoi d’un message aux
procureurs selon lequel ils ne pourront débattre de cette question
en négociant un plaidoyer.

Le sénateur Campbell : II est clair que c’est ce qui arrive au
Canada. En tant qu’ancien officier de police, je sais que la
stratégic de négociation n’est pas inhabituelle en cas de vol
a main armée.

Par ailleurs, en ce qui a trait aux peines obligatoires et aux
criminels dangereux, ces gens sortiront tous de prison a moins
que nous n’envisagions de les y garder pour le reste de leur vie,
ce qui, comme vous le dites, serait contraire a la logique
lorsqu’une personne écope en moyenne d’une peine de quatre
ans pour meurtre. Avez-vous une idée, ou une expérience tirée
de vos études quant a ce qui se produit quand ces gens sortent
de prison apres leurs trois fautes?

M. Roberts : Je ne dispose pas d’informations a cet égard.

Le sénateur Campbell : Nous avons tiré une citation du
magazine Maclean’s, et bien sdr, nous savons que le
sensationnalisme vend. Toutefois, vous trouverez peut-étre
intéressant de savoir qu’en 2004, 94 p. 100 des Canadiens
s’estimaient suffisamment en sécurité, par rapport a 91 p. 100
en 1999.

Le sénateur Oliver : Quelles sont ces statistiques que vous
nous lisez?
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Senator Campbell: One would have to ask the relevance of this
idea that there is suddenly this —

Senator Stratton: Try reading that.

Senator Campbell: That is exactly what I am reading, Senator
Stratton. It is right there.

Senator Andreychuk: It is our testimony.

Senator Campbell: It is up to 94 per cent. One has to really
ask: Will mandatory sentencing actually make a change in
our crime rates, or is it simply a feel-good measure for a small
minority of Canadians?

Mr. Roberts: Is that question addressed to me?
Senator Campbell: Yes.

Mr. Roberts: I do not think it will have any impact. I testified
to that effect. I do not think it will make Canadians feel safer
because Canadians do not really know a great deal about the
sentencing process. There has been research on Canadians’
knowledge and the knowledge of others regarding their
sentencing structures, and they generally find that people have
no idea whether the offence carries a minimum penalty and,
if so, what that minimum penalty is. These provisions may
make some legislators feel better, but I do not think they will
affect the crime rate and I do not think they will make Canadians
feel safer.

I do agree with you that Canadians have respect for their
system. Obviously, there are pockets of big problems in Canada,
but the nation is not, if you look at the statistics, gripped by a
blizzard of crime fear.

Senator Campbell: Senator Di Nino read from a statement
of Mayor Miller. Mayor Miller is an advocate of outlawing
handguns. Do you have any knowledge of jurisdictions where
handguns are outlawed and the effect on crime?

Mr. Roberts: I am not a gun restriction, gun control expert
with respect to the amount of weapons circulating in society.
I could not address that question.

Senator Andreychuk: It was interesting to note that the
Canadian justice officials came and testified before us, and
I agree with your assessment that they are excellent in the work
they do and should be supported even further.

They did a survey some years back and said that people were
satisfied with the system. However, since then, and given the
increase in violent crime, they do not have statistics of citizen
satisfaction in that regard. Therefore, we should remember the
testimony and the centre’s interpretation of their statistics as
they presented them at our last committee meeting.

Le sénateur Campbell : On pourrait s’interroger sur la
pertinence de cette idée qu’il y a soudainement ce...

Le sénateur Stratton : Tachez de nous lire cela.

Le sénateur Campbell : C’est exactement ce que je lis, sénateur
Stratton. C’est juste 1a.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : C’est notre témoignage.

Le sénateur Campbell : Ce pourcentage s’éléeve a 94 p. 100.
On doit vraiment se poser la question suivante : les peines
minimales obligatoires changeront-elles réellement quelque
chose a notre taux de criminalité, ou s’agit-il simplement d’une
mesure qui réconfortera une minorité de Canadiens?

M. Roberts : Cette question m’est-elle adressée?
Le sénateur Campbell : Oui.

M. Roberts : Je ne crois pas que cela aura un impact. Je 1’ai
déja affirmé. Je ne crois pas que ces peines minimales obligatoires
permettront aux Canadiens de se sentir plus en sécurité, car ils ne
savent pas réellement grand-chose du processus de détermination
des peines. On a effectué des recherches sur la connaissance
qu’ont les Canadiens, entre autres, des structures d’établissement
des peines en vigueur chez eux, et ces recherches ont conclu, de
facon générale, que les gens ignorent si une infraction entrainera
une peine minimale obligatoire et, le cas échéant, quelle sera
cette peine. Ces dispositions pourraient réconforter certains
législateurs, mais je ne crois pas qu’elles auront une incidence
sur le taux de criminalité, ni qu’elles permettront aux Canadiens
de se sentir plus en sécurité.

Je suis d’accord avec vous lorsque vous dites que les Canadiens
respectent leur systéme. De toute évidence, dans certains endroits,
il y a des problémes importants au Canada, mais la nation n’est
pas, si ’on considére les statistiques, paralysée par la peur de la
criminalité.

Le sénateur Campbell : Le sénateur Di Nino nous a lu une
déclaration du maire Miller, un défenseur de la cause de
I'interdiction des armes de poing. Connaissez-vous des pays ou
une telle interdiction est en vigueur, et I'impact qu’elle a sur la
criminalité?

M. Roberts : Je ne suis pas un expert en matiére de restriction
ou de contréle des armes a feu pour ce qui est du nombre d’armes
en circulation dans la société. Je ne pourrais répondre a cette
question.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Il est intéressant de souligner que des
fonctionnaires du ministére de la Justice du Canada sont venus
témoigner devant nous, et jJapprouve votre évaluation quant au
fait qu’ils accomplissent un excellent travail et devraient étre
davantage appuyés.

Il y a quelques années, on a mené une étude et déclaré que les
gens étaient satisfaits du systéme. Or, depuis, les crimes violents
ont augmenté, et on ne dispose pas de nouvelles statistiques sur
la satisfaction des citoyens a ce chapitre. Par conséquent, nous
devons nous rappeler des remarques et de l'interprétation des
représentants du Centre au sujet des statistiques, telles qu’ils nous
les ont exprimées a la notre derniére séance.
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I want to deal with the matter of proportionality. You are
absolutely right that our Criminal Code as a whole should
look at the issue of proportionality, but it is not just the
proportionality of these proposed new sections of the Criminal
Code that we are concerned with. When we look at the intent of
the proposed sections and how sentencing has taken hold, in
our opinion we find that we sometimes incarcerate people on
more minimal issues, and as time goes on, they receive a higher
and higher sentence as opposed to what we thought would be
appropriate for a serious crime. In other words, individuals
charged with break and enter or theft sometimes receive longer
sentences than someone charged with assaulting a spouse.
Therefore, we struggle with the issue of proportionality as it
relates to criminality. It is not a new issue in these proposed
sections. Would you agree with that assessment?

Mr. Roberts: Absolutely, it is not a new issue. We have
seen these anomalies in sentencing statistics in Canada since
I have been in the business, which would be 1982. It has
always been a problem. One of the problems is we do not have a
central commission that revises, revisits and studies sentencing
statistics so that Parliament can say, “We are creating a new
offence, so what should the level of sentence be?” It is not a
new problem.

Senator Andreychuk: Setting aside South Africa, am I correct
from my recollections that there is something similar to a
mandatory minimum in the U.K. for gun crimes?

Mr. Roberts: There are a small number of mandatory sentences
in the United Kingdom. The closest to the arrangements we are
talking about here is a three-strikes penalty for burglary, domestic
break and enter. On the third occasion, it is a three-year sentence.
Those are the equivalents in this jurisdiction.

Senator Andreychuk: Would it be fair to say that there was a
response from their Parliament as to what they perceived from
their citizens to be the issue, and burglary was deemed to be
sufficiently serious, warranting a mandatory sentence?

Mr. Roberts: That is correct. It was not so much concern from
their constituents, but evidence that burglary had been increasing.
There was concern about the seriousness of the offence.

As I mentioned before, the mandatory sentence that came in a
couple of years ago was accompanied by this provision allowing
for limited judicial discretion.

Senator Andreychuk: You were advocating that perhaps there
should be more judicial discretion and some capability, no matter
what the minimum is, whereby a judge would have some judicial
discretion. That may be one way of looking at it. However, if
society deems that there should be a threshold beyond which an
individual receives the minimum mandatory sentence, there is still

Je veux parler de proportionnalité. Vous avez tout a fait
raison de dire que c’est un aspect qui devrait étre considéré pour
I’ensemble de notre Code criminel, mais ce n’est pas seulement la
proportionnalité des nouvelles dispositions proposées qui nous
préoccupe. Compte tenu de l'objectif des nouvelles mesures
proposées et de la maniére dont les peines sont actuellement
établies, nous constatons que des individus sont parfois incarcérés
pour des crimes moins graves et se voient de plus en plus imposer
des peines plus rigoureuses qui conviendraient davantage pour
des crimes plus sérieux. Ainsi, il arrive qu'un individu reconnu
coupable d’introduction par effraction ou de vol soit incarcéré
pendant plus longtemps qu’un autre qui a agressé sa conjointe. La
question de la proportionnalité nous pose donc probléme en
mati¢ére de criminalité. Ce probléme n’est d’ailleurs pas créé par
les nouvelles dispositions proposées. Voyez-vous les choses du
méme ceil?

M. Roberts : Tout a fait, c’est un probléme qui existait déja.
Je travaille dans ce domaine depuis 1982 et j’ai toujours pu
constater de telles anomalies dans les statistiques sur les peines
imposées au Canada. C’est un aspect qui a toujours été
problématique. Il faudrait que le Parlement puisse compter sur
une commission centrale chargée d’analyser ces statistiques
et de lui indiquer le niveau des peines qui devrait s’imposer
lorsqu’une nouvelle infraction est créée. C’est donc une
problématique qui ne date pas d’hier.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Si 'on fait exception de I’Afrique
du Sud, je crois me souvenir qu’il existe une mesure assimilable a
une peine minimale obligatoire au Royaume-Uni pour les crimes
commis au moyen d’une arme a feu. Est-ce que je fais fausse
route?

M. Roberts : Il y a un petit nombre de peines obligatoires au
Royaume-Uni. Celle qui se rapproche le plus des dispositions
dont nous discutons ici est une peine de type « retrait sur trois
prises » pour les cambriolages et introductions par effraction.
A la troisiéme infraction, la peine est de trois ans. Ce sont les
sanctions équivalentes dans ce cas particulier.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Pourrait-on dire que ces peines ont
été établies par le Parlement britannique en réaction aux
perceptions présumées des citoyens du Royaume-Uni a cet
égard, et que le cambriolage a été considéré comme un crime
suffisamment grave pour justifier une peine obligatoire?

M. Roberts : C’est exact, mais ce n’est pas tant le fait des
préoccupations des citoyens que des données indiquant une
augmentation du nombre de cambriolages. On s’inquiétait
de la gravité de cette infraction.

Comme je I’ai mentionné précédemment, les peines obligatoires
instaurées il y a quelques années s’accompagnaient d’une
disposition accordant un pouvoir discrétionnaire restreint aux
juges.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous avez fait valoir qu’il serait
peut-étre bon, sans égard a la peine minimale en vigueur, que les
juges jouissent d'un pouvoir discrétionnaire accru. C’est une
fagon possible d’envisager la situation. Quoi qu’il en soit, méme si
une société considére qu’une peine minimale obligatoire doit étre
imposée a un individu qui franchit un certain seuil, la police peut
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prosecutorial police discretion in those cases where, on the face of
it, they believe a crime has been committed but they believe it does
not warrant the charge or warrant going to court.

Mr. Roberts: Yes, but this is a slippery slope. Another way
of saying that is to say, “We are going to create this really
tough sentence, but do not worry about it because prosecutors
will exercise their discretion wisely and you will not have
inappropriate cases going to the court for conviction.” You
need to ask, “What is the appropriate sentence for an offender
convicted of this offence, and how much judicial discretion
should there be around that decision?”

I am not arguing, by the way, for more judicial discretion.
Judges have quite a lot of it at the present time. I just do not want
to take it away in this rather ad hoc manner.

Senator Andreychuk: I was responding to Senator Cowan who
thought you could do it by guidelines for prosecutors. My point
would be that if we are to use mandatory minimums, we should
know that they are mandatory minimums and not leave it to the
discretion of prosecutors.

Mr. Roberts: Absolutely.

Senator Andreychuk: We are not taking away judicial
discretion completely in these sections, but we are reducing
judicial discretion. Would that be a fair assessment?

Mr. Roberts: That would be a fair assessment. You are
reducing it in the sense that you are permitting a court to
exercise discretion, but only in one direction. For example, with
respect to the five-year minimum for the second or subsequent
offence, a court can go up but it cannot go down. The only way
proportionality can be maintained is by doing up. You cannot
maintain proportionality that way; it is asymmetrical.

Senator De Bané: Professor Roberts, the question of
sentencing is part of your expertise, and various scholars have
specialized in studying the question of sentencing in depth.
What is their general opinion about mandatory sentencing?

Mr. Roberts: Their general opinion is that it is a parliamentary
legislative sledgehammer in the sense that it goes into the
sentencing process and smashes away judicial discretion.
Sentencing scholars are fairly consistent on this point. They are
not consistent on a lot, but on this one they are. They say that
the deterrent justification just is not there. The evidence is not
there that you would deter crime effectively by having a
mandatory minimum sentence.

There may be an argument to be made, and many would
make it, that if a crime is so serious — and I gave the example
of murder — then you need a mandatory sentence of custody

toujours exercer son pouvoir discrétionnaire de poursuivre ou non
dans les cas ot un crime a été commis sans nécessairement justifier
des accusations ou des actions devant les tribunaux.

M. Roberts : Oui, mais on s’engage ainsi sur une pente
dangereuse. On pourrait aussi exprimer la situation comme
suit : « Nous allons établir cette peine vraiment trés sévere,
mais ne vous inquiétez pas, car les procureurs vont exercer leur
pouvoir discrétionnaire de fagon judicieuse et les tribunaux
pénaux ne seront pas saisis de causes inappropriées. » Voici la
question qu’il faut se poser : « Quelle est la peine qui convient
pour un contrevenant trouvé coupable de cette infraction et dans
quelle mesure convient-il d’accorder un pouvoir discrétionnaire
aux juges relativement a cette peine?

Soit dit en passant, je ne préconise pas un recours accru au
pouvoir discrétionnaire. Les juges en ont déja beaucoup a I’heure
actuelle. Je ne veux simplement pas qu’on leur enléve ces pouvoirs
de fagon aussi improvisée.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je répondais au sénateur Cowan qui
estimait que cela pouvait se faire au moyen de lignes directrices a
I'intention des procureurs. Je dirais que si nous devons avoir
recours a des peines minimales, nous devons savoir qu’il s’agit
bien de minimums et que les sentences ne doivent pas étre laissées
a la discrétion des procureurs.

M. Roberts : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Ces dispositions ne visent pas a
enlever tout pouvoir discrétionnaire aux juges mais bien a
restreindre ces pouvoirs. Est-ce que mon évaluation est juste?

M. Roberts : Effectivement. On restreint les pouvoirs
discrétionnaires en ce sens que l’on permet a un tribunal de
n’exercer de tels pouvoirs que dans une seule direction. Par
exemple, pour ce qui est de la peine minimale de cinq ans pour
la deuxiéme infraction et les suivantes, un tribunal peut
I’augmenter, mais pas la diminuer. La seule voie pour maintenir
la proportionnalité réside dans I'imposition d’une peine plus
lourde. Ce n’est pas la bonne fagon d’assurer le maintien de la
proportionnalité; c’est un régime asymétrique.

Le sénateur De Bané : Monsieur Roberts, la détermination de
la peine est un domaine faisant partie de votre expertise et
différents universitaires en ont fait leur spécialité en étudiant la
question en profondeur. Quelle est, d’'une maniére générale, leur
opinion sur les peines obligatoires?

M. Roberts : On croit généralement qu’il s’agit d’une véritable
massue législative entre les mains des parlementaires qui
s’ingérent ainsi dans le processus de détermination de la peine et
privent les juges de tout pouvoir discrétionnaire. C’est un point
de vue que partagent la plupart des spécialistes en la matiére.
Ils ne s’entendent pas sur beaucoup de choses, mais celle-ci
fait exception. Ils estiment que I’on ne peut tout simplement
pas invoquer le motif de la dissuasion. Rien n’indique que
I'imposition de peines minimales obligatoires constitue un
moyen de dissuasion efficace contre le crime.

On pourrait sans doute soutenir, et plusieurs ne se géneront
pas pour le faire, que si un crime est suffisamment grave — et je
vous donne I'’exemple d’'un meurtre — une peine obligatoire
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because it is inconceivable that the community would accept
a non-custodial sanction for someone convicted of murder.
However, the deterrence argument, which is of course based on
research, has been considered quite weak for quite a long time.

Senator De Bané: Thank you very much, professor, for giving
me this broad summary of the general opinion of experts on
sentencing.

Tell me now about the general opinion of the judiciary in
regard to mandatory sentencing. In theory, my guess is that
they like it because it removes a lot of responsibility from their
shoulders. Then they do not have to think, over days and nights,
what they should do in a particular case if it has been set out in
the law. You just close your eyes and you give him so much.

Mr. Roberts: As you might guess or imagine, judges are
quite opposed to these penalties because they take a judicial
oath to do justice. In their view, the penalty takes away their
discretion and ability to do that. I am not just saying that;
there is research on that subject.

If you look at the one-year sentence that was introduced way
back in the 1980s, which the Canadian Sentencing Commission
studied, a one-year mandatory minimum sentence went all the
way up from 1 to 14. Judges should use the range, but because
they did not like it, they all came in at the first level.

If you look at judicial surveys in Canada and other countries,
judges, no more than anyone else, do not like having their
discretion taken away, particularly when they want to try to do
justice.

I also think that they resent what they perceive to be a certain
degree of lack of faith in the judiciary — “the judges are not
doing their job properly, so we will do it for them” — and I think
they resent that.

Senator De Bané: What makes me personally uncomfortable
is that it is well known that each category of crime is committed
by a special category of people. In the case of manufacturing
dangerous drugs, only large international drug companies can
do that. With respect to issuing a misleading IPO on the stock
market, not many people can do that. As for manufacturing
unsafe cars, there are not that many people manufacturing
cars in the world. However, violent crimes, given everything
I have read, are committed by the 2 per cent poorest people in
society.

Senator Oliver: Not necessarily.

d’incarcération devrait étre imposée, car on ne peut pas s’imaginer
que la collectivité accepterait une peine ne comportant pas de
placement sous garde pour un individu condamné pour meurtre.
Cependant, ’argumentation invoquant la dissuasion, laquelle est
bien sir fondée sur différentes recherches réalisées, est considérée
comme plutdt faible depuis un bon moment déja.

Le sénateur De Bané : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Roberts,
pour ce vaste apercu du point de vue général des experts en
matiére de détermination des peines.

Qu’en est-il maintenant du point de vue général de la
magistrature relativement aux peines obligatoires? En théorie, je
dirais que c’est un systéme qui convient aux juges parce qu’on les
décharge ainsi d’une grosse responsabilité. Si la peine est établie
dans la loi, ils n’ont plus a réfléchir, des jours et des nuits durant,
sur la mesure qui s’impose dans un cas particulier. Il leur suffit de
fermer les yeux et de prononcer la sentence prévue.

M. Roberts : Comme vous pouvez I'imaginer, les juges sont
plutot défavorables a ces peines obligatoires dans le contexte du
serment professionnel les engageant a rendre justice. A leurs yeux,
les peines obligatoires les privent de leur pouvoir discrétionnaire
et les empéchent de donner suite a cet engagement. Ce n’est pas
une simple affirmation de ma part; des recherches ont été menées
a ce sujet.

Avec 'entrée en vigueur d’une peine minimale d’un an dans les
années 1980, laquelle a fait 'objet d’une étude de la Commission
canadienne sur la détermination de la peine, la sentence pouvait
aller d’'un an jusqu’a 14 ans. Les juges auraient di se servir de
toute la marge de manceuvre que cela leur laissait, mais comme
ils n’appréciaient pas cette mesure, ils se sont tous arrétés au
premier niveau.

Les études réalisées sur le processus judiciaire tant au Canada
qu’a Iétranger révelent que les juges, tout comme n’importe qui
d’autre en pareil cas, n’aiment pas qu’on leur retire leurs pouvoirs
discrétionnaires, surtout lorsqu’il s’agit de rendre justice.

Je pense également qu’ils n’apprécient pas ce qu’ils pergoivent
dans une certaine mesure comme un manque de confiance a
I’égard de I'appareil judiciaire. C’est comme si on leur disait :
« Les juges ne font pas bien leur travail, alors nous allons le faire
a leur place ».

Le sénateur De Bané : Il y a un aspect qui me dérange tout
particulierement. Il est bien connu que chaque type de crime
est commis par un type particulier d’individus. Dans le cas
de la fabrication de médicaments dangereux, seules les grandes
entreprises pharmaceutiques internationales peuvent étre
responsables. Quant a une émission frauduleuse de titres sur les
marchés boursiers, peu de gens en sont capables. Pour ce qui est
des véhicules non sécuritaires, les constructeurs automobiles ne
sont pas si nombreux sur la planéte. Pour leur part, les crimes
violents, selon tout ce que j’ai pu lire a ce propos, sont commis par
les citoyens les plus pauvres de notre société, soit les 2 p. 100 de la
population se retrouvant au bas de 1’échelle des revenus.

Le sénateur Oliver : Pas nécessairement.
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Senator De Bané: The people who overwhelmingly commit
violent crimes are the 2 per cent poorest, and we are
concentrating here on putting them in prison. However, in the
case of more serious crimes there is no mandatory sentencing,
such as the case of a guy who puts an unsafe drug on the market
or hides negative clinical studies out of an obsession to make a
profit and thousands of people are subsequently handicapped
for life. The thing that bothers me is that the 2 per cent poorest
people who commit most violent crimes are the ones we are
targeting. What do you think? Am I off base in saying that?

Mr. Roberts: Well, no. I think it might be more than
2 per cent. Domestic violence is quite a widespread offence.
It is not just restricted to 2 per cent. However, I would be
perfectly in agreement with your more general point, which
is you need to consider the relative seriousness of different
offences. There may be some white collar crimes of a particularly
serious nature that should attract a much more punitive
response than they do now and possibly even more punitive
than some of those other offences.

Senator Oliver: Professor Roberts, thank you for sharing
with us your experience in this area. A lot of the information
you have given us has been helpful and quite informative.

I want to deal with the question of proportionality. When you
were giving your opening remarks, you referred to the fact that it
had been raised by Senator Joyal in one of our meetings, and you
went on to give your quick definition of what you meant by
“proportionality.” After a couple of more comments, you then
concluded “that the government has not made out its case that
these offences warrant the serious penalty.”

Implicit in that conclusion that you reached was the fact
that you had no evidence that the government took anything
else into account and, indeed, in answer to another senator
you said that it was ad hoc. You did not like this ad hoc
approach.

I want you to know that 14 days ago the Minister of Justice in
Canada appeared before this committee, and I want to read you
two sentences that he said:

We do not just write the Criminal Code all at once.
We have taken it and modified it. Every time we do, we
look to other provisions of the Criminal Code to see if that
activity fits in proportionately with other activities.

He is using the word “proportionately” in his description and
before this committee, and the evidence before this committee is
contrary to the conclusions you reached. The evidence is that the
government did look at other offences and other parts of the
Criminal Code.

Later on, the minister also said:

Le sénateur De Bané : Ce sont principalement ces gens se
situant parmi les 2 p. 100 les plus pauvres qui commettent les
crimes violents, et nous nous effor¢ons ici de les mettre derriére les
barreaux. Il n’existe toutefois pas de peines minimales obligatoires
pour des crimes plus graves, comme celui du gars qui met sur le
marché un médicament dangereux ou camoufle des études
cliniques défavorables dans le seul but de réaliser un bénéfice
pendant que des milliers de personnes se retrouvent handicapées
pour la vie. Je n’aime pas que nous nous acharnions ainsi sur les
plus démunis de nos citoyens qui commettent la majorité des
crimes violents. Qu’en dites-vous? Ai-je tort de penser ainsi?

M. Roberts : Eh bien, non. Je crois que cela pourrait étre
davantage que 2 p. 100. La violence en milieu familial est un
crime trés répandu. Elle ne se limite pas aux 2 p. 100 les plus
pauvres. Par ailleurs, je suis tout a fait d’accord avec votre
argument plus général voulant qu’il soit nécessaire de tenir
compte de la gravité relative des différentes infractions.
Il y a certains crimes commis par des cols blancs qui sont
particuliérement graves et qui devraient peut-étre donner lieu a
des sanctions beaucoup plus lourdes que celles actuellement
applicables, voire que celles imposées pour certaines autres
infractions.

Le sénateur Oliver : Monsieur Roberts, je vous remercie de
nous faire profiter de votre expérience dans ce domaine. Vous
nous avez fourni une grande quantité de renseignements fort
utiles et intéressants.

Je voudrais parler de proportionnalité. Dans votre déclaration
préliminaire, vous avez indiqué que cette question avait été
soulevée par le sénateur Joyal dans I'une de nos réunions, avant
de donner une bréve définition de ce que vous entendez par
« proportionnalité ». Aprés quelques autres observations, vous
avez conclu que le gouvernement n’a pas réussi a établir que ces
infractions justifient une peine aussi rigoureuse.

Cette conclusion a laquelle vous étes parvenu nous permet
de présumer que vous n’aviez aucune indication a l’effet que
le gouvernement aurait pris d’autres facteurs en compte. En
réponse a un autre sénateur, vous parlez méme d’une démarche
improvisée. Vous n’étiez pas d’accord avec une telle facon de
faire les choses.

Je vous rappelle que le ministre de la Justice du Canada a
comparu devant notre comité il y a 14 jours, et j’aimerais vous
citer un extrait de son témoignage :

Nous ne rédigeons pas le Code criminel d’un seul trait.
Nous I’examinons, nous le modifions. Chaque fois que nous
le faisons, nous jetons un coup d’oeil aux autres dispositions
du Code pour voir si le principe de proportionnalité est
respecté.

Il a bel et bien parlé de « proportionnalité » dans sa description
et dans son témoignage devant ce comité, lequel va a I’encontre
des conclusions que vous tirez. Il est en effet établi que le
gouvernement a considéré d’autres infractions et d’autres parties
du Code criminel.

Le ministre nous a également dit plus loin dans son
témoignage :
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We study each piece of legislation that we have and try
to ensure that it will fit into the existing Criminal Code. . . .
We do that by our analysis of every single piece of
legislation we bring before Parliament, and we will
continue to do that because that is the way it has always
been done and it has worked out well.

If your premise was wrong, now that you know that the
government did look at these other things, your conclusion on
proportionality is probably wrong as well, if we wanted to use the
syllogism.

Mr. Roberts: First of all, the definition of “proportionality”
I gave you was not my own. It was yours, senator, or at least
that of the Parliament of Canada as codified in 1996.

I fully agree that Mr. Nicholson did say that he had
considered it in his department, and that is great; that is the
way it should be done. You should say, “How much harm is
involved in this particular offence?” Then we can establish how
much time it should result in. However, in his response to
Senator Joyal’s question, “Could you give us the study that
you used to establish the scale that you are proposing
in this bill in relation to other offences in the code?”
Mr. Nicholson replied, “It is not a study, senator.”

All T am saying to you, sir, is that if they have looked at all
the offences and decided that for this particular offence the
seriousness of this conduct warrants five years on a second
conviction, then that is great. However, I simply ask you whether
you think it is appropriate and whether it is proportionate when
offences such as manslaughter are attracting lower sentences?
That is what I mean by the absence of a comprehensive
proportionality-based analysis.

Of course, senator, that is what judges do; do they not? There
is an offender to be sentenced. He has been convicted of this
possession of ammunition charge, and the court is thinking,
“How much more or less serious is this than other offences?”
Courts are making those judgments every day. All I am saying is
I did not see any evidence from the Department of Justice that
they had undertaken and published a comprehensive analysis of
this nature. If they did, I stand corrected.

Senator Oliver: They do not have to publish an analysis to be
able to make a change in a statute.

Mr. Roberts: 1 agree.

Senator Oliver: One of the things that most departments do is
they use the judgment of people who have had years and years
of experience in this area. We do not know it because it is not
before the committee, but I presume they had a whole series of
meetings with various senior experts in the Department of Justice

Nous étudions chaque projet de loi dans le but de nous
assurer qu’il cadre avec le Code criminel [...] Nous analysons
chaque projet de loi dont est saisi le Parlement, et
nous allons continuer de le faire, car nous avons toujours
procédé de cette fagon. C’est un processus qui fonctionne
bien.

Si votre prémisse était erronée, maintenant que 1’on sait que le
gouvernement a effectivement examiné ces autres éléments, votre
conclusion quant a la proportionnalité est probablement fausse
également, si ’on se fie au principe du syllogisme.

M. Roberts : D’abord et avant tout, la définition de
« proportionnalité » que je vous ai donnée n’est pas de moi.
C’est la votre, sénateur, ou tout au moins celle du Parlement
du Canada telle qu’établie dans la loi en 1996.

Je sais trés bien que M. Nicholson a indiqué que ces facteurs
avaient été examinés au sein de son ministére, ce qui est excellent;
c’est ainsi que les choses doivent se passer. Il faut se demander
quelle est 'ampleur des préjudices causés par une infraction
donnée. A partir de cette évaluation, on peut déterminer la durée
de la peine qui s’impose. Quoi qu’il en soit, lorsque le sénateur
Joyal lui a demandé : « Pouvez-vous nous fournir I’analyse que
vous avez utilisée pour fixer, en fonction des autres infractions
prévues dans le Code criminel, les peines que vous proposez
dans le projet de 1oi? », M. Nicholson a répondu : « Il n’y a pas
d’analyse, sénateur. »

Je veux simplement faire valoir que si toutes les infractions ont
été examinées pour en arriver a déterminer que, dans ce cas
particulier, la gravité des actes justifie une peine de cinq ans pour
une deuxiéme infraction, alors tout va trés bien. Cependant, je
voudrais seulement savoir si vous estimez que la sanction est
appropriée et que le principe de la proportionnalité est respecté
lorsqu’une infraction comme un homicide involontaire donne
lieu a des peines moins lourdes? C’est dans ce sens que je
parlais de Iabsence d’une analyse approfondie en matiére de
proportionnalité.

Il va de soi, sénateur, que c’est le role des juges, n’est-ce pas?
Une personne est trouvée coupable et une peine doit lui
étre imposée. Si l'individu est condamné pour possession de
munitions, le juge doit se demander dans quelle mesure cette
infraction peut étre considérée comme plus ou moins grave par
rapport a d’autres qui sont commises. Chaque jour, les tribunaux
doivent rendre de tels jugements. Je dis simplement que rien ne
semble indiquer que le ministére de la Justice ait procédé a une
analyse approfondie de cette nature et en ait publié les résultats.
C’est ce que je crois, mais qu’on me corrige si je me trompe.

Le sénateur Oliver : Le ministére n’a publié aucune analyse
permettant d’étayer des changements a la loi.

M. Roberts : Je suis aussi de cet avis.

Le sénateur Oliver : La plupart des ministéres n’hésitent
pas a faire appel au bon jugement des gens qui travaillent dans
un secteur depuis de nombreuses années. Nous ne pouvons pas le
savoir avec certitude parce que notre comité n’a pas été saisi de
telles informations, mais je présume que I’on a tenu toute une série
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over many months comparing many things. However, they do
not have to send it out to a professor to have a lot of research
done and publish findings just to make it right.

The fact is that the minister gave evidence before this
committee that he did look at proportionality. All I am doing
is raising the logic of the issue that if you say there was none
and the minister says there was some that the basic premise
of your argument probably has some difficulty. That is all I am
saying.

Mr. Roberts: Thank you. I just repeat myself.

[Translation)

Senator Chaput: I would like to say a few words about this
bill. It seems to me that fighting against crime or fighting to
reduce crime is everyone’s responsibility regardless of the party
we represent. No one can disagree. We all want our country
and our regions to be safe.

As I prepared for this committee, I found myself asking one
question on several occasions: to what extent do Canadians feel
safe?

What has become clear at various times is that the presence of
police officers on our streets, in our cities and in our regions in
itself makes Canadians feel safe.

Before us now we have Bill C-2 that proposes punitive
measures to reduce crime. I have no problem with violent crime
being punished as a deterrent; my difficulty comes in determining
the most effective penalties. What is the most effective way to
punish?

My question stems from the statistics presented previously by
my colleagues. They told us that, among young people, the use of
guns in violent crime has increased in recent years.

What do you think would be the best way to solve this
problem?

[English]

Mr. Roberts: I have one quick correction. I am not fighting this
bill; I am just raising questions about the propriety of a few
provisions in the bill.

With respect to your question, my point is simply that punitive
repeat-offender provisions will not deter those young people. If
you want to stop those young people, you have to get the guns;
and you get the guns by restricting access, perhaps by giving the
police greater search and seizure powers and a greater ability to
go into people’s homes, things of that nature.

de rencontres avec différents experts du ministére de la Justice
sur une période de plusieurs mois pour soupeser de nombreux
¢léments. Le ministére n’est toutefois pas tenu de confier un
mandat de recherche a un universitaire qui rendra publiques ses
conclusions dans le seul but de faire les choses correctement.

Le fait demeure que le ministre a déclaré devant notre comité
qu’il avait examiné la question de la proportionnalité. Je veux
simplement faire valoir que votre argumentation apparait un peu
bancale alors que vous déclarez qu’il n’y a pas eu d’analyse en ce
sens, alors que le ministre soutient le contraire. C’est tout ce que je
voulais dire.

M. Roberts : Merci. Je ne fais que me répéter.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Chaput : J’aimerais dire quelques mots au sujet de
ce projet de loi. La lutte contre le crime ou pour réduire les crimes,
c’est, a mon avis, la responsabilité de tous, indépendamment du
parti que nous représentons. Personne ne pourrait dire autrement.
Nous voulons tous un pays et des régions sécuritaires.

Lors de ma préparation en vue de ce comité, une question se
posait a plusieurs reprises : a quel point les Canadiens se sentent-
ils en sécurité?

Ce qui est ressorti de temps a autre, c’était que la présence des
policiers sur les rues, dans les villes, dans les régions était, pour les
Canadiens, une sécurité en soi.

Maintenant, nous avons devant nous le projet de loi C-2
qui propose des dispositions d’ordre punitif pour réduire la
criminalité. Je n’ai pas de probléme a ce que les crimes violents
soient punis afin de diminuer les récidives, la difficulté que
j’éprouve se trouve plutdt au niveau de la punition la plus efficace.
Quel serait le moyen le plus efficace de punition?

Ma question trouve sa base dans les statistiques présentées
dans le document cité par mes collégues, au préalable, et qui nous
disent que le taux de crimes violents a I’aide d’armes a feu chez les
jeunes s’est accru au cours des derniéres années.

D’aprés vous, quel serait le meilleur moyen de surmonter cette
difficulté?

[Traduction]

M. Roberts : Je me dois de faire une petite correction. Je ne
suis pas contre ce projet de loi; je pose seulement certaines
questions quant a la pertinence de quelques dispositions qu’il
renferme.

Pour en revenir a votre question, je crois simplement que les
dispositions punitives visant les récidivistes n’auront pas d’effet
dissuasif sur les jeunes contrevenants. Pour arréter ces jeunes, il
faut les priver de leurs armes; il faut donc rendre 1’accés plus
difficile a ces armes, notamment en facilitant la tdche aux policiers
qui souhaitent procéder a des perquisitions a domicile ou a des
opérations semblables.
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If you are asking me whether a five-year sentence — which
is significantly harsher than for many very serious crimes of
violence — is an appropriate sentence and will deter people
from selling ammunition, I have to say, in all honesty, I do not
think so. I think the evidence supports me.

Senator Cowan: I want to go back to a point that Senator
Stratton made in his initial line of questioning when he suggested
that the purpose of the bill was to get serious repeat offenders off
the streets so that they would be unable to reoffend. It is obvious
that so long as they are in jail, they will not be committing
offences, at least not offences against the general public. They
may be doing all kinds of bad things in the prison itself, but
outside, they are not a threat to the general public. That is the
so-called incapacitation argument — as long as they are in jail,
the public is protected.

The witnesses who have testified before this committee and
also before the House of Commons committee said that the
longer a person stays in jail, the lower the chances of successfully
reintegrating into society when they get out, and they are more
likely to reoffend when they get out. You cannot keep everyone in
jail forever; sooner or later they have to be released.

I would like your views on what the expert studies have shown
as to the likelihood of reoffending the longer people are
incarcerated.

Mr. Roberts: The longer the period of detention, the longer
the period that the offender is out of the community, and
obviously you will prevent some crimes. Of course, the offender
will be released on parole, so you have to take that into
consideration. Incapacitation, as you refer to it, is a particularly
inefficient way of preventing crime. You prevent a small
amount of crime, and it costs you a lot of money in terms of
prison spaces.

With respect to the effect of imprisonment, the literature there
is fairly clear. Unfortunately, although Canadian prisons and
Canadian correctional programs are among the best in the world,
people do not often come out of prison better than they went in.
The recidivism rates, or the reoffending rates, are not significantly
lower. I believe it may even have been the minister who said that
after five years in prison, you will realize the seriousness of your
conduct and you will not do it again. However, unfortunately, it is
not that simple. People learn other things in prison. They come
out embittered or angry. The point of the prison term should be
to rehabilitate and reintegrate so they do not come back and
reoffend. Unfortunately, the reality is otherwise.

Senator Cowan: As Senator Chaput said a moment ago, all of
us, regardless of our political persuasion in this house and the
House of Commons, will want to do what we can to make society
safer. We are discussing what the most effective way is to make
our society safer.

Si vous me demandez si une peine de cinq ans — ce qui est
beaucoup plus sévére que les peines imposées pour de nombreux
crimes violents trés graves — est adéquate et suffirait a dissuader
les gens de vendre des munitions, je dois répondre, en toute
franchise, que je ne le crois pas. Je pense que les informations
disponibles m’appuient dans cette conviction.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je veux revenir a un point soulevé par
le sénateur Stratton dans ses premiéres questions ou il laissait
entendre que le projet de loi visait a retirer les récidivistes
dangereux de la circulation de maniére a les empécher de
commettre de nouveaux crimes. Il va de soi que tant qu’ils
restent derriére les barreaux, ils ne commettent pas d’infractions,
du moins pas d’infractions contre le grand public. Ils peuvent trés
bien se livrer a toutes sortes d’agissements fautifs a I'intérieur
des murs, mais ils ne constituent pas une menace pour les
gens a lextérieur. C’est ce qu’on appelle ’'argument fondé sur
la neutralisation : tant que ces individus sont incarcérés, la
population est protégée.

Selon les témoignages entendus tant devant ce comité que
devant celui de la Chambre des communes, plus une personne est
incarcérée pendant une longue période, moins elle a de chance de
réintégrer efficacement la société a sa sortie de prison, et plus elle
risque de récidiver a ce moment-la. On ne peut pas garder tous ces
individus en prison éternellement; tot ou tard, il faut bien les
libérer.

Jaimerais savoir ce que vous pensez du résultat des études
menées par les experts selon lesquels, plus l'incarcération est
longue, plus la probabilité de récidive est forte.

M. Roberts : Plus la période de détention est longue, plus la
période pendant laquelle le délinquant est tenu a I’écart de la
communauté est longue, plus, de toute évidence, vous préviendrez
la commission de certains crimes. Naturellement, le délinquant
recevra sa libération conditionnelle, ce dont il faut en tenir
compte. La neutralisation, comme vous I'appelez, est une facon
particuliérement inefficace de prévenir le crime. Vous empéchez
un petit nombre d’actes criminels, mais cela vous cofte trés cher,
en termes d’espace dans les prisons.

Y

Quant a l'effet de 'emprisonnement, la documentation a ce
sujet est plutot claire. Malheureusement, bien que les prisons
canadiennes et les programmes correctionnels canadiens comptent
parmi les meilleurs au monde, il est rare qu’on sorte de prison
meilleur qu’a son arrivée. Les taux de récidive ne diminuent pas
sensiblement. C’est peut-étre le ministre qui a déclaré qu’apres
cing ans en prison, vous vous rendrez compte de la gravité de
votre acte et ne le ferez plus. Malheureusement, ce n’est pas aussi
simple. On apprend d’autres choses en prison. On en sort aigri
ou en colére. L’emprisonnement devrait avoir pour objet de
réadapter et de réintégrer la personne pour éviter qu’elle ne
récidive. Malencontreusement, la réalité est tout autre.

Le sénateur Cowan : Comme I’a dit le sénateur Chaput tout a
I’heure, nous souhaitons tous, quelle que soit notre tendance
politique en cette Chambre et a la Chambre des communes, faire
de notre mieux pour améliorer la sécurité au sein de notre société.
Nous discutons du moyen le plus efficace de le faire.
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As I take your testimony, you are not arguing about the
objective of making society safer and cutting crime rates; you are
just disputing, at least with respect to this mandatory minimum,
that it is as effective as some would pretend that it is. You
described it as a legislative sledgehammer.

To conclude on this point, I wanted to quote to you the
evidence that RCMP Superintendent Woods gave in relation to
the predecessor bill in the other place in November of 2006. He
said that it is progressively more serious sentencing, but each time
the cycle of sentencing ends, they will come out and re-victimize
someone before they hit the next cycle, the next sentence. Yes,
there will be a positive impact on crime because of the
incapacitation, but if you are not dealing with the root causes
of that behaviour, you will have that person cycle through and
continue to victimize the community when they are out of jail.
Would you agree with that sentiment?

Mr. Roberts: Yes, I would. You have to get these people
rehabilitated and you have to get the guns away from them. The
question is how to effectively achieve that.

No, I do not disagree with the objectives of the bill. I do not
disagree with many of the provisions of the bill. I am just speaking
about this one specific reform, and I am trying to protect, if you
will, the integrity of the sentencing process and the importance of
judicial discretion.

Senator Di Nino: To pick up on Senator Cowan’s point, I am
not sure that you have any knowledge of this, but could you
comment on the other side of the equation? When people are in
prison, are we doing as good a job at training them, at treating
them, in effect? Is this an area where the problems exist and we
have possibly not balanced them with the harsher punishment
that I believe is necessary?

Mr. Roberts: I am not an expert in correctional programs,
but I can tell you that the training programs in Canada’s
correctional system are recognized around the world. The reality
is that trying to get people off a criminogenic lifestyle is an
intractable problem. If you have them in prison for six, eight or
nine months, there is a limit to what you can do with even the
best programs in the world. I think Canada does well, but whether
they could do better, I am not an expert in that area.

Senator Di Nino: That leads me to believe that maybe longer
sentences are at least one way to keep these folks from
reoffending.

I wanted to clarify one point. You have spoken extensively
about judicial discretion. Canada has had minimum sentences for
a variety of different offences and as a matter of fact has increased
these opportunities for minimum sentences over the past 20 years;
therefore, the impact on judicial discretion is not necessarily
as severe as you have suggested. Mandatory minimum sentences

Tel que j’interpréte votre témoignage, vous ne vous en
prenez pas a I’objet de nos travaux, soit de protéger la société et
de faire baisser le taux de criminalité; vous contestez simplement,
du moins en ce qui concerne la peine minimale obligatoire,
son efficacité comme moyen d’atteindre I’objectif, comme certains
veulent nous le faire croire. Vous ’avez décrite comme un coup de
marteau législatif.

En guise de conclusion, je souhaitais vous citer le témoignage
du surintendant Woods de la GRC concernant le projet de loi
antérieur qui avait été déposé dans I'autre endroit en novembre
2006. 11 a dit que les peines sont progressivement plus sévéres,
mais que chaque fois que le cycle de la peine prend fin, le détenu
sort et victimise a nouveau quelqu’un avant d’entamer le cycle
suivant, de purger la peine suivante. Le projet de loi aura
effectivement un impact favorable sur la criminalité en raison de
la neutralisation, mais si vous ne vous occupez pas des causes qui
sont a l'origine de ce comportement, la personne continuera de
passer par des cycles et de victimiser les membres de la collectivité
lorsqu’elle est en liberté. Seriez-vous d’accord avec ces propos?

M. Roberts : Oui. Il faut réadapter ces personnes et leur retirer
les armes a feu. La question est de savoir comment le faire avec
efficacité.

Non, je ne suis pas contre les objets du projet de loi. Je ne
m’inscris pas en faux contre bon nombre des dispositions du
projet de loi. Je parle uniquement d’un changement particulier et
je tente de protéger, si vous préférez, I'intégrité du processus de
détermination de la peine et 'importance du pouvoir judiciaire
discrétionnaire.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Pour reprendre le point soulevé par le
sénateur Cowan, je ne suis pas slir que vous vous y connaissiez en
la matiére, mais pourriez-vous nous parler de 'autre c6té de
I’équation? Quand les gens sont en prison, nous acquittons-nous
bien, en fait, de les former, de les traiter? Est-ce un domaine ou il
existe des problémes que nous avons peut-étre contrebalancés par
une peine plus sévére qu’il n’est nécessaire, comme je le pense?

M. Roberts : Je ne suis pas un expert des programmes
correctionnels, mais je peux vous dire que les programmes de
formation offerts dans le systéme correctionnel canadien sont
reconnus dans le monde entier. La réalité, c’est qu’il est presque
impossible de persuader quelqu’un d’abandonner un mode de vie
criminogéne. Si on le met en prison pour six, huit ou neuf mois, il
y a une limite a ce qu’il est possible de faire, méme dans le cadre
des meilleurs programmes du monde. Le Canada s’en sort bien,
mais quant a savoir s’il peut faire mieux, je ne pourrais pas
vraiment vous le dire. Ce n’est pas mon champ de spécialisation.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Voila qui m’incite a croire que les peines
plus longues sont peut-étre un moyen au moins d’empécher ces
personnes de récidiver.

Je tenais a éclaircir un point. Vous avez parlé abondamment
du pouvoir judiciaire discrétionnaire. Le Canada prévoit des
peines minimales pour diverses infractions et, en fait, a multiplié
les occasions d’infliger des sentences minimales au cours des
20 derniéres années; par conséquent, I'impact du pouvoir
judiciaire discrétionnaire n’est pas forcément aussi important
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have been in the books of our criminal laws and have impacted
judicial discretion for some 20-plus years. You have done some
study in that regard, correct?

Mr. Roberts: That is correct. Mandatory sentences have been
around for quite a long time, and we must recognize that
Parliament is sovereign in this matter. The question is: What can
Parliament do to assist the sentencing process? Is this an
appropriate way of structuring — or I say removing — judicial
discretion, even if it is only for a limited number of offences?

Senator Di Nino: Would you agree, though, that this bill —
and we have to talk about this bill — increases the mandatory
sentences in some cases or introduces mandatory sentences in
cases where heinous crimes have had a negative impact on the
citizens of this country?

Mr. Roberts: These are not trivial crimes; these are most
serious crimes. I am simply asking whether five years for the
second case, namely that of selling ammunition, is justifiable
when you have people committing much more serious crimes and
not attracting that level of penalty.

Senator Di Nino: That is not what Bill C-2 deals with.
However, I guess that is a valid comment.

Senator Andreychuk: I want to follow up, Professor Roberts,
with the point you were making about studies. I do not for a
minute think that we should only make our judgments in
Parliament based on studies. I think that a host of issues and
inputs are necessary to make good legislation, but I do think
studies are important.

I believe the first mandatory minimum sentence was put in
place in 1977. A fundamental one was made in 1995, when we
attached a four-year mandatory minimum sentence to serious
offences committed with firearms, such as attempted murder,
sexual assault, kidnapping and robbery. We are now adding to
that list.

Are you aware of any studies that were done pre-1995 that
induced the Parliament of the day to add minimum sentences
around firearms? Do you know of any studies that were
undertaken after 1995 upon which the minister should have
relied?

In other words, why are we saying today that these provisions
in the bill should not be passed because we do not have a study,
when in fact we have been passing legislation through Parliament
without study? The point of academic study is important, but it is
not a precondition, is it?

Mr. Roberts: No. Empirical research on the functioning of
the sentencing process is one element of your deliberations,
obviously.

que vous le laissez entendre. Les peines minimales obligatoires
existent dans notre droit criminel et ont un effet sur le pouvoir
judiciaire discrétionnaire depuis une vingtaine d’années. Vous
avez étudié la question, n’est-ce pas?

M. Roberts : C’est juste. Les peines obligatoires existent depuis
fort longtemps, et le Parlement est souverain en la matiére.
La question est de savoir ce que peut faire le Parlement pour
faciliter le processus de détermination de la peine. Convient-il de
structurer Iexercice du pouvoir discrétionnaire — ou de I’enlever,
selon moi —, méme si ce n’est que pour un nombre restreint
d’infractions?

Le sénateur Di Nino : Souscririez-vous cependant au fait
que le projet de loi a I’étude — et il faut en parler — soit
accroit les peines obligatoires, soit les introduit lorsque certains
actes odieux ont un impact négatif sur nos concitoyens?

M. Roberts : Il n’est pas question d’actes criminels
insignifiants; ce sont 1a les crimes les plus graves. Je demande
simplement a savoir si une peine de cinq ans dans le second cas,
notamment pour avoir vendu des munitions, est justifiable quand
on sait que d’autres commettent des crimes beaucoup plus graves
sans s’attirer des peines aussi séveres.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Ce n’est pas I’objet du projet de loi C-2.
Toutefois, je suppose que c’est un commentaire valable.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Monsieur Roberts, j’aimerais revenir
sur le point que vous faisiez valoir au sujet des études. Je ne crois
pas pour un seul instant que les parlementaires devraient appuyer
leur jugement sur des études. J’estime que, pour bien remplir leur
role de législateurs, ils doivent tenir compte d’une foule de
considérations et de points de vue, méme si je crois que les études
ont leur importance.

Je crois que la premiere peine minimale obligatoire date
de 1977. Nous en avons prévu une fondamentale en 1995,
quand nous avons assorti les crimes graves commis avec des
armes a feu d’une peine minimale obligatoire de quatre ans
d’emprisonnement, par exemple la tentative de meurtre,
lagression sexuelle, ’enlevement et le vol qualifié. Voila que
nous rallongeons maintenant la liste.

Savez-vous si des études ont été menées avant 1995 et si elles
ont convaincu le Parlement d’alors d’ajouter des peines minimales
pour les actes commis avec des armes a feu? Etes-vous au courant
d’études effectuées aprés 1995 auxquelles le ministre aurait
di se fier?

En d’autres mots, pourquoi affirmons-nous aujourd’hui que
les dispositions du projet de loi a ’étude ne devraient pas étre
adoptées parce qu’il n’existe pas d’étude a ce sujet quand, en fait,
le Parlement adopte des lois sans étude? Le point que vous faites
valoir au sujet des études théoriques est important, mais ce n’est
pas une condition préalable, n’est-ce pas?

M. Roberts : Non. La recherche empirique sur le
fonctionnement du processus de détermination de la peine est
un élément de vos délibérations manifestement.
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I do not know what was done in 1993 and 1994; that is a long
time ago. I do not know if there were studies commissioned about
the effectiveness or likely impact of those mandatory sentences.
I have not seen any studies that have demonstrated, first, that
the 1995 mandatory sentences had a deterrent effect; and, second,
if they have, that is great, and now they are being increased
again so that they will probably have more of a deterrent effect.
All T am saying is that there are many reasons for having
mandatory sentences. However, if you want to make the claim
on a deterrence basis, you have to have the goods. I just have not
seen the goods. I am not saying they are not there in the
department somewhere, but I have not seen them.

Senator Andreychuk: You would advocate that we would
commence study as a valuable tool for the future.

Mr. Roberts: I would say so. In the event that you create these
mandatory sentences or these new increased sentences, it would be
nice for Parliament to say, “Five years down the road, we will
revisit those mandatory minimums we created to see whether or
not we did any good.”

The Chair: Before we liberate you, Professor Roberts, I have
a question of my own. I was struck by your statement that the
programs made available in Canada’s correctional services
system, such as vocational training to rehabilitate inmates, are
highly regarded around the world. We heard testimony from
the correctional investigator that the budget for those programs
has actually dropped by 26 per cent in the past six years. I am
not quite clear, and I would like you to restate for my benefit
exactly what you think is the link between programs of that
nature and increases or decreases in the recidivism rates.

Mr. Roberts: In England, recidivism rates are significantly
higher than in Canada. England and Wales do not have
particularly good prison programs. The programs may have
been cut in the budget, but the programs Canada has developed,
such as CSC, have an international reputation.

What those programs attempt to do and what any correctional
program attempts to do is to correct the cause of offending.
Usually, it is some form of addiction — drugs, alcohol or
criminogenic lifestyle, and there may be psychological
components. Those core causes of crime can be addressed in
a correctional setting, but you need to have the treatment
programs there and you need qualified personnel. I am just
talking about the general reputation of the programs in Canada.
I am not a correctional expert.

The Chair: Thank you very much, indeed. This has been a most
interesting session, and we are grateful to you. I am sure it is not
easy to be faced with a whole array of different people posing
questions across the Atlantic like this.

Senator Di Nino: You did a great job.

Jignore ce qui s’est fait en 1993 et en 1994; il y a longtemps
déja. Jignore si des études ont été commandées au sujet de
I’efficacité ou de I'impact probable de ces peines obligatoires.
Tout d’abord, que je sache, il n’existe pas d’étude établissant que
les peines obligatoires de 1995 ont eu un effet dissuasif, mais, si
elles en ont eu un, fort bien! On les accroit a nouveau de sorte que
leur effet dissuasif augmentera probablement. Tout ce que je suis
en train de dire, c’est qu’il existe de nombreuses raisons de
prévoir des sentences obligatoires. Toutefois, si vous le faites en
prétendant qu’elles ont un effet dissuasif, il faut pouvoir le
prouver. Je ne crois pas que cette preuve a été faite. Je ne dis pas
que ces études n’existent pas quelque part au ministére, mais
je ne les ai pas vues.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous pourriez militer en faveur d’une
pareille étude comme outil précieux pour ’avenir.

M. Roberts : C’est ce que je dirais. Si vous créez ces peines
obligatoires ou ces nouvelles peines accrues, il serait agréable de
savoir que, dans cinq ans, elles feront ’objet d’un nouvel examen
pour vérifier que le Parlement a pris la bonne décision.

La présidente : Avant de vous laisser partir, monsieur Roberts,
j’ai moi-méme une question que j’aimerais vous poser. J'ai été
frappée par votre déclaration selon laquelle les programmes
offerts par les services correctionnels au Canada, par exemple, de
formation professionnelle en vue de réadapter les détenus, ont
ailleurs dans le monde bonne réputation. Nous avons entendu des
témoignages de I'enquéteur correctionnel selon lequel le budget
alloué a ces programmes a en réalité reculé de 26 p. 100 durant
les six derniéres années. Je ne suis donc pas sire d’avoir tres bien
saisi et j'aimerais que vous me répétiez exactement ce que vous
croyez étre le lien entre des programmes de cette nature et les
augmentations ou diminutions des taux de récidive.

M. Roberts : En Angleterre, les taux de récidive sont beaucoup
plus élevés qu’au Canada. L’Angleterre et le Pays de Galles n’ont
pas de programmes particulierement bons dans leurs prisons.
Il se peut que le budget qui y est alloué a été diminué, mais les
programmes qu’a mis sur pied le Canada, comme le SCC, ont
bonne réputation a 1’étranger.

L’objet de ces programmes est le méme que celui de tout
programme correctionnel, soit d’éliminer la cause de la
criminalité, habituellement, une forme quelconque de
dépendance — aux drogues, a I’alcool ou a un mode de vie
criminogéne —, et il y a peut-étre aussi des composantes
psychologiques. On peut traiter les causes de cette criminalité
dans un contexte correctionnel, mais il faut prévoir dans ces
établissements des programmes de traitement et y affecter du
personnel compétent. Je parle simplement de la réputation
générale des programmes offerts au Canada. Je ne suis pas un
expert du milieu correctionnel.

La présidente : Je vous remercie vivement. Nous avons eu ce
matin une séance des plus intéressantes, et nous vous en sommes
reconnaissants. Je suis sire qu’il n’est pas facile d’affronter
outre-Atlantique toutes sortes de personnes qui vous posent des
questions comme aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Vous avez fait de ’excellent travail.
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Mr. Roberts: 1 would like to say that I miss Canada; it is a
great country. You are doing a wonderful job. Good luck.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Honourable senators, our next witnesses are Nichole Downer,
Program Consultant with the Canadian AIDS Society; Robert
Kissner, PhD, from the Canadian Association of Social Workers;
and Dr. John Lamont, President of the Board of Directors of the
Canadian Federation for Sexual Health.

We are glad that you are able to join us this morning, and we
look forward to hearing from you.

Nichole Downer, Programs Consultant, Canadian AIDS
Society: Thank you for inviting us to share our thoughts with
you this morning.

The Canadian AIDS Society is a national coalition of
125 community-based AIDS service organizations from across
Canada. We are dedicated to strengthening the response to
HIV/AIDS across all sectors of society and to enriching the
lives of people and communities living with HIV and AIDS. As
an organization dedicated to decreasing HIV/AIDS infection
rates, we are concerned about the pending legislation that
would increase the age of consent for sexual activity from 14 to
16 years of age.

The Canadian AIDS Society does not support increasing
the age of consent for sexual activity from 14 to 16. Furthermore,
the proposed amendments do not address an existing law
prohibiting anal intercourse for individuals under the age
of 18. The Canadian AIDS Society believes the law should not
discriminate by type of sexual activity.

First, there are already protections in place. The Criminal
Code of Canada already protects people under the age of 18
from sexual relationships that happen under circumstances of
exploitation, pornography, prostitution or in relationships of
trust, authority and dependency.

Second, the Canadian AIDS Society is concerned that
increasing the age of consent could result in youth being more
secretive about their sexual practices and not seeking out the
information they need. This will place youth at increased risk of
contracting HIV and other sexually transmitted infections.
Almost one quarter of students in Grade 9 feel embarrassed
about seeing a physician or nurse if they suspect they may
have an STI.

Raising the age of consent could have the negative impact of
further decreasing youth accessing information from health
providers if they are under the age of 16. This is problematic, as
research in Canada has shown that the average age of first sexual
intercourse is 14.1 for boys and 14.5 for girls. A study conducted
in Britain showed that youth are unlikely to seek information
about contraception and sex if they are under the age of consent
because of worries about the law and confidentiality. The study
showed that youth under the legal age of consent in Britain were
six times more likely than those over the legal age of consent to

M. Roberts : Je m’ennuie du Canada, un superbe pays. Vous
faites du bon travail. Je vous souhaite de réussir dans votre
entreprise.

La présidente : Je vous en remercie sincérement.

Chers collégues, nous allons maintenant entendre Nichole
Downer, conseillére en programmes a la Société canadienne
du sida, Robert Kissner, membre du conseil d’administration de
I’Association canadienne des travailleuses et travailleurs sociaux,
et John Lamont, président du conseil d’administration de la
Fédération canadienne pour la santé sexuelle.

C’est avec plaisir que nous vous accueillons ce matin, et il nous
tarde d’entendre ce que vous avez a nous dire.

Nichole Downer, conseillére en programmes, Société canadienne
du sida : Je vous remercie de nous avoir invités a partager nos
réflexions avec vous ce matin.

La Société canadienne du sida est une coalition nationale de
125 organismes offrant des services communautaires en matiere
de sida un peu partout au Canada. Notre mandat consiste a
renforcer la réaction au VIH/sida dans tous les secteurs de la
société et d’enrichir les vies des personnes et des collectivités qui
vivent avec le VIH et le sida. En tant qu’organisme voué a faire
reculer les taux d’infection au VIH et au sida, nous sommes
préoccupés par le projet de loi a 1’étude parce qu’il accroitrait
I’age de consentement a des relations sexuelles qui passerait
désormais de 14 a 16 ans.

La Société canadienne du sida n’appuie pas ce relévement de
I’age de consentement. De plus, les modifications proposées ne
modifient pas la loi existante qui interdit la sodomie chez des
personnes de moins de 18 ans. La Société canadienne du sida
estime que la loi ne devrait pas faire de discrimination selon
l'orientation sexuelle.

Tout d’abord, il existe déja des protections. Le Code criminel
du Canada protége déja les personnes de moins de 18 ans contre
les relations sexuelles a des fins d’exploitation, de pornographie et
de prostitution ou lorsqu’il existe des liens de confiance, d’autorité
et de dépendance.

Ensuite, la Société canadienne du sida craint que le relévement
de I’age du consentement n’ait pour effet de rendre les jeunes plus
cachottiers au sujet de leurs pratiques sexuelles et qu’il ne les
décourage d’obtenir I'information dont ils ont besoin. Ainsi,
les jeunes courront un risque accru de contracter le VIH et
d’autres infections transmises sexuellement. Le quart ou presque
des étudiants de 9° année est géné de consulter un médecin ou une
infirmiére s’il soupgonne qu’il a peut-étre une ITS.

Le fait de relever ’age du consentement pourrait avoir un
impact défavorable du fait que moins de jeunes de moins de
16 ans auraient acces a I'information fournie par les intervenants
en matiére de santé. Cela pose probléme, puisque la recherche
menée au Canada a révélé que 1’dge moyen auquel on a les
premieres relations sexuelles est de 14,1 pour les gargons et
de 14,5 pour les filles. Une étude britannique a révélé que les
jeunes seront moins enclins & chercher a avoir de I'information
sur les moyens contraceptifs et le sexe s’ils n’ont pas I’dge du
consentement en raison d’inquiétudes au sujet de la loi et du
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say “fear of being too young” as the reason they did not seek out
sexual health information. Regardless of the age of consent, youth
will continue to have sex and we need to make sure they have the
information they need.

As we know the average age of first sexual intercourse is under
16 in Canada, raising the age of consent could result in many
youth engaging in their first sexual intercourse while fearing
access to the information they need. Not enough research has
been done in this area to alleviate the fears that raising the age of
consent could have detrimental effects on the sexual health
practices of youth. Therefore, it would be irresponsible to increase
the age of consent without knowing the full effect of this
action. The Canadian AIDS Society supports more research
being done in this area.

Third, the close-in-age exemption is not a solution. The
government has used the close-in-age exemption as a solution
to fears that the bill will criminalize youth sexual behaviour.
We do not believe this is an adequate solution.

While we understand the rationale behind the creation of
the close-in-age exemption and that this exemption would be
increased to five years, the bill places unnecessary restrictions
on youth while not addressing the reality of sexual abuse.

Given that all exploitative activity is currently illegal
involving people under 18, this law makes the situation for
youth unnecessarily complex. Most youth, and even adults, do
not have the legal expertise to know about the criteria in the
exemption or to be able to determine if their relationship meets
them. It is very likely that this exception will be misunderstood or
forgotten and the age of consent will generally be understood
as 16 years of age. Many young people would assume their
relationships are illegal and not seek the information and help
they need.

Using age as a factor to determine sexual exploitation does not
address the reality of sexual abuse. In cases of sexual coercion, a
person is no less abused if the perpetrator falls within a five-year
peer group.

This legislation is focusing restrictions on the wrong group
of people. Criminalizing the sexual behaviour of youth will do
nothing to stop exploitative activity. More resources need to be
devoted to pursuing cases involving sexual exploitation and
abuse.

Fourth, the focus should be on comprehensive HIV/AIDS
and sexual health education. Figures suggest that 67 per cent of
males and 58 per cent of females in Grade 11 reported that school
was their main source of information about HIV and AIDS.

caractére confidentiel de I'information. L’étude a révélé que
les jeunes n’ayant pas 1’dge légal de consentement en Grande-
Bretagne étaient six fois plus susceptibles que ceux qui 'ont
d’invoquer la « crainte d’étre trop jeunes » comme raison pour
laquelle ils n’ont pas cherché a obtenir de l'information sur la
santé sexuelle. Quel que soit I’dge de consentement, les jeunes
continueront d’avoir des relations sexuelles, et il faut faire en sorte
qu’ils disposent de I'information dont ils ont besoin.

Comme nous savons que 1’age moyen des premiéres relations
sexuelles est inférieur a 16 ans au Canada, en relevant I’dge de
consentement, on pourrait avoir de nombreux jeunes qui ont
leurs premieres relations sexuelles tout en craignant d’accéder a
I'information dont ils ont besoin. On n’a pas mené suffisamment
de recherches dans ce domaine pour dissiper les inquiétudes
voulant qu’en relevant I’dge du consentement, on nuise aux
pratiques des jeunes en matiére de santé sexuelle. Par conséquent,
il serait irresponsable de relever I’dge du consentement sans en
connaitre tous les effets. La Société canadienne du sida appuie
I’exécution de plus d’études dans ce domaine.

En troisiéme lieu, I’exemption prévue pour les jeunes d’un age
rapproché n’est pas une solution. Le gouvernement a recouru a
cette exemption comme solution pour dissiper les craintes que le
projet de loi criminalise le comportement sexuel des jeunes. Nous
ne croyons pas que cette solution est adéquate.

Bien que nous comprenions le raisonnement sur lequel s’appuie
la création de cette exemption et que cette exemption serait portée
a cinq ans, le projet de loi impose des restrictions inutiles aux
jeunes tout en ne réglant pas la réalité des abus sexuels d’enfants.

Etant donné que toute I'activité d’exploitation actuellement
illégale engage des personnes de moins de 18 ans, la loi rend la
situation pour les jeunes inutilement complexe. La plupart des
jeunes, et méme des adultes, n’ont pas I’expertise juridique voulue
pour connaitre les critéres prévus dans I’exemption ou pour
pouvoir déterminer si leurs relations y répondent. Cette exception
sera fort probablement mal interprétée ou oubliée, et ’age du
consentement sera en régle générale présumé étre de 16 ans.
De nombreux jeunes supposeraient que leurs relations sont
illicites et ne chercheraient pas a obtenir 'information et 1’aide
dont ils ont besoin.

Le fait d’utiliser ’age comme facteur pour déterminer s’il y a
exploitation sexuelle ne régle pas la réalité des abus sexuels
d’enfants. Dans les cas de coercition sexuelle, la personne n’est
pas moins agressée si celui qui commet I'infraction fait partie du
groupe de pairs qui n’ont pas plus que cinq ans qu’elle.

La loi a I’étude concentre les restrictions sur le mauvais groupe
de personnes. La criminalisation du comportement sexuel des
jeunes n’arrétera pas l’activité d’exploitation. I faut consacrer
plus de ressources a poursuivre les auteurs d’exploitation et
d’abus sexuels.

Quatriéme point, il faudrait insister sur une éducation
compléte en matiére de VIH/sida et de santé sexuelle. D’aprés
les données, 67 p. 100 des males et 58 p. 100 des femelles de
onziéme année auraient répondu que I’école est leur principale
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However, 27 per cent of Grade 7 students and 14 per cent of
Grade 9 and Grade 11 students had not received any instruction
on HIV/AIDS education over the past two years.

The Canadian AIDS Society is concerned that if the age of
consent is raised from 14 to 16, the prevention education in
schools will not be available for youth under the age of 16,
decreasing further the amount of information provided to youth.
Research evidence has shown that in the long-term, prevention
messages are more effective when they are delivered early and are
effective at reducing risky sexual behaviour.

We also know that there were 212,000 high school dropouts
in Canada in 2004-05 and that the legal minimum school-leaving
age is 16 in most provinces in Canada. Therefore, not delivering
sexual health education in schools before the age of 16 would
mean that many youth would not receive critical prevention
messages.

The Canadian AIDS Society believes that the Canadian
government should be focusing their efforts on promoting
consistent, comprehensive HIV/AIDS and sexual health
education across Canada. The best way to protect and support
youth is to ensure that education and services are available to
inform them about their rights and options, and the risks and
benefits of engaging in sexual activity. Educating youth to make
informed choices that are right for them is better addressed
through parental guidance and comprehensive sexual health
education than by using the Criminal Code.

Last, the age of consent should be universal. According to the
Criminal Code, the age of consent for anal sex is 18, while the age
of consent for vaginal intercourse is currently 14. Section 159 of
Canada’s Criminal Code states that people who engage in anal
intercourse are guilty either of an indictable offence and risk a
prison term of up to 10 years, or are guilty of a summary offence.
Both the Ontario and Quebec Courts of Appeal have already
found this distinction to be unconstitutional as it discriminates
based on age and sexual orientation.

The Ontario Court of Appeal recognized the potential for
harm when the age of consent is higher in striking down the age
of consent at 18 for anal intercourse. As a portion of this
response read:

Health risks ought to be dealt with by the health care
system. Ironically, one of the bizarre effects of a provision of
criminalizing consensual anal intercourse for adolescents is
that the health education they should be receiving to protect
them from avoidable harm may be curtailed, since it may
be interpreted as counselling young people about a form of
sexual conduct the law prohibits them from participating in.
Hence, the Criminal Code provision ostensibly crafted to

source d’information au sujet du VIH et du sida. Toutefois,
27 p. 100 des étudiants de septiéme année et 14 p. 100 des
étudiants de neuvieme et de onziémes années n’avaient pas suivi
de cours sur le VIH et le sida au cours des deux derniéres années.

La Société canadienne du sida craint que, si ’dge de
consentement est porté de 14 a 16 ans, il n’y aura pas de cours
d’éducation préventive dans les écoles pour les jeunes de moins de
16 ans, ce qui diminuerait encore plus I'information qui est offerte
aux jeunes. Les études ont démontré qu’a long terme, les messages
de prévention sont plus efficaces quand ils sont transmis tét et
qu’ils sont efficaces pour réduire le comportement sexuel a risque.

Nous savons également qu’au Canada, en 2004-2005,
212 000 étudiants du secondaire ont décroché et que I’age
minimal juridique pour cesser de fréquenter un établissement
scolaire est de 16 ans dans la plupart des provinces du Canada.
Par conséquent, si I’on cesse d’offrir des cours de santé sexuelle
dans les écoles avant I’dge de 16 ans, de nombreux jeunes ne
recevront pas les messages essentiels de prévention.

La Société canadienne du sida estime que le gouvernement
canadien devrait concentrer ses efforts sur la promotion d’une
éducation sur le VIH/sida et la santé sexuelle qui soit uniforme et
exhaustive. Le meilleur moyen de protéger et de soutenir les
jeunes est de nous assurer que I'information et les services sont
disponibles pour les informer de leurs droits et de leur choix, ainsi
que des risques et des avantages de se livrer a I'activité sexuelle.
L’éducation des jeunes pour leur permettre de faire des choix
éclairés qui sont bons pour eux est mieux assurée si on encadre les
parents et on offre d’une éducation exhaustive sur la santé
sexuelle qu’en recourant au Code criminel.

Enfin, I’dge du consentement devrait étre universel. Dans le
Code criminel, I’dge du consentement aux relations anales est fixé
a 18 ans, tandis que 1’dge du consentement aux relations vaginales
est actuellement de 14 ans. L’article 159 du Code criminel du
Canada stipule que quiconque a des relations sexuelles anales
avec une autre personne est coupable soit d’un acte criminel et
passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de 10 ans, soit d’une
infraction punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure
sommaire. Les cours d’appel de I'Ontario et du Québec ont déja
déclaré cette distinction inconstitutionnelle, puisqu’elle établit une
discrimination fondée sur I’age et 1’orientation sexuelle.

La Cour d’appel de I’'Ontario a reconnu le potentiel de
préjudice quand I’dge du consentement est plus élevé en se
pronongant contre 1’établissement a 18 ans de 1’dge du
consentement a la relation sexuelle anale. Je vous lis une
traduction libre d’une partie de cette réponse :

Les risques pour la santé devraient étre contrés par
le systéme de santé. Fait ironique, 'une des conséquences
bizarres, pour les adolescents, d’une clause visant a
criminaliser la relation sexuelle anale consensuelle est que
I’éducation en matiere de santé qu’ils devraient recevoir
pour les protéger contre un préjudice évitable pourrait étre
limitée, puisqu’elle pourrait étre interprétée comme des
conseils aux jeunes gens sur une forme de conduite sexuelle a
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prevent adolescents from harm may itself, by inhibiting
education about health risks associated with that behaviour,
contribute to the harm it seeks to reduce.

The review of this bill is an opportunity to end the
discrimination of section 159 of the Criminal Code. Various
sections of the Criminal Code are listed as being amended within
this bill. Therefore, this bill should include a definition of sexual
activity that encompasses all activities including anal sex, ensuring
that the age of consent for all sexual activity is the same.

The Canadian AIDS Society hopes that you will reconsider
increasing the age of consent based on the issues raised above.
The solution to protecting youth from sexual exploitation is not
found by placing restrictions on youth. This bill has the potential
to affect the health and well-being of youth, and it is irresponsible
to enact this bill without solid evidence to the contrary.

Our recommendations are as follows: that the age of consent
for sex remain at 14 years of age; that resources are devoted to
pursuing cases of sexual exploitation and abuse as well as
resources for parents and youth to help them make healthy
choices; that there is more research into the impact the age of
consent has on providing sexual health education and youth
confidence in accessing health professionals; and that section 159
of the Criminal Code is removed and the law regarding anal sex
be made consistent with the law on vaginal intercourse.

Should this bill be passed, plain-language information on the
new law and what it means need to be communicated to youth,
particularly around the close-in-age exemption.

Robert Kissner, PhD, CASW Board of Directors, Canadian
Association of Social Workers: The Canadian Association of
Social Workers, or CASW, is a federation of provincial and
territorial associations throughout the country. It is the national
voice on behalf of its 16,000 members and, to some degree,
their many thousands of clients.

CASW would like to present some considerations and
proposals with respect to the clauses in the bill related to the
age of consent. As an organization, we obviously favour any
measures that increase the protection of children, but we must
give the legislation a very mixed review.

The main point of our presentation is that raising the age
of consent from 14 to 16 — at which a person can consent to
non-exploitive sexual activity — is likely to have uneven effects
and will also likely have unintended consequences. Rather than
protecting those whom it is intended to protect, we believe that

laquelle la loi leur interdit de se livrer. Ainsi, la disposition
du Code criminel qui vise ostensiblement a protéger les
adolescents contre le préjudice peut en soi, en faisant
obstacle a I’éducation sur les risques pour la santé associés a
ce comportement, contribuer au préjudice qu’elle prétend
éviter.

L’examen de ce projet de loi est une occasion de mettre fin a la
discrimination de I’article 159 du Code criminel. Il y a une liste de
plusieurs articles du Code criminel qui sont modifiés par ce projet
de loi. Alors il devrait y avoir dans ce document une définition de
l’activité sexuelle qui englobe toutes les activités, dont les relations
sexuelles anales, pour faire en sorte que I’4ge du consentement soit
le méme pour toute forme d’activité sexuelle.

La Société canadienne du sida espére que vous reviendrez
sur votre décision de rehausser ’dge du consentement, pour
les raisons que je viens de donner. La solution pour protéger
les jeunes contre l’exploitation sexuelle n’est pas d’imposer
des restrictions aux jeunes. Ce projet de loi risque d’avoir des
répercussions sur la santé et le bien-étre des jeunes, et il serait
irresponsable de ’adopter sans preuves convaincantes du
contraire.

Nos recommandations sont les suivantes: que 1’age
du consentement aux relations sexuelles reste 14 ans; que des
ressources soient consacrées a la poursuite des cas d’exploitation
sexuelle et d’abus, et aussi que des ressources soient prévues pour
les parents et les jeunes, pour les aider a faire des choix sains; que
des recherches plus approfondies soient effectuées sur 1'incidence
que peut avoir I’age du consentement sur 1’offre d’une éducation
sur la santé sexuelle, ainsi que sur la disposition des jeunes a
consulter des professionnels de la santé; et que l'article 159 du
Code criminel soit supprimé et que les dispositions de la Loi
relatives aux relations sexuelles anales soit uniformisées avec
celles qui concernent les relations sexuelles vaginales.

Si ce projet de loi était adopté, il faudrait diffuser de
I'information en langage clair aux jeunes au sujet de la nouvelle
loi, particuliérement au sujet de l’exemption relative a la
proximité d’age.

Robert Kissner, PhD, membre duconseil d’administration de
PPACTS, Association canadienne des travailleuses et travailleurs
sociaux : L’Association canadienne de travailleuses et travailleurs
sociaux, ou ACTS, est un regroupement d’associations
provinciales et territoriales de tout le pays. Elle est le porte-
parole national de ses 16 000 membres et, dans une certaine
mesure, de leurs nombreux milliers de clients.

L’ACTS aimerait présenter certaines réflexions et propositions
au sujet des dispositions du projet de loi relatives a I'dge du
consentement. En tant qu’organisation, évidemment, nous serions
favorables a toute mesure visant & mieux protéger les enfants,
mais nous devons faire de la loi une critique trés mitigée.

L’argument central de notre présentation, c’est que le fait de
rehausser I’dge du consentement de 14 a 16 ans — age auquel une
personne peut consentir a une activité sexuelle de nature non
exploitante — est susceptible d’avoir des effets inégaux, et aura
trés probablement aussi des conséquences inattendues. Plutot que
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the bill, if enacted into law, would need additional measures to
protect children who will experience increased risk as a result of
this legislation.

To illustrate, central to the legislation is the belief that all
predators are, to some degree, uni-dimensional and that their
interests and tactics are somewhat similar. However, there is
research to suggest that all predators are not alike and that there
is a difference between people who have a sexual interest in
children who are under the age of 13, pedophiles, and people who
have a sexual interest in children who are going through sexual
maturity, hebephiles. This interest is more formally distinguished
between these two age groups of under 13 and 13 to 17.

Presumably, the interests of children who were hunted by
pedophiles were met by the old legislation and the interests of
those hunted by hebephiles is to be met under the new legislation.

Given that hebephiles are typically interested in children 13 to
17 versus those who are under 14, it is reasonable to assume that
efforts formerly aimed at protecting children less than 14 years
old will be now concentrated on youth who are less than 16 years
old. The problem, in simple terms, is that we are increasing risk
for children who are 16 or 17 years old in our culture.

The problem also is one of perception and consensus. The old
legislation clearly defines children less than 14 years old as people
who are not yet prepared for sexual decisions and who, without
question, would be exploited in any sexual relationship. Very few
people would take issue with this proposition. Indeed, there is
wide public consensus and universal social denunciation of adults
who are involved with young children. Because this proposition
does enjoy such clear consensus, legal enforcement can be and is
currently relatively straightforward.

The new legislation expands the same proposition to youth
who are less than 16 years of age. In other words, youth 14 to
16 years of age are also deemed to be unprepared for sexual
decisions. Unfortunately, this proposition does not enjoy the
same consensus as the other and there is considerable
ambivalence.

Therefore, because of blurred consensus related to this age
group, legal enforcement can be compromised and we lose our
clarity of focus. For example, research in the United Kingdom
shows that adult-adolescent relationships are infrequently
prosecuted and sometimes viewed with ambivalence by the
media. Where we blend legislation concerned with adults
involved with children versus adults involved with adolescents,
we begin to lose clear focus and things become fuzzy.

The great danger, therefore, in defining those young people less
than 16 years of age as identical to those less than 14 years of age
is that we potentially also undermine protection for children
under the age of 13 because we lose that clarity of focus and we

de protéger ceux que ce projet de loi vise a protéger, nous pensons
que s’il est promulgué, il faudra adopter de nouvelles mesures
additionnelles pour protéger les enfants pour qui le risque sera
accru a cause de cette loi.

Pour vous donner un exemple concret, cette loi est fondée sur le
postulat que tous les prédateurs sont, dans une certaine mesure,
unidimensionnels et que leurs intéréts et stratégies sont en quelque
sorte similaires. Cependant, selon des recherches effectuées, tous
les prédateurs ne se ressemblent pas, et il y a une différence entre
les personnes qui ont un intérét sexuel pour les enfants de moins
de 13 ans, appelés pédophiles et les hébéphiles, ces gens qui ont un
intérét sexuel pour les enfants qui n’ont pas encore atteint leur
maturité sexuelle. Cette distinction est plus formellement établie
entre deux groupes d’age, soit moins de 13 ans et de 13 a 17 ans.

En principe, les intéréts des enfants convoités par les
pédophiles étaient protégés par ’ancienne loi, et les intéréts des
enfants que convoitent les hébéphiles devraient étre protégés par
la nouvelle loi.

Comme les hébéphiles s’intéressent généralement aux enfants
de 13 a 17 ans plutdt qu’a ceux qui ont moins de 14 ans, on peut
raisonnablement supposer que des efforts jusqu’a maintenant
axés sur la protection des enfants de moins de 14 ans seront
maintenant concentrés sur les jeunes qui ont moins de 16 ans.
Le probléme, en quelques mots, c’est que nous augmentons le
risque pour les enfants de 16 ou 17 ans dans notre culture.

Le probléeme en est aussi un de perception et de consensus.
L’ancienne loi définit clairement les enfants de moins de 14 ans
comme des personnes qui ne sont pas encore prétes a prendre des
décisions d’ordre sexuel et qui, sans le moindre doute, seraient
exploitées dans n’importe quelle relation sexuelle. Trés peu de
gens contesteraient cette théorie. De fait, il y a consensus sur la
question et les adultes qui ont une relation avec des enfants font
I’objet d’une dénonciation sociale universelle. Comme cette
théorie est si clairement acceptée, ’application de la loi peut
étre, et est actuellement relativement simple.

La nouvelle loi applique cette méme théorie aux jeunes qui
ont moins de 16 ans. Autrement dit, les jeunes de 14 a 16 ans
sont aussi réputés ne pas étre préts a prendre des décisions
d’ordre sexuel. Malheureusement, cette théorie ne fait pas autant
d’adeptes que I’autre et suscite beaucoup d’ambivalence.

Par conséquent, comme le consensus se brouille au sujet de ce
groupe d’age, I’application de la loi peut étre compromise et notre
objectif devient plus flou. Par exemple, des recherches effectuées
au Royaume-Uni démontrent que les relations entre adultes et
adolescents font peu souvent ’objet de poursuites et sont parfois
exposées par les médias avec ambiguité. Quand on mélange les
lois qui concernent les adultes qui ont des relations avec des
enfants et celles qui visent des adultes qui ont des relations avec
des adolescents, I’objectif devient flou et les choses se brouillent.

Le grand danger, par exemple, en mettant ces jeunes gens de
moins de 16 ans dans le méme panier que ceux de moins de 14 ans,
c’est que nous pourrions aussi saper les mesures de protection des
enfants dgés de moins de 13 ans parce que nous perdons cette
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lose social denunciation. Effectively, we create greater risk for
children under 13 years of age and we also create greater risk for
children that are 16 and 17 years of age.

The bill also seems to assume that the modus operandi of
adults sexually involved with children is the same as older
adolescents. However, there is research to indicate that predators
who target young teenagers are more likely to involve an
accomplice in their crime. We are not sure necessarily that the
role of an accomplice is addressed in the legislation.

On a broader policy level, we share concerns that I articulate in
my written submission to you and that my colleagues will speak
about. We essentially agree with that.

As opposed to raising the age of consent beyond its current
level, our preference would have been to leave the age of consent
within judicial discretion for all people below the age of 18 and
above the age of 14. This would allow protection for all youth,
and the judge would have the power to set aside consent in the
presence of evidence that a particular relationship is exploitive.
We are prepared to trust in the wisdom of our judiciary.

We also believe, effectively, that we need to begin to deal with
the causes of sexual exploitation. Therefore, we need to begin to
create innovative programs in which pedophiles and hebephiles
can come forward with confidential treatment. If you have this
issue, where in this country would you go for help? Yet, we want
people to quit their behaviour.

At the same time, we know that a whole number of these
people experienced abuse as children. Some of the statistics refer
to 40 per cent. Where are the programs for these people in all of
our provinces?

For kids, some of the best variables appear to be a couple of
things, the first being increased social capital. There is new
research that shows if you are involved in your community —
families, sports teams, these kinds of things — you are so involved
with other kids that you are effectively protected by that
community.

Interestingly, there are some male relationships where family
has a greater influence. With females, oddly enough, other social
relationships appear to be more effective.

Another thing that matters for us is the whole idea of a child’s
rights. Kids under the age of 19 in our culture have the right to
effective protection and to knowledge.

As social workers, we realize that the kids targeted in this
country are many of the kids who are part of our child welfare
system. One of the most important variables in our country
right now is whether kids graduate from school. We talked
earlier about weapons. Whether one is likely to be involved in
that type of activity is linked to whether or not one graduated
from school.

clarté d’objectif, et nous perdons la dénonciation sociale. De fait,
nous augmentons le risque pour les enfants de moins de 13 ans, et
aussi pour les jeunes de 16 et de 17 ans.

Le projet de loi semble aussi partir du principe que le modus
operandi des adultes qui entretiennent des relations avec les
enfants est le méme que celui des adultes qui ont des relations avec
des adolescents plus agés. Cependant, des recherches ont révélé
que les prédateurs qui ciblent les jeunes adolescents sont plus
susceptibles d’avoir un complice. Nous ne sommes pas sirs
nécessairement que le réle du complice soit prévu dans la loi.

Au plan d’une politique plus globale, nous avons les mémes
préoccupations, lesquelles j’explique dans le document que je
vous ai remis et dont ma collégue va vous parler. Nous sommes
d’accord, de fagon générale, avec cela.

Plut6t que de rehausser 1’dge du consentement par rapport a ce
qu’il est maintenant, nous préférerions laisser les tribunaux en
décider pour toutes les personnes dgées de moins de 18 ans et de
plus de 14 ans. Ceci permettrait de protéger tous les jeunes et le
juge aurait le pouvoir de ne pas tenir compte du consentement
s’ill y a des preuves qu’une relation particuliére est de nature
exploitante. Nous sommes préts a investir votre confiance dans la
sagesse de notre systeme judiciaire.

Nous pensons aussi, de fait, qu’il nous faut commencer a nous
attaquer aux causes mémes de I’exploitation sexuelle. Ainsi,
nous devons commencer a créer des programmes novateurs qui
permettraient aux pédophiles et hébéphiles de se soumettre
volontairement a un traitement confidentiel. Ou, dans ce pays,
quelqu’un qui a ce probléme peut-il s’adresser pour obtenir de
I’aide? Et pourtant, nous voulons que ces gens mettent fin a leur
comportement.

En méme temps, nous savons qu’un trés grand nombre de ces
gens ont eux-mémes subi des abus quand ils étaient enfants.
Selon certaines statistiques, ils seraient 40 p. 100. Ou sont les
programmes pour eux, dans toutes les provinces?

Pour les enfants, il semble que parmi les meilleures variables
figure en premier lieu celle du capital social accru. Des recherches
récentes démontrent que quelqu’un qui est impliqué dans la
communauté — la famille, les sports d’équipe, ce genre de
choses — a tellement de contact avec d’autres enfants qu’il est en
fait protégé par cette communauté.

Ce qui est intéressant, c’est qu’il y a certaines relations entre
hommes ou c’est la famille qui a le plus d’influence. Avec les filles,
curieusement, ce sont les autres relations sociales qui semblent
étre plus efficaces.

Autre chose qui nous tient a coeur, c’est tout le concept des
droits des enfants. Les enfants de moins de 19 ans dans notre
culture ont droit a une protection efficace et a la connaissance.

En tant que travailleurs sociaux, nous constatons que bien
des enfants ciblés dans ce pays sont souvent des clients de notre
systéeme d’aide sociale a I’enfance. L’une des variables les plus
importantes dans notre pays, actuellement, c’est ’obtention du
diplome. Nous avons parlé plus tot d’armes. Les probabilités
qu'un enfant participe a ce type d’activité sont étroitement
liées a ’obtention ou non d’un diplome.
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Where is our lowest school completion rate in this country?
From the governments that provide education to our children.
With respect to the current rate of school completion in Canada,
roughly one child in five still does not complete school.

In my province, if you are served by our government, your
odds of completing school are 29 per cent. Three out of ten
children served by the provincial Government of British
Columbia graduate.

At the same time, we need to move toward reducing poverty.
We know if we increase social welfare rates that we increase
educational engagement. One of the sole reasons and one of the
most important variables relating to prostitution is whether or
not people are in poverty. All of us effectively need to work to
reduce poverty.

We endorse many of the recommendations outlined in
Campaign 2000.

Dr. John Lamont, President of the Board of Directors,
Canadian Federation for Sexual Health: I am President of the
Board of the Canadian Federation for Sexual Health. I am also
a Professor Emeritus of Obstetrics and Gynecology at McMaster
University in Hamilton, Ontario, and I work in women’s health
and sexual medicine.

With me is Linda Capperauld, Executive Director of the
Canadian Federation for Sexual Health. We are here today
specifically to speak to Bill C-2.

The Canadian Federation for Sexual Health is a national,
member-driven, charitable organization focusing exclusively on
sexual and reproductive health and rights. We have been around
for over 40 years, working in Canada and internationally.
Our national network of 28 affiliate members across Canada
has significant experience and success working with youth and
parents in both education and health care delivery.

Our federation includes the Canadian Youth for Choice, a
rapidly growing national network of young people who are
educating and advocating for the rights of youth regarding sexual
health.

We support the intent of Bill C-2, which is to protect young
people from sexual exploitation.

Law enforcement officials believe that raising the age
of consent to 16 years will serve as a deterrent to adults who
would otherwise exploit youth sexually and that prosecution of
offenders, once a crime has taken place, will be easier. However,
there is no evidence either in Canada or internationally that
increasing the legal age of consent will, on its own, actually work
in preventing exploitation of youth, nor that it will provide any
other benefit sufficient to justify the intrusion into personal
privacy and consensual activity of youth.

Ou y a-t-il le plus faible taux d’achévement des études au pays?
Ce sont nos gouvernements qui assurent l'instruction de nos
enfants. Si on regarde le taux actuel d’achévement des études au
Canada, un enfant sur cing, grosso modo, n’achéve pas ses études.

Dans ma province, les chances de terminer le secondaire, pour
ceux qui dépendent de notre gouvernement, sont de 29 p. 100.
Trois enfants sur dix desservis par le gouvernement de la
Colombie-Britannique obtiennent un diplome.

En méme temps, il nous faut réduire la pauvreté. Nous
savons que si nous augmentons les taux de 1’aide sociale, nous
augmentons l’engagement dans I’éducation. L’un des seuls
motifs, I'une des plus importantes variables liées a la
prostitution, c’est la pauvreté. Nous devons tous agir pour
réduire la pauvreté.

Nous appuyons bon nombre des recommandations de
Campagne 2000.

Dr John Lamont, président du conseil d’administration,
Fédération canadienne pour la santé sexuelle : Je suis président
du conseil d’administration de la Fédération canadienne pour
la santé sexuelle. Je suis aussi professeur émérite d’obstétrique
et de gynécologiec a 1’Université McMaster de Hamilton, en
Ontario, et je travaille dans le domaine de la santé des femmes
et de la médecine sexuelle.

Je suis accompagné de Linda Capperauld, directrice exécutive
de la Fédération canadienne pour la santé sexuelle. Nous sommes
ici aujourd’hui pour parler précisément du projet de loi C-2.

La Fédération canadienne pour la santé sexuelle est un
organisme de bienfaisance national, axé sur ses membres, qui se
concentre exclusivement sur la santé sexuelle et les droits sexuels
et génésiques. La Fédération existe depuis plus de 40 ans, et ceuvre
au Canada et a I’étranger. Notre réseau national de 28 membres
affiliés dans tout le Canada a une vaste expérience et a un franc
succes aupres des jeunes et de parents, tant au plan de 1’éducation
que de I'offre de santé.

Notre fédération compte parmi ses membres Canadian Youth
for Choice, un réseau national qui connait une croissance rapide,
composé de jeunes gens qui font de la sensibilisation et assurent la
défense des droits des jeunes en mati¢re de santé sexuelle.

Nous appuyons I’objet du projet de loi C-2, qui est de protéger
les jeunes gens contre I’exploitation sexuelle.

Les organismes chargés de I'application de la loi estiment que
porter a 16 ans I’dge requis pour consentir a des actes sexuels
contribuerait a dissuader les adultes de se livrer a I’exploitation
sexuelle des jeunes et qu’il serait plus facile de poursuivre en
justice les auteurs de ces crimes. Cependant, il n’existe aucune
preuve, ici ou ailleurs, que "augmentation de I’dge requis pour
consentir a des actes sexuels permettrait a elle seule de prévenir
I’exploitation sexuelle des jeunes ou que cela présenterait tout
autre avantage suffisant pour justifier I'ingérence dans la vie
privée et ’activité consensuelle des jeunes.
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Bill C-2, as it currently stands, focuses only on the law
enforcement aspect of protection. Law enforcement, in and of
itself, does not protect youth; it only allows for prosecution once
youth have already been exploited.

If we are serious about protecting youth, then we must make
sure that they have the skills, education and health services
needed for them to make informed choices, to negotiate their
sexual relationships and to prevent abuses of power. Moreover,
we must think about the possible unintended consequences of
this bill.

We have three major concerns and three recommendations.
First, young people do not seek out the information and sexual
health services they need if they fear a lack of confidentiality.
We know this from long experience and from research, and
I can speak to this personally from many years as a practising
physician.

We also know from experience that when a young person is
able to build a trusting relationship with a health care provider or
other professional, it helps to protect that young person from
exploitation because it creates a positive environment for
counselling on decision-making, choice and empowerment.

The perception of reality that a young person or his or her
partner would be reported to authorities and prosecuted for
consensual sexual activity will result in sexually active youth not
seeking or getting the health services they need. The consequences
among youth can be tragic: unintended pregnancies, sexually
transmitted infections and HIV/AIDS, to name a few, with
potentially devastating consequences such as infertility, cancer
or even death.

Second, the increased age of consent could be used as a
justification for denying young people the sexual health education
and services they need. Unfortunately, we know that once a
law is passed, there is often little control over how it is used or
interpreted.

Educators and health professionals may be reluctant to enter
into conversations about sexuality with young people under the
proposed new age of consent due to uncertainty about their legal
obligations, their own personal viewpoints or parental or other
pressures. This has happened in other jurisdictions, such as the
United Kingdom.

Both our experience and best practice research show that
sexual health education which begins early, is age appropriate and
includes skills building as well as factual information is effective
in helping young people to negotiate relationships, to delay first
sexual activity and to practise safer sex when they become
sexually active. This education is essential for youth to learn
ways in which to protect themselves from potentially exploitive

Le projet de loi C-2, sous sa forme actuelle, se concentre
uniquement sur I’aspect de l’application de la loi qu’est la
protection. L’application de la loi, en soi, ne protége pas les
jeunes; elle permet seulement d’intenter des poursuites une fois
qu’un jeune a déja fait ’objet d’exploitation.

Si nous voulons vraiment protéger les jeunes, nous devons nous
assurer de leur offrir des services et des programmes d’éducation
et de leur inculquer les aptitudes nécessaires pour pouvoir faire
des choix éclairées, négocier la fagon dont ils désirent vivre leur
vie sexuelle et prévenir ’abus de pouvoir. De plus, nous devons
réfléchir aux conséquences inattendues que pourrait avoir ce
projet de loi.

Nous avons trois grandes préoccupations et trois
recommandations. Tout d’abord, les jeunes ne recherchent pas
I'information et les services de santé sexuelle dont ils ont besoin
par crainte du manque de confidentialité. Nous le savons de
par notre longue expérience et selon les recherches effectuées,
et je peux en témoigner personnellement, aprés de longues années
de pratique de la médecine.

Nous savons aussi d’expérience que lorsqu’une jeune personne
est capable d’établir une relation de confiance avec un fournisseur
de soins de santé ou un autre professionnel, cette relation
contribue a protéger ce jeune contre I’exploitation en créant un
cadre positif de counseling pour la prise de décisions, les choix et
I’habilitation.

La perception ou la réalité qu’un ou une jeune ou son ou sa
partenaire peut étre dénoncé aux autorités et faire 1’objet de
poursuites pour s’étre livré a des activités sexuelles consensuelles
dissuadera les jeunes d’avoir recours aux services de santé dont ils
ont besoin. Les conséquences de cela parmi les jeunes peuvent
étre dramatiques : des grossesses non désirées, des infections
transmises sexuellement et le VIH/sida, pour n’en nommer
que quelques-unes, avec des conséquences potentiellement
dévastatrices comme l'infertilité, le cancer ou méme la mort.

Deuxiémement, la hausse de ’age du consentement pourrait
devenir un motif pour priver les jeunes de I’éducation en santé
sexuelle et des services dont ils ont besoin. Malheureusement,
nous savons qu’une fois qu’une loi est adoptée, nous n’avons
souvent que trés peu de contrdle sur la maniere dont elle est
appliquée ou interprétée.

Les éducateurs et les professionnels de la santé pourraient étre
réticents a discuter de sexualité avec des jeunes gens qui n’auront
pas I’dge du consentement qui est proposé, parce qu’ils ne seront
pas certains de leurs obligations juridiques, en raison leurs
propres points de vue personnels ou parce qu’ils subissent des
pressions de parents ou d’autres personnes. C’est arrivé ailleurs,
notamment au Royaume-Uni.

Tant notre expérience que les recherches effectuées sur
les pratiques exemplaires démontrent que 1’éducation en
santé sexuelle entamée tot, adaptée a I’age et qui comprend le
renforcement des capacités ainsi que des renseignements factuels,
aide efficacement les jeunes a savoir négocier des relations, a
reporter la premiére relation sexuelle et a avoir des pratiques
sexuelles plus stres une fois qu’ils deviennent actifs. Cette
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situations. As surprising as it may sound, even today, sexual
health education is inconsistent and at times non-existent for
many youth in Canada.

Third, section 159 the Criminal Code of Canada includes
a clause that sets the age of consent for anal sex at 18 years,
which is higher than for any other type of sexual activity. There
is no logical or medical reason to treat one type of sexual
activity differently from others. Both the Ontario and Quebec
Courts of Appeal have already found this distinction to be
unconstitutional.

While this clause exists, this means, for example, that
two 16-year-olds who engage in consensual anal sex could be
prosecuted, regardless of the intent of Bill C-2 to not criminalize
consensual teenage sexual activity.

Our preference is that Bill C-2 not be passed. We offer the
following three recommendations if Bill C-2 is passed.

First, amend Bill C-2 and all other relevant legislation to
ensure that information provided by a young person when
accessing sexual health education, information and medical
services is considered to be privileged information unless there
is clear evidence of exploitation. This would mean that if a
young person discloses a consensual non-exploitive relationship
with a person outside of the five-year exemption, this would be
kept confidential and not reported.

Second, continue to provide strong federal government
support to the Joint Consortium on School Health, to its
working groups and to its partners, to help ensure that
age-appropriate, accurate and unbiased sexual health education
is provided to children and youth in schools across Canada.

Three, remove section 159, related to consent for anal sex,
from the Criminal Code of Canada. This will make the age of
consent uniform for all sexual practices and orientations.

Senator Andreychuk: I very much agree with many of the things
that Mr. Kissner and Dr. Lamont have stated.

Mr. Kissner, for clarification, when you refer to children
serviced by your government, do you mean children in some
welfare capacity?

Mr. Kissner: That is correct.

éducation est essentielle pour apprendre aux jeunes des moyens de
se protéger contre les situations potentiellement exploitantes.
Aussi étonnant que cela puisse vous sembler, méme de nos jours,
I’éducation en santé sexuelle manque d’uniformité et, parfois, est
non existante pour bien des jeunes du Canada.

Troisiémement, Darticle 159 du Code criminel du Canada
comporte une disposition qui établit a 18 ans 1’age requis pour
consentir a des relations sexuelles anales, ce qui est plus agé
que pour tout autre type d’activité sexuelle. Il n’y a aucune
raison logique ou médicale de vouloir traiter un type d’activité
sexuelle autrement que d’autres. Les cours d’appel de I’Ontario
et du Québec ont déja déclaré cette distinction comme étant
inconstitutionnelle.

Tant que cette clause est en vigueur, cela signifie par exemple
que deux jeunes gens agés de 16 ans qui ont des relations sexuelles
anales consensuelles pourraient étre poursuivis, sans égard pour
I'intention du projet de loi C-2 de ne pas criminaliser 1’activité
sexuelle consensuelle entre adolescents.

Nous préférerions que le projet de loi C-2 ne soit pas adopté.
S’il I’est néanmoins, nous proposons les trois recommandations
qui suivent.

Premiérement, que I'on modifie le projet de loi C-2 et toute
législation pertinente afin de s’assurer que les renseignements
fournis par les jeunes lorsqu’ils ont recours aux services médicaux,
d’information et d’éducation en matiére de santé sexuelle sont
traités comme des renseignements confidentiels, a moins qu’il y ait
suffisamment de preuves pour conclure qu’il s’agit d’un cas
d’exploitation sexuelle. De cette fagon, si un jeune révéle avoir une
relation sexuelle consensuelle de nature non exploitante avec un
partenaire dont 1’age excéde les parameétres d’exception de cinq
ans relativement a la différence d’age entre les partenaires, il peut
étre rassuré que ces renseignements seront tenus confidentiels et
ne seront pas rapportés.

Deuxiémement, que le gouvernement fédéral continue
d’appuyer fortement le Consortium mixte sur la santé en milieu
scolaire, ses groupes de travail et ses partenaires afin de s’assurer
que les enfants et les jeunes de partout au pays ont acceés a des
programmes d’éducation en matiére de santé sexuelle rigoureux,
sans préjugés et adaptés en fonction de leur age.

Troisiémement, que I’on élimine ’article 159 du Code criminel,
concernant le consentement aux relations sexuelles anales. Cela
permettrait d’uniformiser I’dge requis pour consentir a des actes
sexuels pour toutes les pratiques et orientations sexuelles.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec
M. Kissner et le Dr Lamont sur un bon nombre des points qu’ils
ont soulevés.

Monsieur Kissner, en guise de clarification, lorsque vous parlez
des enfants qui sont pris en charge par votre gouvernement,
faites-vous allusion aux enfants qui relévent de certains services
d’aide sociale?

M. Kissner : C’est exact.
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Senator Andreychuk: I want to be clear that is what we are
talking about: children who have already been taken into care
because of some breakdown according to your provincial
legislation. I am well aware of those terms, having worked in
that field.

Mr. Kissner: That is correct.

Senator Andreychuk: This bill was not intended to correct all
of the problems, I think even from the minister’s point of view.
It was to be one more way of trying to protect children in our
society. The need to reassure children in the school, in the home
and in the community still goes without saying. The government,
as I understand it, believes that this would be helpful in
addressing the protection of children.

With respect to anal intercourse, this bill is not intended to
correct all of the deficiencies or difficulties in the Criminal Code.
The government has chosen certain issues, and so that provision
does not come as a result of Bill C-2. You are discussing what was
in the Criminal Code before, correct?

I am seeing a nod.
Dr. Lamont: Yes.

Senator Andreychuk: That issue is still one that stands alone
that perhaps government and Parliament should deal with.

This bill before us proposes to raising the age of consent
from 14 to 16. Do you not think that the close-in-age exception
of five years is a good way to go? The government is saying,
“We do not know, really.” When you say that one category of
predators has an interest in exploiting children under 13 and that
another category has an interest in exploiting children over 13,
you are making a judgment call because you could take the age of
12 and make a case, you could take the age of 10 and make a case,
you could take the age of 14 and make a case and you could take
the age of 15 and make a case.

The government, in its wisdom, has decided that they will go
the route of choosing the ages they have, which is quite consistent
with New Zealand, Australia and to some extent the U.K. In
addition, some European countries have passed legislation.
Therefore, it is a judgment call. If we had simply proposed to
raise the age to 16, we would have the problem of exploitation
that naturally goes with awareness. Is it exploitation or is it just
exploration — young kids being together? It is a very volatile
position for them to be in.

My point is that we are not quite sure of many issues in
this area. However, the government was quite sure that if
they moved the age there would be an increased capability to
protect young people, not as an exclusive act but doing all
the other things as well, such as understanding that there is
still a secrecy issue in the sense that kids do not want to come
forward.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je veux m’assurer que c’est ce dont
nous parlons : des enfants qui sont déja pris en charge a cause
d’une certaine lacune aux termes de vos lois provinciales. Ayant
moi-méme travaillé dans le domaine, je suis bien au courant de ces
modalités.

M. Kissner : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Ce projet de loi n’a pas été congu
pour corriger tous les problémes, et je crois que méme le
ministre partage cet avis. Le but, c’était de fournir un moyen
supplémentaire pour protéger les enfants dans notre société.
Le besoin de rassurer les enfants a 1’école, a la maison et dans
la collectivité est toujours évident. D’aprés ce que je crois
comprendre, le gouvernement estime que ce projet de loi serait
utile pour la protection des enfants.

En ce qui concerne les relations sexuelles anales, ce projet
de loi ne vise pas a corriger toutes les lacunes ou difficultés dans le
Code criminel. Le gouvernement a choisi certaines questions;
cette disposition ne résulte donc pas du projet de loi C-2. Vous
parlez de ce qui était prévu auparavant dans le Code criminel,
n’est-ce pas?

Je vois que vous faites signe que oui.
Dr Lamont : Oui.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Cette question reste toujours a part
et mérite peut-étre que le gouvernement et le Parlement s’y
intéressent.

Le projet de loi dont nous sommes saisis propose de faire
passer de 14 a 16 ans I’age du consentement. Croyez-vous que
I’exception liée a la proximité d’age de cinq ans est une bonne
facon de procéder? Le gouvernement avoue son ignorance a cet
égard. Lorsque vous affirmez qu’une catégorie de prédateurs ont
des visées sexuelles sur des enfants de moins de 13 ans et qu’une
autre catégorie de prédateurs en ont sur des adolescents de plus
de 13 ans, vous exprimez une opinion personnelle parce que
cet argument s’appliquerait tout aussi bien a I’dge de 12, de 10,
de 14 ou de 15 ans.

Le gouvernement, dans sa sagesse, a décidé de choisir les ages,
ce qui est assez conforme a la position adoptée en Nouvelle-
Z¢élande, en Australie et, dans une certaine mesure, au Royaume-
Uni. De plus, certains pays européens ont adopté des lois. Par
conséquent, c’est une question de jugement. Si nous avions
proposé tout simplement de relever I’dge a 16 ans, nous aurions le
probleme de I’exploitation qui accompagne naturellement une
prise de conscience. S’agit-il d’une exploitation ou simplement
d’une exploration — des jeunes qui se fréquentent? C’est une
situation trés changeante pour eux.

La ou je veux en venir, c’est que nous ne sommes pas tres
sirs de nombreuses questions dans ce domaine. Toutefois,
ce que le gouvernement savait sans contredit, c’est que s’il
relevait I’dge, on aurait une capacité accrue pour protéger les
jeunes, non seulement par le biais d'une loi exclusive mais par
d’autres moyens comme le fait de comprendre qu’il existe
toujours un probléme de confidentialité en ce sens que les
enfants sont peu enclins a divulguer des renseignements.
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Do you not think that if we pass this legislation and if
we continue to do the other things that you have stated that
children could be better off than they are today? If we do not
raise the age, we already know how vulnerable they are. If we
increase the age of consent and are mindful that this is not the
end of the road in helping children and that we have to do so
many other things for them, it is a step in the right direction.

Mr. Kissner: 1 appreciate the warmth of your question.
For me, the best way to think about it is in terms of looking
at community development. There is an area of community
development called an interstitial area. With developmental
maturity, an age range is the same kind of thing. We were
saying that we had some clarity before. It kind of worked for
younger kids, but it did not work too well. There was a case
in Edmonton where a couple of people got off. The response
was to say that we should just raise the age. We took a look
and our concern was that, first, there would be a loss of
conceptual clarity. Second, if you assume that offenders are
like this glass of water, and there are certain number of them,
you will then shift from the age of 15 to 16 to people who
are 14 and 15 and increase the concentration of activity on a
different age group.

We have no question about what the legislation is trying to do,
but it will have unintended effects. A number of other children
need protection. We felt that a better response would be to look at
this issue in terms of judicial discretion to set aside informed
consent since most of the cases, as my colleague talked about,
were raised after the fact and that a judge could take a look and
say, “Did an exploitive relationship happen in this circumstance?”
That would have actually protected more children because you
could have gone up to the age of 18, and all of these other children
who are targeted by this other group would have been included.
We would have had the same clarity for younger children.

Our response is not that this is not a sincere attempt.
Everyone is obviously trying to protect kids, but there is a
better way to do it. From our perspective, the advantage of the
Senate is that it is an institution of sober second thought or
reflection. You can look at this issue and say, “We all want
to protect kids. We do not want to be the party that has to face
all of the parents in this country who now have children at
greater risk. We want to come forward with something that
will work.” In the same way that we have interstitial areas
in community development, we will have interstitial areas in
legislation. This meets the needs of my colleagues and this
meets the needs of more kids. Quite frankly, I think it meets
everyone’s political needs.

Ne croyez-vous pas que si nous adoptons ce projet de loi
tout en continuant de prendre les autres mesures que vous avez
mentionnées, les enfants pourraient se trouver dans une bien
meilleure situation qu’aujourd’hui? Si nous n’augmentons pas
I’age, nous savons déja a quel point ils sont vulnérables. Si nous
relevons I’age du consentement, tout en gardant a I’esprit que ce
n’est pas la seule mesure a prendre pour aider les enfants et que
nous devons faire beaucoup plus a leur égard, ce sera un pas dans
la bonne direction.

M. Kissner : Japprécie la bienvaillance de votre question.
Pour moi, la meilleure fagon de penser a cette question, c’est de
I'examiner sous I’angle du développement communautaire. A cet
égard, on retrouve ce qu’on appelle des zones interstitielles. Dans
le cas du développement des jeunes, on retrouve un concept
équivalent, soit les groupes d’age. Nous avons dit tout a ’heure
qu’il existait auparavant une certaine clarté. Cela fonctionnait
quelque peu pour les plus jeunes enfants, mais sans trop de
résultats. A Edmonton, il y a eu un cas ot quelques personnes ont
réussi a s’en sortir. La réponse a été de dire que nous devrions tout
simplement relever I’age. Nous nous sommes donc penchés sur la
question et avons constaté qu’on y perdrait sur le plan de la clarté
conceptuelle. Deuxiémement, si on part de 'hypothese que les
délinquants sont comme ce verre d’eau, et il y en a un certain
nombre, on passera alors du groupe des 15 a 16 ans a celui des
14 a 15 ans et on augmentera le nombre d’activités axées sur un
différent groupe d’age.

Nous ne remettons pas en question ce que le projet de loi
tente de réaliser, mais nous croyons que celui-ci entrainera des
effets non voulus. Un certain nombre d’enfants dans d’autres
catégories d’age ont besoin de protection. A notre avis, une
meilleure réponse serait d’examiner la question du point de vue
de la discrétion judicaire plutét que du consentement éclairé,
car comme mon collégue 1’a expliqué, la plupart des cas ont été
divulgués apreés le fait; un juge pourrait donc demander :
«Y a-t-il eu une relation de nature exploitante dans cette
situation? » Cette fagon de procéder aurait permis, en réalité, de
protéger un plus grand nombre d’enfants puisqu’on pourrait
relever ’age jusqu’a 18 ans, ce qui viserait tous les autres enfants.
Il y aurait une méme clarté dans le cas des enfants plus jeunes.

Nous ne disons pas que cette tentative n’est pas sincére.
De toute évidence, tout le monde essaie de protéger les enfants,
mais il y a une meilleure facon de le faire. De notre point de vue,
le Sénat a I’avantage d’étre une institution de second examen
objectif. Vous pouvez vous pencher sur cette question et dire :
« Nous voulons tous protéger les enfants. Nous ne voulons pas
étre ceux qui doivent faire face a tous les parents canadiens dont
les enfants sont maintenant exposés a un plus grand risque. Nous
voulons proposer quelque chose qui va porter fruit. » A Iinstar
des zones interstitielles dans le développement communautaire,
nous aurons des zones interstitielles dans la loi. Cette approche
répond tant aux besoins de mes collégues qu’a ceux d’un plus
grand nombre d’enfants. Pour vous dire franchement, je crois
qu’elle répond aux besoins politiques de tout un chacun.
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Senator Andreychuk: It does not seem there is any disagreement
that sexually active 14 year-olds are vulnerable to adults. We are
also saying that there is some interplay between young kids
growing up, and we should not stigmatize that. There seems to be
that kind of understanding.

I agree with you that if we went to 18, we might be even more
protective. However, if we go the route of informed consent, do
you not believe that those who exploit young people are the very
individuals who preclude a young person from giving informed
consent?

We have gone that way with assaults on women. In a family
assault, it is very hard for that woman to go to court and speak
against someone she was involved with because she is still
emotionally tied to that person. She does not want to be beaten
up, but she is emotionally tied to that individual. In the case
of a young person who is attracted to or talked into whatever
situation, how can that young person give an informed consent
and stick to it against the very person that we are trying to get at?

Mr. Kissner: My daughter is 14. That was one of my own
tests of this new provision. I thought, “Will my daughter be
better off under this legislation?” Yes, she will be. My daughter
goes to school every day and we are active in our community.
If someone exploits her or seduces her in certain ways, I want
some real action. For certain kids, this legislation will be hugely
effective.

However, we are saying that the legislation will have
differential effects. There will be other kids who in fact will be
at greater risk. If we looked at a slightly different shift in the way
this legislation is being proposed, we could protect more kids,
including my daughter and the other kids who are at greater risk.

Senator Merchant: 1 would like to get some direction from
you because you obviously know about many things in this
area. If the law does not reflect the realities of society, do you feel
that it will be followed or that it will be disregarded? I ask that
question because research has shown that today’s children are
engaging in sexual activity at ever earlier ages. The average age
of first sexual intercourse for students in Grades 7, 9 and 11
was 14.1 years among boys and 14.5 among girls. If we were
to raise the age of consent from 14 years to 16, you have stated
that there could be serious unintended consequences, one of
which would be to criminalize consensual youth activity.

Do you think the law should lead or follow social trends when
it comes to consensual sexual activity? Can you direct us a little
bit? Are we trying to change the morals of young children through
these provisions in the legislation? Do they reflect the views of the
government of the day?

Dr. Lamont: I would like to make a couple of comments. The
first has to do with sexual activity. The reality is that when the
literature talks about sexual activity, it is usually confined to
intercourse. In fact, if you survey youth even younger than 14,

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Personne ne semble disconvenir du
fait que les jeunes de 14 ans actifs sexuellement sont a la merci
des adultes. Nous reconnaissons également qu’il y a une certaine
interaction entre les jeunes qui grandissent, et nous ne devrions
pas stigmatiser cela. C’est ce qui semble se dégager.

Je suis d’accord avec vous pour dire que si nous relevions 1’age
a 18 ans, nous pourrions étre encore plus protecteurs. Toutefois,
si nous optons pour la voie du consentement éclairé, ne croyez-
vous pas que ceux qui exploitent les jeunes sont ceux-la mémes qui
empéchent les jeunes de donner un consentement éclairé?

C’est la voie que nous avons adoptée en ce qui concerne les
agressions contre les femmes. Dans une violence conjugale, il est
trés difficile pour une femme d’aller en cour et de dénoncer
quelqu’un avec qui elle entretenait des relations parce qu’elle est
encore liée sur le plan émotif a cette personne. Elle ne veut pas
étre battue, mais elle est émotionnellement attachée a cet individu.
Dans le cas d’un jeune qui est attiré par une situation quelconque
ou qui est amené a faire quelque chose, comment ce jeune peut-il
donner un consentement éclairé et s’y tenir pour se défendre
contre la personne méme que nous essayons d’atteindre?

M. Kissner : Ma fille a 14 ans. C’était 'un de mes critéres
personnels pour analyser cette nouvelle disposition. Je me suis
dit : « Ma fille sera-t-elle mieux protégée en vertu de ce projet de
loi? » Oui, elle le sera. Ma fille va a I’école tous les jours, et nous
participons activement a la vie communautaire. Si quelqu’un
exploite ma fille ou la séduit d’une fagon quelconque, je veux qu’il
y ait des mesures concrétes. Pour certains enfants, ce projet de loi
sera extrémement efficace.

Toutefois, nous pensons que la loi aura des effets différentiels.
D’autres enfants seront, en fait, exposés a un plus grand risque. Si
nous apportions une légére modification a ce qui est proposé dans
ce projet de loi, nous pourrions protéger un plus grand nombre
d’enfants, y compris ma fille et les autres enfants les plus a risque.

Le sénateur Merchant : J’aimerais que vous me donniez
quelques éclaircissements parce que vous savez évidemment
beaucoup de choses dans ce domaine. Si la loi ne refléte pas les
réalités de la société, estimez-vous qu’elle sera observée ou plutéot
ignorée? Je pose cette question parce que la recherche montre que
les enfants d’aujourd’hui se livrent a des activités sexuelles a des
ages de plus en plus jeunes. Les premicres relations sexuelles chez
les étudiants de septiéme, neuviéme et onziéme années ont lieu, en
moyenne, a 14,1 ans pour les gar¢ons et a 14,5 ans pour les filles.
Si nous relevions ’age du consentement de 14 a 16 ans, vous avez
dit qu’il pourrait y avoir de graves conséquences non voulues,
notamment la criminalisation des activités consensuelles chez
les jeunes.

Croyez-vous que la loi devrait mener ou suivre les tendances
sociales en ce qui a trait aux activités sexuelles consensuelles?
Pouvez-vous nous éclairer un peu? Essayons-nous de changer
les valeurs morales des jeunes par le biais de ces dispositions?
Celles-ci refléetent-elles les points de vue du gouvernement actuel?

Dr Lamont : J’aimerais faire quelques observations. La
premiére concerne les activités sexuelles. En réalité, lorsqu’on
parle d’activités sexuelles dans les documents de recherche,
c’est habituellement limité aux rapports sexuels. En fait, si I'on
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they are not getting involved in the general concept of sexual
activity at any younger age. What is happening is that a greater
proportion is having intercourse earlier but not being involved
earlier.

If you take all the other sexual activities, including anal
intercourse, the proportion of 14-year-olds or 15-year-olds is
basically the same as it has been for a long time. We need to be
clear about whether we are talking about intercourse or other
things.

The other thing that is important in terms of consent has
to do with my area of work, and that is helping people with
health care issues and education. This legislation will affect
that as well. The system we have at the moment works very well.
If a young person comes in for treatment or assessment and we
have a question about their ability to give consent, we have an
uninvolved professional do an assessment to determine whether
this person has the ability to give informed consent, which allows
us to provide education and clinical services to these people.
As you have heard before, if these young people cannot get
access to education and services, they will avoid those services
and that education rather than deal with their authority figures
or their parents to get permission to have treatment for an
infection or to have a pregnancy terminated or to have pregnancy
care. It affects that aspect of adolescent or teenaged sexual
activity as well.

Senator Merchant: In October 2005, the Department of Justice
Canada issued the following statement:

Educating youth to make informed choices that are right
for them is better addressed through parental guidance
and sexual health education than by using the Criminal
Code to criminalize youth for engaging in such activity.

Do you feel that we are meeting this requirement, namely, that
parental guidance and sexual health education are there?

Dr. Lamont: I am not sure that they are there. I would agree
with the statement that parental guidance would be ideal,
but, unfortunately, few children get that information from their
parents as the primary source. We would like to correct that if we
could, but at the present time they look to peers and the education
system as their primary source of sex information.

Senator Merchant: Do you feel that the education system is
meeting their requirements?

Dr. Lamont: Not at all. Certainly, the curriculum has been
written and the information is there, but unfortunately there
is not any uniform application of a standard curriculum that
is age-appropriate. Unfortunately, many school districts do not
prepare their teachers to give the course. If you talk to youth,
many feel that their sexual and health education is quite
inadequate.

interroge méme des jeunes de moins de 14 ans, on constate qu’ils
ne se livrent pas a une activité sexuelle a un age plus précoce. Ce
qui se passe, ¢’est qu'une plus grande proportion de jeunes ont des
rapports sexuels a un plus jeune age, sans pour autant étre dans
une relation a un plus jeune age.

Si I'on tient compte de toutes les autres activités sexuelles, y
compris des relations sexuelles anales, la proportion des jeunes de
14 ou de 15 ans est essentiellement la méme que celle qu’autrefois.
Nous devons donc indiquer clairement si nous parlons de
rapports sexuels ou d’autres choses.

L’autre point important sur le plan du consentement concerne
mon domaine, c’est-a-dire aider les gens par les soins de santé et
I’éducation. Ce projet de loi touchera également cet aspect. Le
systéme dont nous disposons actuellement fonctionne trés bien.
Si un jeune vient pour un traitement ou une évaluation et si nous
avons des doutes quant a sa capacité de donner un consentement,
nous demandons a un professionnel désintéressé de faire une
évaluation pour déterminer si la personne est apte a donner un
consentement éclairé, ce qui nous permet de fournir des services
pédagogiques et cliniques a cette personne. Comme on I’a déja dit,
si ces jeunes ne peuvent pas avoir acces a une éducation et a des
services, ils les éviteront tout simplement plutét que de s’adresser
a leurs symboles d’autorité ou a leurs parents pour obtenir la
permission de recevoir un traitement pour une infection ou de
mettre fin & une grossesse ou encore d’obtenir des soins durant
une grossesse. C’est donc un autre facteur qui touche cet aspect
des activités sexuelles des adolescents.

Le sénateur Merchant : En octobre 2005, le ministére de la
Justice du Canada a publié la déclaration suivante :

L’éducation des adolescents afin qu’ils puissent faire des
choix éclairés bons pour eux est mieux abordée dans le cadre
de la surveillance exercée par les parents et de ’éducation
portant sur la santé sexuelle qu’en utilisant le Code criminel
pour criminaliser les jeunes qui se livrent a cette activité.

A votre avis, remplissons-nous cette exigence, c’est-a-dire
existe-t-il une surveillance parentale et une éducation en matiére
de santé sexuelle?

Dr Lamont : J'en doute. Je suis d’accord pour dire que
la surveillance parentale serait I’idéal, mais malheureusement,
peu d’enfants vont chercher cette information d’abord auprés
de leurs parents. Nous aimerions corriger cette situation si nous
le pouvions, mais a I’heure actuelle, les enfants se fient a leurs
camarades et au systéme d’éducation : c’est la leur source
premiére d’information en matiére de sexualité.

Le sénateur Merchant : A votre avis, le systéme d’éducation
répond-il a leurs besoins?

Dr Lamont : Pas du tout. Certes, le programme éducatif a été
établi et I'information est disponible, mais malheureusement
il n’y a pas une application uniforme d’un programme standard
adapté en fonction de 1’age. Malheureusement, de nombreux
districts scolaires ne préparent pas leurs enseignants a donner le
cours. Bien des jeunes vous diront que, selon eux, leur éducation
en matiére de santé sexuelle est trés inadéquate.
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Senator Cowan: All of us want to do everything we can to
protect youth from exploitation and abuse, and encourage them
to have all the information they need to make appropriate
choices. Superficially, one would think that raising the age of
consent would be a good thing. The older people are, presumably
the more mature they are and, therefore, better able to make
the right choices. On the face of it, one would say that it sounds
good.

However, in preparing for these hearings and hearing you
read your briefs, I was struck this morning by the discussion of
the unintended consequences, which are not widely understood.
The concern I have is that there might be a certain perception
out there. Simplistically and superficially, one would think all we
have to do is raise the age of consent and then we are protecting
people. If this bill were to pass in its current form, the public
perception might be that that is done and we do not have to
worry about it anymore, and there would be a lack of impetus
for governments at all levels.

We all understand the constitutional and jurisdictional
issues that we are faced with in this country. People might say
that they do not have to worry about that anymore, and we
would not get the focus that is necessary —- which all of you
have addressed and with which I am sure all of us would agree —
on the need to provide increased information programs that
are accessible and are accessed by people. I forget who it was
who drew to our attention the numbers of people who do not
graduate from high school or do not even get to high school,
so simply to have a program available in a high school does not
get to those people who really need it.

I am struggling with this notion. On the one hand, I think
it is good to raise the age of consent, but I am not sure that it
gets at the problem. I agree with the statements about the need
to emphasize the importance of becoming involved in the
community and sports and clubs that give people a sense of
belonging, and I agree with the comments about getting at
poverty. Can you help me a bit with this? I think that most people
would find a disconnect between those two points.

Dr. Lamont: In terms of our organization and the people we
look after, they are not the advantaged people who have the
opportunity to be in a two-parent family and to go to hockey
games and those kinds of things. We are talking about
consequences for the people who are more disadvantaged. The
impact of this legislation on our ability to take care of them is
the downside. Unfortunately, that is where we are working.
We have to look at the age-of-consent provisions in this
legislation from that point of view and the fact that they
will interfere with our ability to take care of these people, to
educate them and give them health care. Many of the people
we look after are 16 and under.

Le sénateur Cowan : Chacun de nous veut faire tout ce qu’il
peut pour protéger nos enfants contre I’exploitation et ’abus et les
encourager a obtenir toute I'information dont ils ont besoin pour
faire des choix éclairés. A premiére vue, on serait porté a croire
que le relevement de I’age du consentement est une bonne chose.
Plus une personne est agée, plus elle est censée étre mire et par
conséquent, plus elle est capable de faire les bons choix. En
apparence, cette hypothése semble juste.

Toutefois, en me préparant pour ces audiences et en vous
écoutant, ce qui m’a frappé ce matin, c’est la discussion sur les
conséquences non voulues, qui ne sont pas largement comprises.
Ce qui m’inquicte, c’est qu’il pourrait y avoir une certaine
perception. De maniére simpliste et superficielle, on serait porté
a croire que tout ce qu’il faut faire, c’est relever I'dge du
consentement et voila, on protége les gens. Si ce projet de loi
était adopté dans sa forme actuelle, le public pourrait avoir
I'impression que maintenant le dossier est clos et qu’on n’a plus
besoin de s’en inquiéter; les gouvernements, a tous les paliers,
perdraient leur motivation.

Nous comprenons tous les questions d’ordre constitutionnel et
de compétences auxquelles nous faisons face au Canada. Les gens
pourraient dire qu’ils n’ont plus besoin de s’inquiéter de ce
probléme, et nous n’aurions plus la mobilisation nécessaire — ce
dont vous avez tous parlé, et je suis sir que nous partageons
tous cet avis —, c’est-a-dire le besoin de fournir plus de
programmes d’information auxquels les gens peuvent accéder.
Je ne me souviens plus qui d’entre vous a attiré notre attention
sur le nombre de personnes qui ne terminent pas leurs études
secondaires ou qui ne se rendent méme pas au secondaire; par
conséquent, en offrant tout simplement un programme au
secondaire, on n’atteint pas les gens qui en ont vraiment besoin.

J’ai du mal avec cette notion. D’une part, je crois que c’est bien
de relever ’age du consentement, mais d’autre part, je doute que
cela s’attaque au nceud du probléme. Je partage I’avis selon lequel
il faut mettre ’accent sur I'importance de participer activement
a la vie communautaire, de s’adonner a des activités sportives et
de faire partie de clubs; c’est ce qui donne aux gens un sentiment
d’appartenance. Je suis également d’accord pour dire qu’il faut
lutter contre la pauvreté. Pouvez-vous m’éclairer la-dessus? Je
crois que la plupart des gens seraient d’avis qu’il n’y a pas de lien
entre ces deux points.

Dr Lamont : En ce qui concerne notre organisation et les gens
que nous prenons en charge, il ne s’agit pas de personnes bien
nanties qui viennent de familles biparentales, qui vont voir des
matchs de hockey et tout le reste. Nous parlons des conséquences
pour les gens qui sont plus défavorisés. L’inconvénient de ce
projet de loi, c’est son impact sur notre capacité de prendre soin
de ces gens. C’est, malheureusement,
la réalité dans notre domaine. Nous devons examiner les
dispositions relatives a I’dge du consentement dans ce projet de
loi de ce point de vue et en reconnaissant qu’elles nuiront a notre
capacité de nous occuper de ces personnes, de les éduquer et de
leur fournir des soins de santé. Bon nombre des personnes dont
nous prenons soin sont dgées de 16 ans et moins.
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Ms. Downer: I go back to the comment that was made earlier
about whether education is consistent and whether people are
getting education in the system. As my colleague said, they
are not. What will this mean? Will this mean that teachers will
not be teaching students about sexual health until age 16,
when we know the age that they are actually engaging in sex
is 14.1 for boys and 14.5 for girls? Will that mean that teachers
will be even less likely to teach students the things they need to
know?

Mr. Kissner: We have the ability to try social policy and we
talk about inventiveness. We can do things like go to our welfare
agencies and provide more funding for kids to be engaged in
activities like sports and band. In many areas of the country,
we do not have the funding for many of those kids to be able
to participate in the activities that my daughter can do in our
community. As soon as you engage kids and develop a passion,
that is how we develop our social networks.

In my mind, we should at least be funding pilot projects
throughout the country, where we are trying out different things
and inventing things. People really care about kids, and from a
social welfare perspective, we are happy to try. If something
actually works on a small basis, everyone will endorse it because
we all save money.

These are all the kids at risk. What we discover with them is
that kids are all physiology and emotion. This is not about
thinking and doing. How do we pick people who are connected to
physiology and emotion? We engage them in physical activities
and begin to shift some other patterns.

Senator Di Nino: This is a very controversial issue. All three
of you made presentations that are to be respected given your
knowledge.

I wish to put on the record again that Bill C-22, which is
part of Bill C-2, had been passed by the House of Commons and
died on the Order Paper in the Senate at prorogation. Members
of the House of Commons had heard in some cases from the
children but primarily from the parents — I have to put in a plug
for the grandparents because I am a grandparent as well — about
the concern over this issue and the ability of a 14-year-old to
make a reasonable, informed decision about sexual activity.
It was in response to the loud voices of many Canadians that
Bill C-22, which eventually found its way into Bill C-2, was
drafted.

I also have to agree that this bill will not solve all the problems.
There is no question. This is only one of the tools that need to be
used to deal with this emotional and controversial issue. I think
there is a feeling that it will be helpful in ensuring that fewer
young women, and in some cases young men, will be victimized if
this bill is passed.

Mme Downer : Je vais revenir a l'observation faite tout a
I’heure sur la question de savoir si I'’éducation est cohérente et si
les gens obtiennent une éducation dans le systéme. Comme mon
collégue I'a dit, ce n’est pas le cas. Comment cela se traduira-t-il?
Cela signifiera-t-il qu’aucun cours de santé sexuelle ne sera donné
aux étudiants de moins de 16 ans, lorsque nous savons que ’age
auquel ils se livrent a des relations sexuelles est, en fait, de 14,1 ans
pour les gargons et de 14,5 ans pour les filles? Cela signifiera-t-il
que les enseignants seront encore moins susceptibles de montrer
aux étudiants les choses qu’ils doivent savoir?

M. Kissner : Nous avons la capacité de mettre a I’essai des
politiques sociales, et nous parlons d’inventivité. Par exemple,
nous pouvons nous adresser a nos bureaux d’aide sociale et
fournir plus de financement aux enfants pour qu’ils participent a
des activités comme du sport ou de la musique. Dans bien des
régions du pays, nous n’avons pas le financement nécessaire pour
permettre a bon nombre de ces jeunes de participer au genre
d’activités que ma fille pratique dans notre collectivité. C’est en
amenant les jeunes a participer et a nourrir une passion que nous
tissons nos réseaux sociaux.

A mon avis, nous devrions, & tout le moins, financer des projets
pilotes a la grandeur du pays, pour mettre a 1’essai différentes
idées et pour en inventer d’autres. Les gens se soucient réellement
du sort des enfants; du point de vue de l'aide sociale, nous
sommes heureux d’essayer. Si quelque chose finit par porter fruit
a petite échelle, tout le monde ’appuiera car nous épargnerons
tous de l’argent.

Ce sont la les enfants a risque. Ce que nous constatons, c’est
que les enfants sont guidés par leurs émotions et leur état
physiologique. IIs ne réfléchissent pas avant de passer a I’action.
Comment les prendre en charge? En les faisant participer a des
activités physiques pour les amener a adopter d’autres habitudes.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Il s’agit d’une question trés controversée.
Vous avez fait, tous les trois, des exposés qui méritent le respect,
compte tenu de vos connaissances.

Je souhaite dire publiquement, encore une fois, que le projet de
loi C-22, qui fait partie du projet de loi C-2, avait été adopté par
la Chambre des communes et est mort au Feuilleton au Sénat
au moment de la prorogation. Les membres de la Chambre des
communes avaient entendu, dans certains cas, des enfants, mais
surtout des parents — et jen profite pour faire un peu la
promotion des grands-parents parce que j’en suis un; les témoins
avaient exprimé leur préoccupation concernant cette question
et la capacité d’un jeune de 14 ans de prendre une décision
raisonnable et éclairée pour ce qui est des activités sexuelles. C’est
en réponse aux opinions exprimées fermement par de nombreux
Canadiens que I'on a rédigé le projet de loi C-22, qui a fini par se
retrouver dans le projet de loi C-2.

Je dois, moi aussi, convenir que ce projet de loi ne réglera pas
tous les problémes. Il n’y a aucun doute la-dessus. Il ne s’agit que
d’un outil parmi tant d’autres a utiliser pour traiter cette question
chargée d’émotion et controversée. Je crois que, de I’avis général,
ce projet de loi, s’il est adopté, sera utile pour s’assurer que moins
de jeunes filles et, dans certains cas, de jeunes gargons deviennent
victimes.
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My question is in regard to statistics presented to us by the
Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics. In their presentation, they
talked about the increase of sexual offences since 2003. Although
there had been some decrease in the previous 10 years, there
has been an increase since 2003. I was struck by two items in
their testimony. They say that girls aged 12 to 14 are the most
vulnerable group for these offences. When I asked the question,
they also said to me that their survey, their information gathering,
was restricted to kids under 14. They do not have statistics
for 15-year-olds and 16-year-olds because they were only
concerned with that age because of the age of consent the way
it exists today. Are those statistics supported by your experiences,
that is to say, that girls between 12 and 14 are most vulnerable
for these sexual offences?

Dr. Lamont: I cannot comment other than to say that, in my
experience, being able to make an informed choice or give
informed consent is not age related at all. In my clinical practice,
I meet 12-year-olds who are quite capable of making informed
consent, and I meet some 20-year-olds or 30-year-olds that I have
a struggle with to help them make an informed consent. The idea
of a magical age when suddenly people can make an informed
consent, when they cannot the day before, is a bit artificial.

In terms of offences, that is out of my area of expertise entirely.

Mr. Kissner: There is a transition that happens at schools
roughly about that time. We lose about 3 per cent of Canadian
children between elementary and high school. We keep statistics
after kids go into Grade 8, but I am not aware of many studies
that actually try to find out where these kids go.

We do know that it is a time when kids are subjected to
bullying and social exclusion. Who are the people who are
targeted? They are the people who are socially excluded. To the
degree that we increase social inclusion, it makes a huge
difference. Whether this is done by defining age categories or
not, if you try to use a simple solution to a complex problem,
you can create greater problems. There probably is a simple,
better solution.

Senator Di Nino: I want to deal with another aspect of that
testimony that I found disturbing. On this issue, the presenter told
us that only 8 per cent of the potential market, which is 12-year-
olds to 14-year-olds, responded. Do youth who may be engaged in
sexual activity, willingly or otherwise, have difficulty speaking
about it? Eight per cent is a very small number.

Mr. Kissner: We are having trouble understanding the statistic
you are using.

Senator Di Nino: When the study was done, only 8 per cent of
those who they asked to participate responded. Is this normal?
Is this what one would expect? It surprised me that such a low
percentage responded.

Ma question porte sur les statistiques qui nous ont été
présentées par le Centre canadien de la statistique juridique.
Dans leur exposé, les représentants du Centre ont parlé de
l’augmentation du nombre d’infractions sexuelles depuis 2003.
Malgré une certaine baisse enregistrée au cours des dix derniéres
années, on connait une hausse depuis 2003. J’ai été étonné par
deux points mentionnés dans leur témoignage. Ils ont dit que les
filles agées de 12 a 14 ans étaient le groupe le plus vulnérable
pour ces infractions. Lorsque j’ai posé une question a ce sujet,
ils ont ajouté que, pour leur enquéte, la collecte d’information
s’était limitée aux jeunes de moins de 14 ans. Ils ne disposent
pas de statistiques pour les jeunes de 15 ans ni de 16 ans; ils se
sont penchés uniquement sur cet age parce qu’il s’agit de I’age
du consentement en vigueur aujourd’hui. Ces statistiques
correspondent-elles a vos expériences, c’est-a-dire que les filles
agées de 12 a 14 ans sont-elles les plus vulnérables face a ces
infractions sexuelles?

Dr Lamont : Tout ce que je peux dire, c’est que d’aprés mon
expérience, la capacité de faire un choix avisé ou de donner un
consentement éclairé n’a rien a voir avec I’dge. Dans mon cabinet,
je rencontre des jeunes de 12 ans qui sont tout a fait aptes a
donner un consentement éclairé et des adultes de 20 ou de 30 ans
que j’ai beaucoup de mal a aider a le faire. L’idée qu’il existe un
age magique ou les gens peuvent soudainement donner un
consentement éclairé, alors qu’ils ne le pouvaient pas la veille,
est un peu artificielle.

Pour ce qui est des infractions, cela dépasse totalement mon
domaine de compétence.

M. Kissner : Une transition s’effectue dans les écoles a peu
prés a cette période. Nous perdons environ 3 p. 100 des enfants
canadiens entre 1’école primaire et secondaire. Nous tenons des
statistiques aprés que les enfants commencent la 8° année, mais je
ne suis pas au courant d’un grand nombre d’études qui cherchent
a savoir ou vont ces enfants.

Nous savons que c’est une période ou des enfants sont victimes
d’intimidation et d’exclusion sociale. Qui sont les personnes
ciblées? Celles qui sont exclues socialement. Dans la mesure ou
nous renforgons I’inclusion sociale, cela contribue énormément a
changer les choses. Que ce soit fait en définissant des catégories
d’age ou non, si on essaie d’appliquer une solution simple a un
probléme complexe, on peut créer de plus grands problémes.
1l existe probablement une solution meilleure et plus simple.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je veux aborder un autre aspect de ce
témoignage que j’ai trouvé inquiétant. Le témoin nous a dit a ce
sujet que seulement § p. 100 du marché potentiel, soit les 12 a
14 ans, ont répondu. Les jeunes qui se livrent peut-étre a des
activités sexuelles, de gré ou de force, ont-ils du mal a en parler?
Huit pour cent, c’est trés peu.

M. Kissner : Nous avons de la difficult¢é a comprendre la
statistique que vous utilisez.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Quand I’étude a été menée, seulement
8 p. 100 des jeunes a qui I'on a demandé de participer ont
répondu. Est-ce normal? Est-ce ce a quoi il faut s’attendre? J’ai été
étonné qu’un pourcentage aussi faible de participants ait répondu.
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Mr. Kissner: You would have to look at the methodology.
We can increase cooperation. You can present two questions
and ask the participants to roll a dice to determine which one
they will answer. In that way you can increase participation
in embarrassing studies. The key is to look at the survey
methodology. Without knowing that, there is no way of
knowing why the response was so low.

Senator Di Nino: This study was done by professional people
who do this all the time.

My impression from the information we have received is that
the age-of-consent provisions will not solve all the problems, but
they will be helpful in solving part of the problem. Would you
agree?

Mr. Kissner: It will make a segment of the population safer. It
will cause greater risk for other segments of the population.

Senator Stratton: My questions are with respect to raising of
the age of consent and the exploitation of both male and female
youth. As Senator Di Nino said, this is just one tool and there are
many others that can and should be utilized and encouraged.
We are not disagreeing with that, but, as you have said, this will
indeed help to protect a certain segment of our society, which is
the intent of the legislation.

I am more concerned with the exploitation of youth in two
areas. One is exploitation through the Internet. My grandsons
love the Internet. They talk to their buddies over the Internet, and
there is always concern about what transpires there. Parents are
petrified.

I will give you a scenario to illustrate my other concern. I was
at an urgent care hospital last Friday and witnessed a young girl,
who is a single mom, being brought in by the police. She was
underage and had been drinking too much, and they arrested her
for assaulting and spitting at the police officers. One of the
officers was asking the young girl why she was hanging around
with the guy she was with, who they said was bad news. They were
very concerned.

If the law can protect one individual from a bad background,
why would we not do that? I realize that we must do what we can
to help the family of this girl, but we must also protect the girl by
raising the age of consent. Why would we not do that?

Dr. Lamont: In fact, this law will not protect that person. It
will punish an act that is committed, but it will not protect that
young woman from the decision she makes at her young age.

Senator Stratton: The girl was under the age of 16. If the police
knew that the individual exploiting her was older than 21, 22
or 23, more than five years older, they would have a tool to do
something about it. Why would we not do that?

Dr. Lamont: Again, they could use the law to punish him after
the fact.

Senator Stratton: They could threaten him. They could tell him
that if he touches that girl, they will come after him, before the
event. Why would we not do that?

M. Kissner : Il faudrait examiner la méthodologie. Nous
pouvons accroitre la coopération. On peut poser deux questions
et demander aux participants de lancer un dé pour déterminer a
laquelle ils répondront. De cette maniére, on peut augmenter la
participation lors d’études embarrassantes. Il s’agit d’examiner la
méthodologie d’enquéte. Autrement, il est impossible de savoir
pourquoi le taux de réponse a été aussi faible.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Cette étude a été effectuée par des
professionnels qui font cela tout le temps.

D’aprés linformation que nous avons regue, je crois
comprendre que les dispositions relatives a 1’dge du
consentement ne régleront pas tous les problémes, mais
contribueront a en résoudre une partie. Etes-vous d’accord?

M. Kissner : Elles protégeront davantage certaines personnes,
mais accroitront les risques pour d’autres.

Le sénateur Stratton : Mes questions portent sur le relévement
de I’age du consentement et I’exploitation des jeunes, garcons et
filles. Comme I’a dit le sénateur Di Nino, le projet de loi n’est
qu’un des nombreux outils que nous pouvons et devrions utiliser
et encourager. Nous ne le contestons pas mais, comme vous I’avez
mentionné, il aidera en effet a protéger un certain segment de
notre société, ce qui est I'intention du projet loi.

L’exploitation des jeunes me préoccupe davantage a deux
égards. Premiérement, il y a Dexploitation par Internet. Mes
petits-fils adorent Internet. Ils 'utilisent pour bavarder avec leurs
copains, et on craint toujours ce qui peut se produire. Les parents
sont morts de peur.

Je vais vous donner un exemple pour illustrer mon autre
inquiétude. Vendredi dernier, j’étais & un hopital de soins
d’urgence et j’ai vu des policiers accompagner une mineure,
meére célibataire. Elle avait trop bu. On I’a arrétée pour avoir
agressé des agents de police et leur avoir craché dessus. L’un des
agents a demandé a la jeune femme pourquoi elle fréquentait le
gars avec qui elle était; selon leur dire, ce dernier cherche les
ennuis. Ils étaient trés inquiets.

Si la loi peut protéger une personne contre les mauvaises
influences, pourquoi ne pas le faire? Je me rends compte que nous
devons faire tout ce que nous pouvons pour aider la famille de
cette jeune femme, mais nous devons aussi protéger cette derniére
en majorant ’dge du consentement. Pourquoi ne pas le faire?

Dr Lamont : A vrai dire, cette loi ne la protégera pas. Elle
prévoira des sanctions pour un acte commis, mais ne protégera
pas cette jeune femme contre la décision qu’elle prend a son age.

Le sénateur Stratton : La fille avait moins de 16 ans. Si les
policiers savaient que I'individu qui I'exploitait était 4gé de 21, 22
ou 23 ans, qu’il était son ainé de plus de cinq ans, ils disposeraient
d’un outil pour intervenir. Pourquoi ne pas le faire?

Dr Lamont : La encore, ils pourraient recourir a la loi pour le
punir aprés coup.

Le sénateur Stratton : Ils pourraient le menacer. Ils pourraient
lui dire qu’ils lui mettront la main au collet avant qu’il touche a
cette fille. Pourquoi ne pas le faire?
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Mr. Kissner: Your point is a good one. This is an incremental
improvement for some kids, but it will put other kids at
greater risk. We could do a much better job and include a
wider age range of kids. Simply by giving judicial discretion to
set aside consent, you would accomplish exactly what you talked
about, plus you could include more kids. In our framework,
the older person will befriend the younger person when they
are 14 or 15, and they will wait until their sixteenth birthday.
The problem is that you increase the concentration of risk for
kids who are 16 and 17.

Our point is not that this is not well-intentioned legislation. It
is that it could be better written and accomplish its goals much
better. We are not defending the current legislation at all.

The Chair: Ms. Downer, what do we know about the rate of
AIDS infection among the people who are the focus of this bill,
that is, young and middle teenagers?

Ms. Downer: The rate of infection among youth is quite low
in Canada. It is definitely increasing worldwide. The largest
percentage of people worldwide who are getting infected with
HIV are youth, which is a worrying trend for what could happen
in Canada. The rates of STIs are increasing, which is also a
worrying trend in relation to HIV.

The Chair: That all feeds into your concerns about education.

Ms. Downer: Absolutely.

The Chair: I am trying to grasp what the likely impact of the
age-of-consent provisions will be on the ground in terms of law
enforcement. Currently under the law for 12- and 13-year-olds
there is a close-in-age exemption of two years, and a bigger gap
than that is illegal for consensual sexual relations. I stress
“consensual”; I am not saying “exploitative.” Child prostitution
is a whole different thing, and no one in this room is here to
defend it.

What do we know about the way the law is applied for 12- and
13-year-olds now? If a 13-year-old has consensual sexual relations
with a 16-year-old, what happens? How many complaints are
laid in such situations? How many people are arrested and
charged?

Mr. Kissner: Although I used to teach criminology, that was
not my specific area and so I am not aware. I suspect it would
vary greatly by jurisdiction and community. Much of how people
react to things relates to the human elements.

Dr. Lamont: I am not aware that it has ever happened in the
last 35 years during which I have practised gynecology. If the
young woman knows about the law, she will avoid talking about
that when she comes for services. She will not tell us.

M. Kissner : Vous faites valoir un excellent argument.
I s’agit d’une légeére amélioration pour certains jeunes, mais
elle fera courir un risque plus grand a d’autres. Nous pourrions
faire un bien meilleur travail et élargir la fourchette d’age. Par le
simple fait d’octroyer le pouvoir discrétionnaire de mettre de coté
le consentement, vous feriez exactement ce que vous avez dit, et
vous pourriez englober un plus grand nombre d’enfants. Dans
notre systéme, la personne plus agée se liera d’amitié avec la plus
jeune, qui a 14 ou 15 ans, et ils attendront jusqu’a ce qu’elle ait
16 ans. Le hic, c’est que vous augmentez les risques pour les
jeunes de 16 et de 17 ans.

Nous ne disons pas que ce projet de loi n’est pas bien
intentionné, mais il pourrait étre mieux rédigé et pourrait
beaucoup mieux réaliser ses objectifs. Nous ne sommes pas du
tout en train de défendre la loi actuelle.

La présidente : Madame Downer, que sait-on sur 'incidence du
sida chez les personnes visées par ce projet de loi, c’est-a-dire les
jeunes et les adolescents?

Mme Downer : Tandis que le taux d’infection chez les jeunes
est trés faible au Canada, il augmente indéniablement dans le
monde entier. Le pourcentage le plus élevé de personnes dans
le monde qui contractent le VIH est enregistré chez les jeunes,
ce qui est une tendance inquiétante qui pourrait se manifester
au Canada. Les taux d’ITS sont en hausse, ce qui est aussi
préoccupant en ce qui concerne le VIH.

La présidente : Tout cela vient aviver vos inquiétudes en
matiére d’éducation.

Mme Downer : Absolument.

La présidente : J'essaie de comprendre quelles seront les
répercussions possibles des dispositions relatives a I’age du
consentement sur le terrain au chapitre de lapplication de la
loi. Conformément a la loi actuelle, une exemption de proximité
d’age de deux ans s’applique aux jeunes de 12 et de 13 ans et,
si la différence d’age est plus grande, les relations sexuelles
consentantes sont illégales. J'insiste sur le terme « consentantes »;
je ne dis pas « exploitantes ». La prostitution juvénile est une tout
autre histoire, et personne n’est ici pour le contester.

Que sait-on de la maniére dont la loi est actuellement appliquée
pour les jeunes de 12 et de 13 ans? Si un jeune de 13 ans a des
relations sexuelles consentantes avec un autre de 16 ans, que se
passe-t-il? Combien de personnes portent plainte dans de telles
situations? Combien de personnes sont arrétées et accusées?

M. Kissner : Méme si j’ai déja enseigné la criminologie, je ne le
sais pas, car ce n’était pas mon domaine de spécialité. Je présume
que le nombre varierait énormément selon l'instance et la
collectivité. La réaction des gens dépend énormément des
facteurs humains.

Dr Lamont : A ma connaissance, cela n’est jamais arrivé au
cours de mes 35 ans de carriére comme gynécologue. Si la jeune
femme connait la loi, elle évitera d’en parler lorsqu’elle viendra
pour obtenir des services. Elle ne nous le dira pas.
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The only case I have heard of in my adult life involved a
neighbour’s 14-year-old son who was having sex with a 19-year-
old student. The parents basically said that if he did not stop they
were going to go to the police. That was the only case I have ever
heard where it actually came out in public. In my professional life,
I have never been aware of any complaints.

The Chair: I will certainly want to pursue this line of
questioning with other witnesses as they come before us. I find
that extremely interesting. It would suggest that whatever the law
is in this area, it serves more as a sort of exhortation, a tablet or a
signpost than an actual law enforcement situation in the normal
way we think of things in the Criminal Code.

Senator Chaput: Would you have an idea of the percentage of
young people who will be helped by this bill and the percentage of
the others who, according to what I have just heard, the bill will
not help at all? Do you have an idea?

Dr. Lamont: Given my involvement in education and clinical
services, I only have an idea of who would not be helped. I know
that it will become a problem for a significant proportion of the
people for whom we care in terms of accessing these services
because of their age.

Senator Chaput: For those young people, what would be a
solution for them? Perhaps you said it before, but I want to make
sure I understand.

Dr. Lamont: At the moment, we are able to assess their ability
to give us informed consent using a third party. The age does not
matter. We are able to do that assessment and document the fact
that this person understands what they are asking for and what
the consequences are of the involvement in education or services.
If there is a strict rule that you have to be 16 to give consent, then
we will have to find consent in other places, like going to social
services or to parents. It will be a major problem in terms of
delivering that information or services to these people.

Senator Chaput: Did you have anything to add?

Mr. Kissner: It is a good question. It will go back to whether or
not children were involved in this research to determine this
legislation and how much data was prepared. I do not think there
was a lot of consultation with children and research in terms of
focus groups or otherwise to be able to point to an answer. My
guess would be that until it is done, no one will know.

If you think of it as a normal curve, we think kids in poverty
will be less served by this legislation. Kids who are more
disconnected will need the kind of services my colleagues
provide.

Le seul cas dont jai entendu parler dans ma vie adulte
concernait le fils de 14 ans d’un voisin qui avait des relations
sexuelles avec une étudiante de 19 ans. Essentiellement, les parents
I’ont prévenu que s’il ne cessait pas, ils s’adresseraient a la police.
C’était le seul cas dont j’avais entendu parler quand il a été rendu
public. Au cours de ma carriére, je n’ai jamais eu connaissance
d’aucune plainte.

La présidente : Je vais sans aucun doute vouloir poser le méme
genre de questions aux autres témoins qui comparaitront devant
nous. Ce sujet m’intéresse énormément. Peu importe la loi en
place dans ce domaine, elle sert davantage a exhorter, a pointer ou
a signaler en quelque sorte qu’a appliquer la loi dans une situation
réelle de la fagon dont nous interprétons normalement le Code
criminel.

Le sénateur Chaput : Avez-vous une idée du pourcentage de
jeunes que ce projet de loi aidera et de ceux, d’aprés ce que je viens
d’entendre, qu’il n’aidera pas du tout? Avez-vous une idée?

Dr Lamont : Compte tenu de mon expérience dans le domaine
de I’éducation et des services cliniques, j’ai juste une
idée des jeunes qu’il n’aidera pas. Je sais que cela deviendra un
probléme pour une grande proportion de gens que nous traitons
pour ce qui est de I’accés a ces services en raison de leur age.

Le sénateur Chaput : Quelle serait une solution pour ces jeunes?
Vous I'avez peut-étre déja dit, mais je veux m’assurer que je
comprends.

Dr Lamont: A T'heure actuelle, nous sommes en mesure
d’évaluer leur capacité de nous donner un consentement éclairé en
faisant appel a une tierce personne. L’adge n’importe pas. Nous
pouvons effectuer cette évaluation et documenter le fait que
cette personne comprend ce qu’elle demande et quelles sont les
répercussions sur 1’éducation ou les services. S’il existe une regle
stricte selon laquelle il faut avoir 16 ans pour accorder son
consentement, on devra obtenir le consentement ailleurs, en
passant par les services sociaux ou les parents, par exemple. Cela
posera un grand probléme pour fournir cette information et ces
services a ces personnes.

Le sénateur Chaput : Aviez-vous autre chose a dire?

M. Kissner : C’est une bonne question. Cela reviendra a
déterminer si des enfants ont bel et bien participé a cette
recherche pour décider du sort du projet de loi et établir la
quantité de données qui a été préparée. Je ne crois pas que
beaucoup de consultations avec des enfants et de recherches ont
été effectuées pour que des groupes de discussion notamment
puissent trouver une réponse. Je suppose que personne ne le saura
avant que ce soit fait.

Si vous considérez que c’est une courbe normale, nous pensons
que les enfants vivant dans la pauvreté seront les moins bien
protégés par la mesure législative. Les enfants les plus isolés
auront besoin du type de services offerts par mes collégues.
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Senator Andreychuk: Vulnerable youth is a whole study that
deserves attention. We in the Senate have studied, just from the
point of view of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child,
the needs of children in Canada. There are many of them, and by
no means was that an exhaustive list.

If T understand this legislation, it is not legislation geared
toward the child saying that when they become a teenager and are
exploring sexual activity they may or may not want to tell. We
have the problems of them getting good education, getting help
that they need. This legislation is saying that because they are
young, because they are exploring, because they are not the full
age of majority, they are vulnerable from adults. The legislation is
meant to deal with the adult behaviour toward the child. That is
my take on it.

If I understand the position that both of you have expressed, it
is that we may be going some way to helping 14- and 15-year-olds.
Time will tell. The provisions in Bill C-2 will help them in the
sense of deterring or stopping the adult getting at them. That is
what we are after. The child is vulnerable every time in those
situations. What I hear being advocated is that we should have
included it and put it to age 18. Time will tell there.

I do not know if you want to respond. Those comments flowed
from what the chair was saying.

With respect to AIDS and the difficulties regarding
transmittable diseases, it seems to me that in Canada we need
to do a lot more educating. We think we have done quite a bit,
but then we drop our attention because of other competing
areas.

Ms. Downer, when you talk about kids being vulnerable,
is it not true that everyone needs more education with respect
to HIV? I recently saw statistics dealing with prostitution that
said so much of it is going on without condoms. Every time
I turn around we are not protecting ourselves. We have heard
about more sexual activity in aging populations and their
misunderstanding or lack of knowledge about the issue of
AIDS in Canada. Is your plea for more education for everyone?
That is really the issue.

Ms. Downer: Yes. I would say that clearly everyone needs
more education around HIV. Our concern around the provisions
in Bill C-2 is that if parents and the general community do
not know enough, then students will be getting it in school,
primarily. We know it is inconsistent there. We are concerned
that if you raise the age of consent to 16 and we know that
youth are having sex at 14, will our teachers be even less willing
to provide the education that youth need around HIV/AIDS
and other STIs? If the age of consent is raised to 16, then
according to the law they should not practise sex. Would teachers
be even less willing to teach students? Would there be that sort
of disconnect?

Senator Andreychuk: Are you saying there is hesitancy now
and it may increase?

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Les jeunes vulnérables constituent
une tout autre étude qui mérite qu’on s’y attarde. Au Sénat, nous
avons étudié les besoins des enfants du Canada, uniquement du
point de vue de la Convention des droits de I’enfant des Nations
Unies. Ils sont nombreux, et ¢’était loin d’étre une liste exhaustive.

Si je comprends bien ce projet de loi, il ne vise pas a obliger un
enfant qui, a I’adolescence, se livre a une activité sexuelle, a le dire.
Les problémes qui se posent, c’est que nous voulons que ces
enfants regoivent une bonne éducation et I'aide dont ils ont
besoin. Ce projet de loi dit que parce qu’ils sont jeunes, parce
qu’ils explorent, parce qu’ils n’ont pas atteint I’age de la majorité,
ils sont vulnérables face aux adultes. Il porte sur la conduite des
adultes a ’égard des enfants. C’est ainsi que je vois les choses.

Si je comprends votre position & tous les deux, nous pouvons
aider dans une certaine mesure les jeunes de 14 et de 15 ans. Le
temps nous le dira. Les dispositions du projet de loi C-2 les
aideront en dissuadant ou en empéchant les adultes de profiter
d’eux. C’est ce que nous cherchons a faire. L’enfant est vulnérable
a tout coup dans ces situations. D’aprés ce que j’entends, on fait
valoir que nous aurions di I'inclure et le faire passer a 18 ans. Le
temps nous le dira.

Je ne sais pas si vous voulez répondre. Ces observations
découlent des propos de la présidente.

En ce qui a trait au sida et aux difficultés liées aux
maladies transmissibles, je pense qu’il faut faire davantage de
sensibilisation au Canada. Nous croyons en avoir fait beaucoup,
mais nous cessons ensuite d’y porter attention parce que d’autres
sujets nous interpellent.

Madame Downer, vous parlez des enfants vulnérables, mais
n’est-il pas vrai que tout le monde a besoin d’étre mieux renseigné
au sujet du VIH? J’ai vu récemment des statistiques qui révélaient
que la prostitution se fait trés souvent sans condom. J’apprends
de toutes parts qu'on ne se protége pas. Nous avons entendu
parler de I'activité sexuelle accrue chez les ainés, qui comprennent
ou connaissent mal le probléme du sida au Canada. Lancez-vous
un appel pour que tout le monde soit mieux sensibilisé? C’est ¢a,
la vraie question.

Mme Downer : Oui. Je dirais que tout le monde a clairement
besoin d’étre mieux renseigné sur le VIH. Ce qui nous préoccupe
concernant les dispositions du projet de loi C-2, c’est que si les
parents et la collectivité en général n’en savent pas assez, les éléves
acquerront ces connaissances principalement a I’école. Nous
savons que c’est incohérent. Si vous portez ’age du consentement
a 16 ans, et nous savons que des jeunes sont actifs sexuellement a
14 ans, nos enseignants seront-ils moins disposés a leur offrir
I’éducation dont ils ont besoin sur le VIH/sida et d’autres ITS?
Voila ce que nous craignons. Si on reléve I’dge du consentement a
16 ans, les jeunes ne devront alors pas se livrer a des activités
sexuelles, conformément a la loi. Les enseignants seront-il encore
moins disposés a offrir cette éducation aux éléves? Ce type de
coupure se produira-t-il?

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Etes-vous en train de dire qu’ils
manifestent des réticences actuellement et qu’elles pourraient
augmenter?
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Ms. Downer: Absolutely. There is a huge inconsistency across
communities.

Senator Andreychuk: We should be attacking the hesitancy
that exists now. In other words, I think we should be making
Canadians aware, and particularly young people.

Ms. Downer: Absolutely.

Dr. Lamont: To expand the question to other STIs, we see a
high rate of chlamydia in the 15 to 24 age group, but two thirds of
the cases occur in the younger group and they only make up
14 per cent of the population. This is a particularly vulnerable
group to the whole range of STIs, and the same issues apply in
terms of education and access to services.

Although you have said that this legislation is aimed at getting
the adult, the consequences are for the young folks who may not
then be able to access this care.

Senator Andreychuk: You are saying they are not getting
it now.

Dr. Lamont: They can get it now, though. That is the issue.
They can access care and we can treat them now. The legislation
may be aimed at getting the adult perpetrator, but it will have a
direct effect on the adolescents we are trying to take care of.

Senator Cowan: The unintended consequences may be the more
important part of it.

Dr. Lamont: They are for me.

Senator Cowan: The age of consent for exploitive sex is now 18.
There is no change because it is already 18. The law already
provides sanctions for many of the horrific examples that we hear
and read about. The problem is that it is not preventing the crime
from taking place and it is not protecting the victims of crime.

Surely we are placing the emphasis at the wrong end of
things. We should be emphasizing more protection, which
involves education, encouragement and more resources being
made available to enforcement agencies rather than simply
concentrating on raising an age and assuming that some magic
will come of it.

Given what I have heard from you today, it seems to me that
this by itself may or may not be a good thing, but the unintended
consequences, in your minds, outweigh any advantage in the real
or perceived protection afforded by raising the age of consent.
Is that correct?

Mr. Kissner: Yes.

Senator Merchant: With respect to the exception made to allow
young people to marry even when one is under the age of 16 and
the other is more than five years older, on the one hand we are
saying that people under 16 are incapable of making a decision to
enter into a sexual relationship with someone more than five years
older, and on the other hand we are saying that it is possible for
them to marry. Might this force young people into marriage
before they are ready to enter into that kind of relationship?

Mme Downer : Absolument. Il y a d’énormes divergences
d’une collectivité a 'autre.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Nous devrions nous attaquer aux
réticences qui existent maintenant. Autrement dit, je crois que
nous devrions sensibiliser les Canadiens, et plus particuliérement
les jeunes.

Mme Downer : Absolument.

Dr Lamont : Pour étendre la question a d’autres ITS, nous
observons un taux élevé de chlamydia chez les jeunes de 15 a
24 ans, mais les deux tiers des cas sont enregistrés chez les plus
jeunes, qui ne représentent que 14 p. 100 de la population. Ce
groupe est particuliérement a risque de contracter toute la gamme
des ITS, et les mémes problémes s’appliquent pour ce qui est de
I’éducation et de Iacces aux services.

Méme si vous avez dit que ce projet de loi vise a atteindre les
adultes, ce sont les jeunes, qui n’auront peut-étre pas acceés aux
soins par la suite, qui en subiront les conséquences.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous dites qu’ils n’y ont pas acces
maintenant.

Dr Lamont : Ils peuvent y avoir acces, cependant. C’est ¢a le
probléme. Ils peuvent avoir accés aux soins et nous pouvons les
traiter a I’heure actuelle. Le projet de loi peut viser peut-étre les
auteurs de crimes adultes, mais il aura un effet direct sur les
adolescents dont nous essayons de nous occuper.

Le sénateur Cowan: Les conséquences involontaires
constituent peut-étre le nceud du probléme.

Dr Lamont : C’est ce que je crois.

Le sénateur Cowan: L’adge du consentement aux activités
sexuelles de nature exploitante est maintenant fixé a 18 ans. La loi
prévoit déja des sanctions pour un grand nombre des cas horribles
dont nous entendons parler. Le probléme, c’est qu’elle n’empéche
pas la perpétration du crime, ni ne protége les victimes.

Chose certaine, nous ne mettons pas I’accent a la bonne place.
Nous devrions nous attarder davantage sur la protection, y
compris I’¢éducation, le soutien et ’augmentation des ressources
mises a la disposition des organismes d’application de la loi, au
lieu de simplement relever un age et de présumer que la situation
s’améliorera comme par enchantement.

D’aprés ce que vous avez dit aujourd’hui, je pense que le
projet de loi méme peut ou non étre une bonne chose, mais
les conséquences involontaires, a votre avis, I’emportent sur
n’importe quel avantage lié a la protection réelle ou pergue
qu’offrira le relévement de ’age du consentement. Est-ce exact?

M. Kissner : Oui.

Le sénateur Merchant : Parlons de I’exception visant a
permettre a des jeunes de se marier méme si I'un d’eux a moins
de 16 ans et I'autre est son ainé de plus de cinq ans. D’une part,
nous disons qu’un jeune de moins de 16 ans est inapte a prendre la
décision de se livrer a des activités sexuelles avec quelqu’un qui est
son ainé de plus de cinq ans et, d’autre part, nous disons qu’il peut
se marier. Cette exception ne risque-t-elle pas de pousser les jeunes
a se marier avant d’étre préts pour ce genre de relation?
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Dr. Lamont: I was not aware that one could consent to marry
at the age of 16.

Senator Merchant: I think that has come up before in
discussion.

The Chair: Yes, in some provinces. It varies according to
jurisdiction.

Dr. Lamont: That is quite an ironic issue, that you could
consent to marry but you could not consent to sexual activity.

Senator Merchant: Yes.

I have read some material that was sent to us by the Coalition
for Lesbian and Gay Rights in Ontario. They feel that the
application of the law may disproportionately target certain
segments of society, and they are concerned. Do you think that
people would be more likely to report a lesbian or gay
relationship while they may ignore a heterosexual relationship
because of the attached stigma? Ms. Downer, do you have any
feelings or information in this regard?

Ms. Downer: I know that other organizations presenting to you
later in the week will have more information on that question.

I certainly know that gay and lesbian relationships are treated
differently from heterosexual relationships. You will see that the
close-in-age exemption might not be appropriate for those sorts of
relationships because sometimes the relationships they engage in,
given the small group of youth who do come out as homosexual,
might not have the same pool of people from which to draw their
sexual partners. You will see a differential treatment of those
relationships.

Mr. Kissner: It is a frequency argument. If you live in a small
town and there are only a few people who are gay and you are
15 years of age, it is possible you could become involved in
sexual exploration with a 22-year-old. In that sense, they could
be right.

Senator Oliver: When I listened to the three papers that were
presented and to the questions and a number of the answers that
you gave, [ was struck by the fact that Bill C-2 — not Bill C-22 —
is a proposed federal statute that amends the Criminal Code,
which is a federal statute. A number of the questions and a
number of the responses dealt with matters that were not
federal in jurisdiction but were provincial matters under our
Constitution. Under our Constitution, things like property, civil
rights and education are matters for the province to legislate.

As Senator Merchant indicated, the solemnization of marriage
is a provincial matter and not a federal one. Bill C-2 is designed to
deal with amendments to the code to protect children from, as
Senator Andreychuk has said, adults and seniors.

However, I think that much of the evidence today concerns
issues that will have to be dealt with by the provinces because they
fall within the regime of the provincial governments; that is,
the education of children in relation to the matters you have
discussed.

Dr Lamont : J’ignorais qu’on pouvait se marier a I’dge de
16 ans.

Le sénateur Merchant : Je crois qu’il en a été question plus tot
dans la discussion.

La présidente : Oui, dans certaines provinces. Cela varie selon
I'instance.

Dr Lamont : 11 est trés ironique que 1’on puisse consentir au
mariage, mais pas aux relations sexuelles.

Le sénateur Merchant : Oui.

Jai lu quelques documents que la Coalition pour les droits des
lesbiennes et des personnes gaies en Ontario nous a envoyés. Elle
croit que 'application de la loi peut viser exagérément certains
segments de la société, ce qui la préoccupe. A cause des préjugés
associés, croyez-vous que les gens seront plus susceptibles de
signaler une relation lesbienne ou gaie et de passer sous silence
une relation hétérosexuelle? Madame Downer, avez-vous une
opinion ou de I'information a cet égard?

Mme Downer : Je sais que d’autres organisations qui
comparaitront plus tard cette semaine auront plus
d’information sur cette question.

Je sais pertinemment que 'on traite les relations gaies et
lesbiennes différemment des relations hétérosexuelles. Vous
constaterez que ’exemption de proximité d’age pourrait ne pas
convenir a ces types de relations, car les jeunes homosexuels,
vu qu’ils sont peu nombreux, ne disposent pas du méme bassin
de personnes pour trouver leurs partenaires sexuels. Vous
remarquerez que ces relations sont traitées différemment.

M. Kissner : C’est une question de proportion. Si un jeune de
15 ans vit dans une petite ville ou il n’y a que quelques personnes
gaies, il pourrait se livrer a des activités d’exploration sexuelle
avec un jeune de 22 ans. En ce sens, la Coalition pourrait avoir
raison.

Le sénateur Oliver : A écouter vos exposés et vos nombreuses
réponses aux questions qu’on vous a posées, j’'ai été frappé par le
fait que le projet de loi C-2 — et non pas le projet de loi C-22 —
est une loi fédérale proposée qui modifie le Code criminel, qui
est une loi fédérale. Un certain nombre de question et de
réponses portaient sur des sujets qui ne relevaient pas du fédéral,
mais plutot des provinces. En vertu de notre Constitution, les
provinces légiferent en matiére de propriété, de droits civils et
d’éducation.

Comme I’a indiqué le sénateur Merchant, la célébration du
mariage est du ressort des provinces et non pas du fédéral.
Le projet de loi C-2 vise a modifier le Code pour protéger les
enfants contre les adultes et les ainés, comme I’a dit le sénateur
Andreychuk.

Toutefois, je pense qu'une grande partie des témoignages
aujourd’hui concerne des problémes qui devront étre réglés
par les provinces puisqu’ils relévent de leur compétence, en
I’occurrence 1’éducation des enfants sur les sujets dont vous
avez discuté.
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Would you agree that we do have a division of powers in
Canada in that some aspects are federal, some are provincial and
occasionally there is an overlap?

Mr. Kissner: Yes. To be clear, all we are saying is that we had
singular legislation. The federal government is assuming it can
add more water to the glass without diluting the response, both in
the clarity of law enforcement terms and whether or not there is
clarity across the spectrum and some kids are harmed.

All we are saying is that we need a second glass. We need to
keep the first one, and we need to do something for adolescents
that is slightly different and that could have occurred within the
legislation through setting aside informed consent in those cases
where the judiciary believes exploitation has occurred. That
would have been a very simple thing to do, and it would have
made things better for everyone. It was within the power of the
federal government.

Senator Oliver: However, I have heard you also say that several
aspects of this bill are good with in fact some improvements and
advancements to them, and you would like to have seen it go
further.

Mr. Kissner: It is really a different lens depending on how you
look at it. If you are looking at it from the ground, as Dr. Lamont
was saying, after the fact you will come back with a certain
response.

You may say this law is not working, so if we only did this, it
would be fixed. We are saying that if you do that, then look at the
broader perspective and see that what you are really trying to do
is to protect kids. Realize that there is a whole different group of
people that actually exploits adolescents, and then come back
with a law that will protect kids from pedophiles. By changing the
law in this way, we can reach a broader range of kids and have it
work better for everybody. Their interests are met, our interests
are met, everyone’s interests are met.

Senator Oliver: However, for the educational component that
you have discussed at length, that is a matter for the provinces
because it is not within the jurisdiction of the federal government.

Mr. Kissner: Yes, for the educational aspect. However, in
terms of welfare, social innovativeness and experimentation,
I think that can occur through the federal government.

Senator Cowan: | was listening to Senator Oliver talk about the
division of responsibilities being with the federal and provincial
governments, and I addressed that earlier. Clearly, education in
schools is a responsibility for the provincial government, but there
is certainly broad public health education that could be addressed
by Health Canada. Many of the things we are talking about here
could be the subject of health education programs run by Health
Canada, presumably in cooperation with provincial jurisdictions.
However, it is not solely and simply a provincial jurisdiction.
Would you agree?

Dr. Lamont: Absolutely.

Convenez-vous que nous avons un partage des pouvoirs
au Canada en ce sens que certains aspects relevent du fédéral
et d’autres, du provincial, et quil y a un chevauchement a
I’occasion?

M. Kissner : Oui. Que ce soit clair : tout ce que nous disons,
c’est que nous avions une loi pour tout le monde. Le
gouvernement fédéral présume qu’il peut ajouter de ’eau dans
le verre sans diluer la réaction, tant pour ce qui est de la clarté au
niveau de I’application de la loi que pour savoir s’il y a clarté a la
grandeur et si des jeunes subissent des préjudices.

Tout ce que nous disons, c’est qu’il nous faut un deuxiéme
verre. Il faut garder le premier verre et faire quelque chose de
légérement différent pour les adolescents, ce qui aurait pu étre fait
dans le cadre de la mesure législative en mettant de coté le
consentement éclairé dans les cas ou I’appareil judiciaire croit
qu’il y a eu exploitation. Cela aurait été trés simple a faire et
aurait amélioré les choses pour tout le monde. Le gouvernement
fédéral en avait le pouvoir.

Le sénateur Oliver : Toutefois, je vous ai aussi entendu dire
que plusieurs aspects du projet de loi sont bons et qu’en fait ils
représentent des améliorations et des progres, et que vous
aimeriez qu’il aille encore plus loin.

M. Kissner : L’optique est vraiment différente selon I’angle ou
I'on se place. Si vous examinez les répercussions sur le terrain,
comme le Dr Lamont le disait, vous obtiendrez une certaine
réaction, apres coup.

Vous dites peut-étre que cette loi ne fonctionne pas, mais que le
probléme serait réglé simplement en faisant cela. Si vous le faites,
nous vous conseillons d’examiner la perspective d’ensemble et de
vous assurer que votre but, c’est vraiment de protéger les jeunes.
Soyez conscients qu’il existe un groupe de gens totalement
différents qui exploitent les adolescents, et revenez avec une loi
qui protégera les enfants contre les pédophiles. En modifiant la
loi de cette fagon, nous pouvons englober un plus vaste éventail
d’enfants et faire en sorte qu’elle répond mieux aux intéréts de
tous, tant aux nétres qu’aux leurs.

Le sénateur Oliver : Toutefois, la question d’éducation dont
vous avez longuement discuté reléve des provinces, car le
gouvernement fédéral n’a pas compétence en la matiére.

M. Kissner : Oui. Toutefois, pour ce qui est d’offrir une aide,
d’innover au niveau social et d’expérimenter, je crois que le
gouvernement fédéral peut jouer ce role.

Le sénateur Cowan : J’écoutais le sénateur Oliver parler du
partage des responsabilités entre les gouvernements fédéral et
provinciaux, et jen ai d’ailleurs parlé plus tot. L’éducation dans
les écoles reléve clairement du gouvernement provincial, mais
Santé Canada pourrait certainement s’occuper d’éducation
générale en matiére de santé publique. Bien des sujets dont nous
discutons ici pourraient faire I’objet de programmes d’éducation
en matiére de santé dirigés par Santé Canada, vraisemblablement
en collaboration avec les instances provinciales. Toutefois, cette
responsabilité ne reléve pas uniquement de la province. Etes-vous
d’accord?

Dr Lamont : Absolument.
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Mr. Kissner: In addition, most of the kids who need this
education are actually not in school. That is why you want some
kind of a federal agency involved.

The Chair: Thank you all very much indeed. It has been an
extremely interesting and very helpful session for us. We are
grateful to you.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 20, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, An Act to amend the
Criminal code and to make consequential amendments to other
acts, met this day at 2:02 p.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

[English)

The Chair: Honourable senators, I see a quorum. The
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
is continuing its study of Bill C-2, An Act to amend the Criminal
Code and to make consequential amendments to other acts.

This afternoon we are fortunate to have with us, from the
Canadian Society of Forensic Sciences, Mr. Randy Prokopanko.
Alcohol Test Committee; and from the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police, Sergeant Robert Martin; Training Facilitator of the Drug
Evaluation and Classification Program.

Thank you both for being with us. This is an important part of
a large and complex bill. Please proceed.

Randy Prokopanko, Alcohol Test Committee, Canadian Society
of Forensic Sciences: Honourable senators, I will begin by
introducing the Alcohol Test Committee for those of you not
familiar with the Canadian Society of Forensic Sciences Alcohol
Test Committee, to perhaps help you understand why we feel we
are in a position to assist you with this particular bill.

The Canadian Society of Forensic Sciences, CSFS, established
a special committee on breath testing in 1967 to study scientific,
technical, and law enforcement aspects of breath tests for
alcohol. The society believed it was important to emphasize that
the determination of blood alcohol concentrations by means of
breath tests is a scientific process and, for that reason, must be
performed according to proper scientific practices and standards
established by scientists with specific knowledge of the subject.

With this focus, the CSFS committee developed recommended
procedures for the performance of breath tests as well as
minimum standards for training police officers in the use of
equipment, for the administration of a breath test program,
and for the materials to be used with the equipment.

M. Kissner : En outre, la plupart des enfants qui ont besoin de
cette éducation ne sont pas a 1’école. Voila pourquoi on veut
qu'un organisme fédéral quelconque intervienne.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. La séance a été extrémement
intéressante et utile pour nous. Nous vous en sommes
reconnaissants.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le mercredi 20 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-2, Loi
modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois en conséquence, se
réunit aujourd’hui a 14 h 2 pour étudier le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Joan Fraser (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La présidente : Honorables sénateurs, nous avons le quorum.
Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles poursuit donc son étude du projet de loi C-2,
Loi modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois en conséquence.

Cet aprés-midi, nous avons le plaisir d’accueillir parmi nous
M. Randy Prokopanko, Comité des analyses d’alcool de la
Société canadienne des sciences judiciaires, et le Sergent Robert
Martin, facilitateur a I’entrainement du Programme de la
classification et de I’évaluation des drogues de la Gendarmerie
royale du Canada.

Merci a tous les deux de votre présence parmi nous. Nous
examinons aujourd’hui une partie importante d’un projet de loi
vaste et complexe. La parole est a vous.

Randy Prokopanko, Comité des analyses d’alcool, Société
canadienne des sciences judiciaires : Honorables sénateurs, je
vous parlerai d’abord du Comité des analyses d’alcool, au cas ou
certains d’entre vous ne connaitraient pas cette unité de la Société
canadienne des sciences judiciaires. Cela vous aidera peut-étre a
comprendre pourquoi, a notre avis, nous sommes bien placés
pour vous éclairer par rapport a ce projet de loi.

C’est en 1967 que la Société canadienne des sciences judiciaires,
la SCSJ, a mis sur pied un comité spécial des analyses d’haleine
afin d’étudier les aspects scientifiques, techniques et d’exécution
de la loi des alcotests fondés sur les analyses d’haleine. La société
estimait qu’il était important de souligner le caractére scientifique
du processus de dépistage de ’alcoolémie au moyen des analyses
d’haleine, et que, partant, I’analyse devait étre administrée selon
des normes et des usages scientifiques ayant obtenu la caution des
scientifiques spécialisés en la matiére.

Compte tenu de cela, le comité de la SCSJ a congu des
procédures a suivre dans ’administration des analyses d’haleine
ainsi que des normes minimales a respecter dans la formation des
agents chargés d’utiliser ce matériel, dans I’administration du
programme des analyses d’haleine et dans I’entretien du matériel.
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These standards were published in December 1969, coincident
with the introduction of the so-called “Breathalyzer” laws in
Canada. As a result of these initial contributions to the
development of a high standard of practice, the widely
recognized expertise of the society and the members of the
committee, the Department of Justice invited the CSFS
committee, originally known as the “breath test committee,” to
be its principal scientific adviser on matters related to breath
testing, a function that has continued to this day.

Over many years, the breath test committee kept abreast of
advancements in breath test technology, changes in Criminal
Code legislation and various issues surrounding breath testing.
Some highlights include the introduction of roadside screening
devices, the advent of automated breath test instrumentation,
mobile breath testing and provisions to demand blood samples.
The latter issue demonstrates the broadening interests of the
committee and its name was changed to the Alcohol Test
Committee in 1985.

Today there are two major roles of the Alcohol Test
Committee. The first concerns development of standards that
new instruments, screening devices and containers must meet.
These standards include recommended evaluation procedures
and guidelines by which evaluations of new equipment will be
performed. This ensures that any new equipment that requires
approval within the Criminal Code, not only meets rigid
specifications but that the manner in which the evaluation
occurs is consistent.

The second major role is to develop standards and procedures
for the implementation and use of approved instruments and
screening devices. This encompasses comprehensive
recommendations on alcohol solutions used to check accuracy,
on training, maintenance and operation, as well as on the roles
and qualifications of key personnel involved in the administration
of a breath test program.

I have been a member of the Alcohol Test Committee for a
little over 13 years now and I have served as chair of the
committee on two separate occasions. I have just passed on
the chair of a subcommittee dealing with maintenance and
modification issues to new breath test equipment within the
Alcohol Test Committee, and we are all involved with the
evaluation or development of standards for the recommended
standards and procedures.

If I can turn my hat sideways, in my day job I am a civilian
member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, I am presently
serving as the national breath test program coordinator.
My role involves primarily coordinating the national forensic
resources in support of breath test programs across Canada, not
only RCMP but also municipal partners, city police, Canada
Border Services Agency, any breath test program in the country

Ces normes ont été publiées en décembre 1969, date qui a
coincidé avec la mise en ceuvre au Canada des lois relatives a
I'« éthylométre ». A la suite de ces premiers efforts déployés afin
de favoriser une administration de ’analyse d’haleine qui respecte
les normes les plus élevées, la compétence de la société et des
membres du comité a été généralement reconnue, et par
conséquent, le ministére de la Justice a invité ces derniers a agir
a titre de principaux conseillers scientifiques par rapport aux
analyses d’haleine, fonction qu’ils conservent jusqu’a ce jour.

Au fil des ans, le comité des analyses d’haleine s’est tenu au
courant des progrés technologiques réalisés en matiére de
dépistage respiratoire, des amendements au Code criminel et de
diverses autres questions relatives aux analyses d’haleine.
Mentionnons par exemple 1’adoption d’alcotests routiers,
I’automatisation des instruments de [’alcotest, 1’utilisation
d’antennes éthylométriques et 1’adoption de dispositions
permettant de demander des échantillons de sang. La derniere
innovation illustre a quel point les intéréts du comité se sont
¢élargis, ce qui explique qu’il ait changé de nom en 1985 pour
s’appeler le Comité des analyses d’alcool.

Aujourd’hui, le Comité des analyses d’alcool exerce deux
principales fonctions. Il s’occupe d’abord de I’élaboration des
normes auxquelles doivent se conformer les nouveaux
instruments, dispositifs de vérification et contenants. Ces
normes englobent les procédures d’évaluation recommandées
ainsi que les lignes directrices au moyen desquelles on évaluera
toute nouvelle piece d’équipement. Grace a cela, tout nouveau
matériel qui devra se conformer au Code criminel sera non
seulement conforme a des exigences précises mais aussi évalué
d’une maniére cohérente.

En second lieu, le comité élabore les normes et procédures
présidant a limplantation et ['utilisation d’alcootests et
d’appareils de détection autorisés. Cela signifie qu’il doit
concevoir des recommandations générales relativement aux
solutions d’alcool utilisées pour vérifier I’exactitude, a la
formation, a l'entretien et a l'utilisation ainsi qu’aux fonctions
exercées par le personnel chargé de 1’administration du
programme des analyses d’haleine et a leurs compétences.

Je fais partie du Comité des analyses d’alcool depuis
plus de 13 ans et jai d’ailleurs été deux fois le président.
Au sein du méme groupe, je viens de céder la présidence du
sous-comité chargé des questions liées a l’entretien et a la
modification du nouveau matériel d’analyse de I’haleine, et
nous nous occupons tous d’évaluer ou d’élaborer les normes
régissant les procédures recommandées.

Pour ce qui est de mes autres occupations, je suis un employé
civil de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada, ou j'occupe le poste de
coordonnateur du programme national de 1’alcootest. Je suis
chargé avant tout de coordonner les ressources médico-légales
nationales au profit des programmes canadiens d’analyse de
I’haleine, non seulement ceux de la GRC, mais aussi ceux des
corps policiers municipaux, de I’Agence des services frontaliers du
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that requires scientific, technical, and policy development,
things of that nature.

I should probably exclude Ontario and Quebec in that the
RCMP really does not get too involved, although I have a close
relationship with the two individuals who pretty well head the
programs in those two provinces, so we keep in close contact to
try to coordinate our activities.

I have been a member of the RCMP for about 31 years. I have
been involved with alcohol and breath testing my entire career.
Jokingly said, I do not do drugs and I will leave that to my
colleague to talk about those things. I am happy to answer any
of your questions dealing with breath test equipment and
alcohol-related issues.

The Chair: We have in fact two RCMP experts here, which
is a bonus.

Sergeant Robert Martin, Training Facilitator, Drug Evaluation
and Classification Program, Royal Canadian Mounted Police:
Honourable senators, to clarify, I am not with the RCMP; I am
with the York Regional Police, currently on secondment to the
RCMP for a period of four years to teach in the drug evaluation
and classification program. They are my bosses for the next
four years. I have been a member of the York Regional Police
since 1989. I represent the Drug Evaluation and Classification
Program, a program that enables us to train Canadian police
officers to deal with people impaired by substances other than
alcohol, being drugs, and to deal with the growing issue that
seems to be coming to the forefront in our country.

As it stands, we have 214 certified drug recognition experts in
our country with another 67 still in the process. We have a long
way to go before we meet the needs that we see across the country.
The drug evaluation classification program trains the drug
recognition experts who are specially selected and specially
trained officers in a 12-step process to determine whether or not
a person is impaired by a drug. If that person is impaired by a
drug a toxicological sample will be collected for analysis and then
we proceed by charge.

At present, the entire process for drug testing people who are
impaired is voluntary in this country. That means we ask people
to participate in the program and if they refuse there is not much
we can do about it, thank you very much.

This bill will give us the power to demand the samples from
these people and will make our jobs substantially easier and make
our roads safer.

That is all I have to say.
The Chair: That leaves the field wide open for questions.

Canada et de tout programme canadien d’analyse de I’haleine
ayant besoin de soutien scientifique, technique, administratif et
autres.

Je devrais probablement exclure I’Ontario et le Québec, la
GRC y étant peu active a cet égard, mais je précise tout de méme
avoir des liens étroits avec les deux directeurs des programmes de
ces provinces, et nous nous effor¢ons de coordonner nos activités
de part et d’autre.

Cela fait prés de 31 ans que je fais partie de la GRC. Je me suis
occupé des questions liées a I’alcool et a I’analyse de ’haleine tout
au long de ma carriére. Toutefois, et ici bien sir je plaisante,
puisque je ne consomme aucune drogue, je m’en remettrai a mon
collégue pour parler de ces choses. Je me ferai aussi un plaisir de
répondre a toutes vos questions au sujet du matériel d’analyse de
I’haleine et a d’autres questions connexes.

La présidente : En fait, nous comptons ici deux experts de la
GRC, ce qui est un avantage pour nous.

Sergent Robert Martin, facilitateur a D’entrainement,
Programme de la classification et de I’évaluation des drogues,
Gendarmerie royale du Canada : Honorables sénateurs, a titre de
renseignement, je ne fais pas partie de la GRC mais bien de la
Police régionale de York, et suis présentement en détachement
aupres de la GRC pour quatre ans en tant que formateur, dans le
cadre du Programme d’évaluation et de classification des drogues.
La GRC sera donc mon patron pendant les quatre prochaines
années. Je suis membre de la Police régionale de York depuis
1989. Je représente le Programme de classification et de
I’évaluation des drogues, grace auquel nous enseignons a des
policiers canadiens comment traiter les gens dont les facultés
sont affaiblies par autre chose que I’alcool, c’est-a-dire par des
drogues, et comment s’occuper de ce probléme, qui prend de plus
en plus d’ampleur au pays.

A T’heure actuelle, le Canada compte 214 experts en
reconnaissance de drogues et 67 sont en formation. Il s’en faut
de beaucoup cependant pour que nous répondions aux besoins.
Le Programme de classification et de I’évaluation des drogues
forme les experts en reconnaissance de drogues, c’est-a-dire des
agents triés sur le volet et auxquels nous enseignons un processus
en 12 étapes susceptible de déterminer si les facultés d’une
personne donnée sont affaiblies ou non par une drogue. Si tel est
le cas, I’agent prélévera un échantillon toxicologique a des fins
d’analyse et il y aura inculpation.

A Theure actuelle, le processus entier de dépistage des
personnes aux facultés affaiblies est volontaire au Canada. Cela

signifie que nous pouvons demander aux gens de participer au
programme mais ne pouvons pas les y contraindre s’ils refusent.

Le projet de loi a I’étude nous donnera le pouvoir d’exiger des
échantillons et, par conséquent, facilitera beaucoup notre tache et
rendra nos routes plus sdres.

C’est tout ce que j'avais a vous dire.

La présidente : A peu prés toutes les questions sont possibles.
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Senator Stratton: You cannot answer the question about
whether the police would haul over a little guy such as me who is
driving down the road too slowly. However, if I am on drugs of a
certain nature and I am indeed impaired, what would the result
be? What process would I be put through if I am seen by the
police to be impaired? If I am impaired, I am impaired; I do not
care if it is from marijuana or whatever. Could you describe the
process?

Sgt. Martin: The Drug Recognition Expert process is a 12-step
process. First, the car has to be stopped, and in order to stop the
car the officer has to have reasonable grounds or at least a
suspicion that the person is impaired. Then he has to form
reasonable grounds to place the person under arrest. If the officer
forms the opinion the person is impaired by drugs, the person
is taken to the station where a Drug Recognition Expert gets
involved.

The 12-step process is as follows: First, we do a breath-alcohol
test. There is no point going through a 12-step process and
inconveniencing someone if we are dealing with alcohol. We have
proven testing equipment we can use to determine the blood-
alcohol concentration immediately.

Next, we talk to the arresting officer: What did the arresting
officer see? What made him believe the person is impaired? What
was the car doing? What was going on at the time he made the
arrest? Certain drugs manifest for short time periods, and we want
to know what he saw because it will help us go towards our
opinion in the end. We do not base our opinion on any one of the
12 steps exclusively. They are based on the totality of everything
we get from the whole 12-step process.

Next, we talk to the person. The preliminary examination is
composed of what we call “medical rule-out questions.” We ask
specific questions: Are you a diabetic? Are you an epileptic?
Do you have any medical conditions? Do you have any head
injuries? We want to know whether this person is suffering from a
medical condition. If they are suffering from a medical condition,
we will stop the process and invoke the medical emergency
system, our ambulance services, and the person goes to the health
system, not the law enforcement system. We take the pulse during
this stage and also look at the eyes. We look for a horizontal gaze,
which is a very simple eye test. Certain categories of drugs will
cause your eyes to jerk involuntarily when they move smoothly.
We look for that as a clue. The next step is our divided attention
test, where we assess impairment. We do four simple divided
attention tests: A Romberg balance, the walk-and-turn test, the
one-leg stand and a finger-to-nose test. Those are the four tests we
do to determine the impairment of a person.

Next, we take the vital signs. We want to know body
temperature and blood pressure, and we take the pulse for a
second time. We know certain drugs will elevate vital signs and

Le sénateur Stratton : Vous n’étes pas en mesure de nous dire
si la police arréterait quelquun comme moi, dans le cas ou je
conduirais trop lentement. Toutefois, si je consomme certains
médicaments ou certaines drogues, et si mes facultés en sont
effectivement affaiblies, qu’est-ce que cela entrainerait? A quel
processus la police me soumettrait-elle si elle estimait que j’ai les
facultés affaiblies? Si mes facultés sont affaiblies, alors elles le
sont, quelle qu’en soit la cause, le cannabis ou autre chose.
Pouvez-vous me décrire le processus?

Sgt Martin : Le processus faisant appel aux experts en
reconnaissance de drogues comporte 12 étapes. Il faut d’abord
arréter le véhicule et, a cette fin, ’agent doit avoir des motifs
raisonnables ou, tout au moins, des soupgons fondés pour penser
que la personne en question a les facultés affaiblies. Il doit ensuite
estimer avoir des motifs raisonnables de mettre la personne en
état d’arrestation. Si I’agent estime qu’elle a les facultés affaiblies
par des drogues, elle est amenée au poste, et c’est alors
qu’intervient ’expert en reconnaissance de drogues.

Le processus en 12 étapes se déroule comme suit : on
administre d’abord I’alcootest. En effet, il est inutile de faire
toutes les étapes et d’incommoder quelqu’un en pure perte s’il
s’agit d’alcool. Nous disposons de matériel de dépistage éprouvé
en la matiére pour vérifier immédiatement 1’alcoolémie.

Nous parlons ensuite a I’agent qui a procédé a I’arrestation.
Qu’a-t-il vu? Qu’est-ce qui I’a amené a penser que la personne a
les facultés affaiblies? Que faisait la voiture? Que s’est-il passé
au moment de l'arrestation? Certaines drogues se manifestent
briévement, et nous tenons a savoir ce qu’il a observé, car cela
sera pris en compte lorsqu’il s’agira de nous prononcer sur la
question. Nous ne fondons pas notre avis exclusivement sur I'une
ou lautre des 12 étapes mais sur I’ensemble du processus et sur
tout ce qu’il nous apporte.

Ensuite, nous parlons a la personne. En premier lieu, nous
lui posons ce qu'on peut appeler des « questions médicales
éliminatoires ». Est-elle diabétique? Epileptique? Souffre-t-elle de
troubles médicaux? A-t-elle subi des blessures a la téte? Nous
voulons savoir si elle souffre d’un état pathologique quelconque.
Si tel est le cas, nous arréterons 'interrogatoire et I'enverrons au
service d'urgence médicale, aux services ambulanciers, donc au
systéme de santé plutdét qu’a la police. A la méme étape, nous
prenons son pouls et lui examinons les yeux. Nous cherchons
alors un regard horizontal, qui permet un test trés simple.
Certaines drogues causent en effet des saccades involontaires aux
yeux pendant des mouvements oculaires normaux. Cela nous sert
d’indice. Ensuite, nous administrons quatre tests d’attention
partagée, toujours pour évaluer I’état des facultés. Nous
administrons d’abord le test Romberg de I’équilibre, le test de la
marche avec virage, la station debout sur une jambe et enfin, le
test doigt-nez. Ces quatre tests nous permettent d’établir si les
facultés de la personne sont atteintes.

Nous vérifions ensuite les signes vitaux. Nous voulons
enregistrer la température du corps et la pression sanguine et
nous prenons le pouls une seconde fois. Nous savons que
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certain drugs will bring them down. Those results go to the
totality of what we are looking for in an evaluation.

We go to a dark room with the person and look at his or her
eyes in the dark. We know that certain drugs will dilate and
certain drugs will constrict pupils. That is what we look for in
those tests. There are three lighting conditions we look at: room
light, near total darkness and direct light.

Next, we look at signs of ingestion. We will look in the nose
and mouth for powders, residue and even chewing, to lead us to
the category of drugs that could be causing impairment in the
person.

We check for injection sites — only the arms and neck, things
that are visible. We check for that because many people inject
drugs in their neck and arms.

We talk to the person. At the end we ask them: “Are you using
drugs? If you are using drugs, what drugs are you using and when
did you use them?” With many of the people we deal with in the
classification program, by this point, we have a rapport with the
person and they will be honest and tell us what he or she is doing.
Do we believe the person? We will use information towards the
totality of reaching our decision.

We arrive at our opinion as drug recognition experts:
“In my opinion, as a drug recognition expert, ABC is impaired
by the category of drug,” and we name it, “and unable to operate
a motor vehicle safely.”

The last step is collecting a toxicological sample. At present,
we collect urine samples. The process is not invasive and easy
to get. It does not infringe on a person’s privacy. They can
pee in a jar for us, and we send it to the lab for confirmation of
our drug call.

In terms of the drugs, we do not name specific drugs. We will
not say methamphetamine, cocaine or cannabis. There are
seven large categories of drugs, and they are all based on signs
and symptomology. They all have the same signs and
symptomology, so we can base our call on the category of drug,
not a specific drug. It would be impossible to say someone is
under the influence of Valium right now. In that case, we say,
“central nervous system depressants,” which is the category that
drug falls into.

That is the 12-step process. With respect to the total time for
required, I have been practicing DRE since 2003, and I can do the
entire evaluation in 30 to 35 minutes. It is very quick.

Senator Stratton: Can you describe what takes place for
alcohol?

Mr. Prokopanko: The beginning is much the same. The vehicle
has to be stopped and pulled over. There is generally the
conversation or the evaluation by the peace officer at the side

certaines drogues élévent les signes vitaux tandis que d’autres les
abaissent. L’ensemble de ces résultats nous donne ce que nous
cherchons aux fins de I’évaluation.

Nous emmenons ensuite la personne dans une piéce obscure
et examinons ses yeux a 1’abri de la lumiére. Certaines drogues
dilatent les pupilles, d’autres les rétrécissent. C’est ce que nous
cherchons a observer, sous trois éclairages différents : la lumiére
ambiante, la quasi-obscurité et la lumiere directe.

Ensuite, nous cherchons des indices d’ingestion. Nous
examinons le nez et la bouche, a la recherche de poudre, de
résidus et méme d’indices de mastication pour cerner la catégorie
de drogue qui pourrait étre a 'origine de I’affaiblissement des
facultés.

Nous vérifions les points d’injection — seulement les bras et le
cou, les parties visibles, car beaucoup de gens s’injectent des
drogues dans le cou et les bras.

Nous parlons aussi a la personne. Nous finissons par lui
demander si elle consomme des drogues, et si tel est le cas,
lesquelles et quand? Rendu la, dans bien des cas, nous avons
réussi a établir de bonnes relations avec elle et elle nous répondra
honnétement, nous dira ce qu’elle consomme. La croyons-nous?
Nous allons utiliser tous les renseignements obtenus pour arriver
a une décision.

Nous formulons notre avis en tant qu’experts en
reconnaissance de drogues : « A mon avis, en tant qu’expert en
reconnaissance de drogues, M. ou Mme X a les facultés affaiblies
par telle catégorie de drogue », et nous la nommons, « et est dans
I'incapacité de conduire un véhicule automobile avec prudence ».

En dernier lieu, nous prélevons un échantillon toxicologique.
A T’heure actuelle, il s’agit d’échantillons d’urine, qui sont faciles
a obtenir et ne portent pas atteinte a la vie privée des gens. Ces
derniers doivent nous fournir un échantillon d’urine que nous
envoyons ensuite au laboratoire pour confirmation des résultats.

Nous ne fournissons pas le nom précis des drogues. Par
exemple, nous n’inscrirons pas méthamphétamine, ni cocaine, ni
encore cannabis. Il existe sept grandes catégories de drogues, qui
se fondent toutes sur des signes et une symptomatologie. Les
drogues regroupées dans la méme catégorie affichent toutes la
méme symptomatologie, nous fondons donc notre jugement sur
une catégorie de drogue et non sur une drogue précise. De toute
maniére, il serait impossible de dire que quelqu’un ressent ’effet
d’un comprimé de Valium. Nous inscrirons plutdt « dépresseurs
du systéme nerveux central », catégorie dont reléve cette drogue.

Voila en quoi consiste le processus en 12 étapes. Pour ma part,
je travaille en tant qu’expert en reconnaissance de drogues depuis
2003 et je réussis a effectuer I’évaluation au complet en 30 ou
35 minutes. C’est trés rapide.

Le sénateur Stratton : Pouvez-vous nous dire ce qui se passe
lorsque c’est I’alcool qui est en cause?

M. Prokopanko : Au début, les choses se passent a peu prés de
la méme maniére. Il faut d’abord faire arréter le véhicule et le faire
garer au bord de la route. En regle générale, il s’ensuit alors une
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of the road. If we do not already have the driving evidence,
gross driving evidence is pretty simple. The individual is generally
invited to step out of the car. Questions can be asked at the time,
for example, “Have you had anything to drink tonight?” That
type of interview can get things started. We rely to a certain extent
on our internal sensors to be able to detect odours of alcohol. We
find alcohol so much more prevalent and more obvious to peace
officers. We count on the recognition of the general signs of
impairment or intoxication.

When an evaluation is done by a peace officer at the roadside,
if there are obvious signs of impairment or intoxication, the
officer has the authority in the Criminal Code to make a demand
directly for an approved instrument, in which case the person is
placed under arrest, taken back to a testing location and breath
tests are conducted. If there is not enough information or
evidence for the peace officer to make up his or her mind at the
roadside, we have the authority to make a demand for an
approved screening device, generally conducted at the roadside.

Results of that nature can lead the peace officer to a conclusion
that a person’s blood alcohol level exceeds 80 milligrams per cent,
again, serving as the authority to make the demand and invite the
person back for a breath test at the detachment.

Senator Campbell: Certainly, there can be no doubt that
everyone on this committee wants to stop the carnage on the
road as a result of impairment. In particular with respect to the
DRE, one of the documents we have, a survey of scientific
literature by the United States National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration on DRE, states the following:

The study indicated that the DREs’ ability to
distinguish between subjects who were impaired and
subjects who were not impaired was, in the words of the
authors, “moderate at best.” The DREs’ ability to
identify the drug class causing the impairment varied
from “moderate” (for alprazolam) to “lower” (for
cannabis and codeine) to “not better than chance” (for
amphetamine).

Yet, when I look at the statement by the government officials,
they said that the DRE accuracy rates are around 96 per cent.

Is the U.S. study an old study, and is this a new study?
How do we get this divergence?

Sgt. Martin: The American study is older. We are now
engaged with the Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse to
do studies for us, and our accuracy rate for our DREs is
98.4 per cent correct calls. I was told that in meeting with them
this morning.

conversation, ou I’agent de la paix évalue la situation au bord de
la route. Si nous ne disposons pas déja de preuves établissant
qu’il y a eu consommation d’alcool, il est assez facile d’obtenir des
preuves brutes. On va inviter la personne a sortir du véhicule. On
peut lui poser des questions, par exemple : « Avez-vous bu de
I’alcool ce soir »? Ce genre de question peut faire démarrer les
choses. Aussi, dans une certaine mesure, nous nous fions a nos
propres perceptions pour déceler I'odeur de I’alcool. Les agents de
la paix traitent tellement de cas liés a la consommation d’alcool
que les signes en sont beaucoup plus manifestes. Nous comptons
donc sur la reconnaissance des signes généraux de facultés
affaiblies ou d’intoxication.

Au cours de I’évaluation qu’effectue I’agent de la paix au bord
de la route, s’il observe des signes manifestes de facultés affaiblies
ou d’intoxication, il est autorisé par le Code criminel a exiger
I'utilisation d’un dispositif approuvé, auquel cas la personne est
mise en état d’arrestation et amenée a un lieu d’administration des
analyses de I’haleine pour y subir I’alcotest. Si ’agent de la paix ne
dispose pas de suffisamment de renseignements ou de preuves
pour se prononcer au bord de la route, nous sommes autorisés a
exiger I'administration sur les lieux d’'un test au moyen d’un
dispositif de dépistage approuvé.

Sur obtention des résultats, I’agent de la paix peut conclure que
I’alcoolémie de la personne ayant subi le test dépasse les 80
milligrammes autorisés, et est autorisé a demander a cette
personne de subir un autre alcotest au poste.

Le sénateur Campbell : Tous les membres de notre comité
tiennent certainement a mettre fin au carnage sur les routes causé
par la conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Maintenant, pour ce qui
est du travail des experts en reconnaissance de drogues, selon
un des documents auxquels nous avons eu accés, un sondage
effectué par la United States National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration, et je cite :

Selon I’étude, la capacité pour un expert en
reconnaissance de drogues de distinguer entre des sujets
aux facultés affaiblies et dont les facultés n’étaient pas
atteintes était « au mieux modeste ». Quant a leur capacité
de cerner la catégorie de drogue ayant causé les facultés
affaiblies, elle variait de « modeste » (dans le cas de
I’alprazolam) a « faible » (dans le cas du cannabis et de la
codéine) et a « seulement aléatoire » (dans le cas des
amphétamines).

Pourtant, les représentants du gouvernement nous ont affirmé
que le taux de précision des résultats obtenus par les ERD était
d’environ 86 p. 100.

L’étude réalisée aux Etats-Unis est-elle récente? Comment
expliquez-vous cet écart?

Sgt Martin : L’étude américaine n’est pas récente. Nous
avons récemment demandé au Centre canadien de lutte contre
I’alcoolisme et les toxicomanies de mener une étude avec nous,
et notre taux de précision est de 98,4 p. 100. C’est ce que les
représentants du centre m’ont dit lors de notre rencontre de
ce matin.
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Senator Campbell: Do you confirm that by way of toxicology?

Sgt. Martin: Yes.

Senator Campbell: You do the DRE, then you do the
toxicology and you classify in one of the seven; is that correct?

Sgt. Martin: Yes.

Senator Campbell: What happens if it comes back something
other than the one in seven that you chose?

Sgt. Martin: One in seven that we chose?

Senator Campbell: You choose amphetamines and it comes
back as cocaine.

Sgt. Martin: Amphetamines and cocaine fall under the same
category, central nervous system stimulants.

If I called it a central nervous system stimulant and it came
back as narcotic analgesic, we would ask the lab why it came back
that way.

The human body is a wonderful machine. It likes to achieve a
balance, homeostasis. It releases its own natural hormones to try
to get back into a state of norm. If we catch the person at the end
of his high and the stimulants in his body have released all of
these natural endomorphins to bring him back down, you might
see that, where the person is no longer stimulated. The call is
narcotic analgesics, so he is trying to bring his body down. We ask
the lab to explain that for us.

Senator Campbell: Would he still be charged?

Sgt. Martin: Depending on how his driving was at the time,
and can the lab explain it. I have never run into the situation in
the jurisdiction where I work where we have had tests come back.
I know that we have had calls come back that were wrong and the
person was not charged.

Senator Campbell: Mr. Prokopanko, will the period of time
between the first blow and the second blow changed in this bill?
I read three minutes.

Mr. Prokopanko: The Criminal Code currently requires a
period of no less than 15 minutes between two breath samples.
There was a proposal at one time to reduce that time period. The
Alcohol Test Committee specifically objected to that requirement.
There are scientific reasons for having an observation period. One
is to eliminate potential mouth alcohol inference from burps or
such things. The observation period allows us to have more
confidence in the quality of the sample being analyzed. This bill
does not change that. It leaves the interval at 15 minutes.

Le sénateur Campbell : Ces résultats sont confirmés par des
tests toxicologiques?

Sgt Martin : Oui.

Le sénateur Campbell : 11 y a d’abord I’examen de I’expert en
reconnaissance de drogues, puis un test toxicologique qui vous
permet de déterminer qu’il s’agit d’une drogue se classant dans
I'une ou l'autre de sept catégories, n’est-ce pas?

Sgt Martin : Oui.

Le sénateur Campbell : Que se passe-t-il si, d’apres les résultats
des tests, il s’agit d’une drogue qui ne s’inscrit pas dans 'une ou
I’autre de ces sept catégories que vous avez choisies?

Sgt Martin : Les catégories que nous avons choisies?

Le sénateur Campbell : Vous croyez que c’était des
amphétamines mais le test démontre qu’il s’agissait de cocaine.

Sgt Martin : Les amphétamines et la cocaine figurent dans la
méme catégorie, celle des stimulants du systéme nerveux central.

Si javais établi qu’il s’agissait d’un stimulant du systéme
nerveux central et que, selon le résultat du test toxicologique, c’est
un analgésique narcotique, nous demanderions des explications
au laboratoire.

Le corps humain est une machine extraordinaire. Il tend
toujours vers 1’équilibre, vers ’homéostasie. Il produit ses propres
hormones pour revenir a un état normal. Si nous arrétons un
conducteur a la fin de la période d’euphorie et que les stimulants
qui sont dans son organisme ont produit des endorphines
naturelles pour atténuer cette euphorie, vous constaterez peut-
étre qu’il n’est plus aussi stimulé. Le test indique qu’il s’agit
d’analgésique narcotique, c’est qu’il cherche plutét Ieffet
contraire de I'euphorie. Nous demandons alors au laboratoire
de nous donner une explication.

Le sénateur Campbell : Le conducteur ferait-il I'objet
d’accusation néanmoins?

Sgt Martin : Selon sa conduite au moment ou il a été arrété et
Iexplication que peut nous donner le laboratoire. Dans la
province ou je travaille, il ne m’est jamais arrivé que le test de
laboratoire ne confirme pas mon évaluation. Toutefois, je sais que
cela s’est produit et, dans ces cas, aucune accusation n’a été
portée.

Le sénateur Campbell : Monsieur Prokopanko, la période entre
la premiére et la seconde analyse de 1’haleine est-elle modifiée par
ce projet de loi? Je vois trois minutes.

M. Prokopanko : A I’heure actuelle, aux termes du Code
criminel, une période d’au moins 15 minutes va s’écouler entre la
prise des deux échantillons d’haleine. Il a déja été proposé de
réduire cette période, le Comité des analyses d’alcool s’y est
opposé. La période d’observation est nécessaire pour des raisons
scientifiques, notamment pour éliminer les perturbations que
pourrait causer un rot, par exemple, et parce qu'une période
d’observation nous garantit un échantillon de qualité. Le projet
de loi n’y change rien. L’intervalle reste de 15 minutes.
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Senator Campbell: 1 read here that the regulations
accompanying the new legislation would describe the nature of
the qualifications and training for drug evaluation officers,
physical coordination and screening tests proposed at the
roadside, and tests to be conducted during the evaluation,
presumably at the police station. Would it be of any benefit to
you to be included in this bill or to have that regulation
formulated now rather than in the future? Would it be of any
assistance to, for instance, the DRE officers?

Sgt. Martin: I have read some correspondence from the
government on the regulations with the tests described in them.
I sent them to my boss. I do not know where they currently are,
and I cannot comment on that. However, the tests have already
been written as the regulations are going to be.

Senator Merchant: Thank you very much, and welcome.

I would like to discuss the difference between alcohol
impairment and drug impairment from the points of view of the
police and of persons to potentially be charged.

You stated that you have been doing alcohol impairment tests
for 30 years. Nearly everyone understands that the police can
recognize signs of alcohol impairment, and impaired persons
know that they have been drinking.

However, I do not know that the police are trained to recognize
drug impairment. When the police stop a person who has been
involved in an accident, for example, the police can demand that
the person take a drug test. However, the officer has no way
of knowing in advance that the person might be impaired
by a drug. The person who has been stopped knows whether
he or she has taken any drugs. In addition, the definition of
“drugs” is not specific, and it can include a variety of drugs.
Therefore, the circumstances with drugs are different than they
are with alcohol.

The person of whom the demand is made may decide not to
take the test if they know they have not taken any drugs. As is the
case with alcohol impairment, they would be required to take the
test. In such a case, would they be charged and sent to jail?

Sgt. Martin: The dictionary definition of “impairment” is
“to make worse.” We have all seen people who drive poorly.
The officer must have reasonable grounds to believe that the
person is impaired by a substance and is not simply a bad driver.
He can determine that by questioning the person.

People impaired by alcohol and drugs display certain things.
Their eyes are watery and their speech is slurred. There are key
indicators that officers learn to detect during their training. If a
person is simply a bad driver, an officer can determine that
quickly simply by talking to the person.

Le sénateur Campbell : Je lis ici que le réglement connexe a la
nouvelle loi décrirait la nature des compétences et de la formation
de I’expert en reconnaissance de drogues, ainsi que les épreuves de
dépistage et de coordination physique qui seraient effectuées en
bordure de la route et celles qui constitueraient I’évaluation qui se
ferait, je présume, au poste de police. Préféreriez-vous que cela
figure dans le projet de loi ou dans un réglement qui sera pris
ultérieurement? Est-ce que cela aiderait, par exemple, les experts
en reconnaissance de drogues?

Sgt Martin : J’ai une correspondance du gouvernement sur
I’ébauche de réglement dans laquelle on décrit ces différentes
épreuves. J’ai envoyé ces lettres a mon patron. J’ignore ou on en
est et je ne peux donc répondre avec plus de précision a votre
question. Cependant, je peux vous dire que les épreuves seront
décrites telles qu’elles existent actuellement dans le réglement.

Le sénateur Merchant : Merci beaucoup. Soyez les bienvenus.

Jaimerais aborder la différence entre I’affaiblissement des
facultés par les drogues et I’affaiblissement des facultés par
I’alcool du point de vue de la police et du point de vue de I’accusé
éventuel.

Vous avez déclaré administrer des alcootests depuis 30 ans.
Presque tous s’entendent sur la capacité des policiers a reconnaitre
les signes de I’affaiblissement des facultés par 1’alcool; de plus,
ceux qui ont les facultés affaiblies savent qu’ils ont bu.

Toutefois, je ne crois pas que les policiers soient formés a
reconnaitre 1’affaiblissement des facultés par la drogue. Quand la
police arréte une personne qui a été impliquée dans un accident,
par exemple, le policier peut Iui demander de se soumettre a une
épreuve de dépistage des drogues. Toutefois, le policier ne peut
savoir que cette personne a peut-étre les facultés affaiblies par
une drogue. La personne qui a été arrétée, elle, sait si elle a pris
des drogues ou des médicaments. En outre, la définition de
« drogue » n’est pas précise et peut s’appliquer a toutes sortes
de substances. Par conséquent, les circonstances entourant
l’affaiblissement des facultés par la drogue sont différentes de
celles entourant la conduite en état d’ébriété.

Celui a qui on demande de se soumettre a un test de dépistage
peut trés bien refuser s’il sait qu’il n’a pas pris de drogue.
Toutefois, comme c’est le cas pour I’alcool au volant, on exigera
de Iui qu’il se soumette a ce test. S’il refuse, est-ce qu’on portera
des accusations contre lui et qu’on le jettera en prison?

Sgt Martin : Selon le dictionnaire, un affaiblissement est
synonyme de dégradation. Nous avons tous vu des gens mal
conduire un véhicule. Le policier doit avoir des motifs
raisonnables de croire que le conducteur a les facultés affaiblies
par une substance et n’est pas tout simplement un mauvais
conducteur. Il peut, pour déterminer cela, poser des questions au
conducteur.

Les personnes dont les facultés sont affaiblies par I’alcool ou la
drogue présentent certains symptomes. IIs ont les yeux humides et
des troubles d’¢locution. Les policiers, pendant leur formation,
apprennent a détecter des indicateurs clés. S’il s’agit simplement
d’une personne qui conduit mal, le policier s’en rendra compte
rapidement juste en lui parlant.
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When people are impaired, they drive in ways that normal
drivers do not. In the case of head injury, the officer will have to
question further to find out the cause of the problem.

Drug impairment and alcohol impairment are not that
different. There is still poor driving, swerving, erratic speeds,
fumbling with paperwork and inability to form sentences. Officers
receive training in recognition of impairment at police colleges in
Ontario as well as at the RCMP academy, and it is evident to
them. If people not using drugs, an officer need only ask what is
wrong, what is going on.

There are bad drivers out there. In my career as a traffic
officer, I stopped many drivers who I quickly realized were not
impaired but simply poor drivers. To screen that out, we talk to
people. Part of our law enforcement job is to get to the root of the
problem. With a quick conversation you will find out if a person
simply has bad driving skills. They can then be issued a warning
or a ticket at the discretion of the officer.

In some cases, DREs have been invoked with people who have
medical problems. Some head injuries will mimic impairment.
I know of a case where a person was brought in after a pursuit
during which she had to be boxed in. The DRE spent two minutes
with her before he called an ambulance. She had fallen earlier in
the day and received a head injury. After his preliminary
examination, he called an ambulance. There was no further law
enforcement action taken. She went into the medical system and
got proper treatment.

When an officer brings a person in, we want to know whether
the person is truly impaired by something and does not have a
medical condition. We do not want to keep people in our cells if
they need help from EMS.

Impairment from alcohol and various drugs will look
somewhat different, but impairment is, by definition, “to make
worse,” and officers can usually recognize it.

Senator Merchant: Thus do you believe that all police officers
are able to tell if a person is impaired?

Sgt. Martin: 1 cannot speak for all police officers, but the
ones I know can tell. Many jurisdictions in Ontario now offer
enhanced training on drug impairment because this issue is
becoming more predominant. As we train more drug recognition
experts, we find more drug-impaired drivers. We are now
providing that training to other agencies in addition to the

Quand un conducteur est sous ’emprise de I’alcool ou des
drogues, il ne conduit pas comme on le fait normalement. S’il
s’agit d’un traumatisme cranien, le policier posera des questions
pour tenter de trouver la cause du probléme.

L’affaiblissement des facultés est assez semblable, que la
cause en soit la drogue ou I’alcool. Le conducteur conduit mal,
il louvoie, sa vitesse est irréguliére, il a du mal a manipuler son
permis de conduire et a faire une phrase cohérente, que ses
facultés soient affaiblies par la drogue ou I’alcool. Les policiers
formés en Ontario et a I’école de la GRC apprennent a
reconnaitre les signes d’affaiblissement des facultés, et ces signes
leur sont évidents. Si le conducteur n’a pas pris de drogue, il
suffira au policier de demander ce qui ne va pas, ce qui se passe.

Bien des gens conduisent mal. Quand jétais agent de la
circulation, j’ai arrété bien des conducteurs pour ensuite vite
comprendre qu’ils n’étaient pas en état d’ébriété mais tout
simplement de mauvais conducteurs. Pour faire la part des
choses, les policiers parlent aux conducteurs. Cela fait partie de
nos fonctions de policier de tenter de trouver la source du
probléme. Une courte conversation suffit a déterminer si on est en
présence d’un mauvais conducteur. Selon le cas, le policier peut
décider de donner un avertissement ou une contravention.

Dans certains cas, on a fait appel a 'ERD pour évaluer
une personne qui avait en fait un probléme de santé. Certaines
personnes ayant subi un traumatisme cranien donnent
I'impression d’avoir les facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool ou la
drogue. Je connais un cas ou la conductrice a été amenée au poste
de police apres une poursuite au cours de laquelle on avait da la
coincer pour 'arréter. Au bout de deux minutes avec elle, "TERD a
appelé une ambulance. Elle avait fait une chute plus t6t dans la
journée et s’était blessée a la téte. Aprés avoir fait son examen
préliminaire, I'expert en reconnaissance de drogues a appelé une
ambulance. Dés lors, elle ne relevait plus de la police. Elle est allée
a I’hopital ou on lui a prodigué les soins nécessaires.

Quand I’ERD doit évaluer I’état d’une personne, il se demande
tout d’abord si elle est vraiment sous I’'emprise de I’alcool ou de la
drogue ou si elle n’a pas plutot des ennuis de santé. Nous ne
voulons pas garder dans nos cellules des gens qui ont besoin du
service médical d’urgence.

L’affaiblissement des facultés par ’alcool et différentes drogues
ressemblera a quelque chose d’un peu différent, mais, par
définition, cet affaiblissement est une dégradation des facultés,
et en régle générale les policiers savent le reconnaitre.

Le sénateur Merchant : Vous pensez donc que tous les policiers
pourront effectivement dire si une personne a les facultés
affaiblies?

Sgt Martin : Je ne saurais le dire pour tous les policiers, mais
ceux que je connais pourraient le dire. En Ontario, un bon
nombre de corps policiers offrent d’ores et déja des compléments
de formation sur I’affaiblissement des facultés par la drogue étant
donné que, de plus en plus, cette question est d’actualité. Plus
nous formons d’experts habitués a reconnaitre les symptomes,
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training they received at RCMP Depot or the Canadian Police
College.

Senator Cowan: Welcome, gentlemen. I take it you support
the proposals contained in Bill C-2 in the areas you are
dealing with.

Mr. Prokopanko: I do.

Senator Cowan: The Canadian Bar Association has raised
some concerns about these amendments vis-a-vis the Charter. To
summarize, the view is that the Charter boundaries are fairly well
known with respect to the current law and we must be careful to
ensure that we are making significant and worthwhile changes
rather than simply incremental changes, because if we are not
careful we may raise a host of opportunities for Charter
challenges that would complicate your lives and clog up the
courts.

I would like your views on whether you think the fears of the
Canadian Bar Association are justified. Are you convinced that
these improvements which you support are worthwhile, even if
you do agree that there is a possibility that it may become a useful
make-work project for lawyers and courts?

Mr. Prokopanko: I will start on that. I must be careful. I have a
“no comment” from the Alcohol Test Committee in that our role
in support of the Department of Justice Canada is primarily in the
scientific sphere.

To comment on whether or not it is necessary or worthwhile
for some of the changes that affect Charter rights and the
implementation of penalties and things of that nature, honestly
the Alcohol Test Committee will step back and say that is the
legislators’ responsibility, not ours.

However, I will identify — if I can turn my RCMP hat
forward — frustration. If you think our life is not already
complicated with Charter challenges and frustrations in
court, will this really make it worse? I think the proposals were
quite the opposite. They were supposed to try to improve the
flow of these cases through court. I can tell you there is real
and honest frustration with peace officers. I will admit that,
as a forensic scientist where we do everything correctly, we
follow a very rigid control and specific operation procedure,
document, everything is done properly, on approved instruments
that are proven to be working properly at the time and everything
is done the way it should be. All it takes is for someone to
come into court and say, “I only had two beer,” and all that
work is, in essence, ignored because they say it with a straight
face and the judge is in no position to question or challenge it.

plus nous trouvons de conducteurs ayant les facultés affaiblies.
Nous offrons déja cette formation a d’autres corps policiers pour
venir compléter celle qui leur est offerte au dépo6t de la GRC ou au
College canadien de la police.

Le sénateur Cowan : Bienvenue, messieurs. Je conclus a vous
entendre que vous étes favorables aux dispositions contenues dans
le projet de loi C-2 dans vos domaines de compétence.

M. Prokopanko : Oui.

Le sénateur Cowan : L’Association du Barreau canadien a
soulevé certaines préoccupations au sujet de ces amendements
sous 'angle de la Charte. Pour résumer, elle est d’avis que les
limites de la Charte sont relativement bien connues en ce qui
concerne la loi actuelle et que nous devons prendre bien garde a
lui apporter des changements valables et utiles plutét que des
petits changements graduels, parce que si nous ne sommes pas
attentifs, nous risquons d’ouvrir la porte a tout un tas de
contestations fondées sur la Charte, contestations qui viendraient
vous compliquer la vie et engorger les tribunaux.

J’aimerais savoir si, a votre avis, ces craintes exprimées par
I’Association du Barreau sont justifiées. Etes-vous persuadés que
ces améliorations, que vous appuyez, sont bien utiles, méme si
vous vous accordez a dire qu’il est toujours possible qu’elles
produisent un surcroit de travail utile pour les avocats et les
tribunaux?

M. Prokopanko : Permettez-moi de commencer et il faut
que je sois trés prudent dans mes propos. Je dirais « pas de
commentaires » de la part du Comité des analyses d’alcool dans
ce sens que notre réle d’auxiliaire du ministére de la Justice, nous
le jouons essentiellement sur un plan scientifique.

Mais dire si oui on non il est nécessaire ou utile d’avoir certains
des changements qui puissent toucher aux droits conférés par la
Charte et imposer des sanctions et des choses de ce genre, bien
franchement, notre comité préférerait rester sur la touche en
disant que c’est 1a une responsabilité du législateur et non la notre.

En revanche, parlant cette fois-ci comme employé de la GRC,
je pourrais vous parler de frustrations. Si vous pensez que
notre vie n’est déja pas assez complexe comme cela avec les
contestations fondées sur la Charte et toutes les frustrations
que nous éprouvons devant les tribunaux, est-ce que cela nous
rendrait encore la vie plus difficile? Je pense que les propositions
allaient plutot dans I'autre sens. Elles étaient supposées accélérer
le fonctionnement des tribunaux. Je puis vous dire que les
représentants de ’ordre sont tout a fait découragés et c’est une
réalité. Je dois reconnaitre qu’en tant qu’expert judiciaire, nous
faisons trés minutieusement notre travail, nous suivons a la lettre
pres les procédures et les régles en exercant un controle rigoureux,
nous étayons tous nos dossiers, nous faisons tout dans les
régles, en utilisant des instruments approuvés qui fonctionnent
parfaitement sans aucune contestation possible et que tout se
déroule comme il faut. Mais il suffit que quelqu'un se présente
devant le tribunal en disant : « Je n’ai bu que deux biéres » pour
que tout ce travail soit ni plus ni moins écarté du revers de la main
parce que le témoin a dit cela en gardant tout son sérieux que le
juge n’est pas en mesure de le contester ou d’en douter.
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It is a difficult decision at that end. I turn to a peace officer
and say, “You did the right thing. You did well.” Those are
the frustrations we see in the existing legislation. I believe,
in part, some of the changes here were to try to address some
of those free challenges where it only took a simple statement
by the accused in order to turn the tide or the balance of all the
work they have done in order prove impairment, intoxication or
blood-alcohol concentration. That is a real frustration.

I support the changes in that it attempts to try and correct an
imbalance, but I fear there will be much more work — if not on
my end then certainly by the peace officer at the detachment
end — to answer some of the questions that will arise from these
Charter challenges.

Yes, the headaches are not over. This does not cure everything.
There is much more work involved here, but I think it is a step in
the right direction.

Sgt. Martin: If you look at Martin’s Criminal Code, there are
62 pages on impaired driving and 19 on murder. Impaired driving
is obviously challenged by the Charter every day because it affects
many people in our communities.

In terms of the bills, will they make our roads safer? Yes.
Is it my forte to decide Charter issues and what the Supreme
Court of Canada decides and so on? I do not think it is for me to
say, but it will make our job as law enforcement officers much
easier to get our drug-impaired drivers off the roads and
potentially save lives in our country. Anything that does that
and makes our roads safer — the roads that everyone’s family
in this room uses — is of benefit to all Canadians.

The Charter will be challenged, as it is on every piece of
legislation that comes down the pipe, especially on impaired
driving. Will there be huge challenges? I cannot predict.
Unfortunately, I do not have a crystal ball to say that.
However, there will be Charter challenges to everything we do.
As soon as we change something in law enforcement the people
of the defence bar will change their tactics and bring in new
challenges to us.

It is frustrating. As Mr. Prokopanko mentioned, when you do
everything correctly and the person comes out and says “I had
two beers,” and you lose the case, there is frustration but we still
have to do our jobs.

Senator Cowan: That is why we have judges.

A ce moment-la, c’est une décision difficile. Moi, je dis &
I’agent de police : « Vous avez fait votre travail, vous avez bien
travaillé ». Voila le genre de frustrations que nous rencontrons a
cause de la loi actuelle. J’ai le sentiment, en partie, que certains
des changements qu’on trouve ici avaient pour but de tenter
d’invalider certaines de ces contestations gratuites, dans les cas ou
il suffit que I’accusé dise quelques mots pour faire pencher la
balance dans 'autre sens au mépris de tout le travail qui avait été
accompli pour prouver qu’il conduisait effectivement avec les
facultés affaiblies, sous I'influence d’un stupéfiant, ou avec une
concentration élevée d’alcool dans le sang. C’est cela qui est
frustrant et c’est une frustration bien réelle.

Jappuie les modifications dans la mesure ou elles tentent de
corriger un déséquilibre, mais je crains qu’il y aura encore fort a
faire — sinon pour moi, pour I’agent de la paix au détachement —
pour répondre aux questions qui seront soulevées par ces
contestations en vertu de la Charte.

Ces mesures ne résoudront pas le casse-téte. Elles ne sont pas
une panacée. Il reste encore beaucoup a faire, mais c’est au moins
un pas dans la bonne direction.

Sgt Martin : Le Code criminel selon Martin compte 62 pages
sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies et 19 sur le meurtre. Il y a
tous les jours des contestations en vertu de la Charte dans des
affaires de conduite avec facultés affaiblies, car c’est un probléme
qui touche bien des gens dans nos collectivités.

Les dispositions du projet de loi rendront-elles nos routes plus
stres? Oui. M appartient-il de statuer sur les questions liées a la
Charte et de présumer des décisions que la Cour supréme du
Canada pourrait prendre, entre autres? Je ne crois pas qu’il
m’incombe de le faire, mais ces dispositions feront en sorte qu’il
sera beaucoup plus facile aux services policiers de retirer des
routes les conducteurs dont les facultés sont affaiblies par la
drogue. Cela pourrait sauver des vies au Canada. Tout ce qui a cet
effet et qui peut rendre nos routes plus sires — les routes que nos
familles utilisent — constituent un avantage pour tous les
Canadiens.

Il'y aura des contestations en vertu de la Charte, comme il y en
a pour toute mesure législative nouvellement adoptée, surtout
dans le domaine de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Y en aura-
t-il énormément? Je ne saurais le prédire. Malheureusement, je
n’ai pas de boule de cristal pour cela. Cependant, toutes les
mesures que nous prenons peuvent étre contestées en vertu de la
Charte. Dés qu’il y a un changement dans I’exécution des lois, les
avocats de la défense changent leur tactique et lancent de
nouvelles contestations.

C’est bien frustrant. Comme M. Prokopanko I'a dit, lorsque
nous faisons les choses a la lettre, que le prévenu se défend en
affirmant n’avoir pris que deux biéres et que c’est lui qui a gain de
cause, c’est frustrant, mais nous devons néanmoins faire notre
travail.

Le sénateur Cowan : C’est pour cela qu’il y a des juges.
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Sgt. Martin: Yes. Our job is to get those people off the road
and keep our roads safe from drug and alcohol-impaired drivers.

Senator Cowan: Unfortunately, I have no direct experience
with your field, but at what point do you read the person his or
her rights? Is it at the point you intend to make an arrest? Is that
the point?

Sgt. Martin: As soon as we place someone under arrest we give
them their rights. They have the right to counsel, a lawyer, and so
on. In our jurisdiction they are given their rights three times.

Senator Cowan: When you were describing the 12 points to
Senator Stratton, does that take place at the end of or during that
process?

Sgt. Martin: Once a person is placed under arrest, in my
jurisdiction, he will get his rights.

Senator Cowan: You go through this whole litany of tests?

Sgt. Martin: That is right.

Senator Cowan: Is it at that point when you say you have
enough to make an arrest?

Sgt. Martin: If a person is brought in to a drug recognition
expert, he has already been placed under arrest for impaired
driving. He will have his rights long before the DRE gets
involved. The officer who places him under arrest and forms
reasonable grounds that he is under the influence of a substance
will give him his rights.

Senator Cowan: Is that the point with respect to alcohol and
drugs?

Sgt. Martin: Yes.

Senator Oliver: I would like you to feel that the provisions in
this act are good provisions because they will assist in fighting
violent crime and in getting drivers off the road who kill and
maim. I think that is good, and I agree with you, too.

I have three questions. First, you said in your 12 points that
you now use a urine test and not a blood test. I would have
thought that blood would be more scientific and give more
scientific results. Why is it that you are only using urine now and
not blood for your testing?

Second, you said that you can perform this test in 30 or
35 minutes. Many of the things you do are subjective, like
looking in someone’s nostrils, in their eyes and watching the
way they walk and listening to the way they talk. Do you have
corroboration? Is that built into your guidelines now that you
must not do that by yourself because someone can always say,

Sgt Martin : Oui. Notre travail a nous consiste a retirer ces
gens de la route pour qu’il n’y ait pas le danger que causent les
conducteurs dont les facultés sont affaiblies par la drogue et
’alcool.

Le sénateur Cowan : Malheureusement, je n’ai pas d’expérience
directe de votre travail, et j’aimerais savoir a quel moment vous
informez le prévenu de ses droits. Est-ce lorsque vous avez
I'intention de procéder a son arrestation? Est-ce a ce moment-la?

Sgt Martin : Dés que nous arrétons une personne, nous
I'informons de ses droits. Un prévenu a entre autres le droit aux
services d’un avocat. Dans notre province, nous les informons a
trois reprises de leurs droits.

Le sénateur Cowan : Dans la liste des 12 étapes que vous avez
décrites au sénateur Stratton, a quelle étape cela se situe-t-il? A la
fin du processus ou durant celui-ci?

Sgt Martin : Dans ma province, dés qu’une personne est
arrétée, elle est informée de ses droits.

Le sénateur Cowan : Et vous lui faites subir ensuite toute la liste
des tests?

Sgt Martin : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Cowan : Est-ce a ce moment-la que vous décidez si
vous avez suffisamment d’informations pour procéder a une
arrestation?

Sgt Martin : Si une personne est amenée a consulter un expert
en reconnaissance de drogues, c’est qu’elle a déja été arrétée pour
conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Elle a donc été informée de ses
droits bien avant que ’ERD soit mis en cause. L’agent qui I'a
arrétée et qui estime avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire que
les facultés de cette personne sont affaiblies ’aura déja informée
de ses droits.

Le sénateur Cowan : Cela s’applique-t-il tant a I’alcool qu’aux
drogues?

Sgt Martin : Oui.

Le sénateur Oliver : J’aimerais que vous ayez 'impression que
les dispositions de cette loi sont valables parce qu’elles aideront a
lutter contre les crimes avec violence et a retirer de nos routes les
conducteurs qui tuent et blessent d’autres gens. Ce sont de bonnes
mesures et je suis également d’accord avec vous.

Jai trois questions. Pour commencer, au sujet des 12 étapes,
vous avez dit que vous avez maintenant recours a des analyses
d’urine plutét que de sang. J’aurais cru que les analyses de sang
seraient plus scientifiques et donneraient des résultats plus
scientifiques. Pourquoi utilisez-vous maintenant uniquement les
analyses d’urine plutdt que de sang?

Deuxiémement, vous avez dit que cet examen peut se faire en
30 ou 35 minutes. Bon nombre des choses que vous faites sont
suggestives : vous examinez les narines et les yeux du conducteur,
vous regardez comment il marche et vous écoutez comment il
s’exprime. Y a-t-il corroboration? Ont-ils maintenant prévu dans
vos lignes directrices que vous ne pouvez procéder a ces examens
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“My eyes were not enlarged,” or, “There was nothing in my nose;
you put it there”? Do you have corroboration and someone else
with you when you do these subjective tests?

Third, there has been a significant amount of concern about
how scientific the proof is that you are getting. Is there a scientific
consensus about a recognized threshold of various drug
concentrations constituting impairment?

Sgt. Martin: I will deal with the blood question first. We do not
use blood testing because the process is very intrusive. We have no
phlebotomist trained in the law enforcement community in
Canada.

Senator Oliver: You have no one, you say?

Sgt. Martin: We do not have any law enforcement officers —
it is not like in the United States where they train police
officers to draw blood samples in the jails. We would have to
take the person from a secure facility to a doctor who can say

no,” under section 257 of the code, he will not draw blood
samples for us.

Blood is very intrusive. We are sticking a needle into someone’s
arm who has voluntarily agreed to do our test for us. We are now
getting into another level of intrusiveness; into a person’s body
and taking a blood sample. Urine is very easy; we do not have to
move the person and we are not into the intrusiveness of drawing
blood.

We have been told by Crown counsel to avoid attempting to
get blood until we have legislation passed that gives us that
demand with a choice. Urine is simple. The person is consenting;
he is doing our test after we tell him all his rights to counsel and
the consequences of the tests.

Senator Oliver: If you had that legislation now, would the
results from blood be better than the results from urine?

Sgt. Martin: Yes.
Senator Oliver: That was my question.

Sgt. Martin: Second, whether we have someone with us, in my
jurisdiction we have someone who stays with us during the test.

Senator Oliver: Throughout the whole thing?

Sgt. Martin: Yes. Another person is trained in DRE. They are
there as a safety officer because we do not use any use-of-force
equipment while dealing with these people because we are close
and personal. We are touching them, taking their blood pressure
and pulse; we are tight with them.

lorsque vous étes seul, car le conducteur pourrait toujours dire
que ses pupilles n’étaient pas dilatées, ou encore qu’il n’y avait
pas de drogue dans son nez et que c’est vous qui I’y avez placée.
Y a-t-il corroboration, quelqu’un vous accompagne-t-il quand
vous procédez a ces examens suggestifs?

Troisiemement, bon nombre de gens se sont dit préoccupés par
la valeur scientifique des preuves que vous obtenez. Existe-t-il un
consensus scientifique au sujet d’un seuil reconnu auquel les
concentrations de diverses drogues affaiblissent les facultés?

Sgt Martin : Je vais répondre d’abord a la question des
analyses sanguines. Si nous n’utilisons pas d’analyses sanguines,
c’est que c’est une procédure trés intrusive. Au Canada, les
services policiers ne comptent pas de phlébotomistes ayant recu la
formation nécessaire.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous dites que vous n’avez personne
pour cela?

Sgt Martin : Nous n’avons pas d’agents de police — ce n’est
pas comme aux Etats-Unis, ot 'on forme des agents de police a
prélever des échantillons de sang dans les prisons. Il faudrait
amener le conducteur d’un établissement de sécurité jusqu’au
bureau d’un médecin, et ce dernier pourrait refuser de prélever
les échantillons de sang pour nous, aux termes de l’article 257
du Code.

L’analyse sanguine est trés intrusive. Il faut planter une
aiguille dans le bras d’un sujet qui a consenti volontairement
au prélevement. C’est un autre degré d’intrusion; il faut aller
chercher I’échantillon de sang dans le corps du sujet. Dans le cas
de I'urine, c’est trés facile; il n’est pas nécessaire de transporter
le sujet, et cela évite I'intrusion que représente le prélévement
sanguin.

Les procureurs nous ont dit d’éviter d’essayer d’obtenir des
prélevements sanguins tant qu’une loi n’aura pas été adoptée pour
I’exiger. Dans le cas de I'urine, c’est simple. Le sujet consent a
I’examen,; il se préte a cette analyse aprées avoir été informé de son
droit aux services d’un avocat et des conséquences de 1’analyse.

Le sénateur Oliver : S’il existait actuellement une telle loi, les
résultats des analyses sanguines seraient-ils supérieurs a ceux
des analyses d’urine?

Sgt Martin : Oui.
Le sénateur Oliver : C’est ce que je voulais savoir.

Sgt Martin : Deuxiémement, au sujet de la corroboration, dans
ma province, lorsque nous faisons ces examens, nous sommes
accompagnés d’une autre personne.

Le sénateur Oliver : Durant tous ces examens?

Sgt Martin : Oui. L’autre personne a regu une formation en
reconnaissance des drogues. Elle est la a titre d’agent de sécurité,
car lorsque nous traitons avec ces conducteurs, nous n’utilisons
pas d’équipement d’usage de la force, puisque nous sommes trop
pres. Nous les touchons, nous tatons leur pouls et nous mesurons
leur pression sanguine; nous sommes a trés grande proximité.
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In some jurisdictions covered by the RCMP you only have one
or two people working at a time. If you draw both people into the
station to watch a test, you are taking a valuable resource off the
road in that community for 30 or 35 minutes, which is probably
not acceptable to many communities.

Most of the time one person does the test; he records
what he sees. He is trained to record exactly what he sees.
He is honest in what he does because he is watched by instructors
doing 12 tests before he is certified. He is able to interpret
properly. The final DRE exam to become certified runs from
four to seven hours and is taken up by two instructors to ensure
the job is done properly. There are checks and balances. We are
not just training people and sending them out. We do an academic
portion of the course, and then we go out into the field and do
12 tests on people actually under the influence of drugs. The
person performs a full evaluation. We will get a sample that
must be corroborated by a lab that it is correct, and then he
takes the final exam. The whole time he is completing those
12 tests, he is observed by two instructors to ensure he is doing
them correctly.

In terms of their subjectiveness, they are trained to perform
properly and on what to look for. In many areas, we do not have
the availability of two people observing one test. Unfortunately,
our staffing levels are not to the level where we can have two
people in their cars at all times across the country.

In our jurisdiction, we have people watching, but they do not
provide much corroborative evidence. They are there for safety
purposes. For eye exams you are very close to a person. Someone
would have to stand over your shoulder in order to corroborate
what you are saying. Unfortunately, that does not happen.

The next question is with respect to reliability.

Mr. Prokopanko: Reliability on drugs or alcohol? I will leave
the drugs to Sgt. Martin. Scientific studies have been done.

Senator Oliver: Are they universally accepted? Is there an
agreement?

Sgt. Martin: I do not think there is a current agreement on a
threshold level for drugs in terms of impairment. Each drug is
different and affects people differently. Some studies say even a
bit of LSD in your system impairs you, and then the other side
talks about what is acceptable for cannabis.

There is talk about threshold limits. The way we see it, if you
cannot have it in your pocket in the country, what gives you the
right to have it in your system while driving a car? In terms of
that, there are no thresholds for us to look at.

Dans certaines provinces desservies par la GRC, il peut n’y
avoir qu'un ou deux agents en service a un moment donné. S’il
faut que ces agents se rendent au poste pour surveiller un examen,
cela signifie que la collectivité est privée de cette ressource
précieuse pendant 30 ou 35 minutes sur ses routes, ce qui n’est
probablement pas acceptable dans bon nombre de localités.

La plupart du temps, I’examen est effectué par une seule
personne, qui inscrit les résultats obtenus. L’agent regoit une
formation pour noter exactement ce qu’il constate. Il le fait
honnétement, car des instructeurs I’ont surveillé pendant qu’il
faisait les 12 étapes avant qu’il puisse recevoir son certificat. Il est
capable de faire une bonne interprétation des indices. L’examen
final pour I'accréditation ERD dure de quatre a sept heures.
Cet examen est surveillé par deux instructeurs, qui vérifient
I’exactitude de la procédure. Il y a des freins et contrepoids. Les
agents doivent d’abord suivre un cours théorique, puis on les
envoie sur le terrain effectuer les 12 étapes sur des personnes
dont les facultés sont effectivement affaiblies par des drogues.
Ces agents doivent faire une évaluation compléte. Ils font
un prélévement qui est examiné par un laboratoire afin de
corroborer I'exactitude des résultats, puis il y a I'examen final.
Durant chacune des 12 étapes, les agents sont observés par
deux instructeurs, afin de garantir qu’elles sont effectuées
convenablement.

En ce qui a trait a la subjectivité, les agents regoivent une
formation sur la fagon de bien faire les évaluations et sur les
indices a déceler. Dans bien des régions, il n’est pas possible
d’avoir deux personnes pour effectuer les évaluations.
Malheureusement, nos niveaux de dotation ne nous permettent
pas qu’il y ait en tout temps, d’un bout a I'autre du pays, deux
agents dans chaque voiture.

Dans notre province, il y a un observateur, mais il ne fournit
pas vraiment de témoignage corroboratif. La deuxiéme personne
est 1a a des fins de sécurité. Vous devez vous tenir trés prés d’une
personne dont vous examinez les yeux. L’observateur devrait
regarder par-dessus votre épaule pour corroborer ce que vous
constatez. Malheureusement, cela ne se fait pas de cette facon.

La question suivante portait sur la fiabilité.

M. Prokopanko : La fiabilit¢é au sujet des drogues ou de
’alcool? Je vais laisser le sergent Martin vous parler des drogues.
Il y a eu des études scientifiques a ce sujet.

Le sénateur Oliver : Sont-elles universellement acceptées?
S’entend-t-on a ce sujet?

Sgt Martin : Je ne crois pas qu’il existe actuellement d’ententes
quant au seuil de consommation de drogues nécessaire pour
affaiblir les facultés. Toutes les drogues sont différentes et elles
influencent différemment les gens. D’aprés certaines études, une
trés faible quantité de LSD suffit a affaiblir vos facultés, alors
qu’a l'autre extréme, on discute de ce qui constitue une
consommation acceptable de cannabis.

On parle d’établir des seuils. Pour nous, s’il est interdit au pays
d’avoir une substance dans ses poches, de quel droit pourriez-
vous la transporter dans votre systéme pendant que vous
conduisez un véhicule? Pour nous, il n’existe pas de seuil.
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We must have the impairment first. The person is arrested for
impairment before we get involved in the DRE system. Something
is causing the person’s ability to operate a motor vehicle safely to
be affected. That is when the DRE becomes involved, and the
determination must be made whether it is a medical rule-out or
the drug causing the problem.

There is nothing in terms of agreement for thresholds of certain
categories of drugs that these levels will cause impairment.

Senator Oliver: Is there a scientific test to tell you what will
make a person impaired?

Sgt. Martin: Not that I am currently aware of, no.

Mr. Prokopanko: Even in the case of alcohol, there are a wide
variety of opinions on where or when impairment occurs.

If T may go back a step to provide my definition of
impairment — and I have taught this more than once over
31 years — it is a deterioration of attention, comprehension,
judgment, loss of fine coordination and control to such an extent
as to make the operation of a motor vehicle unsafe. There is
a pretty broad scheme there. The term “impairment” is not
necessarily weaving all over the road, falling down or not being
able to stand or walk.

Senator Oliver: Not being able to touch your nose.

Mr. Prokopanko: That is right, although that is a good one
sometimes.

With respect to “impairment,” we tossed the term out.
Everyone uses the phrase “I am not impaired.” I find that to be
interesting because “impairment” to me in the scientific world is
quite a specific term, which is the deterioration of attention,
comprehension and judgment. You do not always outwardly see
that. It does need to be drawn out.

This is the value of some of the tests being done. It is not
just waiting for someone to pour themselves out of the car.
For those people it is difficult to come to the conclusion “I think
you are impaired.” We ask questions and spend time with them.
We give them an opportunity to get over that adrenalin rush
with the lights in the rear view mirror and the uniform at the side
of the road. When they get a chance to relax with a peace officer
and answer some questions, that is when the sloppiness tends to
come out.

Not everyone has red, bloodshot and glassy eyes, slurred
speech and unsteadiness on their feet. I think every impaired
driving case should start with, “Your Honour, I observed the
first four signs; now here is what I really observed.” The
observation for impairment is, to a large extent, quite
subjective. It is about asking questions and getting an
appropriate response.

Il faut d’abord que les facultés du conducteur soient affaiblies.
Le sujet est arrété pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies avant que
soit consulté un ERD. Il faut que, pour une raison, la capacité du
sujet de conduire sans danger un véhicule motorisé soit réduite.
C’est a ce moment qu’est consulté 'ERD et que ’on détermine s’il
s’agit d’une raison d’ordre médical ou si le probleme est causé par
la consommation de drogues.

Il n’existe pas d’ententes quant au seuil de consommation pour
diverses catégories de drogues afin de déterminer a quel moment
les facultés sont affaiblies.

Le sénateur Oliver : Existe-t-il un test scientifique pour vérifier
la raison pour laquelle les facultés d’une personne sont affaiblies?

Sgt Martin : Je n’en connais pas pour l'instant, non.

M. Prokopanko : Méme dans le cas de 1’alcool, les opinions
divergent quant aux quantités nécessaires pour que les facultés
soient affaiblies.

Permettez-moi de revenir en arriére pour vous donner ma
définition de l'affaiblissement des facultés — et c’est celle que
jenseigne depuis plus de 31 ans. L’affaiblissement des facultés
est une détérioration de l’attention, de la compréhension et du
jugement, une réduction de la coordination fine et du controle
qui font en sorte que conduire un véhicule motorisé devient
dangereux. C’est donc une définition trés large. Il n’est pas
nécessaire de zigzaguer sur toute la largeur de la route, de
s’effondrer ou d’étre incapable de se tenir debout ou de marcher
pour qu’il y ait « facultés affaiblies ».

Le sénateur Oliver : Ou de ne pas pouvoir toucher son nez.

M. Prokopanko : C’est exact, bien que ce soit parfois un bon
indice.

On parle de « facultés affaiblies » a tort et a travers. Tout le
monde dit maintenant que ses facultés ne sont pas affaiblies. Je
trouve cela intéressant, car pour moi, dans le monde scientifique,
I’expression « facultés affaiblies » a une définition bien précise,
c’est-a-dire la détérioration de I’attention, de la compréhension et
du jugement. Mais cette détérioration n’a pas toujours des
manifestations visibles. Il faut pouvoir les détecter.

Cela explique la valeur de certains des examens que 1’on fait
subir. Il ne s’agit pas seulement d’attendre que quelqu’un sorte
du véhicule. Dans certains cas, il est difficile de conclure que
les facultés du conducteur sont affaiblies. Nous devons passer
du temps avec lui et lui poser des questions. Il faut lui laisser
la possibilité d’évacuer 1’adrénaline provoquée par la vue des
gyrophares dans son rétroviseur et de I’agent en uniforme.
Lorsque le conducteur a eu le temps de se détendre avec un
agent de la paix et de répondre a certaines questions, c’est alors
que le relaichement peut se manifester.

Ce n’est pas tout le monde qui a des yeux rouges, vitreux, des
difficultés d’élocution et du mal a se tenir debout. Je pense que
toute cause de conduite avec facultés affaiblies devrait commencer
ainsi : « Votre Honneur, j’ai observé les quatre premiers signes;
maintenant, voici ce que j’ai véritablement observé. » Observer
des facultés affaiblies est, généralement parlant, trés subjectif. Il
s’agit de poser des questions et d’obtenir une réaction appropriée.
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Drunk drivers are easy to find. They come to us. They are
already in the ditch and have had the collision. Impaired drivers
are difficult to determine and, for a peace officer, it is difficult to
get that point across. They tend to develop recognition of what
the average individual looks like, and impaired people take a bit
more work to develop.

In my opinion, everyone is impaired with respect to the safe
operation of a motor vehicle — I have said this in court more
than once — at 100 milligrams per cent or greater, although
I do not doubt and will agree that I can demonstrate impairment
at levels as low as 50 or 40 milligrams per cent on certain specific
tasks.

You will find a variety of opinions on where impairment really
belongs, either in alcohol or in drugs. You will not get everyone to
universally agree to a certain amount being unacceptable. It is
subjective to some extent.

Senator Di Nino: Senator Oliver’s exchange with you covered
many of the points that I wanted to talk about, but there is one
that I still have an interest in.

All of this is obviously subject to the quality of the men and
women who administer these tests and who try to keep impaired
drivers off the roads.

Sgt. Martin, I think you said that the process starts by specially
selecting people and specially training them. I would have more
comfort if you could explain to us what “special selection” and
“training” really means.

Sgt. Martin: We are looking for someone who has an interest
and a passion for impaired driving enforcement; that is, the
people who will go out and consecutively look for the people
who are impaired on our highways. Most of our traffic officers
are those people. Currently, we are looking at people with those
basic attributes, people who want to go out and arrest impaired
drivers. There is no point to training people who will not do
anything or will only answer radio calls on the road, go back and
forth but never stop an impaired driver. The people we want to
train are those who are doing the enforcement and stopping
impaired drivers. That is what we look for.

Senator Di Nino: I would have thought that all police officers
and peace officers would be interested in achieving those kinds of
results. Are you saying that there are some whose talents would be
great in that area?

Sgt. Martin: 1 think every police officer shares that goal, but
every police officer is not in a position where they have either the
opportunity or the time to answer their radio calls plus do all the
enforcement for impaired driving. That is why we have traffic

Il n’est pas difficile de trouver les conducteurs en état d’ivresse.
IIs se manifestent d’eux-mémes : ils sont déja dans le fossé,
aprés une collision. Ce qui est difficile, c’est de déterminer les
conducteurs aux facultés affaiblies et, pour un agent de la paix,
d’expliquer comment on en arrive a cette conclusion. Les agents
de la paix ont tendance a reconnaitre sans peine un comportement
moyen, mais il faut un peu plus de travail pour reconnaitre des
facultés affaiblies.

Selon moi, a 100 milligrammes d’alcool par 100 millilitres de
sang, une personne a les facultés affaiblies et ne peut conduire de
fagon sécuritaire un véhicule a moteur. Je I’ai affirmé en cour plus
d’une fois. Je ne doute pas non plus que ’on puisse prouver des
facultés affaiblies pour certaines taches spécifiques a des niveaux
aussi faibles que 50 ou 40 milligrammes, et je peux d’ailleurs le
prouver.

Il existe une série d’opinions quant au niveau auquel les
facultés sont affaiblies, soit par 1’alcool soit par les drogues. On ne
s’entend pas universellement sur un certain taux. C’est subjectif,
jusqu’a un certain point.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Dans votre échange avec le sénateur
Oliver, vous avez abordé plusieurs des points dont je voulais
parler, mais il en reste un sur lequel je voudrais satisfaire ma
curiosité.

Tout cela dépend manifestement de la trempe des hommes et
des femmes qui font subir les tests et qui s’efforcent d’empécher
les conducteurs aux facultés affaiblies de circuler sur les routes.

Sergent Martin, je crois vous avoir entendu dire que le
processus commengait par une sélection spéciale des gens, puis
une formation spéciale. Vous me rassureriez en expliquant ce que
sont cette sélection spéciale et cette formation spéciale.

Sgt Martin : Nous cherchons quelqu’un qui s’intéresse
passionnément a faire respecter la loi sur la conduite avec
facultés affaiblies, quelqu'un qui va parcourir nos routes et
chercher les gens dont les facultés sont affaiblies. La plupart
de nos agents de la circulation sont des gens de ce type. En ce
moment, nous cherchons des gens ayant ces caractéristiques de
base, des gens qui veulent agir, arréter les conducteurs aux
facultés affaiblies. Rien ne sert de former des gens qui
n’interviendront pas ou qui se contenteront de répondre aux
appels radio sur la route, qui sillonneront les routes, sans jamais
arréter un conducteur aux facultés affaiblies. Nous voulons
former les gens qui font respecter la loi et qui arrétent les
conducteurs aux facultés affaiblies. C’est ce type de personnes que
nous recherchons.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’aurais cru que tous les agents de la
paix et les agents de police cherchaient a obtenir ce type de
résultat. Dois-je comprendre qu’il y en a qui ont des dispositions
particulieres dans ce domaine?

Sgt Martin : Je pense que c’est un but commun a tous les
agents de police. Toutefois, tous les agents de police ne sont pas
en mesure de répondre aux appels radio, soit faute d’occasion,
soit faute de temps, et de faire en plus respecter la loi quant a la
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enforcement sections in most of the large major police forces that
strictly do traffic enforcement and investigations of impaired
driving and drug impaired driving offences.

In the York region, most of our south end is built up and busy.
Our front line officers usually do a 12-hour day and answer
radio calls the whole time. They are swamped with radio calls.
They go from call to call in order to deal with calls for service.
That is our primary response. People call the police and they
expect them to come and deal with that call.

Our traffic enforcement officers have more freedom where
their job is to enforce the traffic laws of the Province of Ontario
and the Criminal Code. They will go out, enforce the laws and
look for impaired drivers. They have the training above and
beyond to recognize if something needs further investigation.
They have the training in what drug impairment and alcohol
impairment looks like. They have taken the Intoxilyzer courses
and field sobriety testing courses. They have the training
above and beyond before they move into the Drug Recognition
Expert program. They must be proven performers on impaired
driving.

We have kept that as a national standard. We tell people that
we are looking for officers with a high interest and knowledge in
our traffic laws in relation to impaired driving, and we ask police
forces to send us those people. We consistently get people who
have a passion for keeping our roads safe.

Senator Di Nino: I have a few more questions on the training
end of it. You have touched on this a few times, but can you
focus on the training, including national standards? Is the
training conducted regionally, provincially or nationally? Are
the standards set by the police community across the country?
Could you enlighten us on all of that?

Sgt. Martin: The standards we deal with on the Drug
Evaluation and Classification Program are set by the
International Association of Chiefs of Police. They have a
DRE section that sets the standard that we follow as a country,
as well as in the United States and England.

With respect to the training, the people are selected. It is
completed nationally. I am running a course at the Ontario Police
College, then I will be conducting a couple of standardized
field sobriety courses and then we will be going to Newfoundland
and Labrador to run a course for the Royal Newfoundland
Constabulary. When we are finished there, we are heading out to
British Columbia to run a course for the RCMP. We run these
courses nationally back and forth across the country, and
everyone gets the same training.

conduite avec facultés affaiblies. C’est pourquoi nous avons des
services veillant a faire respecter la loi en matiére de circulation
dans la plupart des grands corps de police. Ces services se
chargent strictement de faire appliquer la loi et d’effectuer des
enquétes pour les infractions en cas de conduite avec facultés
affaiblies et avec facultés affaiblies par les drogues.

Il y a dans le sud de la région d’York un tissu urbain serré.
Nos agents en premiére ligne font généralement des journées de
12 heures, pendant lesquelles ils répondent aux appels radio
sans arrét. Ils sont inondés d’appels radio. Ils passent d’un appel
a un autre pour répondre aux besoins du service. C’est notre
intervention de base. Les gens appellent la police et s’attendent a
ce qu’elle se présente et réponde a I’appel.

Nos agents de la circulation ont plus de latitude, vu que leur
travail est de faire respecter le Code de la route de la province
de I'Ontario et le Code criminel. Ils sont sur le terrain pour
faire respecter les lois et repérer les conducteurs aux facultés
affaiblies. Ils ont plus que la formation voulue pour reconnaitre
les situations ou il convient d’enquéter plus avant. Ils ont la
formation voulue pour reconnaitre les facultés affaiblies par
I’alcool ou par les drogues. Ils ont suivi les cours sur I’alcootest et
les cours sur les tests normalisés de sobriété en bordure de la
route. IlIs ont la formation voulue et plus, avant de passer au
programme de classification et d’évaluation des drogues. Ils
doivent avoir fait leurs preuves en matiére de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies.

Nous en avons fait une norme nationale. Nous disons aux gens
que nous recherchons des agents s’intéressant beaucoup aux lois
sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, des gens qui connaissent
bien ces lois, et nous demandons aux corps de police de nous
envoyer ces gens. On nous envoie des gens qui tiennent
passionnément a ce que nos routes soient sdres.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’ai quelques questions supplémentaires
sur I’aspect formation. Vous y avez fait allusion une ou deux fois,
mais pourriez-vous nous en dire plus sur la formation, y compris
sur les normes nationales? La formation s’effectue-t-elle au niveau
régional, provincial ou national? Les normes sont-elles fixées
par les corps de police du pays? Que pouvez-vous nous dire sur
tout cela?

Sgt Martin : Les normes adoptées dans le cadre du Programme
de classification et d’évaluation des drogues sont établies par
I’Association internationale des chefs de police. Ils ont une section
sur les experts en reconnaissance de drogues qui établit les
normes que nous respectons au Canada, comme aux Etats-Unis
et en Angleterre.

En ce qui concerne la formation, nous choisissons les
candidats. Cela s’effectue au niveau national. J’organise un
cours au Colléege de police de I’Ontario; puis je donnerai
quelques cours sur le test normalisé de sobriété en bordure de la
route; apres quoi, j'irai a Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador pour donner
un cours a la Force constabulaire royale de Terre-Neuve. Une fois
cela fini, nous irons en Colombie-Britannique donner un cours
pour la GRC. Nous donnons ces cours partout au pays et tout le
monde suit la méme formation.
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There is a two-week academic portion where people learn
about drugs, what they are and what they do to the body. We
talk about physiology and various things. They must pass that
course with a minimum score of 80 per cent on the final exam.
There are six quizzes, and they have to be proficient in the battery
of tests they will perform before they move out of the academic
portion.

Once we do that, we move to the practical portion where
evaluations are done on 12 subjects under the influence of a drug.
We have used volunteers and taken people to Arizona with a
much larger base to draw from. The evaluation is paid for by the
national program to get them certified. They must make their
calls and be correct in them. While they are doing these tests, they
are observed by two instructors who watch them to ensure they
are doing the test properly, and they are critiqued after each and
every one. We have had instances where we will not sign off on
the evaluation as proficient. The person must keep practicing.
We lose people during this process. They do not want to do it;
they are not proficient in the skills; they do drop out. That is
unfortunate but that happens. We cannot have a substandard
person going through, especially when dealing with subjective
tests.

Once they have finished that, they must submit a resumé for
approval about what they are doing. They then do the final
knowledge exam, which runs between four to seven hours,
which is all essay style, and they write. We give them questions
such as: Tell us about hallucinogens and alcohol. If these two
drug categories are together, what are you going to see as a
drug recognition expert? It takes quite a while to write. It is
taken up with the person. If they pass, we will gather up their
package and send it off to the international association for
accreditation. They are accredited as a DRE, which is good for
two years. Every DRE in this country must recertify every
two years to show he is proficient and do an evaluation in front
of an instructor to show his skills are still there and he can still
categorize and perform the tests properly.

Senator Andreychuk: I have a follow-up question on
impairment before you go to alcohol.

Am I correct that, once we started to identify the problem of
drinking and driving, we then went to try to find some solution
beyond the generic section we have in the Criminal Code on
impaired driving? You had to go through these physical tests,
and there are many defences such as “I cannot do the test; you
did not do it properly.” We then developed the Breathalyzer.
We have put the line of the charge on a Breathalyzer. We still
have the impaired driving section and we have the Breathalyzer.
We are simply saying: “If you have that much blood alcohol in
your system, you will be convicted.” It does not matter if you are
“impaired” or not.

Il y a une portion théorique de deux semaines, durant laquelle
les stagiaires acquiérent des connaissances sur les drogues, leur
nature et leur effet sur le corps. Nous parlons de physiologie et
d’autres choses. Les stagiaires doivent réussir cette portion du
cours avec une note minimale de 80 p. 100 a 'examen final. Il y a
six questionnaires et toute une série de tests que les stagiaires
doivent étre en mesure d’effectuer avant de pouvoir clore la
portion théorique.

Une fois cette portion terminée, nous passons au volet
pratique, avec une évaluation de 12 sujets sous l'influence d’une
drogue. Nous avons utilisé des volontaires et amené les gens en
Arizona ou il est possible d’exploiter une bien plus grande base.
L’évaluation est payée par le programme national en vue de
I'obtention de I'agrément. Les stagiaires doivent se prononcer et
arriver a la bonne conclusion. Pendant qu’ils effectuent ces tests,
ils sont observés par deux instructeurs qui les surveillent pour
s’assurer qu’ils effectuent les tests comme il faut et ils leur donnent
une rétroaction a chaque fois. Le stagiaire doit continuer a
s’entrainer. Il y a des gens qui sont éliminés, des gens qui ne
veulent pas le faire, qui ne maitrisent pas les habiletés ou qui
laissent tomber le cours. C’est regrettable mais cela se produit.
Nous ne pouvons pas agréer une personne qui n’est pas a la
hauteur, surtout pas avec des tests subjectifs.

Une fois que les stagiaires ont fini, ils doivent présenter un
résumé visant a faire approuver leur rapproche. Ils ont ensuite
un examen final sur leur connaissance : de quatre a sept heures
pour la rédaction au long des réponses a des questions telles
que : « Parlez-nous des hallucinogénes et de 1’alcool. En cas de
conjonction de ces deux catégories de drogues, qu’allez-vous
constater, en tant qu’experts en reconnaissance de drogues? » Les
réponses prennent du temps. On les examine avec le candidat. Si
le candidat est regu, nous envoyons son dossier a ’Association
internationale, en vue de l'agrément. Le candidat est alors
accrédité comme expert en reconnaissance de drogues,
I’agrément étant valable pour deux ans. Chaque expert canadien
doit renouveler son accréditation tous les deux ans, pour montrer
ce qu’il fait et effectuer une évaluation devant un instructeur, afin
de prouver qu’il a conservé les habiletés voulues et peut toujours
catégoriser les cas et effectuer les tests comme il convient.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : J’ai une question de suivi sur les
facultés affaiblies, avant qu’on passe a 1’alcool.

Ai-je raison de dire que, quand nous nous sommes attaqués
au probléme de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, nous nous
sommes efforcés de trouver une solution, d’aller plus loin que
larticle générique sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies qui
figure dans le Code criminel? Il y avait une série de tests physiques
et une série de défenses possibles comme : « Je ne peux pas
effectuer le test; vous ne l’avez pas administré comme il
convient. » C’est alors que nous avons élaboré I’alcootest, qui
nous a permis, tout en conservant I’article sur la conduite avec
facultés affaiblies, de dire simplement: « Si vous avez dans
votre sang un taux d’alcool a tant, vous étes coupable d’une
infraction. » Peu importe alors que vos facultés soient affaiblies
ou pas.
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My understanding is we do not have a separate stand-alone
drug impairment capability. You have to go through the
impairment test first to get to the point that you will discover
whether the person was impaired by alcohol, drugs or something
else we have not thought of. Is that where we are at?

Sgt. Martin: If we are talking about straight alcohol
impairment at the side of the road, the person will follow the
alcohol stream. We have the Intoxilyzers at two tests, 17 minutes
apart. We will go into that stream. If he is brought in for the DRE
test, the reason we do the first step, the breath alcohol test, is to
determine if we are dealing with alcohol. For some people who
drink, there is a slight odour. The officer may be confused and
thinking it is drugs but it turns out to be alcohol. We can break
off there, if it is alcohol, into the alcohol stream.

For drugs, I think you are getting at the threshold charges
where you are looking at the over 80 limit, if I am not mistaken,
ma’am.

Senator Andreychuk: No. The point is, if you do not have a
system for knowing you have a certain amount of drugs in your
system you will automatically be charged and convicted, as we
say, if you have a certain amount of alcohol. Of course there are
some reasonable defences, but we do not have that kind of test for
drugs yet.

Sgt. Martin: We do not have that kind of test yet, no,
senator.

Senator Andreychuk: That is what I was getting at.

The other question raised by some of the senators here,
if not witnesses, was the issue of prescription drugs. Can you
enlighten us more about how you look at those? If the person
is so impaired that they cannot translate to you that they are on a
prescription drug, what do you do then? If they have it, I presume
you will think that is the drug that is impairing them and they
have some legitimate use for it, so you will take that into account.
However, what if they are so impaired that they are not making
sense and they are not carrying the drugs on them?

Sgt. Martin: We will use the DRE evaluation. For those
purposes, he has already been arrested for impaired driving.
Our Criminal Code says “drug,” not “illegal,” or “illegal drug.”
If the person is using his prescription and reading the warning
labels on the bottles and listening to his doctor and using
therapeutic doses, if he is using it the way he is supposed to, he
will probably never run into a drug recognition expert. I have
people working in my section who use prescription drugs who
are not impaired when they are operating their motor vehicles.
They use them every day. They have issues they have to use the
drugs for. It is when you get into situations where people use

A ce que je comprends, nous n’avons pas de détermination
distincte de facultés affaiblies par les drogues. Pour déterminer
si les facultés d’une personne sont affaiblies par I’alcool,
les drogues ou autre chose a quoi nous n’avons pas pensé,
il faut d’abord procéder au test sur les facultés affaiblies.
C’est bien cela?

Sgt Martin : S’il s’agit de facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool
que l'on constate en bordure de la route, la personne est
simplement dirigée dans la filiere de 1’alcool. Nous avons
l’alcootest, administré a deux reprises, a 17 minutes d’intervalle.
La personne est dirigée dans cette voie. Quand on décide d’avoir
recours au test d’un expert en reconnaissance de drogues, si,
dans un premier temps, on administre un alcootest, c’est pour
déterminer s’il s’agit d’alcool. Parfois, il y a une certaine odeur
associée a la consommation d’alcool. L’agent peut se tromper,
croire qu’il s’agit de drogues, alors qu’il s’agit d’alcool. Dans ce
cas, on arréte; s’il s’agit d’alcool, on dirige la personne vers la
filiére de I’alcool.

S’il s’agit de drogues, vous en arrivez aux accusations qui
peuvent étre portées si le seuil de 80 est dépassé, sauf erreur
madame.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Non. Voici ce que je voulais dire.
Faute d’une méthode pour savoir qu’une certaine quantité de
drogue est présente dans le systéme de la personne, celle-ci est
automatiquement accusée et inculpée si elle a une certaine
quantité d’alcool. Bien str il y a des défenses raisonnables,
mais c’est un test qui n’existe pas encore pour les drogues.

Sgt Martin : Non, effectivement, nous ne disposons pas encore
de ce genre de test, sénateur.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : C’est ce a quoi je voulais en venir.

L’autre question soulevée par certains des sénateurs du
comité, méme si les témoins ne 1'ont pas abordée, est celle des
médicaments sur ordonnance. Pourriez-vous nous en dire un peu
plus sur la fagon dont vous les considérez? Si les facultés de la
personne sont si affaiblies qu’elle ne peut pas vous informer du
fait qu’elle prend des médicaments sur ordonnance, que faites-
vous alors? Si cette personne a le médicament, vous supposez que
c’est ce médicament qui affaiblit ses facultés et qu’elle a une raison
légitime de I'utiliser, je suppose, et vous en tenez donc compte.
Mais si les facultés de cette personne sont si affaiblies qu’elle est
incohérente et si cette personne n’a pas le médicament sur elle,
que se passe-t-il?

Sgt Martin : Nous utilisons 1’évaluation des experts en
reconnaissance de drogues. Dans le cas en question, la personne
a déja été arrétée pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Or le
Code criminel parle de drogue, pas de drogue illicite. Si une
personne utilise un médicament sur ordonnance et lit les mises en
garde figurant sur 'emballage, si elle tient compte des conseils de
son docteur et utilise des doses thérapeutiques, si elle utilise le
médicament comme il convient, elle ne se heurtera sans doute
jamais a un expert en reconnaissance de drogues. J’ai dans ma
section des gens qui travaillent en prenant des médicaments sur
ordonnance et qui ne conduisent pas de véhicule a moteur avec
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them more than they are prescribed because they to want feel
better that they are using it outside the norms. They are not
reading the warning labels.

I look my 10-year-old to the doctor before I came to Ottawa,
and on her prescription bottle from Shopper’s Drug Mart, it
warns her not to operate a motor vehicle or if you use these drugs
please do not operate a motor vehicle with it. She will not drive,
so that is good.

However, if they read the packages, the warning is already
there. We put stickers on bottles. We put warning labels on liquor
bottles, but people still drink and drive. If they heed the warnings
and use their prescription drugs as they are supposed to, they will
never run into us because they will not be showing gross signs
of impairment when they are driving a motor vehicle. When
people overprescribe or ignore the warnings or start mixing and
matching alcohol with their drugs they will start running into
the DRE situation.

When we had a prescription drugs case go through our
jurisdiction in York region, the person who was told to take one
pill unfortunately took four because he wanted to feel better
sooner. He was then into an impairment situation driving his
motor vehicle. It was not gross impairment. He was actually
driving on a sidewalk. That was a problem for us.

Senator Andreychuk: Basically, the bottom line is, if you are in
care and control of a vehicle, you have a responsibility to drive
appropriately and take other steps.

Sgt. Martin: Yes.

Senator Andreychuk: We went through those defences, for
example, “I did not know there was alcohol in my Coke.”
That may or may not be a defence. It depends on the situation
and that is for the judge to evaluate. The bottom line is you have a
responsibility to drive carefully and we do not want impaired
drivers on the road.

Sgt. Martin: That is right. In Ontario, under the Highway
Traffic Act, driving is a privilege given to you by the government.
You have certain responsibilities to maintain that privilege.
One of them is driving sober. You owe it to the other road
users to drive sober so you are not a danger to them and to
yourself driving on the roads. If you are going to use prescription
drugs, read the warnings. They are in bright orange on the
front of all the bottles you get. You cannot miss them if you
are opening a prescription bottle. Doctors explain side effects.
If you read those manifests you gets from the pharmacies
nowadays, they will tell you what not to mix and match with
your drugs. If people took those steps, there would be no problem
on the roads. It is when people want to feel better faster that
they start overmedicating themselves to feel good.

des facultés affaiblies. Ils utilisent pourtant ces médicaments jour
apres jour, pour des troubles particuliers. Le probléme se présente
uniquement quand les gens utilisent de plus fortes doses que celles
prescrites parce qu’ils veulent se sentir mieux, quand ils utilisent
les médicaments sans respecter les normes, quand ils ne lisent pas
les mises en garde.

J’ai amené ma fille de 10 ans voir le médecin avant de venir a
Ottawa et sur sa bouteille de médicament sur ordonnance de
Shopper’s Drug Mart il y avait une mise en garde lui disant de ne
pas conduire de voiture aprés avoir consommé le médicament.
Elle ne conduira pas; c’est donc une bonne chose.

Mais s’ils lisent les emballages, les mises en garde sont déja 1a.
On met des étiquettes sur les bouteilles. On met des avertissements
sur les bouteilles d’alcool mais les gens continuent quand méme de
conduire aprés avoir bu. S’ils écoutent les mises en garde et
prennent leurs médicaments sur ordonnance comme ils sont
censés le faire, ils n’auront jamais affaire a nous parce qu’ils ne
manifesteront pas de signes évidents de conduite avec facultés
affaiblies. Quand les médecins multiplient les ordonnances ou que
les gens ne tiennent pas compte de mises en garde ou mélent
alcool et médicaments, ils risquent de tomber sur un ERD.

Nous avons eu une affaire de médicaments sur ordonnance
dans la région de York. Le médecin lui avait prescrit de prendre
un comprimé mais il en a avalé quatre parce qu’il voulait guérir
plus vite. Il conduisait donc avec les facultés affaiblies. Ce n’était
pas un cas d’affaiblissement excessif. Il roulait sur le trottoir.
Ca été un probléme pour nous.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : La conclusion, c’est que si vous étes
responsable d un véhicule, vous avez le devoir de conduire comme
il faut et de prendre d’autres précautions.

Sgt Martin : Oui.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : On a déja étudié ces motifs de
défense. Par exemple, « Je ne pensais pas qu’il y avait de I’alcool
dans mon coca ». Peut-étre que c’est un motif de défense; peut-
étre que ¢a n’en est pas. Ca dépend de la situation et c’est au juge
de juger. Le message, c’est que vous avez le devoir de conduire
prudemment et qu’on ne veut pas de conducteurs aux facultés
affaiblies sur la route.

Sgt Martin : Oui. En Ontario, en vertu du Code de la route, le
droit de conduire est un privilége qui vous est accordé par le
gouvernement. Pour le conserver, vous devez assumer certaines
responsabilités. L'une d’elles est de conduire en état de sobriété.
Vous avez l’obligation vis-a-vis des autres conducteurs de
conduire en état de sobriété pour ne pas étre un danger, ni pour
eux ni pour vous-méme. Si vous prenez un médicament sur
ordonnance, lisez les mises en garde. Elles sont de couleur orange
vif sur le devant de la bouteille. Il est impossible de les rater si
vous ouvrez une bouteille de médicaments sur ordonnance. Les
médecins vous expliquent les effets secondaires. Les notices qu’on
vous remet aujourd’hui dans les pharmacies vous disent de ne
pas mélanger vos médicaments. Si les gens les observaient, il n’y
aurait pas de problémes sur les routes. C’est quand les gens
veulent guérir plus vite qu’ils se mettent a surconsommer des
médicaments.
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There are cases where people will take whole bottles of
pills because they want to feel better quicker to get back into
normal functioning society. Unfortunately, that leads them
into conflict with us because they are driving impaired under
the Criminal Code. Our Criminal Code right now just says
“drug.”

Senator Andreychuk: You said, “failure to be responsible to
other drivers.” I would extend that to everyone because
pedestrians are often victims.

Sgt. Martin: Yes.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: Here is my understanding: At present,
if you stop someone for what you believe is drug-impaired
driving, you can suggest that he take a test, but he is not forced
to do so. The bill would force that individual to pass a test
if you believe he is drug-impaired.

Based on your experience, what percentage of drivers are
presently driving while drug-impaired? Of that percentage, do
you have an idea of the percentage of accidents that might be
caused due to drug-impaired driving?

[English)

Sgt. Martin: To answer your question, yes. If we stop someone
suspected of impaired driving, it is not mandatory that they
comply with the test. We can ask them to take the test, and if they
refuse that is fine.

There have been studies done about people driving under the
influence. One was done in Quebec, and they attributed alcohol
and other drugs to fatally injured drivers. A study in 2002,
determined that 30.2 per cent of fatally injured drivers had drugs
in their system. A similar study from British Columbia in the early
1990s put the drug limit around 20 per cent. These are fatally
injured drivers who have been killed in collisions and have been
checked for drugs; and they are finding 20 to 30 per cent test
positive for drugs.

In terms of drug users, looking at the Ontario drug use
survey, approximately 20 per cent of those aged 16 to 19 years
old say they have driven within one hour of using cannabis.
The Manitoba student drug use survey puts that figure at about
19 per cent. That is a substantial number of people.

I cannot tell you how many accidents have been caused.
However, looking at that number of fatalities, if 30 per cent of
those fatally injured drivers had drugs in their system, that is a
substantial number of people using and driving.

Il est arrivé que des gens avalent toute une bouteille pour guérir
vite et réintégrer la société normale. Malheureusement, cela
les place sur notre chemin parce qu’ils conduisent avec des
facultés affaiblies au sens du Code criminel. Le Code criminel,
en anglais, ne parle que de « drug », qui signifie en frangais
drogue et médicament.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous parlez de manquer de
responsabilité vis-a-vis des autres conducteurs. J’inclurais aussi
les piétons, qui sont souvent des victimes.

Sgt Martin : Oui.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Chaput : Ma compréhension est la suivante :
présentement, si vous arrétez un conducteur et vous croyez que
ses facultés sont affaiblies a cause de la drogue, vous pouvez
lui suggérer de passer un test, mais il n’est pas obligé de s’y
soumettre. Le projet de loi I'obligerait, si vous croyez que ses
facultés sont affaiblies par la drogue, a passer un test quelconque.

D’aprés votre expérience, quel serait le pourcentage de
conducteurs, présentement, qui conduiraient avec des facultés
affaiblies par les drogues? Sur ce pourcentage, avez-vous une idée
du pourcentage d’accidents qui pourraient étre causés par les
facultés affaiblies par la drogue?

[Traduction]

Sgt Martin : Oui. Si nous arrétons quelqu’'un qui est
soupgonné de conduite avec les facultés affaiblies, la personne
n’est pas obligée de subir le test. On lui demande mais elle peut
refuser.

Il'y a eu des études sur des conducteurs avec facultés affaiblies,
dont une au Québec. Les conducteurs morts de leurs blessures
I’ont été a cause de I’alcool et d’autres drogues. Une étude de 2002
a déterminé que 30,2 p. 100 des conducteurs morts de leurs
blessures avaient des drogues dans le corps. Une étude semblable
en Colombie-Britannique effectuée au début des années 1990 a
placé la limite de la drogue a environ 20 p. 100. Ce sont des
conducteurs fatalement blessés qui ont été tués dans des collisions
et qui ont été contrdlés pour des drogues; les tests révelent
qu’entre 20 et 30 p. 100 avaient de la drogue dans le corps.

En termes de consommateurs de drogues, si je regarde
I’enquéte sur la consommation de drogues en Ontario, a peu
prés 20 p. 100 des 16 et 19 ans disent avoir conduit dans I’heure
qui a suivi la consommation de cannabis. L’enquéte sur la
consommation de drogues des étudiants au Manitoba place le
chiffre autour de 19 p. 100. Ca fait beaucoup de monde.

Je ne peux pas vous dire combien d’accidents ont été causés.
Quand je regarde le nombre de déces, si 30 p. 100 de ces
conducteurs mortellement blessés avaient de la drogue dans le
corps, c’est un nombre important de personnes droguées au
volant.
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[Translation)

Senator Chaput: Would it not be simpler to impose what
we call zero tolerance? If you drive, you do not drink or take
drugs.

[English)

Sgt. Martin: If we have zero tolerance but for people using
therapeutic drugs — those who have the drugs in their system but
are not impaired — that would still make them criminals under a
zero tolerance bill. We would be criminalizing someone using
their drugs properly, who are not breaking any impaired driving
laws but still have the drugs in their system above their threshold
level of zero.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: Then what would the solution be for people
who are taking drugs? If you cannot determine the substances
absorbed, if you cannot make a distinction between prescription
drugs and illicit drugs, then we have a dilemma.

[English]

Sgt. Martin: In terms of a solution, if people use their
prescription drugs therapeutically, they will not be impaired.
They will not run into a drug recognition officer. If they are using
prescription drugs the way they are directed by their doctors, have
read the warnings and are using them in therapeutic doses in
accordance with what they are told, they will not be impaired to
operate a motor vehicle. It is people who abuse and use illegal
drugs who fall into conflict with law enforcement. They are
hazards on the road because they are using illegal drugs or are
abusing prescription drugs while they drive.

The Chair: Ultimately, under this bill, it all comes down to the
reliability of the tests. I do not mean the 12-step, touch-your-nose-
with-your finger test or whatever, but the ultimate toxicological
tests, Breathalyzer tests or whatever. That is really important,
because under this bill the only defence allowed is for the accused
to prove that the equipment was malfunctioning.

I have two areas that I would like you to enlighten us on.
First, how can we be sure that the machines are always and
everywhere accurate? Everyone is aware of false positives and,
indeed, false negatives that turn up in all kinds of medical
situations; not every day, but it happens, and we all know people
to whom it has happened. We are all familiar with highly complex
pieces of equipment that fail on occasion.

Since we are pinning absolutely everything on the accuracy of
these tests, how can we be so sure of their accuracy?

Mr. Prokopanko: Let me jump in on the alcohol side first.
I am not quite sure that the changes in the bill eliminate other
defences. That is, I do not see that there is only one defence to
impaired drivers if this bill is passed. The existing schemes

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Chaput : Est-ce qu’il ne serait pas plus simple
d’imposer ce que nous appelons la tolérance zéro? Si on conduit,
on ne consomme ni alcool ni drogue.

[Traduction]

Sgt Martin : Si nous avons une tolérance zéro pour ceux qui
prennent des médicaments — ceux qui ont de la drogue dans le
corps mais dont les facultés ne sont pas affaiblies, ¢a ferait quand
méme d’eux des criminels aux termes d’une loi sur la tolérance
zéro. On criminaliserait quelqu’'un qui prend ses médicaments
comme il faut, qui n’enfreint aucune loi sur la conduite avec
facultés affaiblies mais qui a quand méme de la drogue dans son
organisme au-dessus du niveau autorisé de zéro.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Chaput : Quelle serait alors la solution pour les
personnes qui prennent des drogues? Si on ne peut déterminer les
substances absorbées, si on ne peut faire la distinction entre les
médicaments et les drogues, nous sommes devant un dilemme.

[Traduction]

Sgt Martin : En termes de solution, si les gens utilisent
leurs médicaments sur ordonnance de maniére thérapeutique,
leurs facultés ne seront pas affaiblies. Ils ne tomberont pas
sur un expert en reconnaissance de drogues. S’ils prennent leurs
médicaments sur ordonnance selon les prescriptions de leur
médecin, s’ils en lisent la mise en garde et prennent la dose
prescrite, ils seront en état de conduire. Ce sont ceux qui en
abusent ou qui consomment de la drogue qui ont maille & partir
avec les policiers. Ils représentent un danger sur la route parce
qu’ils prennent de la drogue ou abusent de médicaments au
volant.

La présidente : Malheureusement, dans ce projet de loi, tout
dépend de la fiabilité des tests. Je ne parle pas des 12 étapes, de
devoir se toucher le nez avec le doigt ou peu importe, mais les tests
toxicologiques, les alcootests ou peu importe. C’est vraiment
important parce que dans ce texte, le seul moyen de défense
autorisé est de prouver que le matériel d’analyse fonctionnait mal.

Il y a deux points sur lesquels j’aimerais que vous nous
éclairiez. D’abord, comment peut-on s’assurer que les appareils
sont systématiquement fideles. Chacun sait qu’il y a des faux
positifs et méme des faux négatifs qui se présentent dans toutes
sortes de situations médicales, pas a tous les jours, mais ¢a arrive
et nous connaissons tous des gens a qui c’est arrivé. Nous savons
tous qu’il arrive parfois que des appareils trés complexes soient
erronés.

Comme absolument tout dépend de I’exactitude de ces tests,
comment peut-on s’assurer de leur exactitude?

M. Prokopanko : Laissez-moi d’abord vous parler de I’alcool.
Je ne suis pas tout a fait siir que les modifications qui se trouvent
dans le projet de loi fassent disparaitre les autres moyens de
défense. Autrement dit, je ne vois pas qu’il n’y ait qu’un seul
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probably will still exist, albeit tougher to get through. There are
three additional hoops that I believe this bill makes an accused
jump through in order to, as you say, prove where the problem is.

As a forensic scientist, I really like that, because we have gone
through what I think of as many more hoops to ensure that
the equipment being used is suitable, reliable, accurate and
technically approved by the Criminal Code before it ever gets into
the scheme of being used for Criminal Code investigation. It is not
like you go down to Costco and pick up Fred’s breath-testing
equipment. It goes through a great deal of evaluation prior to
being included and recognized by the Criminal Code as an
approved instrument or an approved screening device.

The Alcohol Test Committee is the group that does that
evaluation. We already have a great deal of comfort and
knowledge about the equipment before it is put in place. There
are a number of safeguards or checks done with every single
breath test, every single procedure, that we feel demonstrates that
the equipment is in proper working order and that the test is
accurate and reliable. They include regimented and strict
procedures that a qualified technician must follow in order to
perform a proper breath test.

To return to the earlier question about training, it is not just
any peace officer who does a breath test. In order to perform a
breath test in Canada, you have to be designated by the Attorney
General of that province. In order to get that designation, you
have to successfully complete a training program. The training
program is outlined in the recommended standards of the Alcohol
Test Committee. We recommend classroom, background
knowledge in addition to hands-on, practical testing. At
present, the recommendation is 40 hours of training. Many
programs in the States cannot believe that we spend that much
time training people, but we do. These are not just people who
push buttons. We give them a great deal of background and
knowledge before we let them get into the sphere of breath testing.

The equipment, especially what we use nowadays and the next
generation of equipment, is primarily microprocessor controlled,
which has good and bad points. The approach in Breathalyzer
days was quite mechanical. I long for Breathalyzer days because
you had control of the equipment and you had to do everything.
The uncomfortable part was that perhaps an accused felt
that if that peace officer controls that breath test, he would like
it to be automated so that the peace officer cannot control his
breath test.

We introduced automated equipment, microprocessors and
computers that run it. Computers are dumb. They only know
what you tell them. We set up criteria that they have to meet.
Many of those criteria are our fail-safes. We set specific levels
for internal and external standard checks. We have them do
diagnostic checks. It has to check the air — we call these blank
tests — to ensure there is nothing in the room that will produce a
false positive result. We ensure that the sample chamber where the

moyen de défense pour les conducteurs avec facultés affaiblies si le
texte est adopté. Les mécanismes actuels continueront sans doute
d’exister, mais seront plus sévéres. L’accusé devra satisfaire a trois
exigences supplémentaires si le texte est adopté pour prouver ou
est le probléme.

Comme expert judiciaire, ¢a me plait beaucoup, parce qu’on
a satisfait a beaucoup plus d’exigences pour s’assurer que le
matériel utilisé est adapté, fiable, exact et techniquement
approuvé par le Code criminel avant d’étre intégré a ce
mécanisme et d’étre utilisé pour une enquéte du Code criminel.
Ce n’est pas comme si vous alliez chez Costco pour acheter le
matériel d’alcootest de Fred. Ca passe par toute une série
d’évaluations avant d’étre inclus et reconnu par le Code
criminel comme instrument approuvé ou appareil approuvé de
dépistage.

C’est le Comité des analyses d’alcool qui s’occupe de cette
évaluation. Nous en savons déja beaucoup sur le matériel avant
qu’il soit mis en service et nous n’avons aucune crainte. Pour
chaque alcootest, il y a toute une série de garanties et de controles
qui attestent le bon fonctionnement du matériel ainsi que la
fiabilité et I’exactitude du test. Cela comprend des procédures
strictes et rigoureuses qu’un technicien qualifié doit suivre pour
effectuer un alcootest en regle.

Pour revenir a une question posée tout a ’heure au sujet de la
formation, ce n’est pas n’importe quel agent de la paix qui fait
subir un alcootest. Pour en faire subir un au Canada, vous devez
avoir été désigné par le procureur général de la province. Pour
obtenir cette désignation, vous devez avoir réussi un programme
de formation. Le programme de formation est décrit dans les
normes recommandées du Comité des analyses d’alcool. Nous
recommandons des cours, des connaissances de base en plus de
tests pratiques. Actuellement, la recommandation est de 40 heures
de formation. Beaucoup de programmes aux Etats-Unis ne
peuvent pas croire qu’on passe autant de temps a former les
gens, mais c’est ce qu’on fait. Ils ne se contentent pas de pousser
des boutons. Nous leur donnons beaucoup d’information de base
et de connaissances avant de les laisser procéder a des alcootests.

Le matériel, surtout ce qu’on utilise aujourd’hui et la
prochaine génération de matériel, est en majorité contrélé
par un microprocesseur, ce qui a du bon et du mauvais. A
I’époque de l'alcootest Breathalyzer, la fagcon de procéder était
trés mécanique. Cette époque me manque parce que c’est vous
qui contrdliez le matériel et vous deviez tout faire. La partie
désagréable est que peut-étre ’accusé trouvait que si c’est I’agent
de la paix qui contréle le test, il préférerait qu’il soit automatisé
pour que ’agent de la paix ne puisse pas contréler son alcootest.

Nous avons introduit du matériel automatisé, des
microprocesseurs et des ordinateurs qui le conduisent. Les
ordinateurs ne sont pas intelligents. Ils ne savent que ce que
vous leur dites. Nous fixons des critéres qu’ils doivent respecter.
Beaucoup de ces critéres sont nos garanties de sécurité. Nous
fixons des niveaux précis pour les controles standard internes et
externes. On leur fait subir des contréles diagnostiques. 11 faut
qu’ils contrélent 1’air — on appelle ca des tests a blanc — pour
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breath sample is blown into is clean both before and after a
breath test. These procedures are now programmed into the
way the equipment works automatically. It is nice when the
equipment works perfectly, but when it has a hiccup or makes
a mistake, it always aborts and shuts down. Unfortunately,
sometimes what it calls an error is not really an error; it is
something that can be accounted for, yet it will still abort and
shut down the breath test.

The Chair: How do you know if it has made a mistake? No
computer I ever worked with says: “Whoops, I, the computer,
did something wrong.” It is operator error, user error, input
error. Everyone else but the computer is blamed, but things
g0 wrong.

Mr. Prokopanko: Whatever the source of error, almost without
exception it shuts down the breath test so that you will not be
continuing with an incorrect instrument. I qualify that by saying
not absolutely every single activity. Keep in mind that this is the
bad part of relying on automated equipment; it is not just the
instrument any longer. That is why we spend an extremely long
time on our training process for the qualified technician to
recognize and to troubleshoot those situations where the
instrument did something; it was not supposed to do that; why
did it do it? We try to expose the qualified technician to every
circumstance he or she can run into to see what causes it,
troubleshoot and figure out what needs to be done to eliminate it
or to correct that situation, and learn the proper procedure and
protocol to conduct a proper breath test.

Again, it is not just a reliance on the computer. There is a
qualified technician who is responsible for not just pushing
the button but evaluating the situation and dealing with the
subject. There are some safeguards in our training where we train
officers to recognize things other than impairment by ethyl
alcohol, not to the degree of the drug recognition program,
but to look for things other than regular basic liquor that
people might have consumed and how they show up on the
instrumentation and how to deal with those people as well.

The Chair: What about for drugs?

Sgt. Martin: For samples that we take from people who have
been processed through the Drug Recognition Expert program,
the samples are sent to accredited labs for analysis. The
equipment they use at the labs, I cannot comment on. I am not
a lab or forensic toxicologist. The samples are sealed and sent to
the accredited labs that support law enforcement, the centre for
forensic sciences, the crime lab in Montreal and the RCMP labs
across the country, where they are analyzed.

sassurer qu’il n’y a rien dans la salle qui puisse produire
un résultat erronément positif. On s’assure que I’enceinte
d’échantillonnage dans laquelle est soufflé I’échantillon d’haleine
est propre aussi bien avant qu’aprés le test. Ces procédures
sont maintenant programmées dans l’appareil, qui fonctionne
automatiquement. C’est bien quand D’appareil marche
parfaitement, mais s’il y a un raté ou une erreur, le test est
interrompu et l'appareil s’éteint. Malheureusement, parfois ce
qu’il appelle une erreur n’en est pas; c’est quelque chose qui
peut étre expliqué mais le test va quand méme étre interrompu
et 'appareil va se fermer.

La présidente : Comment savez-vous qu’il a fait une erreur?
Je n’ai jamais travaillé sur un ordinateur qui m’a dit : « Oups, j’ai
fait une erreur ». C’est une erreur de 'opérateur, de I'utilisateur,
de saisie. On blame tout sauf ’ordinateur, mais il arrive qu’il y ait
des défaillances.

M. Prokopanko : Quelle que soit la source de I’erreur, presque
sans exception, elle interrompt I’alcootest pour que vous ne
continuiez pas avec un appareil défectueux. N’oubliez pas que
c’est le désavantage de se fier a du matériel automatisé; il ne s’agit
plus seulement d’un instrument. C’est pourquoi nous consacrons
extrémement de temps a la formation du technicien qualifié
pour qu’il reconnaisse et corrige les situations ou I'appareil a fait
quelque chose; il n’était pas censé faire ¢a; pourquoi est-ce qu’il I’a
fait? Nous essayons de mettre en présence le technicien avec
tous les cas de figure pour qu’il détermine la cause, puis découvre
ce qui doit étre fait pour Iéliminer ou la corriger, et apprenne
la procédure et le protocole correct pour réaliser un alcootest
en regle.

Je le répéte; on ne fait pas que se fier aux ordinateurs. Un
technicien qualifi¢ est chargé non seulement d’appuyer sur le
bouton, mais également d’évaluer la situation et d’étudier le
sujet. Lors de notre formation, certains dispositifs de protection
permettent de former les officiers a reconnaitre des choses autres
que les facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool éthylique; ¢a ne va pas
aussi loin que le programme de reconnaissance des drogues, mais
on leur enseigne a chercher des indices selon lesquels les gens ont
consommé autre chose que de ’alcool ordinaire, la fagon dont
les instruments le détectent et comment traiter avec ces gens
également.

La présidente : Qu’en est-il des drogues?

Sgt Martin : Dans le cas des échantillons prélevés dans le
cadre du Programme d’experts en reconnaissance de drogues, les
échantillons sont envoyés dans des laboratoires autorisés pour
étre analysés. Je ne peux pas formuler d’observations au sujet
de I'équipement utilisé dans les laboratoires. Je ne suis ni un
toxicologue de laboratoire, ni un toxicologue judiciaire. Les
échantillons sont scellés et envoyés aux laboratoires approuvés
qui appuient I’application de la loi, au Centre des sciences
judiciaires, au laboratoire judiciaire a Montréal ainsi qu’aux
laboratoires de la GRC partout au pays, ou ils sont analysés.



8:74

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

20-2-2008

The Chair: Understand me; I am not impugning the
professionalism of everyone involved at every step of this chain.
I am old enough to know that things go wrong. Sooner or later, if
it can go wrong, it will go wrong. How do we know?

Mr. Prokopanko: That is why [ want to point out this is not
just a willy-nilly process. It is a very controlled, regimented and
structured procedure we follow, documented at every step of the
way. There are checks. I mentioned the terms internal standards
and external standards. Most equipment nowadays has a means
of internally checking its calibration or accuracy and the
performance of the electronic circuits, in addition to our
analytical protocol, requires a sample of a known alcohol
concentration introduced with every single breath sample and
we expect to get that target value, plus or minus the variability,
before we do a breath test. We rely quite a bit on that test to
demonstrate that it is in proper working order at the time.

We have annual maintenance and service requirements for
all our breath test equipment; whether or not they break down,
they go in annually for service to ensure as a preventative measure
we do not run into these problems in the middle of tests. We
have these checks built into the program, and outlined in the
handout I provided, which are the recommend standards. Those
are recommendations by the Alcohol Test Committee and,
for the most part, fully accepted by programs all across
Canada. Following the procedure, doing the steps properly, the
tests are reliable.

The Chair: If I could come back to the accredited labs for a
moment. Are you aware, sergeant, of any studies that have been
done ever to assess the accuracy rate of results in circumstances
like this?

Sgt. Martin: I have never read a study on that. I do not know if
they exist or not. The other safeguard we have is when we send
samples into the lab, in Ontario in particular, the samples are
maintained and frozen and made available to defence counsel if
they want them for their own analysis. We use our portion. A
portion is kept and frozen. Specifically, two vials of blood are
always taken. One is frozen and maintained and if defence counsel
wants it they request it and they can have it for analysis by their
own lab and their own people.

Mr. Prokopanko: As a forensic toxicologist and an analyst,
at least in past years, let me point out that the forensic labs,
not only the RCMP system but the centre in Toronto and the
Montreal lab, are all accredited laboratories and not just for the
DRE program. Our accreditation will give you the confidence
you need that the samples that come in follow a regimented
procedure of analysis. We are an accredited RCMP system by
Standards Council of Canada. There are other accreditation

La présidente : Comprenez-moi bien. Je ne mets pas en doute le
professionnalisme de tous ceux qui participent a chaque étape de
ce processus. Je suis assez vieille pour savoir que les choses
tournent parfois mal. T6t ou tard, si quelque chose peut aller mal,
c’est ce qui arrivera. Comment le savons-nous?

M. Prokopanko : Je veux simplement souligner qu’il ne s’agit
pas d’un processus réalisé au hasard. Nous suivons une procédure
trés bien controlée, régie et structurée, et nous conservons
des documents a chaque étape. Il y a des vérifications. J’ai parlé
des normes internes et des normes externes. Aujourd’hui, la
plupart des appareils sont en mesure de vérifier eux-mémes leur
étalonnage, leur exactitude et la performance des circuits
¢électroniques, en plus de notre protocole d’analyse, requiérent
un échantillon d’une concentration d’alcool connu pour chaque
échantillon d’haleine et nous nous attendons a obtenir cette
valeur cible, en tenant compte de la variation possible, avant de
faire une analyse d’haleine. Nous nous fions beaucoup a cette
épreuve pour démontrer que I’appareil fonctionne de fagon
appropriée lors de 1’épreuve.

Tous nos appareils d’analyse de I’haleine doivent satisfaire a
des exigences d’entretien; peu importe s’ils sont défectueux ou
non, ils font I'objet d’un entretien annuel pour veiller a ce que
nous ne rencontrions pas ces problémes lorsque nous procédons a
des analyses. Le programme comporte des vérifications qui sont
mentionnés dans le document que je vous ai fourni; il s’agit
des normes recommandées. Ce sont des recommandations du
Comité des analyses d’alcool et, en général, elles sont entiérement
acceptées par les programmes partout au Canada. Si ’on suit la
procédure et I'on franchit toutes les étapes de fagon adéquate, les
analyses sont fiables.

La présidente : Permettez-moi de revenir aux laboratoires
approuvés pour un instant. Sergent, connaissez-vous des études
qui ont été réalisées pour évaluer le taux d’exactitude des résultats
dans de telles circonstances?

Sgt Martin : Je n’ai jamais lu d’études a ce sujet. Je ne sais
pas s’il y en a. Nous avons une autre protection; lorsque nous
envoyons des échantillons au laboratoire, en Ontario en
particulier, les échantillons sont conservés, congelés, et
disponibles si I'avocat de la défense souhaite faire sa propre
analyse. Nous utilisons notre partie. Une autre partie est
conservée et congelée. Plus précisément, deux fioles de sang sont
toujours recueillies. L'une est congelée et conservée, et si ’avocat
de la défense en fait la demande, il peut la voir pour faire sa
propre analyse, dans son propre laboratoire et avec son propre
personnel.

M. Prokopanko : En ma qualité de toxicologue judiciaire et
d’analyste, au cours des derniéres années du moins, laissez-moi
souligner que dans les laboratoires judiciaires, pas seulement
dans le cas de la GRC, mais également au centre a Toronto et au
laboratoire a Montréal, il y a des laboratoires approuvés, et ce,
pas seulement pour le Programme d’experts en reconnaissance
de drogues. Grace a cette approbation, on sait que les échantillons
suivent une procédure d’analyse bien rigoureuse. Nous
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agencies that look at our performance as forensic toxicologists
and the laboratory results.

Senator Cowan: [ would like to follow up on the questions that
the chair asked about the changes, the elimination or restriction
of defences. We talked earlier in our conversation about the two
beers defence, which some of us probably used in a previous life,
on behalf of others, sometimes successfully, but in my case mostly
unsuccessfully.

Here, as I understand it, this bill would restrict that evidence to
the contrary defence, which was the two beers defence, and say
that you have to prove two things: You have to prove that the
Breathalyzer was not functioning properly and the concentration
of alcohol, et cetera.

This equipment is in the hands of the authorities and no one is
impugning the integrity of the authorities, the professionalism,
any of that; of course not. However, as the chair said, sometimes
equipment does fail. If you were trying to mount a defence to one
of these charges, how can you discharge that burden of proving
that the equipment was malfunctioning, which is an essential
part of the restricted defence? I think that is what the chair was
trying to get at.

Mr. Prokopanko: You are asking that question with the
assumption that it is malfunctioning and, of course, I am
answering the question by saying that I have confidence not
that it cannot malfunction, but if it does that that will show up in
our test procedure and you will not have gotten to the point of
accepting a breath sample.

That aside, in the changes post-Bill C-2, if it passes, there
are three hoops that the defence is now being asked to jump
through. In order to introduce evidence to the contrary, the
three points that the defence has to introduce are that the
equipment was malfunctioning or operated improperly; that
the improper operation resulted in the accused’s blood
exceeding 80 milligrams per cent; and that the concentration
of alcohol in the accused’s blood would not have exceeded
80 milligrams per cent.

Senator Cowan: How do you prove the first point?

Mr. Prokopanko: That is what I alluded to earlier. These
changes will put more pressure on the police, if not on me then on
my detachment commanders, who will have to provide the
maintenance and the service records and the performance
records of this instrumentation. Ideally now we are getting
electronic equipment so hopefully we can collect that information
a little easier, but now there is a lot of paperwork that needs
to be copied and disclosed in order to satisfy those questions,
but I believe we can. We can demonstrate that the standard
checks have been done, that they are done properly and are
acceptable, that the service has been done; all this type of
documentation can answer that question.

représentons a la GRC un systéme approuvé par le Conseil
canadien des normes. Il y a d’autres organismes d’approbation
qui examinent notre rendement en tant que toxicologues
judiciaires ainsi que les résultats de laboratoire.

Le sénateur Cowan : J’aimerais poursuivre dans le sens des
questions du président portant sur les changements, I’élimination
ou la limitation des défenses. Plus tét au cours de notre
conversation, nous avons parlé de la défense des deux biéres, a
laquelle certains d’entre nous ont probablement déja eu recours,
pour le compte d’autrui, parfois avec bonheur, mais dans mon
cas, la plupart du temps en vain.

Dans le cas qui nous occupe, si je comprends bien, le projet
de loi limiterait cette preuve a la défense contraire, c’est-a-dire
la défense des deux bicres, de sorte qu’il faudrait prouver
deux choses : que l’alcootest ne fonctionnait pas bien et la
concentration d’alcool, et cetera.

Cet équipement appartient aux autorités, et personne ne
conteste I'intégrité ni le professionnalisme des autorités; bien
sir que non. Toutefois, comme le président I'a dit, il arrive que
I’équipement ne fonctionne pas correctement. Si on tente de
préparer une défense a 1’égard de 1'une de ces accusations,
comment peut-on ne pas tenir compte du fait que I’équipement ait
pu mal fonctionner, preuve qui fait partic intégrante de cette
défense limitée? Je pense que c’est ce que le président essayait de
faire comprendre.

M. Prokopanko : Vous me posez cette question en présumant
que l’appareil ne fonctionne pas correctement et, bien entendu,
je réponds a votre question en disant que j’ai la certitude non pas
que I'appareil peut ne pas fonctionner convenablement mais que,
si cela se produit, nous détecterons le probléme lors de I’alcootest
sans qu’on se soit rendu a 1’acceptation d’un échantillon d’haleine.

Cela dit, si le projet de loi C-2 est adopté, il y aura trois
obstacles auxquels on demande maintenant a la défense de
franchir. Pour recourir a la preuve contraire, la défense devra
prouver que l’équipement ne fonctionnait pas correctement
ou n’était pas bien utilisé, que la mauvaise utilisation a
résulté en un dépassement des 80 milligrammes dans le sang
de l’accusé, et que la concentration d’alcool dans le sang de
I’accusé n’aurait pas dépassé 80 milligrammes par 100 millilitres.

Le sénateur Cowan : Comment pouvez-vous prouver votre
premier point?

M. Prokopanko : C’est ce que j’ai mentionné plus tot.
Ces changements augmenteront la pression exercée sur les
policiers, peut-étre pas sur moi, mais sur mes commandants
de détachement, qui devront fournir les dossiers d’entretien
et de service, de méme que les dossiers de rendement de ces
instruments. Idéalement, nous obtenons maintenant de
I’équipement électronique, de sorte que nous espérons pouvoir
recueillir ces renseignements un peu plus facilement, mais
beaucoup de documents vont devoir étre copiés et divulgués
pour répondre a ces questions, mais je pense que nous pouvons le
faire. Nous pouvons prouver que les vérifications d’usage ont été
faites, et bien faites et qu’elles sont acceptables et que ’entretien a
été fait; tous ces documents peuvent répondre a cette question.
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Senator Cowan: If one was to look for the maintenance and
repair schedule of any particular machine, does the centre
maintain those records at some central location that would be
accessible to defence lawyers?

Mr. Prokopanko: In the case of Breathalyzers, I believe the
centre is still doing the maintenance on Breathalyzers, but in the
case of the Intoxilyzers, that has been farmed out to a third party.
In the RCMP situation anyway, we have that sent back to the
detachment where the instrument belongs, and that maintenance
and service record is kept in a file at the detachment level in order
to answer questions.

Senator Cowan: Is that accessible to anyone affected?

Mr. Prokopanko: On disclosure requests, all that information
is provided already and it will be a lot of work, yes.

Senator Andreychuk: I want to follow up on one point from
Senator Chaput’s questioning. There will come a point when, if
someone has severe medical conditions that require a number of
drugs, those people simply will not be able to drive. My point is
that if they are so much impaired by drugs to keep them alive,
it is not a very satisfactory position for them but it is equally
important not to have them on the road. Am I correct that that
might be a scenario?

Sgt. Martin: Yes. There is reporting in place in Ontario where
doctors can submit letters saying the person is unable to drive
for whatever reason. It goes to the Ministry of Transportation for
final judgment. The person has to come in for re-testing and
evaluation. If the person is on drugs to keep him alive, it is highly
unlikely he will be driving in the first place. He will probably
be hospitalized or in a long-term care facility. Do we want such
people on the road? If they are taking that many drugs just to
maintain their status quo and keep them functioning day to day,
they should be properly taken care of through the medical system
and not operating motor vehicles. We have a duty to keep roads
safe and to take care of them as well.

Senator Andreychuk: There comes a point where one could use
drugs safely and drive. Equally, we have to understand that some
people cannot drive.

Sgt. Martin: Some people will not be able to drive under the
serious narcotic analgesics available to them. Some of the other
ones that deal with pain may make them unable to operate motor
vehicles safely. That is for their doctor who is prescribing the
medication to recognize that the proper warnings are in place,
and, if it is a long-term situation, to deal with the ministry in
terms of driving privileges.

If persons are using prescription drugs therapeutically and
there are no issues with their ability to operate a motor vehicle
because they are using the drugs the way they are told to use
them, it is unlikely they would ever run into a law-enforcement
situation driving a car.

Le sénateur Cowan : Si quelqu’un souhaite examiner le plan
d’entretien et de réparation d’une machine en particulier, le centre
conserve-t-il ces dossiers dans un lieu centralisé qui serait
accessible aux avocats de la défense?

M. Prokopanko : Je pense que le centre procéde toujours a
I’entretien des alcootests, mais celui des Intoxilyzer a été confié a
une tierce partie. Dans le cas de la GRC, du moins, les appareils
sont envoyés au détachement auquel I'instrument appartient, et le
dossier d’entretien et de réparation est conservé au détachement
afin de pouvoir répondre aux questions.

Le sénateur Cowan : Ces dossiers sont-ils accessibles a tous les
intéressés?

M. Prokopanko : Pour ce qui est des demandes de divulgation,
tous ces renseignements sont déja fournis mais cela exigera
beaucoup de travail, assurément.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je veux revenir sur un point qu’a
fait valoir le sénateur Chaput dans son interrogatoire. A un
moment donné, si quelqu’'un a de graves problémes de santé et
doit prendre un certain nombre de médicaments, cette personne
ne pourra tout simplement pas conduire un véhicule. Ce que je
veux dire, c’est que, si quelqu’un a les facultés tellement affaiblies
par des médicaments qui la gardent en vie, ce n’est certes pas une
position enviable pour I'intéressé, mais il est également important
de ne pas la laisser conduire. Ai-je raison de supposer que cette
situation pourrait se présenter?

Sgt Martin : Oui. En Ontario, les médecins peuvent soumettre
des lettres indiquant qu’une personne est inapte a conduire pour
une raison quelconque. Ces lettres sont envoyées au ministére des
Transports qui prendra la décision finale. La personne doit se
soumettre a des tests et a une évaluation. Si la personne est
maintenue en vie grace aux médicaments, il est trés peu probable
qu’elle conduise de toute facon. Cette personne serait
probablement a I’hépital ou dans un hospice. Voulons-nous que
de telles personnes prennent le volant? Si elles prennent autant de
médicaments afin de rester en vie et d’assurer leur fonctionnement
quotidien, elles devraient étre prises en charge par le systéme de
santé et ne pas prendre le volant. Nous avons le devoir de veiller a
ce que nos routes soient stres et de prendre soin de ces personnes.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Il est possible de prendre des
médicaments en toute sécurité et de conduire. Par contre,
certaines personnes ne savent pas conduire.

Sgt Martin : Certaines personnes seront inaptes a la conduite a
cause des analgésiques puissants qu’elles prennent. Dans le cas de
certains analgésiques, la conduite est contre-indiquée. Il revient au
médecin qui rédige 'ordonnance de reconnaitre que les contre-
indications sont connues, et dans un cas de maladie a long terme,
le médecin devra communiquer avec le ministére pour ’octroi du
privilége de conduire.

Si une personne prend des médicaments d’ordonnance et son
aptitude a conduire n’est pas remise en question parce qu’elle
prend ses médicaments selon les indications, il est trés peu
probable que cette personne soit arrétée par la police en
conduisant.
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Senator Andreychuk: I made a decent living as a lawyer
defending impaired driving cases. Would you not agree that when
Breathalyzers were not around — they were talked about but they
were not around in Canada in full use — the challenges were
from defence counsel on behalf of the accused saying the
machines did not work, how do we know they are properly
maintained, et cetera. Many of your improvements and responses
have come from the challenges, which is a good thing. There may
be more and you may still have to improve. Is that what I am
hearing from your testimony?

Mr. Prokopanko: Absolutely. A good part of our education in
the evolution of a breath test program comes from issues,
problems and mistakes made in the past.

You are right that when Breathalyzers were first introduced
back in the late 1960s, there were a lot of challenges on
instrumentation: “You cannot rely on an instrument to convict
this person.” Those challenges were made on our procedures, the
accuracy of the equipment and whether or not you could take a
breath sample and tell someone’s blood alcohol concentration.
We fought those battles, probably even before my time, although
I got involved in some of them 30 or 40 years ago when the
equipment was new. I spent eight years in Saskatchewan, so
I have gone through those challenges in Saskatchewan. We have
learned from that.

Regarding the equipment we are using now, we have learned
what problems could come up. How can we address those
problems by building what we have learned into the protocol that
we have in our computers now to address or answer those
questions, eliminate them or recognize them right off the bat so
you do not do a test if there are concerns about accuracy or
whether it is working properly? Those have been built into the
equipment, again, not just the computer to figure it out. There is a
qualified technician to monitor each and every step. He or she
ultimately decides in the end, and, much like a DRE, it is the
totality of the test procedure, not just a number that gets spit out
of the instrument on what the actual result is, that determines
whether or not to proceed on charges.

Senator Stratton: In listening to Mr. Prokopanko, the
interesting part is watching the evolution of the process.
Alcohol testing since the 1960s has been an evolutionary thing.
I expect the law has evolved as well. This is another step in that
process, namely, to address, as Senator Cowan said, the two-beer
defence.

We will likely be back in this process again, because we are
just starting out on the drug impairment side of it. While this
is a first step, we will have this challenged, as you have said.
Is this really a defence for the two-beer approach, or what is it,
in your view?

Mr. Prokopanko: I love to take advantage of opportunities
to make presentations to the Crown, defence and judges.
I made one in Manitoba recently. In fact, I would make an
opportunity available to honourable senators to participate in
the consumption of two beers. We will allow an opportunity for

Le sénateur Andreychuk : J’ai bien gagné ma vie comme avocat
qui défendait des personnes accusées de conduite avec facultés
affaiblies. Seriez-vous d’accord pour dire qu’a I’époque antérieure
aux alcootests — on en parlait a I’époque mais ils n’étaient pas
utilisés au Canada — les avocats de la défense contestaient
lefficacité de ces machines disant qu’elles ne marchaient pas,
qu’on ne pouvait pas s’assurer de leur entretien, ainsi de suite.
Bon nombre des améliorations et des réponses dont vous nous
avez fait part découlent de ces contestations, ce qui est
souhaitable. Il se peut qu’il y ait d’autres contestations et que
vous ayez a apporter encore d’autres améliorations. Ai-je raison
d’en conclure ainsi?

M. Prokopanko : Tout a fait. Nous avons beaucoup appris sur
I’évolution du programme d’alcootest a partir des questions, des
problémes ainsi que des erreurs commises dans le passé.

Vous avez raison de dire que lorsque les alcootests ont
été adoptés vers la fin des années 1960, on a beaucoup contesté
ces instruments. On était d’avis que 1’on ne pouvait pas se fier
a un instrument pour déclarer une personne coupable. On a
contesté nos procédures, I’exactitude de 1’équipement et la
faisabilité de déterminer le taux d’alcool dans le sang a partir
d’un échantillon d’haleine. Je me souviens de ces litiges il y a 30 ou
40 ans lorsque la technologie était nouvelle. J’ai passé huit ans
en Saskatchewan a I’époque des litiges. Nous en avons beaucoup

appris.

Nous savons maintenant quels sont les problemes liés a
I’équipement que nous utilisons. Comment peut-on utiliser les
lecons tirées pour établir un protocole informatisé qui pose des
questions ou y réponde et qui permette de juger si un test
s’impose ou non si I’on a des craintes quant a I’exactitude ou au
fonctionnement de I’équipement. Les questions ont été intégrées
a 1’équipement. Un technicien qualifié surveille chaque étape.
C’est il ou elle qui décide, en bout de ligne, comme un expert en
reconnaissance de drogue, a partir de I’ensemble de la procédure,
et pas seulement a partir du relevé de I'instrument, si I'on doit
porter des accusations ou non.

Le sénateur Stratton : En écoutant M. Prokopanko, on se rend
compte qu’il y a eu une évolution. La procédure d’évaluation de
I’alcoolémie a évolué depuis les années 1960, et je m’imagine bien
qu’il en va de méme pour la loi. Il y a eu un autre stade lors de
cette évolution, c’est-a-dire la défense des deux biéres, comme I’a
dit le sénateur Cowan.

Le domaine va probablement évoluer davantage, car nous
commengons juste a examiner la question des facultés affaiblies
par les drogues. Il s’agit d'une premiére étape, il y aura des
contestations, comme vous I’avez bien dit. A votre avis, s’agit-il de
la défense dite des deux biéres, ou autre chose?

M. Prokopanko : Je me réjouis a I'idée de faire des exposés
devant des procureurs de la Couronne, des avocats de la défense
et des juges. J’en ai fait un au Manitoba récemment. En fait,
j'inviterais les honorables sénateurs a prendre deux biéres. Nous
permettrons a I’alcool d’étre absorbé et de se répandre dans le
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the alcohol to be absorbed, distributed, and we will do breath
testing to give you an idea of how it works. I love doing that for
judges to show them what two beers look like. It is quite
colloquial: “I only had two beers. I could not possibly be
blowing 150.”

I absolutely agree. We work both sides of the fence. We are
there to assist the courts. I have appeared on behalf of the
defence to do calculations of the blood alcohol concentration
based on a man of 180 pounds, drinking two bottles of beer. It is a
simple calculation, and it will be 40 or 50 milligrams per cent. It is
nowhere near 80 milligrams per cent, yet he blows 150. The
implication is that there is something wrong with the breath test
equipment. I have all the checks and balances and all the
standards that are done to demonstrate that the equipment
is in proper working order at the time of the test. We have
done everything correctly. I will put a lot of weight behind that
instrument result versus the self-serving statement from an
accused who says he had only two bottles of beer. Do they
have the same documentation that they had a beer at this or that
time? They will tell you that.

Earlier, I believe Senator Merchant said people seem to know
that they are impaired and the peace officer knows they are
impaired. If only they would remember that when we get into
court, it would make it so much easier, but no, they will say,
“I didn’t feel that bad.” These are subjective comments. When
someone comes in and says, “Well, I wasn’t drunk,” he or she
probably was not sloppy, falling-down drunk. However, the
question is not drunkenness. The Criminal Code identifies
impairment.

If we go back to my earlier description, we are considering
attention comprehension, judgment and mental faculties as
opposed to the physical presentation. Can you have two beers
and blow over 80? If you weigh about 40 pounds, maybe. That is
where the calculation is. At 40, 50 pounds, a person could be over
on two bottles of beer, but you have to be that small.

I was asked if I could bring some equipment, and I would have
loved to have shown you the equipment, but it tends to be noisy
and distracting. However, if you ever want to have a drinking
session, I would be more than willing. We call those “practical
labs” on the course.

The Chair: This is a chamber of sober second thought.

Mr. Prokopanko: That is why I find it unusual that the offer
would be accepted, but I am quite willing to demonstrate two
bottles of beer. I do not like to advertise to the general public,
although we are probably on TV now, that it takes quite a bit to
get to 80 milligrams per cent. When someone says, “I cannot
believe I got that high,” the suggestion was made earlier that you
know you do not feel quite the same way as when you were at
zero. It is quite an education to see what 80 milligrams per cent
feels like and to see how much it takes to get there. It is a real
education. We have experienced peace officers, not many of

sang, et ensuite nous analyserons votre haleine pour vous faire
comprendre comment ¢a marche. J’aime bien montrer aux juges
les résultats de la consommation de deux bieres. Ils ont une
réaction classique : « Je n’ai bu que deux biéres. C’est impossible
d’avoir un résultat de 150. »

Je suis tout a fait d’accord. Nous collaborons avec les
deux parties. Nous sommes la pour aider les tribunaux. J’ai
déja comparu pour la défense pour calculer I'alcoolémie dun
homme pesant 180 livres et ayant bu deux bouteilles de biére.
Le calcul est simple, il donnera entre 40 et 50 milligrammes.
C’est trés loin du 80 milligrammes, et pourtant le résultat est 150.
On en déduit que I’équipement est défectueux. Les vérifications
ont été faites, les normes respectées, tout indique que
I’équipement est en bon état de fonctionnement. Tout a été fait
correctement. Je me fie au résultat d’un instrument plut6t
qu’a la déclaration intéressée de ’accusé qui dit n’avoir bu que
deux bieres. Cette personne peut-elle fournir la preuve qu’elle
a bu la biére a telle heure? La personne I’affirmera.

Je crois que c’est le sénateur Merchant qui a dit plus tot que les
gens semblaient savoir lorsqu’ils étaient en état d’ébriété et que
l’agent de police semblait le savoir également. Si seulement ces
gens pouvaient s’en souvenir lorsqu’ils arrivent au tribunal, la
tache serait tellement plus simple, mais non. Les accusés disent :
« Je n’étais pas si ivre. » Ce sont des observations subjectives.
Lorsque quelqu’un affirme qu’il n’était pas ivre, c’est vrai qu’il
n’était probablement pas ivre-mort. Toutefois, nous ne nous
préoccupons pas de I'ivresse. Le Code criminel parle de capacité
de conduite affaiblie.

Si ’on revient a mon exemple, nous devons tenir compte de
l’attention, de la compréhension, du jugement ainsi que des
facultés mentales par opposition au facteur physique. Peut-on
boire deux biéres et avoir un résultat supérieur a 80? Peut-étre, si
I'on pése 40 livres. C’est le calcul. Une personne pesant 40 ou
50 livres peut avoir un tel résultat apreés avoir bu deux biéres mais
il faut que ce soit un tel poids léger.

On m’a demandé d’apporter de I’équipement. Je l'aurais fait
volontiers, mais 1’équipement est bruyant et dérange. Toutefois,
si vous voulez lever le coude, je suis bien d’accord. Lorsque je
donne le cours, j'utilise le terme « labos pratiques ».

Le président : Cette enceinte a toujours fait preuve de
modération.

M. Prokopanko : Je ne m’attendais pas a ce que vous acceptiez,
mais je suis tout a fait prét a vous démontrer ce qui se passe
aprés la consommation de deux bicres. Je n’aime pas trop
I’ébruiter, et je sais que nous sommes probablement diffusés a la
télévision, mais il faut boire pas mal pour afficher un taux de
80 milligrammes. Lorsque quelqu’un dit qu’il a du mal a croire
qu’il était aussi ivre, on pourrait répondre comme quelqu’un I’a
fait tantét qu'on devrait le savoir lorsqu’on est ivre. C’est
toutefois une révélation de constater ce que veut dire un état
d’ivresse équivalent a 80 milligrammes. Nous avons des agents de
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whom are teetotallers, who take an awful lot to get up there.
You have been through it. It is quite an eye-opener to see what
80 milligrams per cent feels like.

Senator Stratton: To protect myself, I do not think I should go
any further. Thank you very much, gentlemen. I hope we do not
see you back for quite a while.

The Chair: It is already an offence to refuse to take a
Breathalyzer test. Under this bill, some of the penalties will be
draconian. If you are guilty of impaired driving causing bodily
harm or death, failing to take a test will bring you a sentence of
10 years, maybe even life, it you have caused death.

Is it standard practice now for police officers when they
approach someone to ask them to breathe into this thing to tell
them they will be committing an offence if they do not do so?

Mr. Prokopanko: I am not sure if I should pass it over
to Sgt. Martin. The Alcohol Test Committee would back away
from the draconian measures and the punishment side of
things.

The Chair: T am asking about procedure. I am not asking you
to comment on the level of the penalties. Obviously, from the
point of view of the public interest, as soon as you start jacking up
the penalties, the public’s interest in being sure it understands how
the procedure works grows. How does it work? Is it part of the
standard protocol that you tell them they are legally obliged?

Mr. Prokopanko: 1 will preamble my response with what
I teach on breath test courses. I point out that the Criminal Code
authorizes a peace officer to make a demand. It is not a request or
a negotiation along the lines of, “If you are not too busy, would
you mind coming down here and giving me a sample.” It is a
demand on reasonable, probable grounds to believe their ability
to operate a motor vehicle is impaired. There is a standard, a
requirement and an obligation on the peace officer to evaluate
and, ultimately, justify that conclusion before the court.

It is not done simply on a whim, and it is not done on everyone.
Certain points must be addressed before a demand is made.
Once the demand is made, however, there is an obligation on the
driver to answer the demand of the peace officer. It is a Criminal
Code offence to fail to provide or to cooperate.

I wonder whether it can be considered a threat if, when
someone refuses to blow, we threaten to charge them with a
refusal. We do not deal with refusals up front. There is a
procedure to deal with refusals, and Sergeant Martin will explain
that. We start with having reasonable and probable grounds,
having made a demand, and the presumption of an obligation to
provide a sample of breath.

Sgt. Martin: We do warn them. We read the demand. If a
person says he will not comply, we tell him the consequences of
that. The same penalty applies for noncompliance as is applied
for impaired driving. We read to the drivers all the possible
consequences in order that they fully understand the
consequences of their refusal.

police expérimentés, qui ont I’habitude de lever le coude, et qui
doivent néanmoins consommer beaucoup d’alcool pour atteindre
ces résultats. Vous le savez. C’est toute une révélation.

Le sénateur Stratton : Par prudence, je pense ne pas devoir aller
plus loin. Merci beaucoup, messieurs. J’espére que nous ne vous
reverrons pas avant longtemps.

La présidente : Refuser 1’alcotest constitue déja une infraction.
Aux termes des dispositions de ce projet de loi, certaines sanctions
seront draconiennes. Si I’on est coupable de conduite avec facultés
affaiblies et responsable de blessures ou de mort, ce refus entraine
une peine de dix ans et méme une peine a vie s’il y a eu des morts.

Est-ce qu’il est normal pour un agent de police qui interpelle
quelqu’un et lui demande de se soumettre a I’alcotest de le
prévenir que son refus constituerait une infraction?

M. Prokopanko : Je ne sais pas si je ne devrais pas demander
a Sgt Martin de répondre. Le Comité des analyses d’alcool ne
serait pas favorable aux mesures draconiennes ni aux sanctions
envisagées.

La présidente : Je parle de méthode, je ne vous demande pas
ce que vous pensez des sanctions prévues. Evidemment, pour ce
qui est de I'intérét public, dés qu’'on commence a alourdir les
sanctions, il faut s’assurer que tout le monde comprend bien
comment fonctionne le systéme. Cela fait-il partie du protocole
habituel, voulant que vous leur disiez que la loi I’exige?

M. Prokopanko : Je répondrai d’abord ce que je dis lorsque je
donne un cours sur I’alcotest. Je signale que le Code criminel
autorise un agent de police a exiger un test. Il ne s’agit pas de
demander ou de négocier, de dire : « Si ¢a ne vous dérange pas,
voulez-vous bien venir vous soumettre a un alcotest ». Clest
présenter cette demande en se fondant sur des motifs probables et
raisonnables permettant de conclure que I'intéressé conduit avec
des facultés affaiblies. L’agent est tenu d’évaluer et finalement de
justifier ses conclusions devant le tribunal.

On ne fait pas cela par caprice et on ne le fait pas a tout le
monde. Avant de demander a quelqu’un de se soumettre a un
alcotest on doit poser certaines questions. Toutefois, une fois la
demande faite, le conducteur est tenu d’accéder a la requéte de
I’agent. Refuser de se soumettre a un test ou de coopérer constitue
une infraction en vertu des dispositions du Code criminel.

Je ne sais pas si ’on peut considérer comme une menace le fait
que lorsque quelqu’un refuse de subir ce test, on le menace de
porter une accusation de refus. Nous ne nous occupons pas de
cela directement. Il y a une procédure a suivre a ce sujet et le
sergent Martin I’expliquera. Nous commengons par réunir des
motifs raisonnables et probables, par présenter une demande, et
supposer que l'individu sait qu’il est tenu de subir un alcotest.

Sgt Martin : Nous les avertissons. Nous lisons la formule
voulue. Si quelqu’un refuse de subir I’alcotest, nous lui indiquons
les conséquences. Les mémes sanctions sont prévues pour la
conduite avec facultés affaiblies et le refus de subir 1’Alcotest.
Nous lisons aux conducteurs toutes les conséquences possibles
afin qu’ils comprennent bien ce que peut entrainer un refus.
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The Chair: You have obviously been extremely frustrated by
the fact that people who are impaired by drugs have been able to
refuse tests. What proportion of people who are stopped and
suspected of impairment by drugs refuse tests now?

Sgt. Martin: I can give you numbers from my jurisdiction only.
In 2004, we conducted 13 tests with 5 refusals. In 2005, we
conducted 8 tests and had 1 refusal. In 2006, we did 38 drug
recognition expert tests with 12 refusals. In 2007, we did 40 drug
recognition tests, and we had 17 refusals.

Refusals are starting to increase. We started with 13 tests, went
down to 8, and are now at 40. We are growing slowly, and that is
with 8 active drug recognition experts.

The Chair: Are the number of requests growing because you
have more officers trained to focus on this, or is it because more
people are driving impaired?

Sgt. Martin: We have more officers trained and looking. At
recruit classes we talk about drug impairment. We talk to our
front line people, who are more experienced and better
understand drug recognition and the protocols. I believe that
officers are simply recognizing more often that when there is
something wrong with the driving and it is not due to alcohol
impairment, it may be drug impairment, and they are bringing
them in for that.

Senator Cowan: I am interested in the increasing number of
refusals. What are the statistics on alcohol?

Mr. Prokopanko: 1 do not know, and I stay away from
statistics because they get overwhelming at times. There is quite a
lot more history of alcohol testing.

Senator Cowan: I expect that over time those would be
declining.

Mr. Prokopanko: People commonly refuse to provide samples
for certain reasons. When there is injury-caused death, people
often refuse to provide blood or breath samples. It makes the
defence more complicated, which is the way they want it. I am
sorry; I do not have numbers.

The Chair: Thank you, gentlemen, very much for being
here this afternoon. This was most informative. I will have to
read all this material from Mr. Prokopanko about alcohol
testing. It will undoubtedly mystify me until I have read it least
three or four times. It was most helpful to hear from both
of you. We are very grateful for the time you have been able to
give to us today.

[Translation]

We now have two new witnesses. It is our pleasure to welcome
Mr. Gary Mauser, professor at Simon Fraser University,
as well as Ms. Line Beauchesne, professor at the University of
Ottawa.

La présidente : Vous avez évidemment trouvé vraiment
frustrant que les gens dont les facultés sont affaiblies par la
drogue aient pu refuser de subir ces tests. Quelle proportion des
gens que 1’on arréte parce qu’on les soupgonne de conduire avec
facultés affaiblies par la drogue, refuse aujourd’hui de subir ces
tests?

Sgt Martin : Je ne puis vous donner le chiffre que de mon
secteur. En 2004, nous avons effectué 13 tests et fait face a cinq
refus. En 2005, huit test et un refus. En 2006, 38 tests d’experts en
reconnaissance de drogue et 12 refus. En 2007, 40 tests d’experts
en reconnaissance de drogue et nous avons essuyé 17 refus.

Les refus commencent a augmenter. Nous avons commencé
par 13 tests, nous sommes passés a huit et nous en sommes
maintenant a 40. Cela se développe lentement méme si nous avons
huit experts de reconnaissance de drogues actifs.

La présidente : Est-ce que le nombre de requétes augmente
parce que vous avez plus d’agents formés pour faire cela, ou est-ce
parce qu’il y a plus de gens qui conduisent avec les facultés
affaiblies?

Sgt Martin : Nous avons plus d’agents qualifiés et aux aguets.
Lors des cours offerts aux recrues, nous parlons de facultés
affaiblies par la drogue. Nous en parlons a nos agents de premiére
ligne qui sont plus expérimentés et comprennent mieux la
reconnaissance de drogues et les protocoles. Je crois que les
agents reconnaissent simplement mieux que lorsqu’il y a quelque
chose qui ne va pas dans la conduite et qu’il ne semble pas y avoir
un probléme d’ébriété, il peut s’agir d’'un probleme de drogue et
qu'un test peut s’imposer.

Le sénateur Cowan : J’aimerais revenir sur le nombre croissant
de refus. Quelles sont les statistiques pour I’alcootest?

M. Prokopanko : Je ne le sais pas et je ne me fie pas aux
statistiques car c’est parfois trop difficile. On a beaucoup plus de
données sur les alcootests.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je suppose qu’avec le temps, cela doit
diminuer.

M. Prokopanko : Il arrive fréquemment que les gens refusent
de subir un alcootest pour diverses raisons. En cas de mort
résultant de blessures, les gens refusent souvent de subir un
alcootest. Cela complique les choses pour la défense, et c’est ce
qu’ils souhaitent. Je suis désolé mais je n’ai pas de chiffres.

La présidente : Merci, messieurs, d’étre venus cet apres-midi.
Cela a été tres intéressant. Il va falloir que je lise tout ce que
M. Prokopanko nous a apporté a propos des alcootests. Je ne
vais certainement rien y comprendre avant de I’avoir relu trois
ou quatre fois. Vous avez 'un et I’autre fourni des informations
extrémement utiles. Nous vous sommes trés reconnaissants du
temps que vous nous avez consacré aujourd’hui.

[Frangais]

Nous accueillons maintenant deux nouveaux témoins. Nous
avons le plaisir d’accueillir M. Gary Mauser, professeur a
I’Université Simon Fraser ainsi que Mme Line Beauchesne,
professeure a 1’Université d’Ottawa.
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[English]

Senator Cowan: I was wondering if there was a written
presentation.

The Chair: I believe that is available. I will ask the clerk to
distribute it. We have it in both official languages, in fact.

Senator Cowan: Thank you.

[Translation]

You may make your opening statements one after the other,
and then senators will proceed with questions.

Line Beauchesne, Professor, University of Ottawa, as an
individual: Madam Chair, thank you for this invitation to
appear before you today. Since the bill has changed names
several times over the years, perhaps I do not have the right
number, but everyone is well aware of what I am referring to.

My presentation begins with a case study that I give my
students on impairment and that you have in the document. This
case study will support my subsequent remarks.

In the first case, the accused is a well-to-do manufacturer and
a very active father who has an excellent reputation in his
community. After a particularly heavy week of work, he went to a
wedding reception where he drank a considerable amount of
alcohol. Having chosen to drive himself home, he fell asleep at the
wheel and killed a person who was crossing the street. He had
never had a drinking problem nor an accident caused by drunk
driving, and his behaviour following the incident clearly showed
remorse.

In the second case, the accused is a 79-year-old man living
in the country. He has kept his car despite taking medication
causing drowsiness and reduced reflexes due to age and his
illness. Although his daughter had advised him not to drive
because of his medication, he nevertheless decided to drive
himself into the city to visit his wife in the hospital. He fell
asleep at the wheel and killed a person who was crossing the
street. He had never had a known problem of impaired driving
in the past, and his behaviour after the incident clearly showed
remorse.

In the third case, the accused is a 42-year-old social worker.
After working his evening shift, he learned at the last minute
that he had to replace a colleague on the night shift, because as
usual, they were short of staff. When he left work the following
morning, he had gone for 24 hours without sleeping. Because
there was no public transportation, he decided to take his car to
go home, as all his colleagues in similar situations do. While
driving home, he fell asleep at the wheel and killed a person who
was crossing the street. He had never had a problem with
impaired driving in the past, despite the fact that this was not

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Cowan : Je me demandais s’il y avait un texte.

La présidente : Je crois que oui. Je vais demander au greffier de
le distribuer. Nous ’avons dans les deux langues officielles, en
fait.

Le sénateur Cowan : Merci.

[Frangais]

Vous pouvez faire vos déclarations liminaires l'une apres
lautre et ensuite, les sénateurs passeront a une période de
questions.

Line Beauchesne, professeure, Université d’Ottawa, a titre
personnel : Madame la présidente, merci de cette invitation a
témoigner devant vous aujourd’hui. Etant donné que le projet de
loi a changé de nom plusieurs fois au fil des ans, je n’ai peut-étre
pas le bon numéro, mais on sait trés bien a quoi je me référe.

Ma présentation commence avec une étude de cas que je donne
a mes étudiants au sujet des facultés affaiblies et que vous
retrouvez dans le document. Cette étude de cas servira a appuyer
mon argumentation par la suite.

Dans le premier cas, I'inculpé est un industriel prospere et un
pére de famille tres actif et jouissant d’une excellente réputation
au sein de sa collectivité. Aprés une semaine de travail
particuli¢rement chargée, il s’est rendu a une réception de
mariage ou il a consommé beaucoup d’alcool. Ayant choisi de
rentrer chez lui en conduisant lui-méme son véhicule, il s’est
endormi au volant et a tué une personne qui traversait la rue. Il
n’avait jamais eu de probleme d’alcool ni d’accident de la route
causé par l'ivresse, et son comportement aprés l’accident fut
caractérisé par un remord évident.

Dans le deuxiéme cas, 'inculpé est une personne agée de 79 ans
vivant a la campagne. Il conserve sa voiture malgré une
médication créant de la somnolence et des réflexes réduits par
l’age et la maladie. Méme si sa fille Iui avait déconseillé de
conduire a cause de sa médication, il décide tout de méme de se
rendre voir sa femme hospitalisée en ville au volant de sa voiture.
Il s’est endormi au volant et a tué une personne qui traversait
la rue. Il n’avait jamais eu de probléme connu de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies auparavant, et son comportement apres
I’accident fut caractérisé par un remords évident.

Dans le troisiéme cas, 'inculpé est un travailleur social de
42 ans. Apres son quart de travail du soir, il a dG a la derniére
minute remplacer un collégue au travail sur le quart de nuit, car
comme a I’habitude, on manque de personnel. En quittant son
travail au matin, il s’est ainsi retrouvé avec une période de
24 heures sans sommeil. Par manque de transport en commun, il
décide tout de méme de prendre sa voiture pour retourner chez
lui, comme le font tous ses collégues en pareille situation. En
retournant chez lui, il s’est endormi au volant et a tué une
personne qui traversait la rue. Il n’avait jamais eu de probléme de



8:82

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

20-2-2008

the first time the situation had occurred, as was the case with
other colleagues. His behaviour after the accident clearly showed
remorse.

The question that I ask my students is as follows: Since these
are three similar cases where individuals knowingly chose to
drive while impaired, give them the same sentence and justify it
with consistency by answering the following three questions on
sentencing. What is the punishment for? What punishment is
required? How will your sentence help improve road safety?

Explain your sentence as it pertains to current legislation
on operating a motor vehicle while impaired. Do not forget
that the word “sentence” means “decision rendered” and it does
not necessarily involve a criminal penalty. In addition, do not
lose sight of the fact that the objective is road safety through
the prevention of impaired driving, regardless of the reasons.
Last, do not forget the equality of citizens before the law.

I examined the bill from this perspective, looking at it as a bill
that aims to improve road safety and that makes amendments in
terms of impaired driving.

The current act is, indeed, in need of amendment, because
there are two major problems with it. The first problem is that
everything focuses on alcohol, both in terms of application of the
act and prevention. The act has nonetheless had its positive
effects. I have been teaching at the university for 25 years, and
I have seen a change in the behaviour of young people in terms of
impaired driving.

However, the flip side of the act is that we have forgotten the
issue, which is not driving a vehicle when you are not fit to do so.
All we learned is that we should not drink and drive.

Fifteen to twenty per cent of cases of impaired driving involve
people who fall asleep at the wheel, without counting those who
get behind the wheel when they are too emotionally worked up or
after having taken medication.

By focusing on alcohol, we have neglected many cases
of impairment. At present, the only mandatory test is the
breathalyser. As far as prevention goes, I agreed with
broadening the strategies for prevention and the police
strategies, in order to cover all the causes.

The second problem in the current legislation deals with repeat
offenders. Clearly, the vast majority of accidents are caused by
people who have remained unaffected by prevention campaigns
and who have a real problem, primarily with alcohol. As a matter
of fact, alcohol is the cause of most accidents involving repeat
offenders.

In cases like that, the problem is not being able to indefinitely
suspend an individual’s driver’s licence if he or she has an alcohol
problem, until a certified person has decided that the alcohol
problem has been resolved.

conduite avec facultés affaiblies auparavant, malgré que ce ne
soit pas la premicre fois que cette situation survienne, comme
a d’autres personnes a son travail. Son comportement aprés
l’accident fut caractérisé par un remords évident.

La question que je pose a mes étudiants est la suivante :
puisque ce sont trois cas similaires de personnes qui, en
connaissance de cause, ont choisi de conduire avec les facultés
affaiblies, donnez-leur la méme sentence et justifiez-la avec
cohérence en répondant aux trois questions sur la détermination
de la peine. On punit quoi? On punit comment? En quoi votre
sentence contribuera a une meilleure sécurité routiére?

Commentez votre sentence au regard de la loi actuelle
sur la conduite d’un véhicule moteur avec les facultés affaiblies.
N’oubliez pas que le mot « sentence » signifie « décision rendue »
et n’implique pas nécessairement une sanction pénale. Egalement,
n’oubliez pas que l'objectif est la sécurité routiére par la
prévention de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, quelles qu’en
soient les raisons. Enfin, n’oubliez pas 1’équité des citoyens
devant la loi.

C’est a partir de cette perspective que j’ai examiné le projet de
loi, soit un projet de loi ayant pour objectif d’améliorer la sécurité
routiére et qui apporte des modifications en matiére de facultés
affaiblies.

Il y a effectivement des modifications a apporter a la loi
actuelle parce qu’il existe deux problémes majeurs avec cette loi.
Le premier, c’est qu’on a tout focalisé sur ’alcool, tant au niveau
de l’application de la loi qu’au niveau de la prévention. La loi a
tout de méme eu ses bons cotés. J'enseigne a I'université depuis
25 ans et j’ai vu le comportement des jeunes changer par rapport
a la conduite avec facultés affaiblies.

Par contre, la loi a apporté le mauvais c6té de faire en sorte
qu’'on a oublié I’enjeu qui était de ne pas conduire son véhicule
lorsqu’on n’était pas en état de le faire. On a seulement appris
qu’il ne fallait pas conduire si on avait bu.

De 15 a 20 p. 100 des causes a la conduite avec facultés
affaiblies impliquent des personnes qui s’endorment au volant,
sans compter celles qui prennent le volant dans des conditions
d’émotions trop fortes, ou aprées avoir pris des médicaments.

En focalisant sur ’alcool, on a négligé une grande quantité des
cas de facultés affaiblies. A I’heure actuelle, seul I'alcootest est
obligatoire. En ce qui concerne la prévention, j’étais d’accord a ce
qu’on élargisse les stratégies préventives et policiéres dans le but
d’accaparer I’ensemble des causes.

Le deuxieme probleme que présente la loi actuelle concerne les
récidivistes. Il est clair que la trés grande partie des accidents sont
causés par des gens qui sont demeurés insensibles aux campagnes
de prévention et qui ont un réel probléme principalement avec
I’alcool. En fait, I’alcool est en cause dans la plupart des accidents
impliquant des récidivistes.

Dans de tels cas, le probléme est celui de ne pas étre en mesure
de retirer indéfiniment le permis de conduire a quelqu’un qui a un
probléme d’alcool, et ce, tant qu’une personne certifiée n’a pas
décidé que son probléme d’alcool est réglé.
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When I read the bill, I note that the logic is the same in terms of
detecting impairment. I will not repeat the data in the bill because
you have undoubtedly heard it ad nauseam here and elsewhere.

I would however like to talk about the problems the bill present
in terms of remedies. First of all, the costs involved will make the
application of this bill impossible. It involves training drug
recognition experts.

These experts are police officers who, for the most part, spend
just a few years in a position, then move on to other positions.
That may well cost a fortune. In my opinion, we will never have
access to these experts everywhere their services are required.
Then there is the cost of the detection equipment that must be
continually updated and maintained in order to be valid, without
counting all of the legal actions.

We already see that with driving under the influence of alcohol.
All you have to do is look at the Yellow Pages to see just how
sought after lawyers are, and what good business they are doing
with this legislation on impairment, and they will do even better
business if this new act is adopted.

The second problem with this new legislation, which will open
the door for a host of lawyers, is that there are no valid tests to
detect drug impairments, be they prescription or illegal drugs, like
there are for alcohol at present. Drug impairments will be
detected based on subjectivity, an impression. And what we may
well see is a kind of discrimination towards clients targeted by
tests to detect impairment.

As all experts working in the field have told Parliament, drugs
cannot be detected using tests. Tests will end up being done on
certain drugs used by certain populations, but do not try to
convince me that will be done blindly.

When tests are done in a lab, the drug you are looking for must
be specified, and fees are charged for each substance identified.
Certain drugs will certainly be targeted more than others. In the
field of drug recognition, existing information is limited to illicit
drugs.

In France, to facilitate the identification of effects linked to
prescription drugs, a pictogram is put on all prescription drug
labels. The indication is clear and is the result of assessments by
experts. If the pictogram is yellow, users must pay closer attention
to signs of fatigue. If it is orange, users must obtain the permission
of a doctor to drive, as that capacity may depend on several
medical factors. If the pictogram is red, users may not drive.
That is an interesting solution.

Medication currently labelled with an orange sticker includes
pain medication, tranquilizers, medication to treat diabetes,
Parkinson’s disease, epilepsy, and other commonly used
substances. We must therefore ask ourselves if we need tests
for all of these drugs or if it is better to target all of the reasons
for impairment.

Quand je lis le projet de loi, je constate que la logique est la
méme quant a la détection des facultés affaiblies. Je ne répéterai
pas les données du projet de loi parce que vous les avez
certainement entendues ad nauseam ici et ailleurs.

Jaimerais toutefois parler des problémes que présente ce projet
de loi sur le plan des correctifs a apporter. Premiérement, il est
clair que les cotts rendent absolument inapplicable ce projet de
loi. On parle de formation d’experts en reconnaissance de drogue.

Ces experts sont des policiers qui, pour la plupart, occuperont
ce poste pendant quelques années seulement, et qui occuperont
d’autres postes par la suite. Cela risque de codter une fortune.
A mon avis, jamais on n’aura a portée de main ces experts a
tous les endroits ou ils seront nécessaires. Il y a aussi le cott
que représentent les appareils de détection qui doivent
continuellement étre renouvelés et tenus en bon état pour étre
valides, sans compter toutes les procédures judiciaires.

On le voit déja avec les facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool. Vous
n’avez qu’a ouvrir les Pages Jaunes pour constater a quel point les
avocats sont recherchés et font des affaires d’or avec cette loi sur
les facultés affaiblies, et ils en feront encore plus si la nouvelle loi
est en vigueur.

Le deuxiéme probléme avec la nouvelle loi, qui sera justement
la porte d’entrée pour beaucoup d’avocats, c’est qu’il n’existe pas
de tests valides pour détecter les facultés affaiblies par les drogues,
qu’elles soient prescrites ou illégales, comme il en existe pour
I’alcool en ce moment. Les facultés affaiblies par les drogues
seront détectées sur le coup d’une subjectivité, d’'une impression.
Et ce qui risque de se produire, c’est qu’il y ait une discrimination
envers les clientéles visées par les tests de facultés affaiblies.

Comme tous les experts qui travaillent dans le domaine 1’ont
dit au Parlement, on ne peut pas détecter toutes les drogues
a laide de tests. On va finir par tester certaines drogues
consommées par certaines populations, mais qu’on ne vienne
pas me faire croire qu’on le fera a I’aveugle.

Lorsqu’on fait des tests en laboratoire, il faut préciser la drogue
que I'on cherche, et des frais sont exigés pour chaque substance
recherchée. 11 est certain que I’on cible certaines drogues plus que
d’autres. Dans le domaine de la reconnaissance des drogues,
I'information existante se limite aux drogues illicites.

En France, pour faciliter I'identification des effets reliés aux
drogues prescrites, on appose un pictogramme sur 1’étiquette de
tous les médicaments. Cette indication est claire et résulte des
évaluations d’experts. Si le pictogramme est jaune, il faut étre plus
attentif aux signes de fatigue. S’il est orange, on doit obtenir la
permission d’un médecin pour conduire, car la capacité peut
dépendre de plusieurs facteurs médicaux. Si le pictogramme est
rouge, on ne peut pas conduire. Voila une solution intéressante.

Les médicaments auxquels on a apposé une étiquette orange
comprennent les antidouleurs, les tranquillisants, les médicaments
pour traiter le diabéte, la maladie de Parkinson, I’épilepsie
et plusieurs autres substances d’usage courant. Il faut donc se
demander s’il faut effectuer des tests pour toutes ces drogues
ou plutdt cibler ’ensemble des raisons expliquant les facultés
affaiblies.
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The fourth problem is the following. This approach weakens
prevention messages. We use messages indicating that using
certain products may lead to criminal law problems. As a
result, a man who has had too much to drink wakes up his
girlfriend, at two o’clock in the morning to get a ride home.
The girlfriend, although she is sober, gets behind the wheel.
I am not however certain that she is any more fit to drive.

Another example is a person who goes to bed very late and gets
up very early the next day to go to work. If that individual
consumed too much alcohol the night before, his reflexes will not
be sharp. His faculties will be impaired even if a road test proved
negative.

The message that young people remember is not that they must
be fit to drive, but that they must not obtain a positive result at a
check stop.

Moreover, millions of dollars will be spent on this bill instead
of spending it on prevention or on awareness campaigns, for
example, regarding medication for seniors. We could make
pictograms, or focus more on young people and focus on all
impairments, the effects of fatigue and other factors.

The question we asked ourselves is how do we resolve the
situation? What was needed first of all was a solution to the initial
problem, one that takes into account the multiple factors that can
lead to impairment. To do that, thanks to modern technology, we
do not need to reinvent the wheel. It is easier for a police officer to
do a reflex test than to learn how to identify the effects of each
drug. These tests could even be filmed, at a low cost, if that were
desired, and make it possible to determine if the individual is
impaired. Regardless of the cause, the individual does not have
the reflexes to drive. Whether this condition is due to a lack of
sleep, alcohol consumption, medication or drugs is not the issue.
First and foremost, this is an attempt to determine if a person is
fit to drive. And with the reflexes test, it is entirely possible to
determine that.

The more complex the procedure, the less likely the police will
use it. The advantage of the reflex test is that it is simple.
Resources are not always available to conduct more advanced
testing which often is more time-consuming. The simpler the
procedure, the more it will be used.

A procedure which is as complex as the one we are talking
about is less likely to be used, and consequently fewer offenders
will be apprehended.

Also, the harsher the sentence, the more likely people will file
an appeal and the more costly the process becomes. Studies have
clearly shown that seazing a vehicle for two or three days, the loss
of demerit points and the loss of your driver’s licence, as well as
higher insurance fees, are enough to convince people to change
the way they drive. What people are most afraid of is losing their
licence. A procedure which is this complex and which will be
rarely used will not change the way people drive. One principle in

Le quatriéme probléme est le suivant. Cette démarche engendre
un affaiblissement des messages de prévention. J’ai pu constater
ce fait auprés des jeunes universitaires. On véhicule des messages
indiquant que la consommation de produits peut engendrer
certains problémes de droit pénal. Par conséquent, une personne
qui a trop bu réveille sa copine, a 2 heures du matin, pour se faire
reconduire. Celle-ci, bien qu’elle soit sobre, se met au volant. Or,
je ne suis pas certaine qu’elle soit plus en état de conduire.

Autre exemple, une personne se couche trés tard et se léve trés
tot le lendemain matin pour aller travailler. Si cette personne a
consommé de I’alcool de fagon abusive la veille, ses réflexes ne
seront pas aiguisés. Ses facultés seront affaiblies méme si un
contréle routier s’avérait négatif.

Dans I’esprit de ces jeunes, le message qu’on retient n’est donc
pas de savoir si on est en état de conduire, mais qu’on ne doit pas
obtenir un résultat positif lors d’un contréle routier.

D’autre part, on compte verser des millions de dollars dans ce
projet de loi au lieu de les verser dans la prévention ou pour des
campagnes de sensibilisation, par exemple, sur les médicaments
aux personnes agées. On pourrait faire des pictogrammes ou
cibler davantage les jeunes et faire le point sur le sujet des facultés
affaiblies dans son ensemble, les effets de la fatigue et d’autres
facteurs.

La question que nous nous sommes posée est: comment
résoudre cette situation? Il fallait tout d’abord penser a résoudre
le premier probléme et tenir compte des multiples facteurs qui
peuvent affaiblir les facultés. Pour ce faire, grace a la technologie
moderne, on n’a pas besoin de réinventer la roue. Il est plus facile
pour un policier d’effectuer un test de réflexe que d’apprendre a
identifier les effets de chaque drogue. Ces tests peuvent méme étre
filmés, a colts abordables, si on le désire, et permettent de
déterminer si la personne a les facultés affaiblies. Peu importe la
cause, on se trouve devant une personne qui n’a pas les réflexes
pour conduire. Que cette condition soit due a un manque
de sommeil, a la consommation d’alcool, de médicaments ou
de drogues, l1a n’est pas la question. On essaie avant tout de
déterminer si une personne est apte a conduire. Et avec un test
de réflexes, on est tout a fait en mesure de le déterminer.

Plus la procédure est complexe, moins les policiers vont
I'utiliser. Le test de réflexes a I’avantage d’étre une procédure
simple. Les ressources ne sont pas toujours disponibles pour faire
un test plus poussé et de tels tests requiérent souvent plus de
temps. Plus la procédure est simple, plus elle sera utilisée.

Une procédure aussi complexe que celle dont nous parlons
risque d’étre moins utilisée et par conséquent on appréhendera
moins de contrevenants.

D’autre part, plus la peine est sévére, plus les gens vont en
appel et plus le processus est coliteux. Les études ont démontré
clairement que les saisies de véhicule pour deux ou trois jours, les
pertes de points, et du permis de conduire qui en résultent, et les
hausses d’assurance suffisent a convaincre les gens de changer
leur comportement au volant. Ce dont on a le plus peur, c’est de
perdre son permis. Une procédure complexe qu’on applique
rarement ne changera pas le comportement routier. Un des
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criminology which we teach our students is that the certainty of
a sentence and how frequently it is applied work better than
imposing a more severe sentence less frequently.

It is clear that we must keep an offence registry. The
spokespeople for the Canadian Safety Council are more
informed about that than I am. Since we have databases, this
type of registry could easily contain the names of people who
have a record of impaired driving. This type of tool could help
authorities identify repeat offenders and impose a therapeutic
injunction; otherwise, the vehicle could be seazed. We need to
specifically target repeat offenders.

If less money was spent on the types of measures contained in
the bill, there would be more money left over for road accident
victims’ support programs.

In conclusion, I hope that the measures which will be taken will
make our roads safer, reduce the number of victims and provide
them with more support. In short, we need to give the police
better tools to help prevent impaired driving, regardless of the
type of impairment. Police action succeeds if the procedure is
simple, if demerit points can be taken away, if insurance costs
might go up, and if there is a good offence registry. These
measures, which are much cheaper than those contained in the
bill, would also allow for additional prevention measures to be
taken and more road accident victims’ programs.

[English]

Gary Mauser, Professor, Simon Fraser University, as an
individual: Honourable senators, thank you for inviting me.
I am a professor at Simon Fraser University. I am privileged
to be attached to both the Institute for Canadian Urban Research
Studies in Criminology as well as the Faculty of Business
Administration. I have researched and published in criminology
for more than 15 years. My doctoral training was in social
psychology and quantitative methods. My academic research has
been published in criminology, political science as well as
academic business journals.

I am here to support Bill C-2 because I think it is a modest step
towards improving public safety. This bill contains a number of
measures that impact, directly and indirectly, upon the length of
incarceration periods such as escalating mandatory sentences and
reverse onus for certain bail offences.

My remarks will be directed to the question of whether or not
incarcerating serious or violent offenders is effective in protecting
the public. My reading of the criminological research suggests
that it is indeed effective. Increasing the number of offenders who
are incarcerated serves to reduce violent crime and homicide
rates. That is especially pronounced with homicide rates. I repeat:
Both American and international research supports the wisdom
of longer sentences for those who have been convicted of serious
or violent offences.

principes de criminologie qu’on apprend aux étudiants est le fait
qu'une sentence certaine et fréquente est plus efficace qu’une
sentence sévere et rare.

Il est clair qu’il faut tenir un registre des infractions. Les
représentants du Conseil canadien de la sécurité routiére sont
d’ailleurs plus experts que moi en la matiére. Grace aux banques
de données, un tel registre peut s’appliquer facilement aux
personnes coupables d’infractions pour facultés affaiblies. Un
tel outil permettrait de repérer les récidivistes, d’imposer une
injonction thérapeutique, faute de quoi on procede a des
sanctions telle la saisie du véhicule. Il faut prévoir des mesures
spécifiques aux récidivistes.

En investissant un peu moins dans le type de mesures prévues
par le projet de loi, il resterait également avantage de fonds pour
les programmes d’aide aux victimes d’accidents de la route.

En conclusion, jespére que les mesures qui seront prises
permettront d’assurer une meilleure sécurité sur les routes, de
réduire le nombre de victimes et d’accroitre ’aide a celles-ci. En
somme, il faut donner aux policiers les moyens de mieux prévenir
la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, quelles qu’en soient les causes.
L’action policiere réussit si la procédure est plus simple,
accompagnée de points de démérite, de hausses d’assurance et
d’un bon registre des infractions. Ces mesures, beaucoup moins
colteuses que ce qui est présenté dans le projet de loi,
permettraient également une série de mesures supplémentaires
de prévention et pour venir en aide aux victimes d’accidents de la
route.

[Traduction)

Gary Mauser, professeur, Université Simon Fraser, a titre
personnel : Honorables sénateurs, merci de m’avoir invité. Je suis
professeur a I’Université Simon Fraser. J’ai le privilege d’étre
rattaché a la fois au Canadian Urban Reseach Studies in
Criminology et a la faculté¢ d’administration des affaires. Je fais
des recherches et publie des communications en criminologie
depuis plus de 15 ans. J’ai fait mon doctorat en psychologie
sociale et méthodes quantitatives. Mes recherches universitaires
ont été publiées en criminologie, en science politique et dans des
revues universitaires sur la gestion des affaires.

Je comparais pour donner mon appui au projet de loi C-2
parce que j’estime que c’est un petit pas vers une amélioration de
la sécurité publique. Il contient un certain nombre de mesures
qui ont une incidence directe et indirecte sur la durée des périodes
d’incarcération, notamment en ce qui concerne le cumul des
peines obligatoires et 'inversion du fardeau de la preuve pour
certaines infractions liées au cautionnement.

Jaimerais vous entretenir de I'efficacité de I'incarcération des
délinquants sérieux ou violents pour la protection du public.
D’aprés mes recherches, c’est en effet efficace. Si I’'on augmente le
nombre de délinquants incarcérés, les taux de crimes violents et
d’homicides diminuent. C’est particuliérement évident dans les
cas d’homicides. Je répéte : les recherches américaines et
internationales ont permis d’établir que des peines plus longues
pour ceux qui ont été condamnés pour infractions graves ou
violentes sont une mesure sage.
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The facts indicate that violent crime rates have fallen faster in
the United States than they have in Canada. Between 1991 and
2006, the overall violent crime rate in the United States fell
38 per cent but only 10 per cent in Canada. This drop is also
evident in homicide. Over the same period, the homicide rate in
the United States fell 42 per cent while in Canada less than one
third. Please see the attached tables. I am sure they are easier to
interpret than my pitiful words.

Criminologists have been studying this drop in the United
States, which was unexpected, with some attention over the past
decade. The results of these analyses are now becoming clearer.
There are literally hundreds of studies, but fortunately, I will limit
my discussion to only the most important.

Especially illuminating is the research conducted by Marvell
and Moody. These two gentlemen are among the most respected
criminologists in the world. In their time series studies, they found
strong results at the national level affirming that expanding prison
populations of serious or violent offenders is convincingly tied to
reducing violent crime rates.

Their 1997 publication demonstrated that, for every
10 per cent increase in prison population, homicide rates
dropped 13 per cent. In their studies, they controlled for a wide
variety of potentially confounding variables, such as inflation,
unemployment, demographic trends and socio-economic factors.
Similar relationships were found for assault and robbery. Marvell
and Moody’s results were quite robust. Their research findings
have been replicated by other researchers. One study in particular
I should mention is Kovandzic and his colleagues’ 2004 paper.
These researchers not only confirmed Marvell and Moody’s
findings, but they also examine the specific effects on violent
crime rates when offenders are released from prison. They found
no evidence of a significant positive relationship between prison
releases and homicide.

Prisons are expensive. However, the important question is who
ultimately bears the cost of crime. Prison costs taxpayers more
than probation or house arrest, but the costs of not incarcerating
violent criminals are borne by the public directly. The costs of
criminal violence are paid by the victims.

While it is quite difficult to estimate, it is useful to make the
effort. Table 1 shows that direct monetary costs borne by the
victims of property crime is $4.6 billion per year. The government
does not spend that; the people spend that. The figure is around
$719 million for victims of violent crime. Obviously, financial
costs for victims of violent crime are a minimal estimate of the
costs paid by these victims. Table 2 compares two approaches to
estimating the costs that crime victims bear.

Les faits prouvent que la criminalité violente a diminué plus
rapidement aux Etats-Unis qu’au Canada. Entre 1991 et 2006,
la criminalité violente aux FEtats-Unis a chuté de 38 p. 100
alors qu’elle n’a chuté que de 10 p. 100 au Canada. Ce méme
phénomene s’applique aux homicides. Au cours de la méme
période, le taux d’homicides aux Etats-Unis a diminué de
42 p. 100 alors qu’il n’a diminué que d’un tiers au Canada.
Vous pouvez vous reporter aux tableaux fournis en annexe. Je suis
sir qu’ils seront plus faciles a interpréter que mes pauvres propos.

Les criminologues ont étudié cette baisse aux Etats-Unis,
laquelle était inattendue, et ont porté une attention particuliére
a la derniére décennie. Les résultats de ces analyses sont de
plus en plus clairs. Il y a littéralement des centaines d’études,
mais heureusement, je limiterai mes commentaires aux plus
importantes.

L’¢étude menée par Marvell et Moody a particuliérement
éclairci la question. Ces deux messieurs sont parmi les
criminologues les plus respectés au monde. Dans leurs études
par série chronologique, ils ont découvert que, résultats solides a
I’appui, au niveau national, une augmentation du nombre
d’auteurs de crimes graves et violents incarcérés était liée a la
réduction du taux de crimes violents.

Leur publication de 1997 démontre que pour chaque
augmentation de 10 p. 100 de la population carcérale, le taux
d’homicides baissait de 13 p. 100. Dans leurs études, ils ont pris
en considération toute une gamme de variables potentielles,
comme l’inflation, le taux de chomage, les tendances
démographiques et des facteurs socioéconomiques. Ils ont
découvert une corrélation semblable pour les voies de fait et les
vols qualifiés. Les résultats de Marvell et Moody étaient trés
robustes. Les résultats de leurs recherches ont été repris par
d’autres chercheurs. Je dois vous parler d’une autre étude, soit
celle de 2004 de Kovandzic et de ses collégues. Ces chercheurs ont
non seulement confirmé les conclusions de Marvell et Moody,
mais ont aussi examiné les effets précis de la mise en liberté des
délinquants sur les taux de crime violents. Ils ont découvert qu’il
n’y avait aucune preuve d’une relation positive considérable entre
les mises en liberté et le nombre d’homicides.

Les prisons cotitent cher. Toutefois, la question importante est
de savoir qui, au bout du compte, paie le prix de la criminalité.
Les prisons cotitent davantage aux contribuables que la probation
ou la détention a domicile, mais le prix de ne pas incarcérer les
criminels violents est payé directement par le public. Les victimes
paient le prix des crimes avec violence.

Bien qu’il soit difficile de faire des estimations, il est utile
d’essayer. Le tableau 1 montre que les cofits monétaires directs
encourus par les victimes de crimes contre la propriété sont de
4,6 milliards de dollars par an. Le gouvernement n’encourt pas
ces cofts, ce sont les gens. Le cout est d’environ 719 millions de
dollars pour les victimes de crime violent. Evidemment, les cofits
financiers pour les victimes de crime violent sont en fait une
estimation minimum des cotits payés par ces victimes. Le tableau
2 compare deux approches d’estimation des colts encourus par
les victimes de crime.
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When serious offenders are allowed to avoid jail time, they are
then free to commit more violent crimes. Individual Canadians
bear these costs. To take one blatant example, Jane Creba, who
was killed in Toronto on Boxing Day in Toronto in 2005, might
still be alive had the previous government acted to keep serious
offenders in jail. Other examples of questionable sentencing
decisions are frequently reported in the media.

Research in both the United States and Canada suggests that
those in social minorities were victims of violent crime at higher
rates than other citizens. Thus, it follows that increased prison
terms will be especially effective in reducing the victimization
rates among minority members. Despite what you hear from
special interest groups who may cherry-pick data, criminological
research is clear: The imprisonment of serious or violent offenders
has played an important role in the dramatic fall of violent crime
in the United States. These results support the logic behind
Bill C-2, that is, of incarcerating those convicted of serious or
violent offences.

Despite my support for Bill C-2, I do have some reservations.
In my view, partly as you can hear from my discussion of
violent crime, the focus should be on violent crime and violent
criminals and not just gun crime. Violent crime involving
firearms is only a small portion of serious violent crime.
Knife-wielding criminals cause more — and frequently more
serious — injuries to their victims. Additional research is present
on my website.

Tables 3 and 4 attached to my presentation, demonstrate the
comparison of knife, club and firearm violence and the injuries
caused by these weapons. You can see in the first line that knife
victims are more likely to suffer major physical injury than are
firearm victims. Line four shows that knife victims are much more
likely to be injured than are firearm victims. Some criminologists
speculate that the reason for this is that victims of gun violence,
as well as the perpetrator, believe that gun damage will be more
dangerous than knife damage and so compliance is more readily
offered, accepted and expected. In knife violence, the perpetrator
believes that the victim will fight back and must be injured to start
the conversation. Therefore, injuries are much more frequent.

Before I conclude, I will say a few words about the tendency of
many people to refuse to believe statistical studies that do not
conform to their previous beliefs. Such a position is buttressed by
the cynical claim that statisticians can obtain any result they
wish by simply manipulating and massaging the data. Such
cynicism justifies laziness and ignorance. Certainly liars and
sophists use statistics. Liars and sophists use language, too, and
no one suggests we should abandon language because there
are liars.

Lorsqu’on permet aux auteurs de crime grave d’éviter la
prison, ces délinquants sont libres de commettre d’autres crimes
violents. Les particuliers canadiens en paient le prix. Prenons
un exemple flagrant, Jane Creba, qui a été tuée a Toronto le
26 décembre 2005 et qui serait peut-étre encore en vie si le
gouvernement précédent avait fait en sorte de garder les auteurs
de crime grave en prison. D’autres exemples de peines douteuses
sont fréquemment signalés dans les médias.

Des recherches aux Etats-Unis et au Canada laissent entendre
que les membres de minorités sociales sont davantage victimes
de crimes violents que d’autres citoyens. Ainsi, des peines
d’emprisonnement prolongées réduiraient efficacement le taux
de victimisation chez les membres des minorités. Malgré ce que
vous disent les groupes d’intéréts spéciaux, qui font peut-étre
une utilisation sélective des données a leur disposition, les
recherches dans le domaine de la criminologie sont claires :
I’emprisonnement d’auteurs de crime grave ou violent a joué un
réle important dans la réduction considérable du nombre de
crimes violents aux Etats-Unis. Ces résultats soutiennent la
logique dont s’inspire le projet de loi C-2, c’est-a-dire qu’il faut
incarcérer les délinquants reconnus coupables d’infractions graves
ou violentes.

Bien que jappuie le projet de loi C-2, j’ai aussi certaines
réserves. A mon avis, comme vous pouvez un peu le voir dans mes
discussions sur le crime violent, il faudrait se concentrer sur les
crimes violents et les criminels violents et non pas seulement sur
les crimes liés aux armes a feu. Les crimes violents qui impliquent
des armes a feu ne représentent qu’une petite proportion des
crimes graves violents. Les criminels armés d’armes blanches
causent a leurs victimes davantage de blessures — lesquelles sont
souvent plus graves. Vous pouvez trouver d’autres recherches
sur mon site web.

Les tableaux 3 et 4, joints a mon exposé, comparent les
blessures causées par les armes blanches, les matraques et les
armes a feu. A la premiére ligne, vous constaterez que les victimes
d’attaque au couteau sont beaucoup plus susceptibles d’étre
blessées que les victimes d’arme a feu. Certains criminologues
croient que cela s’explique par le fait que les victimes d’arme a feu
et les délinquants armés d’une arme a feu croient qu’une arme a
feu est plus dangereuse qu’'une arme blanche. Ainsi, les victimes
collaborent plus facilement, collaboration a laquelle s’attend
l’agresseur et qu’il accepte. Les agresseurs armés d’une arme
blanche croient que la victime se défendra et qu’elle doit étre
blessée pour commencer la conversation. Les blessures sont donc
beaucoup plus fréquentes.

Avant de terminer, je vais dire quelques mots sur la tendance
voulant que de nombreuses personnes refusent de croire des
études statistiques qui ne correspondent pas a leurs croyances
antérieures. Ce genre de position est étayé par la déclaration
cynique selon laquelle les statisticiens peuvent obtenir les résultats
qu’ils désirent simplement en manipulant les données. Un tel
cynisme favorise la paresse et l'ignorance. Des menteurs et
sophistes utilisent certes des statistiques. Les menteurs et sophistes
utilisent la langue, également, et personne ne laisse entendre qu’ils
devraient cesser d’utiliser la langue parce qu’ils sont des menteurs.
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I urge honourable senators to do the hard work. Check up on
me; go through my website; do your own analyses; read my
references; make sure I am a good boy and not a liar or a
sophist.

In conclusion, I support this legislation because it makes a
modest contribution towards improving public safety. Research
shows that keeping violent criminals in jail protects the public
through simple incapacitation. If you are in, you are not out. If
you are in, you are not hurting people on the outside. However,
by focusing excessively on guns, this legislation will not be as
effective as it could be. I am sure you know good legislation
requires more than merely reacting to media events.

Thank you for your attention. I will be glad to answer
questions.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Mauser. Before
I turn to questions from senators, I would like to be sure that
I have this straight. Your two charts, that is, figures one and
two, basically track an index with the initial year being presented
as one in each chart and then the percentage decline in violent
crime and in homicide for both Canada and the United States
being charted.

Mr. Mauser: That is right.

The Chair: Since the percentage decline in Canada has been less
than the percentage decline in the United States, Canada is the
top line and the United States is the line that is below running
agreeably downwards?

Mr. Mauser: Yes.

The Chair: It does remain true, does it not, that absolute crime
rates and, in particular, homicide rates per 100,000 population are
far lower in this country than they are in the United States? They
were at the beginning and they still are?

Mr. Mauser: Homicide, but not violent crime.

The Chair: Not violent crime, but homicide, yes. I think it is
about one third.

Mr. Mauser: Homicide is yes and violent crime is no.

The Chair: We are a little over two and they are up around
nine, are they, per 100,000?

Mr. Mauser: No, five.
The Chair: Five, which is more than double.
Mr. Mauser: Is it appropriate to explain my reasoning?

The Chair: Briefly, because I am eating into other senators’
question time, but I asked the question, so explain.

Mr. Mauser: The reason I picked indices is because I was
looking at managerial effectiveness. What you do as a nation
has an impact on the nature of your nation.

Jexhorte les honorables sénateurs a faire un travail rigoureux.
Renseignez-vous a mon sujet; parcourrez mon site web; faites vos
propres analyses; lisez mes références; vous comprendrez que je
suis une bonne personne, et non un menteur ou un sophiste.

En conclusion, j’appuie ce projet de loi parce qu’il vise
modestement a améliorer la sécurité publique. Les recherches
démontrent que le fait de garder les criminels violents en prison
protége le public simplement parce qu’on les empéche ainsi de
commettre de nouveaux crimes. Si vous étes en prison, vous n’étes
pas dans la collectivité. Si vous étes en prison, vous ne pouvez
faire du mal aux gens de la collectivité. Toutefois, en se
concentrant trop sur les armes a feu, ce projet de loi n’est pas
aussi efficace qu’il pourrait I’étre. Je suis certain que vous savez
qu'un bon projet de loi n’est pas présenté simplement en guise de
réaction a des événements médiatiques.

Je vous remercie de votre attention. Je serais heureux de
répondre a vos questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Mauser. Avant de
céder la parole aux sénateurs pour la période des questions,
Jaimerais m’assurer de bien comprendre. Les tableaux un et deux
démontrent en pourcentage la baisse du nombre de crimes
violents et d’homicides au Canada et aux Etats-Unis, I"année
initiale de comparaison étant représentée par le chiffre un dans
chacun des tableaux.

M. Mauser : C’est cela.

Le président : Puisque la baisse du pourcentage au Canada est
moins importante que la baisse de pourcentage aux Etats-Unis, le
Canada est représenté par la ligne du haut et les Etats-Unis, par la
ligne du bas, laquelle descend considérablement?

M. Mauser : Oui.

Le président : 11 est toujours vrai, n’est-ce pas, que le taux de
criminalité absolue et, tout particuliérement, le taux d’homicides
par 100 000 habitants sont beaucoup plus bas au Canada qu’aux
Etats-Unis? Ils I’étaient au début et ils le sont toujours?

M. Mauser : Le taux d’homicides, mais pas le taux de crimes
violents.

Le président : La réponse est donc non pour les crimes violents
et oui pour les homicides. Je crois que c’est environ un tiers.

M. Mauser : Oui pour les homicides, non pour les crimes
violents.

Le président : Notre taux pour 100 000 habitants est d'un peu
plus de deux tandis que le leur est d’environ neuf?

M. Mauser : Non, cing.
Le président : Cing, c’est-a-dire plus du double.
M. Mauser : Puis-je vous expliquer mon raisonnement?

Le président : Briévement, parce que j'utilise le temps consacré
aux questions des sénateurs. Mais puisque j’ai posé la question,
expliquez-nous.

M. Mauser : J’ai décidé d’utiliser des indices, parce que

jexaminais I’efficacité de la direction. Ce qu’on fait comme
nation a des répercussions sur la nature de la nation.
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Canada has made decisions in the criminological field;
the U.S. has made other ones; what are those impacts? Brute
numbers, such as averages, speak more to national character
and history. The U.S. has several national characteristics that
Canada does not share. For example, it had a longer, more brutal
involvement with slavery than Canada. It has a much broader
distribution of economics. There are more at the bottom and
more at the top of the financial pyramid. This is the nature of
the place.

Criminological efforts, no matter how enthusiastically passed,
do not change these. It is important to look at the managerial
efforts.

Senator Campbell: 1 would like to start with Professor
Beauchesne.

We have, as a country, for many years, had prevention
measures in place with regard to impaired driving. We see MADD
commercials on television and government commercials in
newspapers and on television. We also have on our medication
vials, “do not take with alcohol,” “do not drive machinery,” “do
not interchange with different types of drugs.”

You state in your paper that these are all being ignored by
government in the interests of drinking and driving and the
criminal impact. I do not know how we can bring those two
together. We are addressing these issues and I believe we have
driven down impaired driving rates through some of those
initiatives. How do you bring those together?

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: More specifically, four or five years ago, one
of my students took the time to study every program financed
by the government, every prevention campaign shown on TV,
and those which targeted kids in school. Nearly 94 per cent, or
96 per cent, of those programs talked about the same thing:
alcohol impaired driving. Yes, the campaigns worked to some
extent, and we should keep them, and even expand them, but
say that impairment can be caused by substances other than
alcohol.

People have to ask themselves whether they are in any
condition to drive before getting behind the wheel. As well,
prevention campaigns should target specific groups such as the
elderly who are on medication.

We have to widen the scope of prevention and not undo what
was done in the past.

[English]

Senator Campbell: With regard to drug testing as a golden
business opportunity, do you not think that we should
differentiate between what you have as commercial laboratories,
for instance, and those that are accredited by forensic agencies,
such as the RCMP crime laboratory and the Ontario forensic
laboratory? These are not commercial laboratories; these are for

Le Canada a pris certaines décisions dans le domaine de la
criminologie tandis que les Etats-Unis en ont pris d’autres; quelles
sont les répercussions? Les données brutes, comme les moyennes,
témoignent davantage du caractére national et de I’histoire. Les
Etats-Unis ont plusieurs caractéristiques nationales que le Canada
n’a pas. Par exemple, les Etats-Unis ont eu recours a I’esclavage
pendant plus longtemps, et avec plus de violence, que le Canada.
La distribution de I’économie est beaucoup plus vaste aux Etats-
Unis. Il y a davantage de gens en haut et en bas de la pyramide
financiére. C’est la nature du pays.

Les efforts en matiére de criminologie, peu importe
I’enthousiasme avec lequel ils sont déployés, ne changent rien a
cela. Il est important d’examiner les efforts de la direction.

Le sénateur Campbell : J’aimerais commencer par la
professeure Beauchesne.

Depuis de nombreuses années, notre pays a établi des mesures
de prévention concernant la conduite avec facultés affaiblies.
Nous avons vu les annonces télévisées de I’association MADD
et des annonces du gouvernement dans les journaux et a la
télévision. On trouve également des mises en garde sur nos flacons
de médicaments, « ne pas consommer avec de 1’alcool », « ne pas
conduire ni utiliser de la machinerie », « ne pas mélanger avec
d’autres types de médicaments ».

Vous déclarez dans votre mémoire que le gouvernement n’en
tient aucun compte pour ce qui est de la conduite avec facultés
affaiblies et ses incidences criminelles. J’ignore comment nous
pouvons concilier ces deux aspects. Nous sommes en train de
donner suite a ces questions et je pense que nous avons réduit les
taux de conduite avec facultés affaiblies grace a certaines de ces
initiatives. Comment peut-on concilier ces aspects?

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Pour étre plus précise, il y a quatre ou cinq
ans, une de mes étudiantes a pris le temps de vérifier tous les
programmes financés par le gouvernement, toutes les campagnes
de prévention télévisées ainsi que celles qui ciblaient les jeunes en
milieu scolaire. Prés de 94 ou 96 p. 100 de ces programmes ne
parlaient que d’une possibilit¢ — les facultés affaiblies par
l’alcool. Oui, il y a eu des effets positifs, mais il faudrait
continuer ces programmes, les élargir méme, mais en spécifiant
qu’il n’y a pas que ’alcool qui affaiblit les facultés.

Il faut se demander si on est en état de conduire quand on
prend le volant d’une voiture. De plus, les campagnes préventives
devraient cibler des clientéles spécifiques comme, par exemple,
celle des personnes agées qui consomment des médicaments.

11 faut élargir le volet prévention et non pas défaire ce qui a été
fait avant.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Campbell : En ce qui concerne les énormes
possibilités commerciales qu’offre le dépistage de la
consommation de drogues, ne croyez-vous pas que nous
devrions faire la distinction entre les laboratoires commerciaux,
par exemple, et ceux qui sont accrédités des organismes
judiciaires, comme le laboratoire judiciaire de la GRC et celui
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specific forensic testing. It would seem that, at least in this section
of your paper, they deal more with commercial, for instance, drug
testing at a job or something outside of the criminal element.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: I hold to that. The accredited laboratories
you are referring to are already overworked. Today, it takes
several weeks before getting the results and we have to farm out
the extra work to the private sector. If we decide that we want to
impose smaller sanctions more frequently, there is no doubt we
will have to turn towards private sector laboratories to reduce the
backlog, otherwise people might end up waiting for their test
results for months, which would happen under this new bill.
Accredited laboratories already cannot keep up.

[English)

Senator Campbell: I do not know that that is the case right
now. In any event, if samples were going to a laboratory of that
type, the lab would have to be accredited. It would have to have
the proper accreditation or it simply would not be accepted in
court.

[Translation)

Ms. Beauchesne: Yes, but we would have to pay. I was
referring to the additional costs related to the drug tests.

Senator De Bané: I do not have any questions for you. I simply
wanted you to know that what you told us this afternoon has
really gotten me to think. I was very impressed by what you had
to say about the practical consequences of this bill, particularly
with regard to impairment. You also said that there were several
other ways to address this issue. I would like to thank you for this
very interesting course you gave me.

[English)

Professor Mauser, I would not say I am familiar with all your
writings, but I know that you are a well-known agent provocateur
and you like to stimulate discussion with those points of view.
I may be more in the mainstream. You have suggested that you
are in a field related to criminology. This morning we had quite an
exchange of views with a professor of criminology at Oxford
University, Julian Roberts. I asked him if he could give us a
summary of the opinion of experts and criminology scholars and
what the judiciary thinks about mandatory sentencing.

He said that, in general, legal scholars in criminology as
well as the judiciary are not in favour of mandatory minimum
sentences because they do not take stock of the particular
circumstances of the case to be decided. You seem to suggest
another point of view. Am [ right on that?

de I’Ontario? Il ne s’agit pas de laboratoires commerciaux; ce sont
des laboratoires qui font des tests médico-légaux particuliers. 11
me semble qu’au moins dans cette partie de votre mémoire, il
s’agit davantage de laboratoires commerciaux, par exemple, pour
le dépistage de la consommation de drogues au travail ou en
dehors de la sphére criminelle.

[Frangais)

Mme Beauchesne : Je maintiens cela. Les laboratoires
accrédités dont vous parlez sont déja débordés. Cela prend
déja plusieurs semaines avant d’avoir des résultats et on est
obligé d’envoyer la charge supplémentaire de travail dans le
secteur privé. Si on émet ’hypothése voulant qu’on applique
minimalement la loi et souvent, c’est clair que I’on va devoir se
tourner vers le privé pour empécher les longs délais, sinon
quelqu’un pourrait attendre pendant des mois le résultat de ses
tests avec cette nouvelle loi. Les laboratoires accrédités sont déja
débordés.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Campbell : J’ignore si c’est le cas a I’heure actuelle.
Quoi qu’il en soit, si des échantillons étaient étudiés par des
laboratoires de ce genre, il faudrait que le laboratoire soit
accrédité. Il devrait posséder I’accréditation appropriée sinon les
échantillons ne seraient tout simplement pas acceptés devant les
tribunaux.

[Frangais)

Mme Beauchesne : Oui, mais nous devrons les payer. Je faisais
référence aux colts que ces tests de drogue allaient rajouter.

Le sénateur De Bané : Je n’ai pas de question a vous poser. Je
voulais simplement vous dire que ce que vous nous avez dit cet
aprés-midi a stimulé énormément ma réflexion. J'ai été tres
impressionné par ce que vous avez dit sur les conséquences
pratiques de ce projet de loi, particuliérement en ce qui concerne
les facultés affaiblies. Vous avez dit également qu’on aurait pu
aborder ce probléeme de plusieurs autres manieres. Je tenais a vous
remercier, vous m’avez donné un cours trés intéressant.

[Traduction]

Professeur Mauser, je ne peux pas dire que je connais bien tous
les ouvrages que vous avez écrits, mais je sais que vous aimez
beaucoup provoquer et stimuler la discussion en présentant ces
points de vue. Je suis sans doute plus modéré. Vous avez laissé
entendre que vous travaillez dans un domaine connexe a la
criminologie. Ce matin, nous avons eu un échange de vues assez
intéressant avec un professeur de criminologie de I’Université
Oxford, Julian Roberts. Je lui ai demandé s’il pouvait nous
fournir un résumé de I'opinion d’experts et de criminologistes et
de ce que la magistrature pense des peines obligatoires.

Il a dit qu’en général, les juristes spécialisés en criminologie de
méme que la magistrature ne sont pas favorables a des peines
minimales obligatoires parce qu’elles ne permettent pas de tenir
compte des circonstances particuliéres de la cause qui doit étre
jugée. Vous semblez proposer un autre point de vue. Est-ce exact?
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Mr. Mauser: I take it you are addressing me.

Senator De Bané: Yes.

Mr. Mauser: [ was left a little bit awry, but let me see if I can
come to some sensible response.

I believe keeping violent and serious offenders in jail
longer than is now currently the case would be an effective
way to reduce crime. Mandatory minimums are one way to go
about attempting to do that, as well as the reverse onus
provisions. You will notice that I spoke to the theory, to the
goal, and I think that is a valuable approach to take.

Senator De Bané: Senator Merchant gave me statistics that
show that the percentage of people in Canada who are
condemned to prison is seven times less than the United States.
European countries have even less than Canada. However,
Canada, compared to the States, has seven times less.

Mr. Mauser: That perhaps might explain why the crime
rate is increasing and the serious crime rate is increasing.
You will excuse me, but I have looked at the statistics, and
serious violent crime has increased in the last five years. Total
crime, as reported in the newspapers, has declined, but all that
shows is a decline in mild, not serious, by definition, crime.

The question is which number one looks at. Perhaps we could
improve our rate. You will see those graphs I provided. Can
Canada improve or are we so self-satisfied that whatever we have
done is fine? I argue that we can do better and we can do better by
keeping violent and dangerous people in jail longer.

Senator De Bané: Professor, you said something that I think
was well put. You said that you have to look to the statistics
without any bias and then take stock of that to come to logical
conclusions. I am tempted to ask whether you also take the
statistics as they are. I have read your article about gun control.
You said gun control does not reduce crime. Then I say, “Surely,
Professor Mauser knows the statistics, that the more a country
has stringent restrictions on arms control the fewer crimes are
committed with guns.”

A good example is to compare the number of deaths caused
by firearms in the United States with Japan, where it is totally
private to have a gun. There are so many other countries
where that can be done. You have reached another conclusion
and you are the one who cautions us not to be biased.

M. Mauser : Je suppose que c’est & moi que vous adressez la
question.

Le sénateur De Bané : Oui.

M. Mauser : J’ai été un peu décontenancé, mais voyons s’il
m’est possible de vous fournir une réponse assez sensée.

Je pense que des peines d’emprisonnement plus longues que
celles qui existent a I’heure actuelle pour les contrevenants
violents, et ceux qui ont commis des infractions graves seraient
un moyen efficace de réduire la criminalité. Les peines minimales
obligatoires sont une fagon d’essayer de le faire, de méme que les
dispositions concernant lI'inversion du fardeau de la preuve.
Vous constaterez que je parle de la théorie, de I'objectif, et je
pense qu’il s’agit d’une approche valable.

Le sénateur De Bané : Le sénateur Merchant m’a donné des
statistiques qui montrent que le pourcentage de personnes au
Canada qui sont condamnées a ’emprisonnement est sept fois
moins élevé que celui affiché par les Etats-Unis. Les pays
européens affichent un pourcentage encore plus faible que
le pourcentage en vigueur au Canada. Cependant, le Canada,
comparativement aux Etats-Unis, affiche un pourcentage sept
fois moins élevé.

M. Mauser : Cela explique peut-étre la raison pour laquelle
le taux de criminalit¢ augmente et le taux de crimes graves
augmente. Vous m’excuserez, mais j’ai examiné les statistiques, et
les crimes graves avec violence ont augmenté au cours des cinq
derniéres années. Le taux total de criminalité, tel que le rapportent
les journaux, a diminué, mais tout ce que cela indique, c’est une
diminution des infractions mineures, des infractions qui ne sont
pas considérées graves, par définition.

Tout dépend du nombre que 'on examine. Nous pourrions
peut-étre améliorer notre taux. Vous verrez les tableaux que j’ai
fournis. Le Canada peut-il améliorer son taux ou sommes-nous
tout a fait satisfaits des mesures que nous avons prises? Je soutiens
que nous pouvons faire mieux et nous pouvons faire mieux
en emprisonnant plus longtemps les personnes violentes et
dangereuses.

Senator De Bané : Professeur, vous avez fait une observation
que je considere trés pertinente. Vous avez dit qu’il faut examiner
les statistiques sans aucun parti pris et en faire alors le bilan
pour arriver a des conclusions logiques. Je suis tenté de vous
demander si vous considérez également les statistiques telles
qu’elles existent. J’ai lu votre article a propos du contréle des
armes a feu. Vous avez dit que le contrdle des armes a feu ne
réduit pas la criminalité. Je vous répondrai alors, « Il ne fait
aucun doute que le professeur Mauser est au courant des
statistiques selon lesquelles plus un pays a des restrictions
sévéres en matiére de contréle des armes a feu, moins il y a de
crimes qui sont commis a I’aide d’armes a feu ».

Un bon exemple consiste a comparer le nombre de morts
causées par des armes & feu aux Etats-Unis comparativement
au Japon, ou la possession d’'une arme a feu est une chose
entiérement privée. Il y a tant d’autres pays ou cela peut étre fait.
Vous étes arrivé a une autre conclusion et vous étes celui qui nous
mettez en garde contre les partis pris.



8:92

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

20-2-2008

Are you, by chance, a member of the National Rifle
Association?

Mr. Mauser: I am surprised that you said you read my several
studies on this area.

Senator De Bané: Not all of them.

Mr. Mauser: You read one of them. The studies are
chockablock with statistics. For example, just to pick a few,
Jamaica banned all guns and went house to house confiscating
guns, every gun they could find, and the murder rate has increased
virtually every year since. Ireland, to pick a different island,
also did likewise. They left some farm owners with 22 rifles.
Jamaica did not do that. Their homicide rate similarly increased
500 per cent, 600 per cent. England has had a very energetic
effort at banning and confiscating all manners of guns and their
homicide rate is increasing.

The question, as I said to the chair, is: What happens after one
introduces something, not whether the nation is a big one or a
little one or a purple one or a green one. Nations have characters
that last. Japan has had, if you remember your history, a very
long period where Japanese governments of various stripes have
tried to eliminate weapon owning among the populous. They still
have a problem with yakuza.

There is very little evidence that increasing the strictness
of gun controls reduces the homicide rate. A certain minimum
does help, for sure, but in general it is not a viable proposition.
It is not only from my studies but many studies that that is a
widely known notion. I am surprised that you did not see that in
the statistics.

Senator Cowan: Thank you very much for being here. We
found your testimony very interesting.

Most academics I know are not shy about listing in references
to support their conclusions works in which they have been
involved. I do not see in the list of references that you have
attached to your paper any works on sentencing and crime that
you have authored or co-authored.

Mr. Mauser: I have authored or co-authored other studies, but
they are not immediately relevant here, so I did not include them.

Senator Cowan: Have you not authored or co-authored any on
this field that you are addressing us on today?

Mr. Mauser: No. My field is econometrics and statistics, so
I thought it would be useful to the committee to review other
people’s studies. Despite being shy and retiring, I thought it
might well be of use to the committee to see the high-quality
research that other people have done in this area.

Seriez-vous, par hasard, membre de la National Rifle
Association?

M. Mauser : Je suis étonné que vous ayez dit avoir lu plusieurs
des études que j’ai faites sur ce sujet.

Senator De Bané : Je ne les ai pas toutes lues.

M. Mauser : Vous en avez lu une. Les études débordent de
statistiques. Par exemple, pour vous en citer simplement quelques-
unes, a la Jamaique, on a interdit toutes les armes a feu et on est
allé de maison en maison pour confisquer toutes les armes a feu
que ’on pouvait trouver, et pratiquement chaque année depuis, le
nombre de meurtres a augmenté. L’Irlande a pris des mesures
similaires. On a autorisé quelques cultivateurs a conserver leurs
carabines, des carabines de calibre 22. La Jamaique ne I’a pas
fait. Le taux d’homicides a augmenté de 500 p. 100, 600 p. 100.
L’Angleterre a pris des mesures trés énergiques pour interdire et
confisquer toutes formes d’armes a feu et leur taux d’homicide
augmente.

La question qui se pose, comme je I’ai dit a la présidence, est la
suivante : que se passe-t-il aprés que I’on met en place certaines
mesures; 'important n’est pas qu’il s’agisse d’un petit ou d’un
grand pays, d’un pays mauve ou d’un pays vert. Les pays ont des
particularités durables. Si vous vous rappelez votre histoire, le
Japon a connu une trés longue période pendant laquelle les
gouvernements japonais de diverses allégeances ont essayé
d’éliminer la possession d’armes a feu par la population. Le
Japon continue de connaitre des problémes avec les yakuza.

Il existe trés peu de preuves selon lesquelles un contréle plus
sévére des armes a feu réduit le taux d’homicide. Il ne fait
aucun doute qu’un certain minimum y contribue, mais de fagon
générale, ce n’est pas une proposition viable. C’est une notion trés
répandue qui se dégage non seulement de mes études mais de
nombreuses autres études. Je suis étonné que vous ne 1’ayez pas
constaté dans les statistiques.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je vous remercie d’étre ici. Nous avons
trouvé votre témoignage trés intéressant.

La plupart des universitaires que je connais n’hésitent pas a
énumérer pour appuyer leurs conclusions les ouvrages auxquels
ils ont participé. Je ne vois pas dans la liste de références que
vous avez jointes a votre mémoire la mention d’ouvrage sur
I'imposition de peines et la criminalité dont vous étes I'auteur ou
le corédacteur.

M. Mauser : J’ai rédigé ou corédigé d’autres études, mais
comme elles ne sont pas immédiatement pertinentes, je ne les ai
pas incluses.

Le sénateur Cowan : N’avez-vous pas rédigé ou corédigé des
études sur cette question dont vous nous parlez aujourd’hui?

. 7

M. Mauser : Non. Mon domaine, c’est I’économétrie et la
statistique, donc j’ai pensé qu’il serait utile que le comité examine
les études faites par d’autres personnes. Méme si je suis timide
et réservé, j’ai pensé qu’il serait utile que le comité prenne
connaissance de la recherche de grande qualité que d’autres
personnes ont faite dans ce domaine.
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Senator Cowan: I agree. | believe we found it very instructive.

Senator De Bané referred to testimony we received from
Professor Roberts at Oxford today indicating that in his view the
severity of sentence is not a deterrent to crime. I am paraphrasing
his view that it is the fear or the apprehension of being
apprehended or caught that really deters people from crime.

That view has been shared by Professor Dube. There was a
study at UNB by Smith, Gauguin and Gendron, Dr. Ruben
of the Aboriginal legal services, Toronto. There are a number
of people who have written extensively on this topic who have
published works in this area, who, it seems to me, have universally
come to a view which is quite contrary to yours.

Mr. Mauser: No, I think you misunderstand the data.

Senator Cowan: Do I misunderstand the data or do
I misunderstand you? I think I understand them.

Mr. Mauser: That is good. I think you misunderstand them
though. Let me point out an error that many people make. The
dependent variable is quite different. You focus on deterrence.
Prison sentences are not very good for rehabilitation, either.
These are very important dependent variables, both deterrence
and rehabilitation. I asked a different question and came to a
different conclusion.

Senator Cowan: The question I am asking and the question we
are addressing is that the stated purpose of this bill is to reduce
violent crime.

Mr. Mauser: That is what 1 addressed. I did not look at
deterrence. I looked at reducing violent crime.

Senator Cowan: You are right; I do not understand you.
I would have thought that if you were trying to reduce the
incidence of violent crime, then you are really looking at deterring
people from committing violent crime. Is that not correct? What is
the difference?

Mr. Mauser: That is certainly one of the ways to do it. If you
look at the notion of deterrence I do not think it is difficult
to understand. Deterrence means to have someone look at the
situation and think of something that has been instilled in them to
be afraid of or to worry about or to want and then they make a
decision not to do that. I am not looking at decision-making.
I am looking at the police statistics of the number of offences
committed.

Senator Cowan: What I am addressing is one of the stated
purposes of the bill, which you support, although you might not
go far enough in some areas, I suspect. I accept the fact that if you
incarcerate a person, as long as that person is incarcerated they
are not likely to commit any crimes amongst the general public.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je suis d’accord. Nous avons trouvé ces
études trés instructives.

Le sénateur De Bané a parlé d’un témoignage que nous
avons entendu du professeur Roberts de 1’Université Oxford
aujourd’hui dans lequel il indique qu’a son avis la gravité de la
peine n’a pas d’effet dissuasif sur la criminalité. Je paraphrase son
opinion selon laquelle c’est la crainte d’étre appréhendé ou attrapé
qui dissuade en fait les gens de commettre des crimes.

Cette opinion est partagée par le professeur Dube. Une
étude a été faite a 1’Université du Nouveau-Brunswick par
Smith, Gauguin et Gendron, M. Ruben des Services juridiques
autochtones de Toronto. Il y a un certain nombre de personnes
qui ont beaucoup écrit sur cette question et qui ont publi¢ des
ouvrages dans ce domaine et qui, il me semble, sont arrivées
de fagon universelle & une opinion qui est tout a fait 'opposé
de la votre.

M. Mauser : Non, je pense que vous comprenez mal les
données.

Le sénateur Cowan : Est-ce que je comprends mal les données
ou est-ce que je vous comprends mal? Je pense que je comprends
les données.

M. Mauser : C’est bien. Je pense que vous les comprenez mal
de toute fagon. Permettez-moi de vous signaler une erreur que
commettent beaucoup de gens. La variable dépendante est assez
différente. Vous mettez I’accent sur la dissuasion. Les peines
d’emprisonnement ne favorisent pas vraiment la réhabilitation,
non plus. Ce sont des variables dépendantes trés importantes,
c’est-a-dire la dissuasion et la réhabilitation. J’ai posé une
question différente et je suis arrivé a une conclusion différente.

Le sénateur Cowan : La question que je pose et la question dont
nous traitons c’est que 1’objet déclaré du projet de loi est de
réduire les crimes violents.

M. Mauser : C’est ce sur quoi je me suis penché. Je n’ai pas
examiné la dissuasion. J’ai examiné les moyens de réduire les
crimes violents.

Le sénateur Cowan : Vous avez raison; je ne vous comprends
pas. J’aurais pensé que si vous tachiez de réduire I'incidence des
crimes violents, que vous examineriez vraiment la fagon de
dissuader les personnes de commettre des crimes violents. N’est-ce
pas exact? Quelle est la différence?

M. Mauser : C’est certainement 1'une des fagons d’y parvenir.
Si vous examinez la notion de dissuasion, je ne crois pas que ce
soit difficile a comprendre. La dissuasion signifie que quelquun
examine la situation et songe aux conséquences qu’on lui a
fait craindre s’il commet certains actes, ce qui l'incite alors a ne
pas commettre cet acte. Je n’examine pas la prise de décision.
Jexamine les statistiques de la police sur le nombre d’infractions
commises.

Le sénateur Cowan : Ce dont je traite, c’est 'un des buts
énoncés par le projet de loi, que vous appuyez, méme si vous
n’allez peut-étre pas suffisamment loin a certains égards, je crois.
Je conviens que si 'on incarcére une personne, tant que cette
personne est incarcérée, elle n’est pas susceptible de commettre de
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They may do some damage within the public; they may perfect
their skills while they are there. I think you would agree with me
that the studies that have been published would indicate that there
is a correlation between the length of a sentence and the incidence
of recidivism afterwards.

Mr. Mauser: It decreases. If you look on page 3, the research
by Kovandzic suggests that there is no correlation between the
time in which these violent offenders are released and a
subsequent increase in crime rates, which would be expected if
these violent offenders would be either better trained or at least
just biding their time with their anger until they get out. It does
not appear to increase the crime rate.

Senator Cowan: I suggest to you, Dr. Mauser, that the evidence
that we have heard and that has been submitted here and in the
other place is quite to the contrary, and that there is a direct
correlation. The longer the people are there, there is a higher
incidence of those persons reoffending when they are ultimately
released because you cannot keep them in forever. At least,
I do not think you are suggesting we do that; are you?

Mr. Mauser: That is not before us right now, and I am not
supporting that.

Senator Cowan: I am pleased to hear that.

Mr. Mauser: It is easy for groups to reach premature
consensus. It is easy for academics to agree with each other too
quickly. I do not know if I am a provocateur or just a sweet, nice
little boy, but I would like to say that many criminologists
disagree with the conclusions that you have presented.

Senator Cowan: You made the statement. You said that
keeping repeat offenders in jail longer reduces crime.

Mr. Mauser: Yes, I said that.

Senator Cowan: You believe that. Can you provide any studies
that would support that conclusion?

Mr. Mauser: I am sorry you did not listen.
Senator Cowan: I was listening carefully.

Mr. Mauser: [ am sorry. You will see at the end I have a list of
references on your sheet. You will remember that during the
presentation, I mentioned two studies.

Senator Cowan: You mentioned Marvell and Moody.

Mr. Mauser: There is also Kovandzic and his colleagues.
I tried not to bore the good senator with tons of studies, but
I assure you that these are not NRA members or weirdoes that
are outside the consensus. The premature, conclusive claims are
impressive.

Senator Cowan: Would you give greater weight to these two
studies than to the evidence that has been provided by Professor
Dub, the UNB study, or by Dr. Roberts this morning?

crimes dont sera victime le public. Elles peuvent causer certains
dommages parmi le public; elles peuvent perfectionner leurs
aptitudes pendant qu’elles sont emprisonnées. Je pense que
vous conviendrez avec moi que les études qui ont été publiées
indiqueraient qu’il existe un lien entre la durée d’une peine et le
taux de récidivisme par la suite.

M. Mauser : Ce taux diminue. Si vous regardez a la page 3,
I’étude faite par Kovandzic semble indiquer qu’il n’existe aucun
lien entre le moment auquel ces contrevenants sont libérés et une
augmentation subséquente du taux de criminalité, ce & quoi on
s’attendrait si ces contrevenants violents étaient devenus plus
rusés ou attendaient simplement leur heure pour assouvir leur
colére au moment de leur sortie de prison. Cela ne semble pas
augmenter le taux de criminalité.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je vous dirais, monsieur Mauser, que
les témoignages que nous avons entendus et qui nous ont été
présentés ici et a l’autre endroit vont tout a fait dans le sens
contraire, a savoir qu’il existe un lien direct. Plus la peine
d’emprisonnement est longue, plus l'incidence de récidive est
¢élevée lorsque ces personnes finissent par étre libérées parce qu’on
ne peut pas les emprisonner a perpétuité. Du moins, je ne crois
pas que ce soit ce que vous proposez; n’est-ce pas?

M. Mauser : Ce n’est pas ce que nous étudions, et je n’appuie
pas cette suggestion.

Le sénateur Cowan : Cela me fait plaisir d’entendre cela.

M. Mauser : Il est facile pour des groupes d’en arriver trop vite
a un consensus. Il est facile pour les universitaires de se mettre
d’accord trop rapidement. Je ne sais pas si je suis un provocateur
ou tout simplement un gentil petit gar¢on, mais je crois que de
nombreux criminologues sont en désaccord avec les conclusions
que vous avez présentées.

Le sénateur Cowan : Vous avez fait cette déclaration. Vous
avez dit que d’emprisonner les récidivistes plus longtemps
réduisait la criminalité.

M. Mauser : Oui, je I'ai dit.

Le sénateur Cowan : C’est ce que vous croyez. Pouvez-vous
nous présenter des études qui appuient cette conclusion?

M. Mauser : Je suis désolé que vous ne m’ayez pas écouté.
Le sénateur Cowan : J’écoutais trés attentivement.

M. Mauser : Je suis désolé. Vous pouvez voir qu’il y a une liste
de références a la fin du document. Vous vous souvenez sans
doute que durant mon exposé, j’ai mentionné deux études.

Le sénateur Cowan : Vous avez mentionné Marvell et Moody.

M. Mauser : Il y a aussi Kovandzic et ses collégues. J’essaie de
ne pas ennuyer les bons sénateurs avec une tonne d’études, mais
je vous assure qu’ils ne sont pas membres de la NRA ou qu’ils
ne sont pas des hurluberlus marginaux. Ces allégations finales
prématurées sont impressionnantes.

Le sénateur Cowan : Jugez-vous plus importantes ces deux
études plutét que les preuves fournies par le professeur Dub,
de I’étude de 'UNB, ou par M. Roberts ce matin?
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Mr. Mauser: If you asked Dr. Dub and Dr. Roberts about the
paucity of data available in Canada, you will see that they are as
concerned, as I am, that the data simply is not available to make
better and stronger conclusions. I do not know if they have
overstated the case or not, but we need better data, and that is one
of the reasons I went to look at other countries.

Senator Cowan: Would you suggest that it might be unwise to
make major changes without doing those kinds of studies?

Mr. Mauser: [ am an academic. I like more data. I support this
bill. There are certainly criticisms I could make, but since the
tenor of most of the testimony I have read and heard is critical,
I thought it would be more important to stress the positive
aspects. Even though I have not published studies in this area,
I am statistically qualified to look at them. I thought that might
be of interest to the committee.

The Chair: Further to studies quoted, I have a supplementary
question. On page 2 of your brief you quote Marvell and
Moody as saying that expanding prison populations of serious
or violent offenders is convincingly tied to reducing violent
crime rates.

Then, a couple of paragraphs down, you quote Kovandzic
and his colleagues as finding that there was no evidence of a
significant positive relationship between prison releases and
homicide. That sounds contradictory. It sounds as if, on the
one hand, you are saying keeping them in prison reduces violent
crime rates, and, on the other hand, you are saying letting them
out will not affect the homicide rate.

Mr. Mauser: No, they are not contradictory.
The Chair: I am asking you to explain.

Mr. Mauser: [ will be happy to. The argument is that if we take
time in prison as our independent variable and look at crime
rates, whether it is the homicide rate or the violent crime total
rate, those two notions are strongly related. As I have said, an
increase in the total prison population is strongly related to a
decrease in homicide or violent crime rates.

The release question is directed at what a few senators have
already discussed. If we contain angry, violent people and we let
them out at some point, despite the length of time they are in,
the moment they get out, as the number of released prisoners
increases, will the crime rate increase also? It would be expected
to, if we follow the theory that by harbouring people in a box
when they get out they are dangerous. That does not seem to be
the case in that research study.

I hope I have clarified it.
The Chair: I will have to think it through again.

Senator Oliver: Thank you, Dr. Mauser, for your presentation.
I enjoyed it very much. You have already answered a number of
the questions that I had, so I will not be very long.

M. Mauser : Si vous parliez du manque de données disponibles
au Canada avec M. Dub et M. Roberts, vous verriez qu’ils sont,
tout comme moi, inquiets du fait qu’il n’y a pas suffisamment de
données pour en arriver a des conclusions plus solides. Je ne sais
pas s’ils ont exagéré ce fait ou non, mais nous avons besoin de
meilleures données, et c’est une des raisons qui expliquent que
nous ayons examiné d’autres pays.

Le sénateur Cowan : Pensez-vous qu’il ne serait pas sage
d’effectuer des changements importants sans entreprendre ce
type d’études?

M. Mauser : Je suis un universitaire. J’aime avoir plus de
données. J’appuie ce projet de loi. Je pourrais y apporter certaines
critiques, mais puisque la teneur de la plupart des témoignages
que j’ai lus et entendus est critique, j’ai pensé qu’il était plus
important de souligner les aspects positifs. Méme si je n’ai pas
publié d’études dans ce domaine, j’ai les compétences statistiques
pour les examiner. J’ai cru que cela intéresserait le comité.

Le président : J’ai une question supplémentaire au sujet des
études citées. A la page 2 de votre mémoire, vous citez Marvell et
Moody qui disent qu’une augmentation de la population carcérale
des criminels graves ou violents est certainement liée a la
réduction des taux de criminalité violente.

Puis, quelques paragraphes plus bas, vous citez Kovandzic
et ses collégues qui constatent qu’il n’y a pas de preuve qu’il
existe une relation positive importante entre les libérations et les
homicides. Cela m’apparait contradictoire. Il me semble que vous
dites que d’un c6té, garder ces criminels en prison réduit les taux
de criminalité violente, et que de I’autre c6té vous dites que les
libérer n’aura pas d’effet sur le taux d’homicide.

M. Mauser : Non, ce n’est pas contradictoire.
Le président : Pouvez-vous m’expliquer?

M. Mauser : Avec plaisir. Si nous prenons comme variable
indépendante le temps passé en prison et que nous étudions les
taux de criminalité, que ce soit le taux d’homicide ou le taux de
crimes violents, ces deux notions sont étroitement liées. Comme je
l’ai dit, un accroissement de la population carcérale totale est
fortement 1ié a une réduction des taux d’homicide ou de crimes
violents?

La question de la libération concerne ce que quelques sénateurs
ont déja discuté. Si nous emprisonnons les personnes violentes et
agressives et que nous les libérons plus tard, quelle que soit la
durée qu’ils aient passée en prison, lorsqu’elles sont libérées,
comme le nombre de prisonniers libérés s’accroit, est-ce que le
taux de criminalité augmentera également? On s’y attendrait,
selon la théorie voulant qu’en gardant des gens enfermés dans une
boite, lorsqu’ils en sortent ils sont dangereux. Mais cela ne semble
pas étre le cas dans cette étude.

Jespére que j’ai clarifié la situation.
Le président : Je devrai y réfléchir plus tard.

Le sénateur Oliver : Merci, monsieur Mauser, pour votre
exposé. Je I’ai beaucoup apprécié. Vous avez déja répondu a un
certain nombre de questions que j’avais, alors je ne prendrai pas
beaucoup de temps.
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As you know, one of the things this government is trying to do
with Bill C-2 is to go after a relatively small number of violent,
repeat offenders. Implicit in that, the government is saying that
we also recognize that in order to make our streets safe, victims
also have some rights, so we have to keep in mind the victims of
these violent offences and they need some protections as well.
You concluded that this proposed legislation, therefore, is a step
towards improving public safety.

Mr. Mauser: Yes.

Senator Oliver: You mention, near the end, that the
criminological research is something that this committee should
test, because mandatory minimum sentences are certainly one way
to go in making our streets safer.

That is what the government has been trying to do. As serious
crimes are increasing, according to your evidence and some other
evidence before this committee, Bill C-2 seems to be at the right
place at the right time.

In view of the comments and questions put to you just now by
Senator Cowan and Senator De Bané, could you tell me more
about the type of methodologies used in the criminological
research you relied on for the conclusions you and I have just
agreed are the essence of this bill?

Mr. Mauser: Most of my analyses are of the statistical kind
and they are time-series structured. Both the Kovandzic and
Marvell and Moody studies are time series of large databases.

Senator Oliver: You are looking at long periods of time.

Mr. Mauser: You are quite right. There are long periods of
time, annual measurements on a number of factors. One picks
carefully the nature of what you will statistically think of as an
independent variable and a dependent variable, because all these
data are coterminous, collected at the same time. We do not
know which causes what or what the lags are. This is arcane
and complex. Econometricians argue vehemently amongst each
other about the proper way to do this. That is why I stressed the
robustness, which means that with several alternative ways of
defining measures, we still get the same result and replication.
Different researchers have repeated this basic study and found the
same kinds of results.

One of the problems in this area is state-wide analyses and this
study found with nationwide data a much different conclusion.
Many state-wide studies are limited to one small geographic
area and they came to the opposite conclusion. That is why this
study is so important.

Senator Oliver: Your paper is based upon national figures.

Comme vous le savez, une des choses que ce gouvernement
essaie de faire avec le projet de loi C-2 est de s’occuper dun
nombre relativement petit de récidivistes violents. Il est sous-
entendu que le gouvernement reconnait que pour rendre nos rues
plus sires, les victimes ont aussi des droits, donc nous devons
garder a I’esprit les victimes de ces crimes violents qui ont besoin
d’une certaine protection également. Vous en arrivez a la
conclusion que, par conséquent, ce projet de loi est une
amélioration de la sécurité publique.

M. Mauser : Oui.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous mentionnez, vers la fin, que le comité
devrait mettre a I’épreuve les études criminologiques, parce que
les peines minimum obligatoires représentent certainement une
fagon de rendre nos rues plus sires.

C’est ce que ce gouvernement essaie de faire. Les crimes graves
augmentent, d’apres les faits que vous et d’autres ont présentés a
notre comité, et le projet de loi C-2 semble arriver au bon endroit
au bon moment.

Suite aux commentaires et questions des sénateurs Cowan et
De Bané, pouvez-vous me parler plus longuement du type de
méthodologies utilisées pour les études criminologiques sur
lesquelles vous avez basé vos conclusions, conclusions qui, nous
sommes d’accord, sont au ceceur de ce projet de loi?

M. Mauser : La plupart de mes analyses sont statistiques et
sont structurées sur des séquences temporelles. Les études de
Kovandzic et Marvell et Moody sont des séries temporelles de
vastes bases de données.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous étudiez de longues périodes de temps.

M. Mauser : Vous avez raison. Ce sont de longues périodes
de temps, avec des mesures annuelles d’un certain nombre
de facteurs. On choisit attentivement ce que I’on utilisera
statistiquement comme une variable indépendante et une
variable dépendante, parce que toutes ces données sont
coincidentes, et recueillies en méme temps. Nous ne savons pas
ce qui cause quoi ou quels sont les délais. C’est compliqué. Les
économométriciens débattent avec véhémence de la meilleure
facon de faire une telle étude. C’est pourquoi j’ai mis ’accent sur
la fiabilité, ce qui signifie qu’en utilisant différentes fagons de
définir les mesures, nous en arrivons quand méme aux mémes
résultats et aux mémes répétitions. Divers chercheurs ont répété
cette étude de base et sont arrivés aux mémes genres de résultats.

Un des problémes dans ce domaine ce sont les analyses au
niveau des Etats, et cette étude en est arrivée a une conclusion trés
différente en utilisant des données nationales. De nombreuses
études au niveau des Etats se limitent a de petites régions
géographiques et en arrivent a la conclusion opposée. C’est
pourquoi cette étude est si importante.

Le sénateur Oliver : Votre article est fondé sur des chiffres
nationaux.
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Mr. Mauser: Yes. | stress the Kovandzic paper as well because
of the question that many people are concerned with: What
happens when we let these guys out? This research specifically
looked at that and found there did not seem to be a relationship in
the timing of their release and an increase in violent crime.

Senator Di Nino: Professor Beauchesne, I followed your
presentation thoroughly and was in agreement with most of
your commentary. I do not disagree that alcohol seems to have
been too much of the focus in the past. I think we would all agree
that alcohol is not the only impairing substance by which drivers
are at times affected.

I found it surprising that you are strongly opposed to
mandatory drug tests. The witnesses who appeared immediately
before you were clear and eloquent in their presentation in their
area of expertise, particular Sergeant Martin, who dealt with the
drug impairment issue. He said that a number of steps must be
taken before a drug test is required. The officer would have to
have fairly strong evidence that there is an impairment.

We are trying to keep our streets and highways safe from
impaired drivers, regardless of what they are impaired by. If the
police have reasonably good evidence that there is impairment by
a substance that is likely not alcohol, should we not be giving
them the authority to verify that in order that we can keep these
people off our highways and streets in order to keep our country
safer?

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: Yes, they need to have the right tools, but the
simplest tool is still the reflex test to find out whether a person is
in any condition to drive.

Look at it from another angle: I get the driver to step out of the
car, I find his behaviour is erratic, but the drug expert does not
believe that the erratic behaviour is related to drugs; should the
person be allowed to drive away?

[English)

Senator Di Nino: I am not here to answer questions.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: We just do not want to conclude that there is
good impairment and bad impairment. There is impairment,
period; and the question we must ask ourselves is: is there a
mechanism to test impairment? Yes, we still have the good old
reflex test, which has been improved, and a person undergoing
this test can easily be filmed. That is when you will get the full
measure of the impairment.

[English]

Senator Di Nino: The police officers who we ask to undertake
these responsibilities on behalf of society are saying that, in order
to be able to keep these people off the streets, in order to be able

M. Mauser : Oui. De méme, je souligne I’étude Kovandzic
parce que bien des gens se posent la question suivante : Que se
passe-t-il lorsque ces personnes sont libérées? Cette recherche a
étudié ce point plus précisément, et en est arrivée a la conclusion
qu’il ne semblait pas y avoir de relation entre le moment de leur
libération et une augmentation des crimes violents.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Professeure Beauchesne, j’ai suivi
attentivement votre exposé et je suis en accord avec la majorité
de vos observations. Je conviens que nous nous sommes trop
concentrés sur I'alcool par le passé. Je pense que nous sommes
tous d’accord pour dire que I’alcool n’est pas la seule substance
qui affaiblit les facultés des conducteurs.

Je trouve surprenant que vous vous opposiez fortement aux
tests de dépistage de drogues obligatoires. Les témoins qui ont
comparu juste avant vous ont été trés clairs et éloquents lors de
leurs exposés dans leur domaine de spécialité, surtout le sergent
Martin, qui a traité de la question des facultés affaiblies par les
drogues. Il a dit qu'on doit suivre un certain nombre d’étapes
avant d’exiger un test de dépistage des drogues. L’agent devrait
avoir des preuves assez solides que les facultés de la personne sont
affaiblies.

Nous essayons de protéger nos rues et nos autoroutes contre
les conducteurs aux facultés affaiblies, quelle que soit la substance
qui les affaiblit. Si les policiers ont des preuves raisonnables que
les facultés ont été affaiblies par une substance autre que ’alcool,
ne devrions-nous pas leur donner le pouvoir de le vérifier afin que
ces gens ne se trouvent pas sur nos autoroutes ou nos routes et
pour que notre pays soit plus sar?

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Oui, il faut leur donner des outils, mais
I’outil le plus simple est encore le test de réflexes pour savoir si la
personne est en état de conduire.

Posons la question autrement : je fais sortir la personne de la
voiture, je trouve que sa conduite est erratique, mais I’expert en
reconnaissance de drogue ne croit pas que c’est relié aux drogues;
est-ce qu’on laisse la personne repartir en voiture?

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je ne suis pas ici pour répondre a des
questions.

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : C’est juste pour ne pas en arriver a la
logique qui voudrait qu’il y ait de bonnes facultés affaiblies et de
mauvaises facultés affaiblies. Il y a des facultés affaiblies, point; et
la question a se poser est : est-ce qu’il y a un mécanisme pour
tester les facultés affaiblies? Oui, c’est encore les bons vieux tests
de réflexes, qui ont été affinés depuis, et qui peuvent étre aisément
filmés. La, on va voir I’ensemble des facultés affaiblies.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Di Nino : Les policiers a qui nous demandons
d’assumer ces responsabilités au nom de la société nous disent
que, pour que ces gens ne se retrouvent pas sur nos rues, pour
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to convince a judge and a jury, if that is the case, they need
evidence of impairment by drugs. This would give them a stronger
position in court, and that is why this bill includes these
provisions.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: 1 understand your question because of the
way people perceive the issue today, namely that there are all
kinds of complicated legal procedures dealing with alcohol
impairment, and people seem to think that the same thing will
happen with regard to drug impairment. That is why I pointed
out that in my opinion, going to the courts is not the best
solution. Legal costs are another issue.

When you are dealing with the middle class, with people who
drive a car and who have the means to defend themselves,
I can guarantee that in cases where a harsh sentence is imposed,
the court and legal costs will be enormous. Was the breathalyser
in good working condition? Has it been calibrated? The RCMP
would incur costs to answer those questions, and so on.

I say there is a much easier way to go. As we said earlier, the
likelihood of being sentenced is much more effective than the
sentence itself. Studies have also shown that a person who
commits a crime, even a violent one, does not stop to think
beforehand whether they might receive a two- or four-year
sentence. They will not decide to hold back from committing
the offence if they feel they will be getting four years rather than
two. That is not how it works. The sentence itself is not a
deterrent, but rather the likelihood of getting caught.

If 600 RCMP drug recognition experts are spread out
throughout Canada, there is a low likelihood you will be
caught. The odds are against it. It will not be easy to increase
the number of those officers because, first, it would cost a fortune,
and second, officers move throughout their careers; they do not
stay in the same position forever.

It is possible to change people’s behaviour using much
simpler procedures. For most people, seizure of their vehicle is
a significant shock to the system on its own; increasing insurance
premiums is another, and losing demerit points is a third
approach that could be used.

With these procedures, people understand that they have to
change their behaviour; we do not need to go about this with a
sledgehammer.

[English]

Senator Di Nino: As I said before, I was pretty much in
agreement with your presentation other than the last sentence,
which speaks against the requests of those who have been
dealing with this issue and who work in this field all the time.
They have asked for this tool. We appreciate all the opinions
we receive, but you disagree with them and do not think they
need to do a drug test in order to determine that someone is
impaired.

qu’ils puissent convaincre un juge et un jury, si nécessaire, ils ont
besoin des preuves de facultés affaiblies par les drogues. Cette
mesure leur offrirait une position plus solide en cour, et c’est
pourquoi le projet de loi comprend cette disposition.

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Je comprends votre question parce que
la vision qu’'on a du sujet a I’heure actuelle, c’est toutes les
complications liées aux procédures judiciaires en matiere d’alcool,
et on se dit que cela va se prolonger sur la question des drogues.
C’est pour cela que j’ai souligné que je ne pense pas que la voie
pénale, chaque fois que cette situation se produit, soit la meilleure.
Les cofts judiciaires ne sont pas meilleurs non plus.

Lorsqu’on s’adresse particulierement a la classe moyenne, aux
gens qui ont une voiture et qui ont les moyens également de se
défendre, si vous imposez une sanction sévére, je peux vous
garantir des colts faramineux de proceés et d’avocats. Si ’appareil
était en bon état? Est-ce qu’elle est vérifiée? On aurait des
colts reliés a cela de la part GRC pour vérifier que cela a été
fait, ainsi de suite.

Je dis qu’il y a une fagon beaucoup plus simple. Comme
on le rappelait tout a ’heure, la certitude de la peine est beaucoup
plus importante que la peine. Les études montrent également
qu’une personne qui commet un crime, méme violent, ne se
demande pas : « Est-ce que c’est deux ou quatre ans? Si c’est
quatre ans au lieu de deux maintenant, je ne vais pas le faire ».
Ce n’est pas comme cela que cela fonctionne. La peine ne joue
pas de réle dans la dissuasion, mais plutot c’est la certitude
d’étre pris ou non.

Si 600 policiers de la GRC qui sont ERD sont répartis a travers
le Canada, il n’y a pas de certitude d’étre arrété. Cela ne va arriver
que trés rarement. On pourra difficilement grossir ce nombre
parce que, premiérement, cela cotite des fortunes; deuxiémement,
les policiers bougent, ils ne restent pas toute leur vie dans un
poste.

Il y a moyen de changer le comportement des gens avec des
procédures beaucoup plus simples. Pour la plupart des gens,
la saisie de la voiture est déja un choc nerveux important;
I’augmentation des primes d’assurances en est un deuxiéme et la
perte de point de démérite un troisiéme.

La, les gens comprennent qu’ils ont besoin de changer de
comportement, on n’a pas besoin d’une massue.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Di Nino : Comme je I’ai dit auparavant, j’étais
en accord presque total avec votre exposé a l’exception de la
derniére phrase, qui va a I'encontre des demandes de ceux qui
doivent traiter cette question et qui travaillent sur le terrain
continuellement. Ils nous ont demandé cet outil. Nous tenons
compte de toutes les opinions que nous recevons, mais vous étes
en désaccord avec eux et vous ne pensez pas qu’ils ont besoin dun
test de dépistage des drogues pour déterminer si une personne a
les facultés affaiblies.
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[Translation)

Ms. Beauchesne: The whole issue of impaired driving must be
covered much more broadly, but we do not need all this structure
and all these procedures. There are much simpler, less expensive
and more effective ways of changing people’s behaviour regarding
impaired driving.

[English]

Senator Di Nino: I would like to put on the record a different
view on the purpose of this bill than that of my colleague
Senator Cowan. The main purpose of this bill, as has been stated
repeatedly, is the protection of Canadians from criminals,
particularly repeat violent offenders.

My first question deals with statistics that we have from the
Canadian Centre for Justice on firearms-related violent crime.
The statistics suggest that such crime has been stable in recent
years, except that the number of youth accused of firearms-related
violence has increased in the last three or four years.

Have your studies found that to be the case?

Mr. Mauser: Yes, I have found basically the same kind of
phenomenon. I tend to look at the homicide rate because
homicide is uniformly thought of as serious and is uniformly
treated in a serious fashion, with regard to both reporting and
police treatment. With other kinds of violent crimes, reporting
and treatment can be quite variable depending upon family
situations, knowledge of the community and police treatment.

I have focused on homicide. That is why the second figure
shows that homicide rates in Canada have declined since the
early 1990s, but were flat for most of the 1990s, declined
somewhat in 2003, then increased for two years and are now
declining again. The long-term trend is a slight increase in
homicide.

You are quite right. Youth homicide has gone up much faster
than total homicide. Gun crime and gun violent crime is a
narrower slice of violent crime that covers very serious and some
not-so-serious types of crimes and excludes knife crime. I make an
argument here that weapon usage should be penalized, because
those people are the people who are causing problems to the
general public, and not just gun people.

You will notice in my tables on comparing gun, club and
knife violence that injuries are more frequent and more serious
with knives than they are with guns. If you look at the last row,
in 2003, for assaults, there were 5,700 knife injuries compared
to 800 gun injuries; for robbery there were 5,000 knife injuries

[Frangais)

Mme Beauchesne : On doit effectivement couvrir de fagon
beaucoup plus large la question des facultés affaiblies, mais on n’a
pas besoin de tout cet appareillage et de tous ces proces. Il y a
des fagons beaucoup plus simples de changer les comportements
en matiere de facultés affaiblies, beaucoup moins cofiteuses et
beaucoup plus efficaces.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Di Nino : Aux fins du compte-rendu, je veux
présenter un point de vue différent de celui de mon collégue, le
sénateur Cowan, sur le but de ce projet de loi. Le premier objectif
de ce projet de loi, comme cela a été maintes fois répété, est de
protéger les Canadiens des criminels, surtout les récidivistes
violents.

Ma premiére question traite des statistiques que nous obtenons
du Centre canadien des statistiques juridiques sur les crimes
violents avec arme a feu. Les statistiques semblent dire que de
tels crimes ont été stables ces derniéres années, a I’exception du
nombre de jeunes accusés de violence liée aux armes a feu, qui a
augmenté pendant les trois ou quatre derniéres années.

Vos études confirment-elles ces conclusions?

M. Mauser : Oui, j’ai essentiellement constaté le méme type de
phénomene. J’ai tendance a utiliser le taux d’homicides parce que
les homicides sont reconnus partout comme un crime grave et
traités partout de fagon séricuse, en ce qui a trait au signalement
et au traitement policier. Tandis qu’avec les autres crimes violents,
le signalement et le traitement peuvent varier grandement selon
la situation familiale, la connaissance de la collectivité et le
traitement policier.

Je me suis concentré sur les homicides. C’est pourquoi le
deuxiéme chiffre démontre que le taux d’homicides au Canada
a baissé depuis le début des années 1990, mais a été stable
pendant la majorité des années 1990, a un peu décru en 2003,
puis s’est accru pendant deux ans et maintenant décroit encore.
La tendance a long terme est une faible augmentation des
homicides.

Vous avez parfaitement raison. Le nombre d’homicides
commis par des jeunes contrevenants a grimpé beaucoup plus
vite que le nombre total d’homicides. Les crimes violents commis
avec une arme a feu représentent une tranche plus restreinte de la
criminalité violente, qui englobe des crimes graves et d’autres
moins graves et qui excluent les crimes commis avec une arme
blanche. Je crois que 'utilisation d’une arme doit étre pénalisée
parce que ce sont les délinquants armés qui compromettent la
sécurité de la population, et non pas seulement ceux qui ont
une arme a feu.

Si vous regardez mes tableaux qui mettent en paralléle les
crimes commis a I’aide d’une arme a feu, d’un objet contondant
ou d’un couteau, on voit que les blessures sont plus fréquentes et
plus graves quand l’agresseur se sert d’un couteau plutot que
d’une arme a feu. J'attire votre attention sur la derniére ligne
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as opposed to 3,000 from firearms. I am not arguing that
knives are worse than guns. I am simply saying that we should
not ignore them.

Senator Di Nino: Would you agree that the incidence of those
kinds of acts by youths are increasing generally?

Mr. Mauser: Yes, they are.

The Chair: Could I slide in here the observation in terms of the
purpose of this bill — I will not get into an argument about it —
its short title is “tackling violent crime.”

Senator Di Nino: I understand that. We are talking about
violent crime.

The opinion you provided to us, based primarily on Marvell
and Moody’s research — which I intend to pick up and read
because I find their analysis very interesting — is that there are
other respected criminologists and researchers whose opinions
differ from those who we have heard so far.

Mr. Mauser: Yes.

Senator Di Nino: In effect, by jailing some violent criminals,
their research shows that homicide rates actually dropped. Is that
correct?

Mr. Mauser: That is correct. One of the problems that
criminologists have is that they can be too narrow and exclude
perfectly good data. In one of the paragraphs I did not read out,
but it is included on page 2, there is an indication that many
Canadian criminologists ignore American data. I think there
is a lot of data there that is useful to look at. They have made
many mistakes and made many clever decisions. We can learn
from their mistakes and their good decisions.

The fact that homicide and violent crime rates have declined
faster in the United States than in Canada suggests that they
are doing something right. When you point this out to American
criminologists or American police, they are shocked. “Oh, my
God, we are doing something right. What could it be?” That is
true.

Think about it for a second. We have a large country with
ingrained social processes that includes both officials and
normal people. Turning that around is much more difficult than
a smaller country. Turning the Titanic is much more difficult
than turning a little sail boat. What are they doing that is
causing this massive decline? That is why I looked at indices
so I could see what is changing rather than looking at average
rates.

Senator Di Nino: I was fascinated by the question you raised
in my mind dealing with public costs versus private costs. That is
an area that I will be reading some of the references you have
provided, but also giving some thought to because it is an

du tableau : en 2003, dans la catégorie des voies de fait, on a
dénombré 5 700 blessures par couteau contre 800 blessures
par arme a feu; dans la catégorie des vols qualifiés, il y a eu
5000 blessures par couteau contre 3 000 par une arme a feu.
Je ne veux pas dire que les couteaux soient pires que les armes
a feu, mais simplement qu’il faut aussi en tenir compte.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Estimez-vous que la fréquence de ce
genre de délits augmente généralement chez les jeunes?

M. Mauser : Oui.

La présidente : Permettez-moi de rappeler la raison d’étre de ce
projet de loi — sans vouloir lancer un débat a ce sujet — dont le
titre abrégé est « Loi sur la lutte contre le crime violent ».

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je sais. Nous parlons de crimes
violents.

Vous nous avez dit, en vous fondant essentiellement sur les
travaux de Marvell et Moody que j’ai 'intention de lire parce que
leurs analyses me semblent trés intéressantes, que d’autres
criminologues et chercheurs respectés ont une opinion différente
de celle que nous avons entendue jusqu’ici.

M. Mauser : Oui.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Leurs recherches n’ont-elles pas montré
qu’en incarcérant certains criminels violents, on avait réussi a
réduire le taux d’homicides. C’est bien cela?

M. Mauser : En effet. 11 arrive que les travaux des
criminologues soient d’une portée trop étroite si bien qu’on se
trouve a exclure des données tout a fait solides. Dans un des
paragraphes que je n’ai pas Iu a voix haute mais qui figure a la
page 2, on signale que beaucoup de criminologues canadiens font
abstraction des données américaines. Or, pour ma part je crois
qu’il y a 1a beaucoup de données qui pourraient nous étre utiles.
IIs ont fait bon nombre d’erreurs mais ont pris beaucoup de
décisions intelligentes. Nous pouvons tirer un enseignement de
leurs erreurs et nous inspirer de leurs bonnes décisions.

Ils doivent bien intervenir efficacement puisque les taux
d’homicides et de crimes violents ont diminué plus vite aux
Etats-Unis qu’au Canada. Quand on le fait remarquer a des
criminologues ou des policiers américains, ils ouvrent des grands
yeux : « Mon Dieu, qu’est-ce que nous faisons qui soit efficace? »
C’est vrai.

Pensez-y un instant. Nous vivons un vaste pays ou les
processus sociaux sont bien ancrés, tant pour les fonctionnaires
que pour les gens ordinaires. Il est bien plus difficile de rectifier le
tir ici que dans un pays de plus petite envergure. Qu’ont fait les
Américains pour que les taux de criminalité aient chuté de
fagon aussi nette? J’ai analysé les indices plutot que les taux de
criminalité moyens afin de voir les changements qui sont en train
de s’opérer.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’ai été fasciné par vos explications au
sujet des cotts publics et des cotits privés. Je vais lire certaines des
références que vous avez données mais il faut aussi réfléchir a ce
concept qui me semble intéressant. Je n’y avais pas réfléchi
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interesting concept. I had not thought seriously about it. When
we are talking about the cost of crime we generally do not add to
the public costs the costs of the private individual. Thank you for
that.

Thank you for your courtesy, Madam Chair.

Senator Andreychuk: We actually do, because we get good
statistics from insurance companies and others who provide
the cost for individuals when there is break, enter and theft.
We also have data through hospitalization, which is another one
that has been noted. I think there is more evidence with regard
to cost. That is not something you can take to court, but if your
house is broken into and something valuable is stolen, you are
never the same.

Senator Di Nino: That is something I have not thought
about.

Senator Andreychuk: I think there is some data that is not
basically in this legislation is the point I want to make.

Professor Beauchesne, if I understand you, you are saying you
do not agree with the Criminal Code approach to impairment.
You want to define “impairment” broadly. You put into your
case scenarios that you used at the start someone who suffered
from sleep deprivation: Worked so hard, got in the vehicle and
caused an accident.

While that is an interesting concept — that we would look at
impairment in a broad, general way — I do not think we would
ever be able to deal with the more difficult end of the spectrum
of impairment. I noticed you said that we are focusing on
drinking and driving, but we share costs of road safety,
public transit, road repairs, improved signage and lights, and
stiffer safety standards for automobile manufacturers.

I understand where you are going, but it would seem to me that
we are doing that. Every ministry at two levels of government
have a piece to play in dealing with some aspect of your broad
definition of “impairment.”

The Criminal Code is tackling a more narrow definition
of “impairment” for a particular purpose; that is for the
responsibility of the person who gets behind the wheel. This is
why I question you. You are saying that people make choices
not on the ability to drive — and I agree with you — but solely
on the possibility of getting caught. That, I find, to be rather
curious. It seems to me that much of why we went the alcohol
route was that many people did not think that killing someone
when they were behind the wheel was the same as killing someone
when they used a weapon or their fist. In other words, homicide
and murder was something different than when a person in a
drunken state gets behind a wheel and kills someone.

sérieusement jusqu’a maintenant. Quand on évalue les cotits du
crime, on n’inclut pas, en régle générale, les cotts publics ni les
coflits pour la personne. Merci de nous I’avoir signalé.

Merci de votre courtoisie, madame la présidente.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : En fait, nous le faisons parce que
nous obtenons de bonnes statistiques des compagnies d’assurance
et d’autres qui dédommagent les personnes qui sont victimes
d’introduction par effraction et de vol. Nous avons également des
données sur les hospitalisations, qui sont une autre source de
renseignements déja notée. Je pense qu’il y a plus de données sur
les cotits. Il y a également des préjudices pour lesquels on ne
peut s’adresser aux tribunaux, car si un cambrioleur vous prend
un objet précieux, cela change votre vie pour toujours.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je n’avais jamais envisagé le probléme
sous cet angle.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Ce que je veux dire, c’est qu’il y a des
données qui ne sont pas prises en compte dans ce projet de loi.

Madame Beauchesne, si je vous ai bien comprise, vous n’étes
pas d’accord avec ’approche du Code criminel en matiére de
facultés affaiblies. Vous voulez que I’on définisse les « facultés
affaiblies » d’une fagon plus large. Dans les différents scénarios
que vous décrivez, vous avez donné le cas d’une personne qui
manque de sommeil. Aprés avoir travaillé trés fort, elle a pris le
volant et a causé un accident.

Bien que I'idée de définir les facultés affaiblies d’une fagon
beaucoup plus vaste ne soit pas dénuée d’intérét, je ne pense
pas que nous puissions arriver a cerner tout a fait les aspects
les plus épineux de ce qu'on qualifie de facultés affaiblies. Vous
avez dit que nous mettons I’accent sur I'ivresse au volant, mais
nous partageons les cotlits de la sécurité routiére, du transport
en commun, de la réfection des routes et de I'amélioration de
I’affichage et de I’éclairage et de normes de sécurité plus
rigoureuses pour les fabricants d’automobile.

Je comprends ou vous voulez en venir, mais il me semble que
nous faisons déja tout cela. Chaque ministére tant fédéral que
provincial ou territorial a un réle a jouer relativement a certains
aspects de votre définition tres large des « facultés affaiblies ».

Le Code criminel définit de fagon plus étroite la notion de
« facultés affaiblies » pour une raison bien précise; pour cerner la
responsabilité de la personne qui prend le volant. C’est ce qui
m’amene a poser la question suivante. Vous dites que les gens font
des choix en se fondant non pas sur leur aptitude a conduire — et
je suis d’accord avec vous sur ce point — mais uniquement sur le
risque de se faire prendre. Cela me semble plutot étrange. Je pense
que si nous avons décidé de sévir dans le cas de ’alcool au volant
c’est parce que bien des gens ne comprenaient pas que tuer
quelqu’un avec son automobile était équivalent a tuer quelqu’un a
I’aide d’'une arme ou de ses poings. Autrement dit, quand une
personne ivre prenait le volant et tuait quelqu’un, cela n’était pas
considéré comme un homicide ou un meurtre.
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As a society, I think we did not do that until we started taking
the discussion more seriously and made that equation: Death
is death is death. If you take actions carelessly there is a
consequence in the criminal law.

You seem to be arguing against that. You are saying that is
not the issue. I find that to be rather curious. I understand
sociologically why we should look at all aspects of impairment.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: It is not just sociological, it is criminological
as well. For example, the logic applied at the moment in arresting
someone for impaired driving is similar to the one applied in the
case of speeding: someone is driving at 130 kilometres an hour
despite the fact that the speed limit is 100 kilometres an hour. The
person is young, and the decision as to whether or not to stop the
individual is based on the reason the person is speeding. Why do
we do that? Why not continue doing what we do at the moment
using radar? We should say that if someone is speeding, that is a
dangerous practice and we should put a stop to it. If we follow
this logic, there is the issue of impaired driving, but there is also
the issue of differences that may result from fatigue, age or some
other factor.

There are simple ways of determining whether an individual is
impaired. So let us test people and follow up on that. We have
adopted a discriminatory approach as regards some groups, but if
our concern is safety, the idea is to get people who do not have the
ability to drive off the road.

In the case of alcohol, legislation was not the only thing that
had an impact. I come back to my student’s research on
prevention programs funded by the federal government in
schools, on television and elsewhere. This was a huge campaign
and it was successful.

And it is not utopian, it is not sociological — it is
criminological. The same is true of speeding. If you take the
example of France, which introduced radar two years ago, this
has resulted in a change in the driving habits of the French.
This looked utopian, but the fact that people knew they would
be stopped changed their behaviour.

If we create an extremely complex procedure such as the one
provided for here, we will not succeed in changing behaviour
because people will not be convinced that they will be caught.
I actually fear that because the procedure is complex, fewer
people will be stopped than before.

In my opinion, the two approaches that work are prevention
and the knowledge that one will be caught. These approaches are
not difficult to implement. We have to accept the fact that we are
not engaging in discrimination by trying to punish young people
who use cannabis. We have to accept the fact that an older
individual who has taken some medication or someone who is
very tired is subject to the same rule that applies to everyone else.

[English]

Senator Andreychuk: You seem to be arguing against the entire
Criminal Code.

Notre société n’a pris conscience de la gravité de ce genre de
délit qu’aprés en avoir discuté sérieusement et compris que tuer,
par quelque moyen que ce soit, c’est tuer. Le droit pénal prévoit
des sanctions pour ceux qui agissent avec négligence.

Mais vous semblez avancer 1’argument contraire. Vous dites
que ce n’est pas la le probléme, ce qui m’étonne un peu. Je
comprends que sur le plan sociologique, nous devons examiner
tous les aspects des facultés affaiblies.

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Ce n’est pas uniquement sociologique,
c’est aussi criminologique. Par exemple, la logique que 1'on suit
a I’heure actuelle pour arréter une personne avec facultés
affaiblies ressemble a ceci en matiére d’excés de vitesse : une
personne roule a 130 kilomeétres-heure malgré la limite de vitesse
de 100 kilométres. Cette personne est jeune, dépendant de la
raison pour laquelle elle fait de la vitesse, on va décider de
l’arréter. Pourquoi faire cela? Pourquoi ne pas continuer a faire
comme on fait maintenant avec laide d’un radar? Quelqu’un
fait de la vitesse? C’est dangereux. On y met donc fin. Selon
cette logique, il y a des facultés affaiblies, mais il y a aussi des
différences selon qu’elles résultent de la fatigue, de I’age ou
d’autre chose.

Il'y a des fagons simples de tester si une personne a des facultés
affaiblies. Alors, testons-la et faisons un suivi. Nous sommes
entrés dans une logique discriminatoire face a certaines clientéles,
mais si notre préoccupation est la sécurité routiere, 'idée, c’est
d’enlever les gens qui n’ont pas les capacités de conduire.

En ce qui a trait a I’alcool, ce n’est pas uniquement la loi qui a
eu un effet. Je reviens a la recherche de mon étudiante sur les
programmes de prévention financés par le gouvernement fédéral
dans les écoles, a la télévision et partout ailleurs. Ce fut une
énorme campagne qui a eu du succes.

Et ce n’est pas utopique, ce n’est pas sociologique, c’est
criminologique. Pour la vitesse, c’est la méme chose. Si vous
prenez ’exemple de la France, qui a installé des radars il y a
deux ans, le comportement des Frangais sur les routes a changé.
Cela apparaissait utopique, mais la certitude d’étre arrété a
changé.

Si on crée la procédure extrémement complexe qu’on a ici, on
n’aura pas une trés grande certitude d’étre pris et on ne réussira
pas a changer les comportements. Je crains méme que parce
que la procédure est complexe, on arréte moins de gens
qu’auparavant.

Quant a moi, ce sont la prévention et la certitude d’étre pris qui
constituent les deux moyens et ce n’est pas trés complexe de le
faire. Il faut accepter le fait qu’on n’est pas en train de faire de la
discrimination en cherchant a punir des jeunes qui consomment le
cannabis. Il faut accepter le fait qu'une personne agée qui a pris
des médicaments, ou quelqu’un qui est trés fatigué est assujettie a
la régle qui est la méme pour tous.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous semblez prendre le contrepied
du Code criminel dans son ensemble.
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Ms. Beauchesne: No.

Senator Andreychuk: We have charges such as careless driving,
dangerous driving and negligence causing death. We do make
differences. It is the intent of the person.

I think the test for driving, of course, is if you can drive a
vehicle and pass the provincial driving test, then you get the
driver’s licence. To give the police the responsibility to then
coordinate all types of impairment from the safety of the roads,
it leads to that.

I realize that we are in a complex situation, but I do not see an
easy answer. How would we handle, for example, an education
program? We can say, “Do not drink and do not drive. Do not
take drugs and do not drive. Here are the consequences.”
However, if we say, “Do not get impaired” and that takes into
account everything from the condition of the roads and so on,
those are mixed messages. Some messages are directed at people,
some to the government and some to other parts of society.

If T may say, from your generic viewpoint we oversimplify,
and life is not that simple. We are targeting something here.
If you take a substance — we are not talking about careless
driving or dangerous driving as those are covered in other
sections — if you willingly and knowingly take a substance that
you know could impair your driving and then you get behind
the wheel, there are the consequences.

[Translation)

Ms. Beauchesne: When the minister came forward with this
bill, he said he wanted to deal with two issues. The first was
the fact that alcohol was not the only substance that caused
impairment, and that the scope had to be broadened. The second
justification for the bill was the minister’s desire to reduce the
alcohol-related legal complications and a desire not to have the
same thing happen in the case of other substances.

Here is what I have to say about these two objectives. It would
be very easy both as regards prevention and police intervention,
to broaden the concept of impaired driving, which is what the
minister wanted to do. Second, the minister will not solve the
problem regarding complicated legal measures. If the bill is
passed, I promise you that the yellow pages will contain the names
of many lawyers who specialize in drugs, because this will become
a very lucrative field.

We are not simplifying things unduly here. Rather, I think we
are complicating things unduly, and that if we really wanted to do
something effective, we could do that much more simply.

[English)

Senator Andreychuk: I think we will agree to disagree.

Mme Beauchesne : Non.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Nous avons défini des chefs
d’accusation comme la conduite négligente, conduite dangereuse
et négligente ayant causé la mort. Nous faisons la distinction,
d’apreés I'intention de la personne.

Pour pouvoir conduire, il faut réussir une épreuve de conduite
au niveau provincial et obtenir son permis. Ensuite on donne a la
police la responsabilité¢ de contréler tous les genres de facultés
affaiblies pour assurer la sécurité routiére.

Je comprends la complexité du probléme, mais je ne vois pas
de solution facile. Quelle forme prendrait, par exemple, un
programme de sensibilisation? On peut dire : « Ne prenez pas le
volant aprés avoir bu. Ne conduisez pas si vous avez pris de la
drogue. Voici les conséquences auxquelles vous vous exposez. »
Cependant, si on dit « Veillez a ne pas conduire avec les facultés
affaiblies » en tenant compte de tous les facteurs possibles, et
méme de I’état des routes, on envoie un message ambigu. Certains
messages s’adressent a la population, d’autres au gouvernement et
d’autres a d’autres secteurs de la société.

Ainsi, si vous permettez, votre impression générale est que nous
simplifions les choses et que la vie n’est pas toujours aussi simple.
Nous mettons I’accent sur quelque chose. Si vous ingérez une
substance — et la on ne parle pas d’une conduite imprudente ou
dangereuse puisque on traite de ces sujets dans d’autres articles —
et que vous l'ingérez en toute connaissance de cause en sachant
que cela pourrait nuire a votre aptitude a conduire et que vous
prenez quand méme le volant de votre voiture, il y aura des
conséquences.

[Frangais)

Mme Beauchesne : Le ministre, lorsqu’il a présenté ce projet de
loi, disait vouloir répondre a deux choses. La premiére, c’était
le fait qu’il n’y avait pas seulement 1’alcool qui affaiblissait les
facultés, et qu’il fallait élargir le champ. Et la deuxiéme chose, qui
justifiait le dépot de ce projet de loi, ¢’était la volonté du ministre
de réduire les complications judiciaires liées a 1’alcool et qu’il ne
voulait pas que cela se reproduise ailleurs.

Voici ce que je réponds a ces deux objectifs. Il serait trés
simple, tant en prévention qu’avec I’action policiére, d’élargir sur
I’ensemble des facultés affaiblies comme le ministre le voulait.
La deuxiéme chose, c’est que le ministre ne va pas résoudre le
probléme de la complication des mesures judiciaires. Si le projet
de loi est adopté, je vous promets des pages jaunes d’avocats
spécialisés dans le domaine des drogues, parce que ce sera trés
payant.

Ici on ne simplifie pas a outrance. Au contraire, je crois qu’on
complique a outrance et que si on voulait agir, il serait possible de
le faire de fagon plus simple.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je pense que nous allons rester sur
nos positions.



8:104

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

20-2-2008

The Chair: You both enunciated your positions very clearly.

Senator Stratton: Welcome to both of you. I will address my
questions to Ms. Beauchesne. My first question is based on the
crime trends in Canada statistics, page 14, presented to us by the
Canadian Centre for Justice.

Ms. Beauchesne: Page 14 on the English version?
Senator Stratton: Yes.

Ms. Beauchesne: Page 14? I do not have 14 pages in English.

[Translation)

The Chair: Professor Beauchesne, the senator is referring to
figures put forward by Statistics Canada.

Ms. Beauchesne: 1 see.

[English)
Senator Stratton: I am referring to slide 11.

Senator Cowan: Do you want the French or the English
version?

Ms. Beauchesne: It does not matter.
Senator Stratton: They may not be the same.
Ms. Beauchesne: Figure No. 14?

Senator Stratton: There are a series of slides and I am referring
to slide 11 where it states: “The steady decline in impaired
driving offences since the early 1980s.” If you go beyond the box
to the bullets underneath, it states: “The rate of impaired driving
offences dropped 68 per cent between 1981 and 2006.”

That is quite a dramatic drop in offences. Most Canadians
would attribute that to the fact that the penalties that are
imposed on impaired driving, the 0.08, as well as the method by
which they are tested using the Breathalyzer and so on. In my
view, it has been quite effective, not completely effective but
it is effective.

The second concern raised in the third bullet is the rate — and
this is the disturbing one — of cocaine offences has increased
67 per cent since 2002 and was at its highest point in 2006.

This legislation is specific to addressing drug-related driving
impairment. I think those two statistics seem to prove that the
governments of Canada and the provinces have effectively
imposed a method by which we have dropped alcohol impaired
driving offences by 68 per cent.

Why is that not effective? If you are saving lives and you are
dramatically cutting down on impaired driving, why would we
not continue with that?

La présidente : Vous avez tous les deux fort bien expliqué vos
points de vue.

Le sénateur Stratton : Je souhaite la bienvenue aux deux
témoins. J’aimerais poser mes questions & Mme Beauchesne.
Ma premiére question porte sur les statistiques canadiennes
relatives aux tendances criminelles, qui se retrouvent a la page 14
de I'exposé du Centre canadien de la statistique juridique.

Mme Beauchesne : A la page 14 de la version anglaise?
Le sénateur Stratton : Oui.

Mme Beauchesne : A la page 14? Le document anglais ne
compte pas 14 pages.

[Frangais)

La présidente : Professeure Beauchesne, le sénateur parle des
chiffres que Statistique Canada a présentés.

Mme Beauchesne : D’accord.

[Traduction]
Le sénateur Stratton : Je parle de la diapositive 11.

Le sénateur Cowan : Voulez-vous la version anglaise ou
frangaise?

Mme Beauchesne : Peu importe.
Le sénateur Stratton : Elles ne sont peut-étre pas identiques.
Mme Beauchesne : L’encadré n° 14?

Le sénateur Stratton : Il y a une série de diapositives et je vous
parle de la diapositive 11 ou on lit : « Les affaires de conduite
avec facultés affaiblies sont en baisse soutenue depuis le début
des années 1980. » Si vous allez en-dessous de I’encadré, vous
verrez que les points indiquent : « Le taux de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies a chuté de 68 p. 100 entre 1981 et 2006 ».

C’est une chute draconienne dans les infractions. La plupart
des Canadiens attribueraient cela au fait que des sanctions sont
imposées pour la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, dont le 0,08,
et aussi a la méthode d’évaluation dans laquelle on utilise, par
exemple, ’alcotest. A mon avis, cela a été fort efficace, mais pas
complétement efficace.

La deuxiéme préoccupation a été soulevée dans la troisieme
bulle. L’on y parle du taux fort préoccupant d’infractions liées a la
cocaine, qui a augmenté de 67 p. 100 depuis 2002 et a atteint un
sommet en 2006.

Ce projet de loi traite surtout de la conduite avec facultés
affaiblies. Je pense que ces deux statistiques prouvent que le
gouvernement du Canada et celui des provinces ont réussi a créer
une méthode efficace qui a permis de réduire de 68 p. 100 la
conduite avec facultés affaiblies.

Pourquoi est-ce que cela n’est pas efficace? Si I’on est en train
de sauver des vies et que ’on réduit de maniére draconienne la
conduite avec facultés affaiblies, alors pourquoi ne faudrait-il pas
poursuivre dans cette voie?
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[Translation)

Ms. Beauchesne: Why do you necessarily attribute the drop in
drunk driving to the penalties for this, rather than to all of the
prevention campaigns? Prevention plays an important role in
changing perceptions.

Second, you have shown some figures on cannabis and cocaine.
I see no figures on the increased use of medication by seniors.
Why is that? Medications are drugs too. Has a decision been
made to target cannabis and cocaine specifically?

The Chair: I should point out that senators are here to ask the
questions.

Ms. Beauchesne: That is a habit I have as a professor,
I apologize.

[English)

Senator Stratton: I will gladly answer the question. The simple
fact of the matter is, yes, that will now be taken into consideration
with the passage of this bill.

If someone is driving and is under the influence of drugs for
medicinal purposes, they will be stopped and checked if they are
driving erratically. However, there is a difference whereby when
they are stopped and checked and the police officer realizes that it
is medical impairment, then there is a whole different process that
takes place other than a criminal charge. That is happening with
this bill. That will happen with this bill.

When you have a rate of increase of cocaine offences of
67 per cent, I think you need to do something. That is my
view, and I base it on the fact that if we have been effective in
dropping impaired driving offences 68 per cent, then surely to
goodness we can have the same impact on cocaine offences with
this law.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: 1 did not think we were talking about
legislation designed to stop users of illegal drugs, I thought we
were talking about legislation to improve highway safety. I do not
necessarily make a connection between the two.

You talk about illegal drugs and the fact that the situation is
disturbing. I do have some very clear data on drugs. This is my
area of expertise. In the past year, one Canadian in four used an
illegal drug. We can agree that many people use drugs — whether
they are prescription or illegal drugs. However, we should not be
targeting just these individuals. We have to do something about
highway safety, but we must target all of the factors involved in
impairment.

The measures must be simple so that they can be applied often
and to all those who drive while under the influence of drugs or
while impaired for other reasons.

[Frangais)

Mme Beauchesne : Pourquoi attribuez-vous nécessairement
la baisse des taux d’alcool au volant aux peines, plutdot qu’aux
campagnes de prévention? La prévention a joué un réle important
dans le changement des perceptions.

Deuxiémement, vous montrez des chiffres sur le cannabis et la
cocaine. Je ne vois pas de chiffres se rapportant a I'augmentation
de la médication des personnes agées. Pourquoi? Les médicaments
sont aussi des drogues. Est-ce qu’on a décidé de viser
spécifiquement le cannabis et la cocaine?

La présidente : 11 faut dire que les sénateurs sont la pour poser
des questions.

Mme Beauchesne : C’est une habitude de professeur, je
m’excuse.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Stratton : Je serai ravi de répondre a cette question.
Le fait est que oui, nous allons maintenant prendre cela en compte
avec I’adoption du projet de loi.

Si quelqu’un conduit avec les facultés affaiblies car il a pris
des médicaments, cette personne sera arrétée et contrdlée si elle
conduit de maniére erratique. Toutefois, c’est bien différent
lorsque ’agent de police qui les arréte se rend compte qu’il s’agit
d’une consommation médicale. A ce moment-13, on entame un
processus fort différent d une accusation criminelle. C’est ce qui se
passe avec ce projet de loi. C’est ce qui se produira.

Quand on voit que le taux d’infractions liées a la cocaine a
grimpé de 67 p. 100, je crois qu’il faut faire quelque chose. C’est
mon point de vue. Je le fonde sur le fait que, si nous avons réussi a
réduire le taux de conduite avec facultés affaiblies de 68 p. 100,
alors nous pourrons sans doute avoir la méme incidence sur les
infractions liées a la cocaine grice a ce projet de loi.

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Je ne croyais pas qu’il s’agissait de lois
destinées a arréter les consommateurs de drogues illicites, je
croyais qu’on parlait d’une loi pour améliorer la sécurité routiére.
Je ne fais pas nécessairement le lien entre les deux.

Vous parlez des drogues illicites et du fait que la situation est
inquiétante. Or, je dispose de données trés claires sur les drogues.
Ce sujet est mon domaine d’expertise. Dans la derniére année, un
Canadien sur quatre a pris une drogue illicite. Nous sommes
d’accord que plusieurs personnes prennent des drogues, qu’elles
soient prescrites ou illicites. Toutefois, il ne faut pas viser que ces
personnes. Il faut agir en matiére de sécurité routiére, mais en
visant I’ensemble des facteurs reliés aux facultés affaiblies.

Les mesures doivent rester simples et ainsi s’appliquer souvent
et a tous ceux qui prennent le volant alors qu’ils sont soit sous
influence de drogues ou ont les facultés affaiblies pour d’autres
raisons.
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[English]

Senator De Bané: Professor Mauser, it is a given that social
sciences are not, by definition, exact sciences. Human behaviour
is not exact. That being said, some things are a given. For
instance, a judge is sworn and gives an oath that he will render a
decision based on the law and the evidence before him. If he
does something else, it is not right. Do you agree with me that he
would not be fulfilling his obligation as a judge if he rendered a
decision without proper regard for the law that he has to apply
and without regard to the evidence put before him?

Mr. Mauser: I am not a lawyer, but following the law and
making good sense seem reasonable things for judges to do.

Senator De Bané: You are not a lawyer, but you do find that
reasonable?

Mr. Mauser: So far. Where are we going with this?

Senator De Bané: I will tell you where we are going. I will quote
you from page 2 of your document. You say:

To take only one example: Jane Creba, who was killed in
Toronto on Boxing Day last year, might still be alive had
the previous government acted to keep serious offenders in
jail longer. . . . Other examples of questionable sentencing
decisions are frequently reported in the media.”

Am I to make my decision based on what I read in the
media, or do I rely on the judge who heard all the evidence
before him? You are saying that if that person was in jail longer,
we could have prevented that murder. What is “longer”? Life?
If you free him in five or ten years, there is always one day after.
I cannot believe that you are basing your research on what
you read in the media. The judge was sworn to render a judgment
based on what he heard before him. You have admitted yourself
that he would be a delinquent judge if he took other things
into consideration.

Are you aware, as a researcher, that the Department of
Justice commissioned a research study by professors at Carleton
University, an Ottawa university, which study was made by
Professor Thomas Gabor of Department of Criminology at
the University of Ottawa, and Nicole Crutcher of Carleton
University, entitled “Mandatory Minimum Penalties: Their
Effects on Crime, Sentencing Disparities, and Justice System
Expenditures?” The conclusion of their research in January 2002
was that the research does not support what you, professor,
are saying about the use of mandatory minimum sentencing,
or longer ones, as you say on page 2, for the purpose of
deterrence. To say that this crime might not have been
committed if the judge was smart and sensible enough to
impose a longer sentence, with the judge having studied and
heard the evidence, I find not to be of the calibre of a renowned
scientist like you.

I remind you that the Department of Justice commissioned a
study of the judges of our country, asking them if they would be
in favour of mandatory sentencing. A slight majority said they did

[Traduction]

Le sénateur De Bané : Monsieur Mauser, il va de soi que les
sciences sociales ne sont pas, par définition, des sciences exactes.
Le comportement humain n’est pas exact non plus. Cela dit, on
peut tenir pour acquis certaines choses. Par exemple, on peut
croire qu’un juge assermenté rendra une décision fondée sur la loi
et les preuves dont il dispose. S’il agit contrairement a cela, ce
n’est pas correct. Etes-vous d’accord avec moi pour dire qu’il ne
s’acquitterait pas de son obligations a titre de juge s’il rendait une
décision sans tenir compte de la loi qu’il doit appliquer et des
preuves qu’on lui a fournies?.

M. Mauser : Je ne suis pas avocat. Mais le fait de respecter la
loi me semble trés logique dans le cas d’un juge.

Le sénateur De Bané : Vous n’étes pas un avocat, mais vous
trouvez cela raisonnable?

M. Mauser : Jusqu’a présent. Ou nous mene cet argument?

Le sénateur De Bané : Je vais vous dire ce qu’il en est.
J’aimerais citer la page 2 de votre mémoire ou vous dites :

Pour ne nommer qu’un exemple : Jane Creba a été tuée a
Toronto le 26 décembre de ’année derniére. Elle serait peut-
é&tre encore en vie si ’ancien gouvernement avait agi afin de
faire en sorte que les délinquants dangereux restent plus
longtemps en prison [...] D’autres exemples d’attribution de
peines douteuses sont souvent rapportés par les médias.

Devrais-je rendre une décision basée sur ce que j’ai lu dans les
journaux, ou dois-je plutot me fier a la décision d’un juge qui a vu
toutes les preuves? Vous dites que si cette personne avait été
incarcérée plus longtemps, on aurait pu empécher que le meurtre
ait lieu. Qu’entendez-vous par « plus longtemps »? A perpétuité?
Si on libére cette personne dans cinq ou dix ans, il sera quand
méme libéré un jour. Je n’arrive pas a croire que vous fondez
votre recherche sur ce que vous lisez dans les journaux. Le juge a
été assermenté afin de rendre une décision basée sur des preuves.
Vous avez admis vous-méme qu’il manquerait ‘son devoir s’il
tenait compte d’autres choses que les preuves.

A titre de chercheur, saviez-vous que le ministére de la Justice
a ordonné qu’une recherche soit effectuée par des professeurs
a I’Université de Carleton , une université située Ottawa dans
laquelle le professeur Thomas Gabor du Département de la
criminologie de 1"Université d’Ottawa et la professeure Nicole
Crutcher de 1’Université de Carleton ont fait une étude intitulée
« Les effets des peines minimales obligatoires sur la criminalité, la
disparité des peines et les dépenses du systéme judiciaire? » La
conclusion de leur recherche en janvier 2002 était que la recherche
n’appuie pas vos dires, professeur, a la page 2 sur l'utilisation des
peines minimales obligatoires ou de peines plus longues aux fins
de dissuasion. Dire que ce crime n’aurait peut-étre pas été commis
ne pas avoir lieu si le juge avait été intelligent et sensé pour
imposer une peine plus longue, alors que le juge avait examiné et
entendu les preuves, me semble une proposition qui n’est pas du
calibre d’un scientifique de votre renom.

Je vous rappelle que le ministére de la Justice a commandé une
étude sur les juges du Canada, leur demandant s’ils étaient en
faveur des peines obligatoires. Une faible majorité des juges ont
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not think that would not be proper. There are many consequences
of that, including leading the prosecutor to hesitate in prosecuting
someone if there is mandatory sentencing. The reference to
that study, where the judges, with a slight majority, said no,
is the report of the Canadian Sentencing Commission entitled:
Sentencing Reform: A Canadian Approach, published at Ottawa
in 1987.

I was shocked when you said that we read in the papers and
the media about all sorts of sentences. I cannot judge a judge
who has heard the evidence and who has rendered his decision,
particularly when you use this argument to say if the sentence was
longer, he might not have committed the offence. The only
certainty you can have is to put him in a maximum security
prison for life. Is that your bottom line?

Mr. Mauser: On my last page, I —
Senator De Bané: I was quoting from page 2.

Mr. Mauser: [ realize that. I thought I would introduce
my answer, which will be briefer than your question, by an
introduction on page 5. I say there is a cynical claim that
statisticians can obtain any result —

Senator De Bané: Exactly.

Mr. Mauser: I am impressed by how you can manipulate my
words to come to your conclusion.

Senator De Bané: I am quoting you.

Mr. Mauser: | am impressed. First, judges are bound to follow
the law as well as the facts in front of them. The previous
government set up the conditions that all judges have to follow
in those decisions. There was a previous set of rules about
how one could obtain or not obtain a release. As I understand it,
the individual who has been charged with killing Jane Creba
was out on release for some reason; I forget which. It is
speculative. I do not know the judge or the person. It is
speculative — you will notice the verb is “might” still be alive —
had the judge had different instructions about the way in
which he can process his data. Had he been better instructed by
the previous government, it is possible that he would have
kept that gentleman in jail longer. Therefore, had he been in
jail longer — I do not know about infinitely, but two or three
weeks — he would not have been out of jail by Boxing Day.

My argument in support of the bill is that one could make a
release more difficult and thereby keep more violent and serious
offenders in jail or in holding facilities longer, lowering the risk to
the public. That is the argument.

The newspapers are my source of some data, though not this
particular sentence; you will notice the reference to the media
comes after that particular analysis. I must admit, I have not
read the court cases for all sentencing or even all questionable

dit qu’ils ne trouvaient pas que cela ne serait pas judicieux. Cela
entraine plusieurs conséquences, y compris le fait quun procureur
pourrait hésiter a poursuivre si des peines obligatoires peuvent
étre imposées. Si vous voulez vous référer a I’étude ou une
faible majorité de juges ont répondu non a la question, veuillez-
vous reporter au rapport de la Commission canadienne de la
détermination de la peine qui s’intitule : Réformer la sentence :
Une approche canadienne. 11 a été publié a Ottawa en 1987.

Jai été choqué quand vous avez dit que nous lisons dans les
journaux et entendons dans les nouvelles des choses qui portent
sur toutes sortes de peines. Je ne vais pas juger un juge qui aprés
avoir entendu les preuves a rendu une décision, surtout lorsque
vous utilisez cet argument pour dire que, si la peine avait été plus
longue, le délinquant n’aurait peut-étre pas commis de crime. La
seule certitude que vous pouvez avoir serait d’incarcérer cette
personne a perpétuité dans une prison a sécurité maximale. Est-ce
cela votre conclusion?

M. Mauser : Sur la derniére page, je...
Le Sénateur De Bané : Je citais un passage de la page 2.

M. Mauser : Oui. Je comprends. Mais j’ai pensé que si je vous
parlais de la page 5 de mon mémoire ma réponse serait plus
courte que votre question. Il est cynique de prétendre que les
statisticiens peuvent obtenir n’importe quel résultat...

Le sénateur De Bané : Exactement.

M. Mauser : Je suis impressionné de voir a quel point vous
pouvez manipuler mes mots pour arriver a vos fins.

Le sénateur De Bané : Je ne fais que vous citer.

M. Mauser : J’en suis impressionné. D’abord, les juges sont
tenus d’observer la loi et de se fonder sur les faits dont ils
disposent. Le gouvernement précédent a créé des conditions que
tous les juges doivent respecter dans leurs décisions. Il existait
auparavant une sériec de régles sur la fagon dont on pouvait
obtenir ou non une libération. Si ma mémoire est bonne,
I'individu qui a été accusé de tuer Jane Creba avait été libéré
pour une raison quelconque, mais je 1'oublie. C’est affaire de
spéculation. Je ne connais pas le juge ou la personne en question.
C’est de la spéculation. Veuillez noter que j’ai dit que la personne
« pourrait » encore étre en vie si le juge avait regu des instructions
différentes sur la fagon dont il pouvait évaluer les données. Si
l’ancien gouvernement lui avait donné de meilleures instructions,
il aurait peut-étre incarcéré cette personne pendant plus
longtemps. Ainsi, si cette personne avait été en prison plus
longtemps — et je ne parle pas ici de perpétuité, mais de peut-étre
deux ou trois semaines supplémentaires — il n’aurait pas été
libéré le 26 décembre.

Jappuie le projet de loi car cela rendrait une libération plus
difficile et ferait en sorte que les délinquants dangereux et violents
resteraient incarcérés plus longtemps. Cela réduirait le risque que
doit assumer le public. Voila mon argument.

Oui, j’utilise les journaux comme source pour obtenir certaines
données, mais ¢a n’a pas été le cas pour cette peine-ci. Vous verrez
que je fais référence aux journaux apres ’analyse en question. Je
dois vous avouer que je n’ai pas lu tous les décisions judiciaires
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sentencing decisions. I agree with you that the media is not a very
trustworthy source. Some of the questionable decisions have not
been put in the media. As well, some media-claimed questionable
decisions are perfectly reasonable once one looks more closely at
the situation facing the judge. I certainly find that not surprising
at all.

Senator De Bané: Professor, each of us is entitled to his
opinion. We are in the realm of social science, which is not an
exact science. However, I have to tell you, with great regret, that
your answer is not one that has, in my opinion, any logic.

You say that the former government has tied the hands of that
judge, and we have that decision because of bad government.
Of course, we should not rely on the media, but you put that as
one of your arguments. Maybe there are other cases that the
media reported where, if the person has been there longer, that
crime might not have happened. Then you say, “Oh, yes, he has
to apply the law. He is restricted to the evidence before him.”
You said I might be skewing the statistics. I quoted you the study
commissioned by the statistics department of the Department
of Justice Canada, paid for by the taxpayers of this country.
It says that there is not enough evidence to support minimum
sentencing.

I quoted the polling of the judges of this country, who, by a
slight majority, opposed mandatory sentencing because it can
have all sorts of unintended effects. The prosecutor will hesitate to
prosecute because of the minimum sentence.

I understand you are not a lawyer. You rely on the media.
You make suggestions which, in my opinion, in French we would
say “demagogique.” With all due respect, I cannot follow your
argument, particularly when you have criticized the judge without
having read the evidence.

Mr. Mauser: 1 have a brief response. Most of my paper has
nothing to do with the media. I believe the media is mentioned in
one sentence. Clearly, the paper is based on government and
police statistics, and not the media. As you say, we are all entitled
to our opinions and I thank you for yours.

Senator Cowan: I have one point of clarification. I would like
to address my questions to Professor Beauchesne.

Senator Stratton made a distinction in his questioning
between impairment due to prescription drugs and to illegal
drugs. My reading of the bill is that if you are impaired either
by reason of overuse of prescription drugs or by illegal drugs,
the penalty is the same if you are convicted.

What is your understanding of the bill in that regard, Professor
Beauchesne?

concernant toutes l'attribution de peines ni méme des peines
jugées douteuses. Je reconnais avec vous qu’on ne peut pas
toujours faire confiance aux journaux. Certaines décisions
douteuses n’y figurent méme pas. De plus, parfois les médias
indiquent que des décisions sont douteuses alors que, lorsqu’on
les examine de plus pres, on comprend qu’elles étaient tout a fait
raisonnables. Cela ne me surprend pas du tout.

Le sénateur De Bané : Monsieur, nous avons chacun droit a
notre opinion. Nous touchons aux sciences sociales et elles ne sont
pas une science exacte. J’ai néanmoins le regret de vous informer
que je trouve que votre réponse n’est pas du tout logique.

Vous dites que l'ancien gouvernement a lié les mains des
juges. Vous indiquez que cette décision émane d’un mauvais
gouvernement. Bien entendu, nous ne devrions pas uniquement
dépendre des journaux, mais c¢’est quand méme un des arguments
que vous avez utilisé. Peut-étre qu’il y a des cas qui ont été
soulevés par les journaux dans lesquels on peut voir que, si une
personne avait été incarcérée plus longtemps, un crime n’aurait
pas été commis. Ensuite vous nous dites : « Ah oui, il faut que le
juge observe la loi. Il doit s’en tenir aux preuves dont il est saisi. »
Vous dites que je suis en train de manipuler les statistiques. Je
vous ai parlé de I’étude menée par la Division statistique du
ministére de la Justice, qui a été payée par les contribuables
du Canada. L’étude révele qu’il n’y a pas assez de preuves pour
justifier des peines minimales.

Je vous ai également parlé du sondage des juges de notre pays
qui, a une faible majorité, se sont opposés aux peines obligatoires
en indiquant qu’elles pouvaient avoir des effets inattendus. Le
procureur pourrait notamment hésiter a poursuivre quelqu’un a
cause de 'imposition des peines minimales.

Je sais que vous n’étes pas avocat. Vous vous fiez aux médias.
Vous faites des suggestions qui je qualifierai de « démagogiques ».
Je vous dirais respectueusement que je ne peux pas accepter votre
argument, surtout lorsque vous avez critiqué le juge sans avoir lu
les preuves.

M. Mauser : J’aimerais vous répondre rapidement. La plupart
de mon document ne traite pas des médias. Je pense qu’il en est
question dans une seule phrase. De toute évidence, le document
est fondé sur les statistiques du gouvernement et de la police et
non pas sur les médias. Comme vous I’avez mentionné vous-
méme, nous avons tous droit & nos opinions et je vous remercie
d’avoir exprimé la votre.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je voudrais une précision. J’aimerais poser
mes questions 8 Mme Beauchesne.

Le sénateur Stratton a fait la différence entre la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies due a des médicaments d’ordonnance et
celle liée a la consommation de drogues illicites. D’apreés ce que
j’ai compris du projet de loi, si vous conduisez avec les facultés
affaiblies parce que vous avez surconsommé des médicaments
d’ordonnance ou avez utilisé des drogues illicites, vous ferez face a
la méme sanction si vous étes déclaré coupable.

A la lumiére de ces propos, comment comprenez-vous le projet
de loi, madame Beauchesne?
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Let me put it another way. It is my understanding that driving
impaired would be a criminal offence under this proposed
legislation, whether or not a prescription drug or an illegal drug
is involved.

[Translation]

Ms. Beauchesne: You are right; theoretically, as the RCMP
sergeant was saying earlier, there is no distinction about drugs in
the bill. But it is clear — and I have read all the debates on this in
Parliament — that whenever someone wants to give an example
in support of the bill, they mention illegal drugs. I noticed
immediately that only illegal drugs are mentioned. Whenever
prescription drugs are mentioned, people start saying it
depends.” I very much liked Sgt. Martin’s answer earlier; he
was very clear that drug abuse is not even required, all that
is required is that an individual have taken the drug and it
caused sleepiness.

So my understanding is that this bill applies to prescription
medication. Will it be enforced in this way? Every time I look at
this, I see that illegal drugs are the ones being targeted.

[English]

Senator Cowan: Mr. Mauser and I had an exchange earlier,
Ms. Beauchesne. We did not agree on a great deal. There are
some ideological differences between us, which we can use to
explain part of that. I put to him some studies to which we had
been referred and some evidence that had been presented to this
committee and to our companion committee in the House of
Commons that indicated that longer sentences do not reduce
crime and that there is a correlation between longer sentences
and the repetition of criminal activity after the sentence has
expired.

Do you have any comments on that from your own research?

Mr. Mauser: I take it you are addressing Professor
Beauchesne?

Senator Cowan: Yes, [ was. I thought you and I had exhausted
our discussion on that.

Ms. Beauchesne: Would you repeat your question?

Senator Cowan: We had an exchange earlier and we disagreed
on a great deal. We had been referred here and in the committee
in the House of Commons to a number of studies which, to my
reading, indicated that longer sentences and putting more people
in jail, while they may reduce the ability of those persons who
are incarcerated to commit crimes, do not reduce crime; that
sentencing is not a deterrent; the apprehension of being caught is
the real deterrent.

Ms. Beauchesne: Agreed.

Jaimerais reformuler ma question. Si j’ai bien compris, le fait
de conduire avec les facultés affaiblies serait une infraction
criminelle en vertu du projet de loi proposé, qu’il s’agisse de
drogues illicites ou de médicaments d’ordonnance.

[Frangais]

Mme Beauchesne : Vous avez raison; théoriquement, comme le
soulignait le sergent de la GRC tantét, il n’y a pas de distinction
sur la question des drogues dans la loi. Mais il est clair — et je 1’ai
lu tous les débats au Parlement — chaque fois qu’on veut donner
un exemple en faveur de ce projet de loi, ce sont des drogues
illégales que I’on cite, et j’ai remarqué tout de suite qu’il n’y a que
les drogues illégales qui sont mentionnées. Quand on parle de
drogues prescrites, on se met a dire « cela dépend ». J’ai beaucoup
aimé la réponse du sgt Martin tant6t, il a été clair sur ce point :
il n’y a méme pas besoin d’y avoir un usage abusif de cette drogue,
il suffit que la personne I’ait prise et que ce soit une drogue qui
cause la somnolence.

Donc, ma compréhension de cette loi est que cela touche les
drogues prescrites. Est-ce que cela va étre appliqué comme cela?
Quand je regarde, toutes les fois ce sont les drogues illicites qui
sont visées.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Cowan : M. Mauser et moi-méme avons eu une
discussion tout a ’heure, madame Beauchesne. Nous n’étions pas
d’accord sur grand-chose. Je pense que cela s’explique en partie
par nos divergences idéologiques. Je lui ai parlé de certaines
études qu’on nous avait suggérées et des témoignages qui avaient
été présentés au comité sénatorial et a notre comité homologue a
la Chambre des communes dans lesquels on disait que les peines
plus longues ne réduiraient pas le taux de criminalité et que il y a
un lien entre I'attribution de peines plus longues et les cas de
récidive, une fois la peine purgée.

Avez-vous des observations a ce sujet, tirées de votre propre
recherche?

M. Mauser : J'imagine que vous posez la question a
Mme Beauchesne?

Le sénateur Cowan : Oui. J’ai cru que vous et moi avions épuisé
notre discussion la-dessus.

Mme Beauchesne : Pouvez-vous répéter votre question, s’il
vous plait?

Le sénateur Cowan : Nous avons eu un échange de propos
tout a I’heure et étions en désaccord sur bien des choses. Notre
comité ainsi que celui de la Chambre des communes ont regu
bon nombre d’études qui révelent, selon moi, que 'imposition de
peines plus longues et I'incarcération d’un plus grand nombre de
gens pourraient certes réduire la capacité des détenus a commettre
des crimes, sans pour autant réduire la criminalité. Les études
indiquent que l’attribution d’une peine n’a pas d’effet dissuasif
mais que la crainte d’étre attrapé joue un véritable role dissuasif.

Mme Beauchesne : Je suis d’accord.
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Senator Cowan: As well, the studies indicate that generally as
people are incarcerated for longer periods, they tend to reoffend
because of the separation they have had from the community
from which they have been taken. Do you have any comments on
that general area from your own experience and study?

Ms. Beauchesne: I am a criminologist also and I have students
working in the area of minimum sentencing. I am not the one
who has given courses on that and compiled statistics. However,
I was surprised to read the data.

If you take the global data, for example, and you have
20 violent crimes with arms and if you go into the detail and
realize that 15 of them are from men who killed their wives,
they are not a danger to society. They need to be punished,
no question about that, but they will not commit serial crimes.
If you continue reading, three of them have mental problems
and they need to have treatment. You have two who are in
gangs and they need to get out of there.

It is not the same, but when you hear the words “violent crime
with guns,” what you hear is 20 young people ready to kill and
you have to stop them. You cannot take global statistics like
that to say the sentencing will deter them, without knowing each
case specifically.

Second, as Senator De Bané was saying, the judge has these
facts. He needs the capacity to say whether society needs to be
more protected with treatment because the main goal is the
protection of society. If the main goal is vengeance, we are in
another world. That is an ideological argument and I will not
argue with that.

If we are discussing the protection of society, it is not true that
each case of the commission of a violent crime with a gun involves
someone who is a threat to society for 20 years. It is more subtle
than that. Each case needs to be analyzed. That is why you cannot
make a correlation.

Second, to draw a correlation about sentencing without
regard to the other variables, like socio-economic condition,
age, family relations, participation in a gang, if a specific event
occurred that year, those are elements that play a role. We
teach students not to do that in the statistics course.

The Chair: Thank you both for being so patient. I have one last
clarification to ask of Professor Mauser. I have been fascinated
by your charts and tables.

On page 2 of your brief, you say that table 1 shows the direct
monetary costs borne by the victims of property crime is
$4.6 billion each year.

Le sénateur Cowan : De plus, les études indiquent que, en regle
générale, lorsque les gens sont incarcérés pendant de plus longues
périodes ont tendance a récidiver car ils ont été séparés de leur
communauté. Avez-vous des observations a nous faire la-dessus?

Mme Beauchesne : Je suis également criminologue. J’ai des
étudiants qui travaillent dans le domaine des peines minimales.
Mais je n’ai pas donné de cours la-dessus et je n’ai pas établi de
statistiques sur ce sujet. Toutefois, j’ai été fort étonnée de lire les
données.

Par exemple, si vous prenez les données générales, vous verrez
qu’il y a 20 crimes violents qui ont été commis avec des armes.
Mais quand vous rentrez dans les détails, vous verrez que 15 de
ces crimes ont ét¢ commis par des hommes qui ont tué leur
femme. Ils ne représentent donc pas un danger pour la société.
Bien entendu, ces maris doivent étre punis. Mais ils ne risquent
pas de récidiver. Un peu plus loin, vous lirez que trois des
délinquants ont de troubles de santé mentale et ont besoin de se
faire traiter. Ensuite, il y en a deux autres qui sont dans des gangs
et qui doivent les quitter.

Ce n’est pas la méme chose mais lorsque vous entendez
quelqu’un parler de crimes commis avec violence a 1’aide d’armes
a feu, vous imaginez 20 jeunes qui essaient de tuer quelqu’un et
qu’il faut donc les empécher de le faire. Vous ne pouvez pas
prendre des statistiques générales comme celles-1a pour dire que la
peine qui leur imposée représentera une forme de dissuasion,
sans connaitre les détails de chaque dossier.

De plus, comme le sénateur De Bané I’a signalé, le juge dispose
de ces faits. Il doit étre en mesure de déterminer si la société a
besoin d’étre protégée un peu plus grace a des traitements, parce
que l'objectif fondamental est la protection de la société. Si le
principal objectif est la vengeance, c’est complétement différent.
Il s’agit d’'un argument idéologique que je ne suis pas préte a
aborder.

Si, par contre, nous parlons de la protection de la société, il
serait faux de dire que chaque fois qu’un crime est commis avec
violence a ’aide d’une arme a feu, auteur de cet acte représente
une menace pour la société pendant 20 ans. Tout cela est
beaucoup plus subtil qu’on ne penserait. Chaque dossier doit étre
analysé. C’est pourquoi vous ne pouvez pas établir ce rapport.

Etablir un lien entre la peine imposée sans tenir compte
des variables comme les conditions socioéconomiques, 1’age, les
relations familiales, la participation aux activités d’un gang, méme
si un événement particulier a eu lieu cette année-la, n’est pas
judicieux. Tous ces éléments entrent en ligne de compte. Dans
les cours de statistiques, nous enseignons aux étudiants de ne pas
tirer de conclusions aussi facilement.

La présidente : Je vous remercie tous deux d’avoir été si
patients. J’aimerais demander une dernié¢re petite précision a
M. Mauser. J’ai été absolument fascinée par vos tableaux et vos
graphiques.

A la page 2 de votre mémoire, vous dites que le tableau 1
représente les colits monétaires directs assumés par les victimes
de crimes contre les biens, soit 4,6 milliards de dollars par an.
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I turn, fascinated, to table 1. When I looked at table 1 and
table 2, it seems that the costs of crime in table 1 actually
repeated the same numbers given for 1996 in table 2. Does table 1
refer to the numbers for 1996?

Mr. Mauser: Yes, as well as 2005.

The Chair: The 2005 numbers are not about money; they are
about numbers of victims, which are horrific. I am not disputing
their pertinence, but I am talking about the actual costs.

Mr. Mauser: The costs are 1996 costs.

The Chair: When you said that the direct monetary costs borne
by the victims of, in this case, property crime is $4.6 billion each
year, was that just that you were making a straight extrapolation
assuming that it was about the same every year?

Mr. Mauser: Since the number of victims has increased, the
suggestion is that as a minimum estimate I am extrapolating
stand-pat numbers. I think they are probably larger than that,
but despite that I have tried to pick a smaller number to
underestimate.

The Chair: That was in 1996.

Mr. Mauser: There may well have been some inflation since
then.

The Chair: Let us try to strip out inflation for the time being,
because that just muddies the issue even more. The Centre for
Justice statistics told us that in 2006 the property crime rate
per 100,000 was at its lowest point in 30 years; that is, lower than
in 1996, so that the rate in cost would presumably also have
diminished, even though in absolute numbers. I would agree with
you, there are more crimes; they probably cost more, even after
we remove inflation. However, in terms of the rate per 100,000 of
the Canadian population, that is probably diminished too, would
you not say?

Mr. Mauser: Yes. | see that I have erred that violent crime has
increased in numbers and property crime has decreased. Property
crime from 2005 has gone from 1.9 million to 1.2 million and it
was violent crime that I was thinking the numbers had increased.
That has increased from 254 to 354.

The Chair: I am taking you so much on faith that when you
said it had increased I automatically went to that line and thought
1.9 is the most recent. It is not. That is the old number and we are
down.

Mr. Mauser: That is right.

The Chair: I think I understand better now how we got all these
numbers. Cost based on victimization survey, this is in table 2.
Who did the victimization survey?

Toujours fascinée, je passe au tableau 1. Lorsque j’ai étudié ce
tableau et I’ai comparé au tableau 2, j’ai constaté que les cofts
associés au crime présentés au tableau 1 reprenaient les mémes
chiffres que ceux présentés pour 1996 au tableau 2. Est-ce que le
tableau 1 reproduit les chiffres de 1996?

M. Mauser : Oui, ainsi que les chiffres enregistrés en 2005.

La présidente : Les données pour 2005 ne portent pas
simplement sur l’argent; il s’agit également du nombre de
victimes, qui est astronomique. Je ne doute pas de la pertinence
de ces données, mais je veux connaitre les coits réels.

M. Mauser : Il s’agit des colts enregistrés en 1996.

La présidente : Lorsque vous avez mentionné les cofits
monétaires directs assumés par les victimes de, dans le cas qui
nous occupe, crimes contre les biens, précisant que cela s’élevait a
4,6 milliards de dollars par an, est-ce que c’était en fait une simple
extrapolation en supposant que le montant était le méme chaque
année?

M. Mauser : Puisque le nombre de victimes a augmenté, il faut
supposer au moins que j’extrapole en présentant des chiffres qui
n’auraient pas changé. Je crois que le montant est probablement
plus important, mais j’ai essayé de sous-estimer en offrant un
chiffre un peu moins élevé.

La présidente : Ca c’était en 1996.

M. Mauser : Il se peut fort bien qu’il y ait eu un facteur
inflationniste depuis.

La présidente : Oublions pour I'instant I'inflation, parce que
¢a ne fait que compliquer les choses. Le Centre canadien de la
statistique juridique nous a dit qu’en 2006, le taux de crimes
contre la propriété, par tranche de 100 000 habitants, était a
son niveau le plus bas en 30 ans; c’est-a-dire a un niveau inférieur
que celui enregistré en 1996, ce qui nous pousse a supposer que
les colits auraient également diminué, méme si en termes
absolus, je suis d’accord avec vous, il y a eu plus de crimes; ces
crimes ont probablement coité plus, méme abstraction faite de
I'inflation. Cependant, pour ce qui est du taux de criminalité par
100 000 habitants, ce dernier a probablement diminué également,
n’étes-vous pas d’accord?

M. Mauser : Oui. Je vois que je me suis trompé en disant que
les crimes violents avaient augmenté et que le nombre de crimes
contre les biens avait diminué. Depuis 2005, le nombre de crimes
contre les biens est passé de 1,9 a 1,2 million et je pensais que
c’était les crimes avec violence qui avaient augmenté. Ils sont en
fait passés de 254 a 354.

La présidente : Je vous ai cru lorsque vous avez dit que ce taux
avait augmenté et quand je suis allée a cette ligne j’ai pensé que le
1,9 représentait les taux les plus récents. Ce n’est pas le cas. Ces
statistiques ne sont pas récentes et le nombre de crimes a diminué.

M. Mauser : C’est exact.

La présidente : Je comprends un peu mieux comment nous en
sommes venus a tous ces chiffres. Vous présentez au tableau 2 les
colits établis dans une enquéte portant sur la victimisation. Qui a
procédé a cette enquéte?
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Mr. Mauser: A number of people. That is reported by
Easton and Brantingham. That is a study I did not do, but I
am summarizing for the committee. I do not have that
information in the figure, but Easton and Brantingham report
that, so I am relying upon them.

The Chair: We can find that if we need it.

You have been extremely patient and helpful. We are grateful
and we are most appreciative of the work and the input you have
given to us.

The committee adjourned.

M. Mauser : Plusieurs intervenants. En fait les résultats de
cette enquéte sont présentés par Easton et Brantingham. Il s’agit
d’'une étude a laquelle je n’ai pas participé, mais je la résume
simplement pour le comité. Je n’ai pas les renseignements qui
touchent ces données, mais ce sont les chiffres cités par Easton et
Brantingham dans leur rapport. Je me fie a eux.

La présidente : Nous pouvons trouver ces données si nous en
avons besoin.

Vous avez été fort patient et vos interventions ont été
enrichissantes. Nous vous sommes reconnaissants du travail que
vous faites et de votre apport a nos délibérations.

La séance est levée.
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